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Highlights

Financial highlights
Group revenue
2022 £959.6m
2021 £878.4m

2020 £805%.8m

Adjusted proiit/(loss) before {ax™’

2022

2021

2020 . £(3.4)m

adlusten net cash

{rartusive of lease osnligstions)

2022

2021 £54.6m

2020 EESRET

_

Statutory diluted EPS”

2020 - (10.7p}

Osder book

2022
201 £2.4bn

2020 pEwRl]

On continuing activities

Net debt {inclusive of lease obligations)

2022

2021 £162.3m

2020 £152.2m

Fropas foed arahtl fdooas before tan

2022

2020

EBITDA to cash conversion™*

2022 122%

2021 72%

2020 185%

SINTWILYLS TVIOMNYNED

Mo orabson diluted RS

2022 24.5p

2020 . (2.3p)

On continuing activities, siated before exceptional costs and amortisation of acquisition intangibles.,

*** Bewng EBITCA divided by cash inflow from operating activities of continuing eperations.
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Strategic highlights

__ Strong financial results with increases
in both revenues and operating margins

Successful award of new Residential
Living Accommaodation Project
{RPAL} contract with the Ministry

of Defence (McD)

__ Acqguisition of IRT Surveys Limited is an
important part of the Group's retrofit
salution and will enable Mears to
conduct stock analysis modelling for
carbon reduction work and help to
unlock the Group's abllity to deliver
carbon retrofit work, which has been
identified as a significant market

_ Excellent working capital
management, maintaining a daily
cash balance througheut 2022

ESG highlights

— 100% of contracts delivered a
minmum of one local community
project, generating £88m in
economic and social value

—. Plans to eliminate our Scope 1and 2
carbon footprint by 2030

.- Mears has received a Roval Society for

the Prevention of Accidents {RoSPA}

Order of Distinction (20 consecutive

Gold Awards ) Health and Safety

Award for working hard to ensure

our colleagues and customers

get home safely to their families

at the end of every working day

_. Recognised as one of the UK's Best
Large Companies to Work. Far the
third year running

_ Retaining a workforce that is
motivaled and feels valued is critical.
The Directors ensured that those at
the lower end of the pay scale
received higher proporticnal increases
and alsc ensured that Mears’ front lIine
care workers are now all paid more
than the real Living Wage rate. The
Group made further improvements
during the pericd to holiday and sick
pay entitlements

Reconciliations between the statutory
figures and the alternative perfarmance
measures are detailed on pages 52 and
53 of the Financial review. The Financial
review also provides detailed analysis
of the financial impact from the
discontinued operations,

1HOddH D193LVHLS
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Our business at a glance

OUR VISION

To be the leading provider
of housing services and
solutions to the affordable
housing market in the UK.

OUR PURPOSE

Working together to help people and communities
thrive. This is the guiding principle that defines our
brand and drives our activities. It is what makes
Mears distinctive and is the starting point for all

of our activities,

OURVALUES

We value teamwork,

supporting each other,
sharing ideas and never
excluding othars.

We value our customers
and communities, putting
their needs at the heart
of everything we do.

WHAT WE DO

Mears has a single-minded focus on
the housing market and delivering
services to the residents of these
homes. We operate within the
affordable housing sector. which

is an area that wifl see continued
investment given the significant
housing shonage and the rising
number of people who are regarded
as statutorily homeless. We are also
a key pfayer in the Not Ze &

As the largest provider to the social
housing sector, we are aiready

out more

detivering Net Zero housing solutions
with our partners. Our Red Thread is
in our DNA and it helps us achieve
more as individuals, as a team,

and as a company.

OUR CUSTOMERS

Wao work predominantly with Central Government and Local
Government, in the delivery of housing services. These are

typically through long-term contracts. We equally consider

the residents of the homes that we manage and maintain

to be aur customers, and we take pride in the high levels

of customer satisfaction that we achieve.

We value personal
responsibility, setting
consistently high
standards for our work
and holding ourselves
accountable for
achieving them,

We value innovation,
beinyg inventive in our

action without fear
or discrimination.

OUR SERVICES

We pravide housing solutions. Increasingly we operate
an intelligent approach to maintenance, using technology
1o improve our customers' experience and 1o operate
preventative mairttenance programmes that reduce levels
of emergency repairs, We provide property and tenancy
management, whilst often providing other welfare services
o the tenants. Qur particular focus is on praviding
sustainable aiternatives to homeiessness, helping

reduce the rising problems created by the housing
shortage in the UK.

LONG-TERM DRIVERS

The shortage of housing in the UK has made investment
it housing Botr a political and an economic priority. There
is now a greater facus an ten: agement and safety.
UK carbon reduction targets | also mean that significant
further investmentin housing is needed, inciuding the
replacementl vl gas Doilers. We are already seeing rising
investment in our markets and a greater attention to the
quality of delivery. Demogranhic change is also a key
long-term driver. given the growing and ageing population
of the UK. This will create opportunity for more specialist
housing, where our broad range of services can he
effactively combined thinugh A single partner.
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approach and empowering
people to take reasonable



WHERE WE OPERATE

We operate across all four countries
of the UK through a range of local
branches. A sample of recent contract
activities is given below

B

B

MNorth Lanarkshire Short-listed
on a new tender estimated to
be worth £1.4bn over 12 years.
We are the current incumbent

Northwest Ministry
of Justice contract

extension for two years,

worth £10m

Social Housing Decarbanisation
Fund winning bids with
Livin, Crawley Homes
and Milton Keynes Counci!

PARTNERSHIP FOR THE LONG TERM
WITH NORTH LANARKSHITE COLim T
We are pleased to have been shortlisted
inrespect of the re-tender of the North
Lanarkshire Future Integrated Housing
Service contract, estimated at £1.4bn over
12 years. The anticipated commencement
date for the new contract is January 2024,

Mears glready delivers an ali-encompassing
service carried out in partnership with North
Lanarkshire Council, to fully maintain and
repair every property within the Council's
portfolio of 36,700 properties.

If successful, the new contract will
significantly grow our work volume across
the Authority. Mears currently delivers an
all-encompassing service in partnership
with North Lanarkshire, to fully maintain and
repair every property within the Council’s
portfolic of 36,700 tenanted properties

and over 1,000 public buildings.

Narth Lanarkshire Council and Mears
are joint partners in the LLP, ensuring we
have continued investment in the North
Lanarkshire community for the leng term.

UK-wide MoD contract extended
for b years plus 2 years, valued at
over £250m over 5 years

South Cambridgeshire
District Council
contract retained.
Contract length five
years, value £39m

London Borough of
Havering successful
bid. Contract length
10 years, worth £58m

Tower Hamlets contract
renewal far five years,
plus an extension option
of a further five years,
value £75m

The two organisations are truly integrated,
with a shared commitment to celiver
excellent services to residents, whilst
bringing community and training benefits

to the North Lanarkshire community in a
suslairable way. Contracl key performance
indicators (KPIs] have been increased

from 90% 1o 95% as part of th's commitment.

On average Mears completes over 83,000
internal and external repairs annually,

365 days a year by core, out af hours and
emergency leams. Mears provides electrical
services including occupied and void
rewires, domestic ventilation and electrical
systems testing (Electrical Instaliation
Condition Repart (EICR)). On average

120 electrica! safety 1ests are carried

out per week.

Mears delivers capital works which

include majar structural works, kitchen and
bathreoms, decorating services, blacksmith
services, groundworks and more. Mears
also covers services such as fencing,
decommissioning, adaptations and wet
rooms for vulnerable tenants. Mears
provides electrical checks, plumbing,
plastering, decoration and jeinery.

GOWVHNEIAOCY 3LVHO4HGD LHOEIYH DIDILVHLS
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2022 accreditations

AN ORGANISATION THAT PROMOTES AN QRGANISATION THAT

A SAFE WORKING ENVIRONMENT ENGAGES WITH CUSTOMERS

/ Royal Society for the \ Tpas Contractor
‘g*:& Prevention of Accidents 1 n ’ accreditation
ROSPA

Healih ane safely 1s paramourt 1 oul | ' Mears fas contmuously nela e
: Crsntr :

2O s an

ased accred

AN ORGANISATION THAT ACTIVELY
PROMOTES SUPPORT TO ARMED A GREAT EMPLOYER
FORCES VETERANS

Armed Forces Best Companies

Covenaﬂt - GOld Award Mcars was named m 2023 as ane of the
top large busiressas to work for i the

UK's Best ba

NMeers Fas signec up to the Armed Foices

ARMED FORCES Coveranl to dermonsrata ot conmitiment
COVENANT L
e e— wensure that thase who serve or wlo
- 1t take workplace

Fave served in the arm arces, anil

sly 1 orelel 1o

e fraaten el

EIRVTaT

EAMIP R TR
mamisinad 10 by years,

D histng o

AN ORGANISATION THAT A DIVERSE AND INCLUSIVE BUSINESS
CHAMPIONS SOCIAL MOBILITY AN ORGANISATION THAT DELIVERS QUALITY

Social Mohility G Customer Service
Index o 8 Excelience
o83

from =1l ba

acida o
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MEASURING OUR VALUE

4 SOCIALLY RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS

- FTSE4Good,
MSCI - Sustainalytics and MSCI

WoERMEE SUSTAINALY TICS e

FTSE 4 Good

Mears Group is placed in the top 9% of
the UK's most seaally responsible

businessoes in the FISELSowd Ingex,
FTS E4G OOd which recognises excellent FSG practices.

LUOd3d JIDIIVHLS

als has been makmg continuous
IMProvements year on year across lhe
t~rea sigrificant environmental, social ard
governance (ESG) assessment platforms
FTSEAGood, Sustamnalyhcs and MSCL
These platforms enable us to manitor

oul CSG rskratrgs

COLLEAGUES RECEIVE

DELIWERING EXCELLENT

BEET IN CLASS TRAINING CUSTOMER SERVICE

FRNFHHIAQCD ZLIVYHOAHOD

ICS TrainingMark

The Institute of Customer Service’s {ICS) j
) -.n.~ The lstitute af
TraimngMark cemonsirates that our . Customar Service

ICS ServiceMark

1 Mears anms 1o put custoners at the Feart
of everything we do The 1CS ServiceMark

TrainingMark

ServiceMark

PR
The lnsutute sf
:g: Customer Senvice

Customer Excellence Tioimng (Making
aPositive [ fferance! pregrammes meet

rafional standards for customer service,
as independertly recogsed by the [CS

BACKING OUR
ESSENTIAL WORKERS

G, SOCIAL
vﬁ ICS ~ VALUE Social Value EW Inclusive
NS : :

‘ Service with N Management g Culture

£ i

Respect

Meg-
nex Seivice T Respecs
combeiiag the abse acdars
hehaviour experienced by esse
WIS I CLstomer-fas tg roles

WTOLG TS ot the 108

avpoign

Pats
2 2al

tial

GIVING BACK TO
OUR COMMUNITIES

CERIIFICATE  Certification

The Scaal Value Managemnent
Certiicate (SVMC) 15 a multi-level
fwd d Tor arganisanons wan want o
aain hest practice processes for socal
vatue [0 2022 we were pleased 1o
become the only company in the
housing sector to be awaracd the
ovel 2 cernfcate wiich 1oous s

cnoenpleent Ao
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belps organisations understand how
effecive their customer service strategy
15, ard identifies argas for improveriert,

CELEBRATING
OUR DIVERSITY

Pledge

We are proud (o Fave signed the
FWorciusve Culture Pleoge. Tis
demaonstiates our comnutmes t 1o
ceveloping aninclusive culture
“his supparts our arbinens for oue
cwr bar essand et asion policy.
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Chairman’s letter

INTRODUCTION

This is my fourth and final letter to you
as Chalrman of Mears, Having assumed
the role in January 2019, | have decided
not to seek re-election at the 2023 AGM
and will therefore stand down from

the Board at that time.

This period has seen bath significant change
for the Group and a reaffirmation of the
positive qualities which have for many years
made Mears a force for good.

Over the course of the last five years,
Mears’ centract estate has been significantly
improved. Within the housing business,
there has been considerable growth in the
provision of accommaodation and support
services and the Group is now a UK leader
in that activity. reflecting the consicerable
efforts which have been made to develop
effective, successful, and prafitable
reiatfonships with Central Government
departments. In parallel, the financial
petformance and business mix of the
housing business has been improved.

The Group has also progressively exiten
ather activities, namely domiciliary care,
propéerty data management, and
housebuilding. Taken together, these
initiatives have transformed the Group's
financial position: cash generation has
returred and debt has been eliminated.

Mears 15 positioned to grow ts core bousing
activities. [n 2022, this was epitomised by its
success in winning the MeoD RLAP contract,
in retaining its long-standing relationship with
the Londan Borough of Tower Hamlets and
n being shorthsted for the Norin Lanarkshre
Future Integrated Housing Service contract.
Over the last five years, Mears has seen fts
average contract size grow, In terms of both
anpual revenues and contract fengtn.

6

KIERAN MURPHY
CHAIRMAN

Taken together, these developments leave
Mears in a much sironger position for the
future with far areater viaibility of rovenue
and profit than hitherta.

At the same time, the cuiturai strengths

of Mears continue 1o be reinforced. It is
iniegral 10 how Mears does business that

it places great emphasis on the welfare

of and development oppaortunities for

its staff, that it provides its services in a
manner which is sensitive to the needs

and lives of its customers and that it

adds valve 10 the communities in which

it operates. Inthe last few years, we have
created a new Customer Scrutiny Board
which works alongside the Group 1o oversee
and help to improve our service standards.
We have reinforced the role of the Empioyee
Director with the creation of a new deputy
director post with a strong focus on disability
and neurodiversity, become one of the

UK's Best Large Campanies to Work For

and continued our excellent record

in promoting effective health and

safety for our staff and contractors.

In 2022, Mears was declaraed Emplayer

of the Year by tne Chartered Institute of
Housing. Our efforts to create equality of
opportunity for our workforce can be seen in
improving genders pay gap data, an increase
inthe proportion of wormen in senior roles
and in our effarts to Uy to ensure that our
local workforces better reflact the ethme
mixes of the ceammunities they serve. And
we have continued to promote and measure
the social vaiue which we create through

a myriad of small schemes up and down

e country. While we seek to be the leading
pravider of housing services and solutions
to the affordable nousing market in the UK,

we do se by working o help staff, customers,

and communities thrive.

RESULTS
2022 was, for the first time in three years,
broadly unaffected by the Covid-19
restrictinns which have created so much
ecanemic and social damage over recent
years. Qur results also demonstrate the
benefit which has been gained both from our
strategic changes and from our continuous
focus on operating improvements across our
activities. Revenue from continuing activities
reached £959.6m, a record for the Group
and an increase of 9% over 2021, while
adjusted profit before tax was £35.2m,
anincrease of 37% over that achieved

in 2021 Normaliseqa diluted earnings

per share rose by 35% to 24 51p.

Cash generation was once again very strong.
The adjusted vear end net cash balance
reached £100.im and average net cash
throughout the year was £42.9m, both
numbers some £40m higher than in 2021
This is the result of a third consecutive

year of 100% conversion of profits

to cash, a tremendous achievement

by the management team and staff

across the Group.

This performance was delivered against

a backdrap of very different inflation levels
and expectations from those of the last
decade. Many of our contracts provide for
anrnuai price adjustments referenced tc a
costindex, although these do not necessarily
provide full protecilon as to either timing

or amnourt. We have warked hard to ensure
that our orocurement processes limit the
consequences of higher levels of Inflation
However, consistent with our focus on staff
welfare, we have improved the terms and
canditions for staff and implemented 2 pay
increase which was dellvered
dispropcrtionately to those at iower pay
levels. Nevertheless, we have experienced
and continue to experience labour shortages
and we are constantty reflecting on how we
can best attract and retain good pecple.

Both financially and operationally, the most
significant contracts for the Group are those
under which we provide accommodation and
support for asylum seekers in the North-East
of England, Scotiand, and Northern frefand.
The number of service users continued to
grow in 2022 and these higher numbers are

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022



likely to persist in 2023. The continued use
of temporary hotel accommaodation, while
ingvitable, is not the preferred solution and
we are working hard to increase the number
of residential properties which we can use.
The development of these contracts has
imposed very considerable pressures on
the aperating teams who run them, and

the Board is grateful for their contnuing
efforts and success.

The Group commenced the new RLAP
contract for the Ministry of Defence which
has mobilsed very smoothly. We look
forward to continuing our successful
partnership with the MoD for many years to
come. We successfully rebid work for repairs
for the London Borough of Tower Hamlets
and won a new contract with the London
Borough of Havering. Mast importantly, the
Group was shortlisted for the new integrated
housing service contract with North
Lanarkshire Council and discussions will
continue with that client to ensure that if
selected, we are ready to commence work,
as intended, next January. This contract is
worth £1.8bn over 12 years and, if successful,
would deliver significant growth for Mears

in 2024 and future years.

DIVIDEND

Against the background of the Group's
considerable success in 2022, the Board
has decided ta proposea a final dividand of
7.25p per share, bringing the total for the
year 10 10.50p, an increase of 31% cn 2021,
Qur policy remains to progressively grow the
dividend, keeping cover at between 2 times
and 2.5 times normalised earnings.

Consistent with the Group’s capital allocation
strategy, underpinned by tremendous
operating cash generation and a strang
balance sheet, the Board has approved the
launch of a £20m share buyback programme.

STRAVEGY

Following a period of strategic reorientation,
the Group is now unequivocally focused

on being the leader in the UK in providing
high guality housing services to the public
sectar, That focus distinguishes us from many
of our peers who operate broader
businesses. It is also leading some Local
Authorities and Housing Associations to
discuss with us ways in which we can support
their housing repair operations. We will seek
1o grow our business where we believe that
there are opportunities to work in partnership
with these providers in a cost effective and
value-creating way.

We focus oninnovation and customer
satisfaction as key determinants of
successful performance and delivery
for clients. We continue to investin our
in-house IT operations delivery system,

which now permits tenants to report the
need for repairs and monitor their progress
completely online. Qur commitment to
innovation was illustrated by the acquisition
earlier this year of IRT Surveys Limited. While
financially this was a relatively small deal, it
brouylit irite the Group the capahility to
deliver new data-led solutians for clients by
assessing the energy perfermance of
housing portfolios, optimising budgets,

and providing solutions for the most efficient
and cost effective way (o compleie retrofits.
This capability will he crucial to our success
In delivering cost effective decarbonisation
solutions for clients as the public sector
embarks on what will be a multi-year
programme of work to contribute to the
achievement of the nation’s Net Zero targets.

ESG

Mears published its ESG Strategic Approach
2022-2030 earlier this year. This document
sets out clear targets in each of the areas of
environmental, social, and governance and
the Board reqularly reviews progress agains:
these targets. Mears has also created a
small ESG Board with several independent
members whose function is to support and
challenge the Group in the achievermnent of its
ESG objectives. We are proud of the efforts
which the Group has made over many years
in demenstrating the positive impact which
our activities can have on our werkforce,

our clients, and our communities and our
ESG strategy is consistant with that deeply
embedded cultural approach to how

we work,

BOARD DEVELOPMENTS

Toward the end of 2022, the term of our
Employee Director, Claire Gibbard,
concluded. The Board 15 grateful to Claire for
her contribution and especially her success
in devising and creating the new Employee
Forum, 8 mechanism ta allow individuals from
across the Group to meet and cellectively
discuss and make recommendations. As
described in the Report of the Nominations
Committee, the Group ran a process o select
Claire’s successor and we were pleased to
announce the appointment of Hema Nar with
effect from 1January 2023. Hema has
worked for the Group since 2020 as a bid
manager within the business development
function,

Also at the end of 2022, Alan Long, who
joined Mears 17 years ago and served as an
Executive Director for 9 years, stepped down
from the Board. Alan has been critical in
developing the Group’s workfarce initiatives,
its social value work, and its governance
endeavours as well as playing a key role

In winning new business and in promoting
and overseeing effective operational
improvement. | would like 1o take this
opportunity on behalf of the Board to thank
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This period has seen both significant change for the
Group and a reaffirmation of the positive qualities which
have for many years made Mears a force for good.

Alan for all he achieved with Mears in his time
with us and to wish him well for the future,

Lucas Critchley joined the Board as an
Executive Director at the start of 2023, Lucas
is the Group COO and will succeed David
Miles as Group CEO later this year. Lucas
joined the business as d giaduate in 2004
and has weorked across both the operations
and business support functions.

Finally, as noted above, | have decided to
step down from the Board with effect from
the 2023 AGM. Chris Loughlin, the current
Senior Independent Director, wili succeed
me as Chatrman.

DAVID MILES

in December 2022, Mears announced that
David Miles would step down as CEO during
2023 to be succeeded by Lucas Critchley.
David has worked for the Group for almost
27 years, 12 of those as CEQ. When he joined
Mears, the business had just 5 branches,

83 employeeas and a turnover of some £12m.
Since that time, and under his stewardship
first as COO and then CEQO, the Group has
grown toits current size with some 75
branches, over 5,000 employees and
turnaver approaching £1bn. Much of the
credit for this successful growth must go to
David, whe has been central to the Group’s
development throughout that period.

As importantly, David has been the driving
force behind the culture which underpins

all that Mears does, combining tne need to
generate profit and to deliver a return to our
owners with the need to provide value to &l
our stakeholders, staff, clients, service users,
and the communities in which we operate. In
2023 and for the future, it will be essential for
companies to show that they can and

do create social value as well as profits in
delivering their services. David's focus on
th's area over many years has been prescient
and paved the way for Mears to be
recognised as the most trusled private
provider working with the public sector.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank
David for his unigue service over s0 many
years and for all the value which he has
created and bequeaths to us.

CONCLUSION

Mears is a very successful Group and
punches above its weight in many respects.
It has a long and successful future ahead

af it as a leader in providing housing services
to the public sector. It will continue to be
seen as a Group that shows how the pursuit
of profit for owners can and should be
combined with the creation of value for

all other stakeholders. In this respect,

it1s a model for others to follow,
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A Q&A with our Chief Executive Officer

Mears has outperformed City
expectations in 2022 - why is
that and what is the outlook?

This comes from having a business
= built on sol'd toundations: 3 simple,
straightforward strategy focused on housing
inthe UK, and a market which continues
to present us witin growth opportunities
We have high levels of workforce
engagement wrich in turn lead to gogd
levels of customer service. We have a very
discipiined approach to how we -un the
business, with a desire to do business
responsibly and a resilient and ow risk
appreach te financial management.
Whilst challenges come and go, such as
Cowid-"% and inflation, c.r focus has ensured
we nave progressed well in 2022 and ' am
very canfigent in the autloak far the future.

DAVID MILES
CHIEF EXECUTIVE QFFICER

Mecha coverage of problems in the

asylum system has probably never
heen greater than in 2022 Surely this
must have created challenges for Mears?

tis true to say that the large number
of asylum seckears in tha system has
created significant pressures on our staff
and of course we have nat been immune

to same of the negativity in the media,
However, once again our staff have stepped
up to support people in the most difficult of
circumstances. You will see in this Annual
Report a small fraction of the ways that our
staff have provided extra support to asylum
seekers in local communities. Our role is
tofind people decent housing in local
communities and to help signpost people
to services that can help trem. Of course,

I am delighted with the strong
performance of the Group, and

these are a territic set of financial
results. Our market-leading position,
based on a clear strategy and resilient
operating platform, has underpinned
this performance, and positions the
Group for further sustainable growth

in the medium term.

there is a shortage of housing in the UK

and with the Righer numbers of both asylum
seekers and refugees. this challenge has not
baen easy. However we arg seelng more
Local Authorities agree to allow asylum
seekers 10 e housed in thelr areag and we
aro looking at creative ways 1o increass

the amount of "ousing available, incluaing
potentially purchasing some housing with
the help of private investors. | am sure 20273
will also see high demand on our services
and | know aur staff will also play their part
11 ensuring that people are supported as
best as we can.

| have seen that Mcars has extended

115 relationship with the Ministry of
Justice {MoJ). This sounds as if it aught
bring particutar risks?

We have been part of a pilot project
with the Mo to provide housing on
a lemporary basts 1o low rsk prisgners
leaving the service, who mught otherwise
have become homeless. This is a significant
problem across the UK, resulting in very
high levels of reoffenzing. The pilot has
been sean as very successful by the Mol
and | am pleased to say that this pillot has
been successful and that we have seen
that contract exte-ded.

We work very closely with the MoJ and
local support services on this programme
and while of course there are nisks, the
benefits have sigmificanly outweighed
the risks against all autcome areas

This is another example of Mears working in
service areas which can have huge long-term
benefits 1o ndividuals and communities
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The Directors have recognised the challenge at this
time of retaining and recruiting skilled labour and

have endeavoured to balance the pressures being

felt by the Group's employees, with what is affordable
to the business. Retaining a workforce that is motivated
and feels valued is critical.

What pregress have you made in your

strategic objective to be seen as the
most socially responsible large private
cempany working in the public sector?

Mears delivered £1,200 of social

value and £15 700 of economic value
to communities per employee across the UK
in 2022. The Mears Foundation more than
doubled its cash contribution to local causes
and the Group match-fund meney raised

by staff for the Foundation. Our ESG report
gives a great summary of the work that we
have dcone ina year when communities
have reslly needed our help. We have also
launched Charters setling out exactly what
being socially respansible means at Mears,
with clear targets which we will report on

an annual basis.

| am also pleased to report thal we have
improved our position as one of the UK's
Best Large Companies to Work For and
have taken acticn to improve g wide range
of benefits far staff. This has included
increasing care worker pay levels ahead

of inflation, improving sick pay and holidays
for front line operatives and introducing
better family friendly and flexible benefits.

You have announced a number of
changes at Board level, including
yvourself. Should we be concerned?

Mears manages change in a structured
way, with a long-term focus on
succession planning. That's why lannounced
my own decision to step down from the Board
by the end of 2023 so long in advance and
have ensured there is an effective transition
plan e the new Chief Executive Officer,

The same can be said for Alan Long, who is
also stepping off the Board but continuing to
play a vital role for the Group, and working to
ensure that the transition is dane the right

way. The Chairman is also moving on as

we progress to the next stage of Mears’
development. In each of these three cases
an internal successor has been planned for,
which shows the success of our approach.

a | see Mears has chosen to cantinue
having an Employee Director on the
Board. Why is that?

We take our commitment to staff very
sericusly and as suchitis important that
their views are heard at the most senior place
in the Company. We also have a variety of
roles below the Beoard that support the
Employee Director. A Deputy Emplaoyee
Director focuses on impraving conditions for
people with disabilites. We have introduced
a Group-wide Employee Forum, to ensure
views across the Group are represented.

Qur mest recent appointment 1s for a trade
representative to be appointed to focus
specifically on the issues faced by our front
line staff and ensure that their views are
properly communicated.

We note that Housing Associations

have had their rent increases capped
at 7% and Councils cannot increase Council
Tax by more than 5%. Is this likely to reduce
spending on Mears’ services?

In terms of our work with Local
Authorities and Housing Associations,
much of our work comes from ring fenced
repairs funds. Indeed, our clients are facing
the challenges from tougher regulatory
standards and from greater awareness of
issues refating to damp and mould. Added
to that is the challenge to make &ll social
homes a minimum of Energy Performance
Certificate (EPC} Band C in terms of energy
efficiency by 2030, As such we don't see
arisk in sperd levels being reduced but
there may be different prioritisations.
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ﬂ In the last Annual Report, you talked
& lot about carben reduction in the
housing stock. What progress has been made?

We have made significant progressin
being able to help clients assess the
work that needs 10 be done, access grant
funding, and carry out the necessary works.
Through the first wave of Social Housing
Decarbonisation Funding (SHDF), we
secured grant funding for three clients and
this work Is now being implemented.

We have also helped ciients with 10
submissions for over £100m of work as a part
of SHOF Wave 2. The results of this will be
known in spring 2023, We have also
purchased a small company called IRT, which
helps with the front end of this work

In assessing what warks should be done

and the funding levels that can be accessed,

The cash position of Mears has
improved significantly. What do
you intend to do with this cash?

We are obviously pleased to have

delivered so well in eliminating debl
and indeed building a positive cash positon.
We have always been an organisation that
manages cash well and this continues to be
a core strength of the business. We plan to
use this cash in a number of ways. Firstly, ta
use some cash i partnership with external
private investment, to secure property for
use primarily on the asylum contract.
This to ensure we deliver to operational
commitments and to generate positive
financial outcomes. Secondly, to explore the
opportunity for further small acquisitions, like
IRT in 2022. Thirdly, to maintain a progressive
dividend policy and consider other routes
far providing a return to our shareholders,
We wilt continue to monitor the position
closely and to listen to shareholder feedback
on the opticns that are available to us.
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Chief Executive Officer’s review

2022 was a tremendous year for the
Group. The strong operational and firancial
performance is further evidence that the
strategic actions of recent years and our
resilient operating platform are delivering
positive results and have positioned the
Group well for the future. Mears’ market
leadership and long track record for quality
and oparating excellence ensure that we
are seen as atrusted partner to Local ang
Central Government as they seek 1o address
their challenges.

The Group delivered strong revenue growth,
up 9% 1o £95%.6m. underpinned by the
increased volumes experienced within the
Asylum Accommodation and Support
Contract (AASCY. Except for the AASC,
revenues have been relatively consistent
across the remaining contract estate,

with a small reduction in our traditional
repair activities

Adjusted profit before tax for the year was
£35.2m (2021 £25.6m), benefitting from bath
higher revenues and strengthening operating
margins, reflecting the positive steps taken
by the Group over the previous two years.
Some actions resulted in a reduction in
revenues but they improved profitability. The
business has seen the guality of its secured
forward order book improve in terms of both
pricing and longevity, and the Directors wiil
continue to be disciplined when bidding

for new work. Whilst the business has
experienced some inflationary and cther
supply chain pressures, the senior
management team has taken steps

tc absorb the impact. This is covered

in greater detail below.

The AASC was secured in 2019. The Group
anticipated annual revenues of around
£120m; the contract has seen revenue of
more than doubie this original expectation,
with higher service user volumes. This was
due to the impact of the pandemic and
situations where residential dispersai
accommodation has rot been available.
The Group is working with the Home Office
to accommodate these higher volumes in
suitanle accommaodation, A signif cant focus
is being directed towards sourcing a higher
volume of residential properties that can
support boih the short-term and tonger-term
reguirements. Whilst the use of temperary
hatel accommaodation in the AASC s not
preferred, we have placed and will always
continue 10 place the wellbeing and safety
of the service user at the forefront of o
delivery. The Group expects these elevated
service user numbers to be present across
2023. | would like to place on record my
thanks 1o the Mears operational teams which
have done an incredible job in supporting
such farge nurnbers of vuinerable people

in tne most challenging clrcumstances
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2022 2021 2020
£m &m £m

Revenue a958.6 2784 2058
Operating profit before tax meas;e: -
Operating profit/{loss)’ 41.3 244 r(?:’;
Adjusted operating profit/{loss) 415 337 6.6
(post IFRS 16)”
Md operating profit/{loss) 361 296 ﬁiag-
{pre IFRS 16)*
Adusted operating margin (pre (FRS 16} 3.8% 34% 01%
;oﬂt before tax measures o
Statuory profit/{loss) Eefore tax T 34.9 EE—_ 152}
Adjusted profit/{loss) hefore tax? o 35.2 256 (3.4}

1 Operating profit/{loss) includes share of profit n associaies.
2 Adjusted measures are defined inthe Allernative Performance Measures section of the Financral review

A key operational highlight saw a succassful
autcome for the Group on the re-tender of
the RLAP with the MoD. Under this contract,
Mears provides a wide range of
accommodation and property services to
service personnel and their families across
the UK. Services include property search,
selection, and leasing, relocation services,
tenancy managemeant, responsive repairs,
and maintenance. Mears had been
successfully providing similar services stnce
2018 under the predecessor Substitute
Service Accommodalion contract, The new
contract is for a pernod of up (o seven years
and has an annual value of around £50m.
The new contract mobilised in Aprii 2022
and has started well with both operational
and financial metrics showing good progress

On a similar note, the Group was delighted
to successfully retain 1ts responsive repairs
contract with the London Borough of Tower
Hamlets, with a total value of £75m over the
fnital five-year term {with an option to extend
for further S years), Under the contract Mears
will provide a full range of responsive repairs,
voids, and planned works services in areund
1,500 properties. Strong customer service
and customer satisfaction scores were
fundamental in retaining this material
contract. This award builds on a relationship
between Mears and the Council that
stretches back over 15 years,

lam pleased with the progress made over
recent years to /mpiove the qualty of the
Group's forward order book. Since the start
of the pandemic, the Group has taken robust
action to prune its operations and to ensure
resources are directed towards those
contractual relationships which can provide
high levels of customer service and

sustainable financial returns, which are
reflective of the investment of time and
resources. Whilst the Group had previous'y
taken steps to exit a small number of
contracts, some of those demaobflisations
concluded during 2022, This approach has
resulted in some 1055 of revenue. However,
the priority for the Board has been to drive
an improvement to operating margins and
improve the quality of the contract portfelio

The increased focus on operating margins
has extended into the bid room where the
Group remains highly selective. The Group
was pleased o secure a new 10-year
contract with the London Borough of
Havering, delivering repairs and maintenance
to argund 12,000 homes with an estimated
annual value of £5m. This new contract
mobilisation went well, which was an
excellent achigvement given the current
backdrop of supply chain pressures and skill
shortages and reflects the strength of the
Mears operating model.

Qver the course of the past two years, the
Gioup has seen a high number of existing
contracts coming up for re-bid. Positively
through this period, the Group has enjoyed
several contract extensions (Orbit, Livin,
and MoJ) and a number of retentions
{R_AP, Tower Hamlets, Rechridge, and South
Cambridgeshire). Whilst | am pleased with
the contract retentuan rate, it is inevitable
that a busy penod of re-bids will result

in some loss of work. Conseguently, in
September 2022, the Group bid farewell

to 1ts work with Welwyn Hatfield Boraugh
Council, with an annual velue of circa £15m,
after more than 20 years’ service.
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SUPPELY CHAIN AND

DR ATIG Ea e b EL A S

Given the challenging econemic backdrap
and the volatility experienced during 2022,
a key concern from all our slakeholders

is how the Group has managed current
inflationary headwinds, labour shortages,
and challenges within the supply chain.

Pasitively, most of our customer contracts
include an entitlement to an annual price
adjustment which is typically benchmarked
against a cosl index. Whilst this provides the
Group significant protection, the Group Is not
immune to cost pressures, and there may
be disparity in the level and timing of

the increases received. The increases
experienced in the cost of energy have
added a significant headwind in respect of
the AASC where the Group provides light
and heating in respect of the circa 6,000
dispersed residential propertes. The Group
has benefitted from the short-term support
previded by Government, but energy costs
remain a significant uncertainty in respect

of that single contract.

Our procurement procedures have meant
that we have not expernenced significant
problems with material supply. Where iead
times have lengthened, we manage and
plan for this in our operational delivery. The
Mears model has always been to prioritise
the investment in, and retention of, cur own
staff, with lesser rellance on subcontracted
and other short-term labour. However, the
Group is dependent upon a network of
specialist small and medium-sized enterprise
(SME} subcontractors, and we recognise the
difficulties they will be experiencing within
therr own workforce and supply chains.

Where client spending is funded through

social rents, Lhe introduction of the social
housing rent cap may encourage clients

ORDER BCOK AMD PIPELINE

to look for cost reductions, notwithstanding
the fact that much of the Gronn's activities
are backed by legislation and can be
considered non-discretionary. Some areas
of planned capital spend, and inthatives
such as decarbonisation, could be subject
to cosl culting; however, this is only a
relatively small part of the Group’s revenues,

The Directors have recognised the ongoing
challenge of retaining and recruiting skilled
labour and have endeavoured to balance
the pressures being felt by the Group's
employees with what is affordable 1o the
business. Retlaining a workforce that is
motivated and feels valued is critical.

The Group made further improvements
during the period to holiday and sick pay
entitlements and other terms and conditions,
and the 2022 pay review applied a flat
increase of £2,000 per annum per emplovee,
which ensured that those at the lower end of
the pay scale received higher proportional
increases. The Directors awarded an
enhanced increase to its front line care
waorkers, who are now all paid more than

the real Living Wage rate. The Cirectors

will continue to monitor workforce pay,
recognising the importance of being reactive
to the cost of living pressures being felt by
many of our Mears colleagues. The Board
recognises that labour shortages are proving
a constraint on our ability to pursue certain
new ooportunities and we continue Lo invest
and inncvate to attract the bestialent.

CLISTOMER SATISFACTION

Mears conducts over 3,000 surveys per
month and has an independently chaired
Customer Scrutiny Board that reparts
both o the Board and externsally on our
performance. Key developments are tried
and tested with this Board, which has
customer reprasentation across our

core Hausing services.

In 2022, overall customer satisfaction was
83% (2021 86%) and we are pleased to see
low levels of complaints across the Group.
We seek to resolve complaints efficiently
and quickly, with learnings, where
appropriate, being transferred into revised
operational practices. We continue 1o
enhance the ability for tenants to interact
with us digitally while recagnising that for
many lenarts mare traditional routes aire still
preferred. In 2022, we developed and
launched a mobile customer app which
provides residents with more choice and
convenience, allowing us to create a more
personal service.

DECARBONISATION

2022 has seen Mears create a leading
end-to-end decarbonisation service

to support our clients with the huge
challenge of impraving social housing stock.
Social housing landlords need 1o achieve

a minimum EPC rating of C for their stock

by 2030. This starts with the ability to help
measure existing carbon efficiency, enabling
us to design a programme to cost effectively
deliver impravements and then to measure
success. The success of this work was seen
first by us warking with three clients on the
SHDF. All three bids were successful, and

the resulting work is now being implemented.

SHDF Wave 2 bids involve Mears working
with clients to submit bids which, if
successful, might result in aver £100m of
work over the next two years. Further waves
of SHOF funding will follow in 2023 and far
the foreseeable future. Our ability to support
clients was extended by the acquisition of
IRT Surveys Limited (IRT". IRT technology
can maodel the clients’ housing stock and
make clear recommendations on what
precise work should be delivered and the
grant funding available. | am delighted in the
positive impact IRT has already made and we

expect 1o see significant opportunity in 2023,

The order book stands a1 £2.9bn (31 December 2021: £2.4bn}, enhanced by a number of contract extensions. The Group secured contracts
in 2022 valuad at over £165m with a win rate (by value) of 30%. The key orders secured are detalled below.

Base
Extension Anneal contract New
Baso term option value valtle Retention’
Contracts awarded in 2022 {years) {years) om £m Extension
Tower Hamlets Homes 5 5] 15 75 Retention
South Cambridgeshire District Council 5 - 7 3% Retenuon
London Borough of Havering 10 - 5 50 New

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

Qver the course of the iast two years, the
Group has seen a high number of existing
contracts approaching re-bid. Positively, we
are now through this period, and the Board
is pleased witr its contract retention rate.
Looking forward, in the coming 12-moenths,
there are few rebids meaning much of the
business development focus can be direcred
towards supporting the Group’s organic
growth ambitions.

We are seeing an increase in the levels of bid
activity after two years of reduced volume
following the pandemic. The Group's current
bid pipeline for contracts 1o be awarded in
2023 is currently standing at approximately
£750m. The bid pipeline comprises contracts
which meet the Group's key bidding criteria
such as size, quality, and margin opportunity.
This reported pipeline excludes the large
contract oppertunity with North Lanarkshire
Housing and Corporate Maintenance and
Investment Services contract estimated to
generate more than £1.5bn of revenues over
12 years — to provide reactive maintenance,
compliance, servicing as well as programmes
of works to the Authority’'s approximately
37000 homes and c.1,200 other buildings.

HEALTH, SAFETY AND COMPLIANCE
Building on the success of achieving its
20th consecutiive ROSPA Gold Award,

the health and safety function continues
to perform exceptionally well, with no form
of regulatory improvement/enforcement
notices, or invoices for Health and Safety
Executive (HSE) fees for intervention,
being served.

In terms of developing risk, the Group has
maintained its focus on the fast-maving
area of building safety and is making good
progress with its drive tg implement. robust
management systems designed to ensure
compliance with the Building Safety Act 2022
and the associated secondary legislation
which is currentiy being enacted. However,
despite the advances made, this item will
remain a key area of focus and scrutiny for
the Board moving forward.
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Mental health and wellbeing is also an
area which has received enhanced scriutiny,
The Mental Health and Wellbelng Steering
Commities, consisting of key stakenolders
across all the Group’s operations, has a
mandate o drive oversight and provide
internal challenge to the business’s
ralevant policies and stiategic appioach
The Group has also increased tho range
of support services available to its staff
ard their famil es, via its Employee
Assistance Programme.

The Information Security team is now well
established and making excellent progress
with the ongoing implementation of
enhanced security controls and employee
awareness initiatives, which has epabled the
busiress 1o secure high level, ‘naependent
security accreditations for its key strategic
contracts. Moving forward, the team

is focused on delivering the same
validation programme tc all areas

of the Groun’s operations.

WORKFORCE

Mears has invested in our workforce for
many years and, for the third year runaing,
we have been listed in the Top 25 of the
UK's Rest Large Companies to Work For,
Each year we have also moved higher up
the fzague table, ilustrating the ongoing
improvement. This has been further
endorsed by Mears being named in 2022 as
the Employer of the Year by the Chartered
Institute of Housing, an organisation in
whicn almost all our clients have members.

This long-term staff investment in our
Workforce, is proving particularly important
at a time where employee resource has
become critical for many arganisations. While
we have ngt been immune Lo the pressures,
our approach has helped mitigate some of
this risk. This commitment starts af Board
level, through our ongeoing appointment

of an ETiployee Director, now with an
employee forum added to wider the circle
of engagement with staff at all levels,

We have also added a Deputy Employee
Director with 8 focus on making Mears

3 better place to work for people with
disabilities and a Trades representative lead.

We recognise that it has been a difficult

year financially for many people, which is
why, once aga.n, we have focused on the
giving the highesi percentage rises 1o the
lowest paid. We have also improved halidays,
sick pay, and other family friendiy benefits
across the Group. | am very proud of the
multiple investments that we have made here
and the impact they have on recruitment,
retention and employee commitment.

| have been pleased with our progress
on Equality, Diversity, and Inclusian and,
as detailed above, the support giver

by our dedicated Mental Health Steering
Group, designed to nelp people who
need it through what continues (o be

a challenging t me for many people,

ESG

Adopted by the Board and published in May
2022, our ESG Strategic Approach 2022-
2030 sets cut our current record in these
areas and our ambitious targets and plans.
Details can be found on the ESG microsite
on the mearsgrodp.co.uk website

in 2022 the Group delivered £16.900 per
empioyee of economic and social value

in local cammunities, as measured by the
Sacial Value Portal. The Mears Foundation
supporied 70 community projects in the year,
including work to promate digital inclusion
and improve the welfare of asylum seekers.

Mears has an independentiy chaired ESG
Board that reports to the main Mears Board.
The rcle of the ESG Board, which has three
independent Directors, Is to both support
and challenge the development of our ESG
work, This is fundamental to our strateqy,
which is founded on the goal to be seen

as the mast respoensible large private
organisation working with the pubtic sector.
Again, we set this goal with business
development and sustamability in mind.
Demonsirating a responsible approach

to business mitigates key reputation risks
with our clients and enables us to respond
well 1o tenders, for which ESG responses
are becoming increasingly important,

We have consulted on and launched
Charters throughout the UK, in which we
have clearly set out how we will do business
responsibly and we will transparently report
each year as to how we have done against
each of these commitments.

We have published our clear plan on how
we intend to get to Net Zaro carbon
emissions by 2030.
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STRATEGY

Ine strenglhiening Lading performance is evidonce that the strategic actions of recent years and Mears' resilient operating platform and
markel leadership are delivering results and position the Group well for suslainable growth over the medium term. Our strategy, as a housing
business working with the public sector, is founded on four principles:

Key principle

To be recognised as the most trusted large private provider working with the public sector
e have rommented in the £5G section of this document on the pasitive progress made in 2022. In 2022 the Group delivered
£160,900 per employee of economic and social value in local communities.

— Our success with gaining contract extensions and success on rebids demonstrates the trust clients place with us.

To have the highest levels of customer service in the affordable housing sector where we operate

— We have achieved real consistency in our customer satisfaction scores through the year, where we continue to target excellence
rather than just satisfactory feedback. Our scores increased overail versus 2021,

— We are receiving an increasing number of requests from Local Government and Housing Associations, which currently cperate a
largely internal repairs workforce, for assistance in resolving the problems that have increased for them in the last two years. We will
apply a selective approach as to where we can help, without over-stretching our own resources. Cur position as the go-to provider
is underpinned by our reputation that we have built over many years.

To embrace Innovation that drives positive change such as digital and carbon reduction
-- Wo have marle pnsitive progress in winning carbon reduction work and our enhanced capability will lead to us securing additional

work in 2023 and beyend.

— We are investing in the further development of our in-house core operating system Mears Contract Management (MCM} to support
our core housing activities. We continue with the development of customer applications that enhance service and lower cost, as
demonstrated by the fact that it Is now possible for tenants to fully report and see progress on their repalr digitally.

__ We have made our first bolt on acquisition, [RT, which adds to our innovative carbon offer.

To maintain and grow a resilient business with long-term partnerships, a strong balance sheet and cash position, along with a committed,

engaged workforce

_ Qur cash position is now very strong with an average daily nel cash of £42.9m.
.- We have secured new work with a contract value of £165m and have continued to develop new partnerships such as with the MoJ,

where we see significant opportunity for growth,
_ We are now bidding on the largest housing contract that we have ever bid, for North Lanarkshire, which has a £150m annual contract

value, for a potential 12 years.

— We still sce too many tenders wheare price is the dominating factor, but we will continue to follow our long-standing commitment
to quality and we will not extend relationships where price focus becomes more important than quality and long-term value.

— Qur focus will be on driving the longer-term larger partnerships that we have with Central Government and on sustainable partnerships
with Local Government that hoth deliver service quatily and enable us to maintain a strong balance sheet, Arrangements that do not

meet these critaria will be exited.

DIVIDEND AND CAPITAL ALLOCATION
Our capital allocation priorities are
unchanged. We aim to maintain a strong
halance sheet with an average daily net
cash balance and consistent with this,
the Board's priorities will be to:

_ Retain low levels of underlying net cash.

... Modest levels of maintenance capex and
digitisation spend.

— Small-scale property purchases on MoJ
and AASC, if absolutely required.

. Progressive ordinary dividends; cover
reducing towards 2x.

— Selective, small-scale acquisitions o
enhance product capabilities,
Returns of surplus ¢ash to shareholders
kept under review.

In 2022, we have deployed all aspects of our
capital allocation policy:

_.. We delivered strong free cash flows,
reporting an average daily net cash
of £42.9m.

. We have invested to support organic
growth with development of our IT
systems costing £1.0m during FYY 2022,
and a further £8.)m Iincurred on property,
plant and equipment addtions.

__ The Group has, to date, completed
property acquisitions of £5.2m to support
the challenging AASC impacts on our
service users from temporary sclutions
to dispersed residential accommodation.

__ The Board is recommending a final
dividend of 7.25p per share, resulting
in atotal dividend for the year of 10.50p
per share, an increase of over 30%
on 2021

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022

We completed the acguisition of IRT
to enhance the Group’s offering
focused on addressing fuel poverty,
decarbonisation, and energy efficiency.
. The Board las agreed that it intends to
adopt a recurring programme of share
buy backs. The Board has approved an
nitial buy back of up to £20m of shares,
recognising that this may take around
18 months to complete.

The full year ordinary dividend of 10.50p
per share represents dividend cover

of 2.33x. Our strong balance shaet,
confidence in the outlook and good cash
generation mean we intend 1o reduce
dividend cover progressively towards 2x
over the coming years. Regarding petential
further share buybacks, we will review our
financial position and capital requirements
on a regular basis and return surplus capital
to shareholders as appropriate.
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Case studies

Investing in intelligent
carbon capabilities

In 2022 Mears acquired IRT, which
operates in the carbon reductien space,
There are significant opportunities in
the structurally growing field of carbon
reduction which are complementary

to the services already provided by
Mears. The requirement to decarbonise
an ageing housing stock, especially in
affordable housing, is accelerating

in the current environment given the
slgnificant increases in energy costs,
and the agenda to meet the Government’s
targets of achieving net zero by 2050,

The technology from IRT was used to win
three contracts under the SHDF earlier this
year, highlighting that this is a tested formula
for successful future bids with our clients.

KEY BENEFITS
. The DREam software, a proprietary
technology platform, enables Mears o
develop intelligent retrofit ptans for our
clients, which means we can reduce the
energy bills of vulnerable clients much
more quickly.

. By introducing this data-led solution, we
have strengthened cur carbon reduction
offer with in-house expertise and capacity
on stock modelling and thermal imaging.

__ The DREam software heips enable
our clients to access funding to get
works done.

Read mare

ABOUT IRT

Headquartered in Dundee, and formed
around 20 years ago, IRT provides a range
of data-led services focused on driving
energy efficiency, decarbonisation, and
broader asset management activities.

IRT has developed DReam over several
years; the platform aims to simplify and
accelerate the retrofit journey by assessing
energy performance of housing portfoiios,
optimise budgeats, and provide
recommendations on the most efficient
way to complete fit outs, with a focus

on the affordable housing sector,

IRT is well known in the sector, with in excess
of 30 Registered Provider clients spanning
the UK, and has surveyed more than
250,000 domestic properties. IRT will
continue to service existing IRT clients.

In addition, IRT has an active sales pipeline
underpinning its growth forecast, which wiil
be enhanced further upon joining the Group.

Having the innovative IRT platform Is a vital
part of our retrotit solution and will enable
us 1o conduct stock analysis modelling

for catbon reduction work, enabling
opportunities te be progressed quickly, and
to help identify and access grant funding
support available. The acquisition has
provided Mears with new sxills and
capabilities tn this area, bringing new
expertise in-house, supporting pre-sales
activity and hetping to unlock the Group's
ability to deliver carban retrobit work, which
is identified to be a significant market.

- IRT DREam is an automated

energy auditing platform.

The platform uses algorithms to
impartially optimise budgets and
accelerate the retrofitjournay on
behalf of clients within the social

i
: housing sector.

IRT provide a range of additional
services to the sector, primarily
focused around energy services,
heat 1055 surveys, and broader
asset management activities,
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Social impact
for our asylum
service users

Mears works to provide housing and support to asylum seekers
who enter the UK and are housed In Scotland, Narthern Ireland,
the North-East, and Yorkshire and Humber.

Coming to the UK from all parts of the
world can be a daunting time, With Mears’
commitment to social value from each
employee, we ask our teams to look at how
they can give back their time and talent to
our sorvice users. The Mears Foundation
also provides grants for projects that

will provide social impact ard help
communities to integrate.

In January 2022, Mears Housing
Management joined the Thrnive Under 5
network in Drumchapel, Glasgow. Thrive
Under & (TUB) 15 a pilot project funded
by the Scottish Government.

Through a whole systems approach to
tackling child poverty, the programme aims
10 enable a healthy weight in children under
the age of five. Through our place on the
network, we worked alongside asylum
seekers residing in Mears accemmedation
and the wider community within Glasgow
to design ancd publish a culturally diverse
cookboaok. This cookbook aims to be a way
for new Scots to integrate, sharing their
culture with thelr new neighbours through
food. It aims to encourage the wider
community to try dishes from across the
world and develop healthier cooking habits
in the kitchen through a cooking from
scratch approach.

Just some examples of our community
projects can be seen here:

__ Working with a mosque in Glasgow's
West End 1o provide evening meals for
40 service users. The families were
delighted with the home cooked
food and the warm welcome and
hospitality they received from the
elders and congregation.
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— Working with the City of Glasgow College
to host employability and budgeting
sessions for our service users, including
those with positive decisions,

Service users in hulel accommodation

have been taught basic music, composing

and recording a single which was
performed in the local community.

_ Partnering with a community church that
provides community lunches 52 weeks a
year; our service users received a meal
and the oppartunity to meet different
people, and receive one-to-one support.

— "Grow and Grain Project” funding for
8 paid employee two days a week 1o
support 50 service users to help on
allotments and community gardens to
improve mental health and to create
a local community pantry.

— Partnering with a major Northern faotball
club 1o provide football sessions to
service users once a week so they
can meet new friends and ne’gnbours.

These are just scme of the activities we
organise thraughout the year 1o support cur
service users and we couldn’t do this without
our fantastic teams on the ground, who work
tirelessly to suppart vulnerable groups.
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Case studies continued

Reducing reoffending rates
for the Ministry of Justice

To demonstrate the life-changing nature
of the contract, we will [eave It to a service
user to describe the impact of the service:

In prison, my mental health was at

its iowest, fazling that | could cossibly
e out on the srest. Then daye before

my reiease, my probation officer told
me about the CAS 3 project. i was
so relieved that someone was willing
to give me a roof over my head and
a chance of getting back on my feet.
Vused this as a positive, a break from
the old life | had, from the people
that might have influenced me into
cemmitting crime.

This accommeodation has given me
security, a second chance at life, time

to recover, to think positively about my

future and that | can overcome things
and move on. Without CAS 3 | would

have possibly been homeless or worse;

I don’t want to even think about it!

FEMALE CAS 3 RESIDENT
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Mears continues to build on our
contract award from the MoJ to run
the CAS 3 project. This is one part
of a wider £80m project to reduce
reoffending, through the provision
of temporary accommodation.

in 2022 tha contract in the North-
West was extended for a further
two years and we have recently
been awarded a new contract

for the North-East.

CAS 3 accommodates and provide
services to people cn probation — this
means adult offenders of all genders
who are 18 or above who have been
released as homeless from prison
following & custodial senternce.
Residents are accommodated for

up to 84 days m Mears managed
croperties and will receive support
znd assisiance to enable a successiul
rave onto ther permanent home

in 2022, Mears has supported 1,382
people, Of those Yeaving the service,
47% have accessed settled
accommaodation rather than
returning to homelessness

or temporary accommodation,

Mears currently delivers services

in two of four p'lot areas. We have
bid or eight of the 10 areas ‘or the
national rollout of the scheme, with
an agyregaie annual contract valoe
of more thar £20m. We hape to get
the oppo-tun'ty to work in more
regions to reduce the risk of
homelessness for this service

user gioup,
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Mears wins Tower

Hamlets repair contract

At the start of this procurement process we consulted
with our residents to help us understand what they
wanted to see from the repairs and maintenance
service they receive. | am confident that the new
contract with Mears delivers what our residents

asked for and they will see an improvad service
delivered in a more flexible way. We have a long
history of working with Mears and are confident that
this naw contract will help us to deliver great services,

ANN OTESANYA
INTERIM CHIEF EXECUTIVE, TOWER HAMLETS HOMES
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Mears was delighted to have won a
new housing services contract with 0
Tower Hamlets Homes in 2022,

This was a deserved reward for the

local team which has delivered this service

for the last 10 years, demonstrating our
commitment to long-term partnerships.

=

The new contract began in July 2022

for an initial five years with the option to
extend it for up to an additional five years,

it caovers the day-tc-day responsive repairs
and emergency repairs in both residents’
homes and communal areas, void properties
and out of hours call handling.

FIOHVNI

(WIETLn

X

The new contract responds to customer
needs by increasing the availability of
appointments and Introduces extended
working bours until 8pm Monday—Friday
and between 8am and 4pm on Saturday.
Tower Hamlets Homes will monitor the
repairs cantract against a set of strict
performance targets to ensure Mears
continues to deliver and improve the
service provided to rasidents.

TiN

As part of the new contract, Mears

has made a commitment to appeint 10
Level 2 apprentices ano provide two
graduate placements to people who live
in the local community. The Company

has also commitied to the creation of new
community gardens as well as supporting
the ongoing maintenance of these spaces.
Additionally, Mears will support the
redeccration and maintenance of some
community buildings used and managed
by tenants and residents’ associations,

MOILYWHOSN] §3GT0OHITHYHE
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Market drivers

HOUSING MARKET
Affordable housing continues to be an attractive sector for the longer term, given the UK housing shortage, decarbonisation contracts, long
social housing waiting lists, cycles of outsourcing, policy changes encouraging more secial house building, and broader resilience of demand.

POLITICAL AND ECONOMIC LANDSCAPE

_. The Government is focusing on achieving QOpportunities
Net Zero with a particular facus on hausing —. Retrofitting and future proofing existing housing stock

. The provisions from the Social Housing ... The Procurement White Paper wiit nopefully see a more transparert and fair piading process wnch
White Paper will be implemented with takes into account social valye with more impact
an increased focus on tenants —. Cost of living considerations will be a positive way to engage with our tenants and to show best

.. There are expected changes to the practice in light of the White Paper changes
procurement framewark ln 2023

~. We face a national skills gap for new Mears' response
Net Zero works — We will continue to deliver a market-leading service as a pure-play specialist in housing solutions

- Inflationary pressures affect our — We are winning more work with Central Government, with contracts to provide housing provision
revenue and impact our works for three Government departments alangside three successful bids to the SHOF

. We acknowledge the cap on soclai rents ~ We have developed our clear carbon offer for our clients, including funding models. Mears has
below inflation and the need ta suppart atready won comracts to aid our ciems’ carbon journey and has bid for 10 more in the second wave
tenants through the cost of living crisis _. Through our Customer Scrutiny Board, we have gone further than we belleve legislation wilt require

— T - to ensure tenants have a say in how our service runs

Risks _. We have remodelled our apprenticeship approach to bring through the next generation of skills,

- Areliance on plecemeal Government funding whilst creating tecnnical positions far thase wha have retired ar flexible workng to enable them

fur Net Zera, which could prevent our clients 10 continue working witnout @ longer-term commiiment
delivering Net Zero plans whilst maintaining - We have continued to focus pay increases on the lower paid, with care workers seeing increases
s10ck in a strategic way of over 10% in the year to 1 January 2023

—.. Cap on sociai rents below inflation .. Our accredited training centre in Rotherham means we are in @ position to upskill our workforce o
will see some pressures on clients’ new Net Zero working, We have alceady obtained the required Publicly Available Specification (PAS)
cepital expenditure accreditations to support this work

RISING LEVELS OF HOMELESSNESS, ASYLUM CLAIMS AND HOUSING NEED FOR THE MOST VULNERABLE

. _ The UK is experiencing the highest influx Opportunities
of refugees and economic migrants in .. Innovative and rapid solutions needed, given the Jikely continued slow growth on new build
recent histary, all of wham have a tight provisian. This is especially true for aur asylum service
to be housed _. Homelessness stilt growng, with Coundils 1ooking for solutions which innovate and support.
— Government has agreed to spread the housing  _. A growth In the market for housing and support for vuinerable individuals
of migrants to all local authority areas _. Towork with new Local Autnorities to house the most vulnerapie, whilst easing pressure
. Councils lack funding to provide their cn those who have always taken asylum seckers in
statutory homelessness duties
_.. The Scotland Hausing to 2040 plan Mears' response

adopted by the Scottish Government —. We have awerd winning solutions for more homelessness solutions and affordable homes, such
anvisagas a rale for private providers as our partnership with the London Borough of Waltham Forest, which we hope will sec further
in meeting housing targets opportunities in the coming years
T TTTTTTTTT T L wWe have becoma the leading provider of cost effective homelessnass salutions
— In 2023 we have further broadened our footpring to areas of specific need following our successiul
_. . Asscciated reputational risks through weorking it 1o the Ministry of Justice
with the most viinerable - Gur Housing Associations Plexus and Omega is one of the largest Private Registered Social
_ . Arenta market wnich is seeing nign rent Landiords in the UK
levels and less availability due to Government
cnanges for landlords
_ . The cost of iving means more people are
likely Lo need social housing

/9\

Risks

—- We are working well with the Home Qfhce to continue housing supply in the face af
increased migration

DEMOGRAPHIC CHANGE
- The UK's over-85 population will grow from Opportunities
1.6 million fn 2020 to 2.1 million in 2030, _._ More specialist housing 's needed 1o limit escalating cost to the NHS and social care
and 3.7 million by 2050 __ Agrowth in the market and concept of retirement Living
— Along-term funding settlement for social __ The next generation of over 85s wili have many affiient and high income members who won't guaify
care has not been forthcoming for state funded care and with als0 want 1o pay a premium for the pest possibie residential care

_. Ofthe UK’s care homes, an estimated 70%
are now aged 20 years or older. Conversion Mears' response

homes and even 1990s purpose-builthomes  we continue to nrovide excelient service our 21 specialist Mousing solutions such as exira care and
are b ] gy L d supported living We will 1ook 10 sustainably expand this work in 2023
Risks

_. Sociat care funding has again been pushed
back to dear with the cast of (iving crisis

18 Mears Group PLC Annusl Report and Accounts 2022



@ PACE OF TECHNGLOGICAL DEVELOPMENT

— Thete are rising Government and customer Qpporiunities

expectations that gervices will be aasier — To use technology to improve cusiomer commumication, service, and lower cost
to navigate through technology - The growliy vequirement far using technology to enhance hiousing services plays to one
__ Technology is piaying an increasing role of our key sirengths

In all aspects of service management

Risks

—. The continued need to invest
in technolegical innovation

— Growing imporiance of cyber security,
aspecialty given the sansitivity of much
of pur work

Mears’ response

- Our acquisition of IRT places us at the forefront of carbon reduction and allows us ta provide all
clients with a fult understanding of what works are needed {o their housing stock, as well as what
grant funding can be sccessed

_. We have market-leading technology to reduce long-term costs and enabie us to integrate
our sefvices We will start to implement more solutions that reduce repairs risk, e.g. mould
and damp detection.

. We are making use of self-service techinology in suppart of changing expectations such as MCM Live
and chatbots

_— Thereis a greater use of customer insight and development of bespoke censultation tools with our
Voice of Customer programme

. We Introduced a customer app to further enhance our services

b: COST OF LIVING CRISIS

-— Energy bilfs are rising across the board Opportunities

- Poorly insulated homes will pay more enerdy  ___ To engage with our workforce le ensure we are heiping where we can

— Government funding relies on match-funding __ Ourleadership in decarbonisation of socia) housing ang new n-house capabilities mean we can help
from Local Authorities and Is emerging our clients secure available carban funding
in waves

_— Inflationary pressures will mean more
uncertainty going into 2023

- QOur empioyees are facing a cost
of living crisls

Risks

_ loss of staff

_. Anincreased urgency to decarbonise our
own managed housing stock to reduce
energy bills

Mears' response

.. We nave produced our own Net Zero plan, which wilt be published in early 2023

.. We have an excaejlent workfarce engagement approach that gives us the best possible chance of
recruiting new people a3 well as retaining cur staff. While there are inflationary pressures, our major
contracts have huilt-in uplift mechanisms that limi these impacts significantly

— We have already mitigated the singfe biggest energy risk to cur managed properties within the
asylum service

RISING CUSTOMER EXPECTATIONS

.. There are rising resident expectations Opportunities
_ The Government's facus on ‘leveliing up’ .— Customer's quality, communicaiion, and speed expectations continue to Increase, which provides
and a itment to the 1 | of opportunities for organisations, such as Mears, that can quickly adapt to this
democracy so people’s voices can be heard __ Tnose prganisahions that are effective in working with tenants to co-design solutions are likely
—. A new Future Homes Standard will be to be successfuf
idered in the ing years __ increasing health and safety demands, post Grenfell, will positively impact on quality requirements
T intenders
Risks . Growing need to supportlocal communities through social and econhomic investment

- Risk of delays given potitical change

Mears’ response

__. We now have a sole focus on housing, having divested unprofitable, non-housing related businesses

_. We are benchmarking weil against the bast across alf reievant ingustries

__ We continue to focus our Customer Experience on going above and beyond new reguiatory standards

__. We continue 10 demonstrate our approach to outsourcing proactvely

__ We are warking to continuously improve tenant engageiment, highlighted by our accreditation fram
Tpas and winning the [nside Housing Award for Outstanding Tenant Engagement — Contractor, in 2021

__. We are continuing to support ketter communities in which service users live, with a focus on
developing skills for the next generation and bringing people back into the workplace

—. Qur commitment to socla! value and tenant engagement through Your Vaice and our Customer
Scrutiny Boardg

. Our social value work remains at the neart of our business and is bolstered by the work of the
Mears Foundation
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Our value creation model

QUR PURPOSE
Working tagether to help people and communities thrive, This is the guiding principle that defines our brand
and drives our ac es. {tis what makes Mears distinctive and is the starting point for ot of our activities.

QUR VISION
To be the leading provider of housing services and solutions o the affordabile housing market in the UK.

What we do and how

Key resources and relationships

[20)) NDING PARTNERSHIPS
Firmly rooted in Lacal Government and Housi

A RESPONSIBLE APPROACH

Creating sacial value is a key part of our business strategy, as this enables
us 1o be seen 3s a trusted paringr by our clients, and is an essential part of
building stronger refationships. Our new ESG strategy sets out how we will
cantinug on our socially respansily iney.

Find out move
see pages 30 to 43 (ESG section of the Strategic report)

EXCEPTIONAL PEQPLE

Proud 1o e number 18 in the UK's Best Large Companies (o Work For,
We recogr our staff as our greatest asset. Mea s are skilled
in delivering nhilst showing a strong

service ethos ard mpathy for cur service users.

REVENUE GENERATION

Mears’ revenue is generated from payments from
Government and Local Authority and Housing
Association clients in respect of its housing services.
Whilst the end service users are at the centre of our
SUPPLY CHAIN PARTNERS business model, they do not pay for the service

We chonse suppliers who share our values and mect our standards, directly. These paymonts are made under long-term
We work closeiy with suppliers to develop innovative services and contracts {average seven years).

integrate them into our core systems. . ) R s

MARKET-LEADING TECHNOLOGY
Our performance is built on a bedrock of first-class IT platforms. giving

STABLE MARGINS AND GOOD CASH CONVERSION

FINANCIAL STRATEGY
Wa are fundoed from a combination of shareholder funds and retained
profits. Qur underlying business has good forward visibility, stable
margins, strong cash conversion, and limited capital reguirements
Accordingty, fr cash flow can predominantty be used to invest furthor
in the busir . 1o maintain low levels of cash and to provide returns

al providers.

INNOVATION

The challenge of delivering service impiovements at lower ¢ost requires
innovative thinking and the use of technology. We create and lead best
practice in aur markets.

20

We have a long-standing record of stable profit
margins on contracts {once mobilised} and converiing
profit into cash, utilising strong financial management
combined with goad relationships with cli

the supply chain.
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Selflessness
We value our customers
and communities, putting

Teamwork
We value teamwaork,
supporting each other,

Responsibility

We value personal responsibility.

setting consistently high

Innovation
We value innovation, being
inventive in cur approach and

their needs at the hean of
everything we do.

sharing ideas and never
excluding others.

standards for our work and
holding ourseives accountable
far achieving them,

empowering people to take
reasonable action without fear
or dis¢crimination.

1HOd3H DI193LVHLS

The value we share

SHAREHOLDERS

The Group follows a progressive dividend policy.
The Board is recommending a full year dividend
of 10.50p per share, an increase of over 30%

oh 2021. The Board reviews the Group's financial
position and capital reguirements on a regular
basis and will return surplus capital to
sharehaolders as appropriate.

GOVERNMENT

In 2022 we paid an agaregate sum in direct and
indirect taxes of £177m, In addition, through the
services we pravide to the public sector, we are
delivering significant cost savings and better
value to Central Government, L.acal Authorities
and the NHS,

BONYHNEZAOD JLVHEOCSEDD

CUSTOMERS

We maintain homes throughout the UK,
undertaking arcund 5000 repairs per day.
Mears has extended its activities to provide
solutions to resolve the challenges of
homelessness, asylum housing, and MoD
and MoJd accommodation.

COMMUNITIES

At the heart of Mears lies a strong sense of
responsibifity towards improving peopie’s Hives.
We create opportunities and enabie peapie

to develop new skills within some of the most
disadvantaged and marginalised communities

in the UK, Every branch of Mears makes a social
value pledge, which facuses on specific activities
to improve its local community in at least one of
ous social value prioriiies.

SARBHBLYLS TVIDNVRNIY

EMPLOYEES

Mears is commitied to training. We have an
extensive apprenticeship programme and provide
a number of alternative training solutions far
upskiliing employees and for the professional
development of Mears managers. We are proud
to be rated as one of the Best Large Companies
to Work For.

NONTAHOAN] BdOTOHIHYHSE
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Our strategy

Delivery today, not tomorrow

Qur vision is to be the leading provider to the resilient and growing affordable
housing market in the UK — a provider that operates with a strong sense of sociat
conscious, tackling issues that matter to people and communities.

Against this vision, we have four strategic priorities

P T ek

TO BE RECOGNISED AS THE MOST TRUSTED LARGE PRIVATE
PROVIDER WORKING WITH THE PUBLIC SECTOR

. | A
What we achieved ' 2023 priorities | How we measure success
Secured new contracts with existing ! Launch our new Net Zero plan with clear _. Extending services with existing chents.

|
Government departments, including i rogdmaps towards goal achievement | Retaining contracts at sustainable pricing.
the MoD and the MoJ ; Continue to operate to the highest i winning work with new clients who share
. Consulted across England and launched | ethical standards. { our values.
a charter as to how we will operate i Focus on large integrated contacis, | Being seen as a trusted, responsible and
ethically, following on from eur | We are biddirg for a contract with | ethical provider to Central Government,
Scottish Charter. ; North Lanarkshire Council to become . - Meeting our obligations to decarbonise

Launched our first ever ESG Strategic | 3 strategic partner on a broad programme | our operations.

Approach alongside a new independent | of work, centred around housing. |

ESG Board te monitor our prograss. ‘ Given the strength of overall proposition, ‘ Link to KP!s

Over £88m of delivered social and local | we see opportunity 1o impgrove our I .
economic value in 2022 | previous one in three bid win rate, 1 o o o @ o @%
The Mears Foundation maore than | More opportunity to cross-sell our |

doubled grant funding to community ‘ broader housing services, such as carbon |

projects versus 2021 reduction, through mere effective client |

development planning, growing the |

b number of services per client. X

s S D S

Risks | Link to UN SDGs

. Inflationary pressures will mean price will continue to drive decisions o some Contracts. | g

| ek ORI G

@&

?ﬁ?i}r AY TO HAVE THE HIGHEST LEVELS OF CUSTOMER SERVICE IN
@ THE AFFORDABLE HOUSING SECTOR WHERE WE OPERATE
What we achieved | 2023 priorities ‘ How we measure success
-~ Recognised for the quality of our service | . Manage the challenges associated © . Service user and client feedback.
and customer engagement, througn . with h.gh demanas, especially from
several national awards. | the AASC " Link to KPIs

_ Curindependent Customer Serutiny ; '
Board has published its second report ‘ ! o a o o @
an our performance

- 88% of our customers regard our | i
service as satisfactory or nigher,

Rising customer expectation requinng ever more individual responses.
Shortages in some areas of the labour market, aithough this position
is exzelted 10 imprave in 2023,

RS
@RS
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CUSTOMER SATISFACTICN

CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS

EMPLOYEE TURNQOVER

NEW CONTRACT SUCCESS

20000

ORDER BOCK

What we achieved

_. Acquisition of IRT - a data managemeant
company which enables us to produce
carben reduction plans for our clients
at scale

.- Waon three contracts from the SHDF
and have bid for a further 10 in the
second wave of this fund.

_— The continued improvements to core
systems, which enable our customers
to mteract in real time with us and (o
report and track their work requests.

ACCIDENT FREQUENCY RATE

60000

TO EMBRACE INNOVATION THAT DRIVES POSITIVE
CHANGE SUCH AS DIGITAL AND CARBON REDUCTION

2023 priorities

' _ Establish Mears as leaders in

carbon reduction in sacial housing,
_.. Continue to iImprove the ways our
custamers can interact with us.
_ Secure as much carbon work as
we can, helping clients access
grant funding avaltahle.

Risks

— There remains some uncertainty as to how fast Central Government funding will
flow through Lo enable housing landlords to meet their caron reduction targets.

=l

What we achieved

.. Achieved a positive cash position
and increased margin in line with
strategic expectations.

— Secured long-term contracts with
botk existing and new clients.

. Improved ail employees’ terms and
conditions including family friendly
policies and a cost of living payment.

__ Improved our position as one of the

UK's Best Large Companies to Work Fer.

_ Provided a wide range of toois to assist
with mental health and wellbeng.

Risks
_ inflationary pressures in some areas.

2023 priorities

_ Continue to improve margins but
ensuring we deliver great value for money
for clients.

— Maintain our UK’s Best Companies position.

_ Continue to increase the diversity of our
workforce at ali levels.

_ Maintain focus on employee engagement
and helping tackle the challenges of
wellbeing and mental health.

_ Cap on social rents below inflation. This should be IImited 1o 2023 as we see inflation fali.
_ Theimportance of diversity and incluston alongside a difficult national recruitment
shortage means we will have to work hard to achieve our diversity aims.
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REVENUE GROWTH (CONTINUING ACTHVITIES)

ADJUSTED OPERATING MARGIN (CONTINUING ACTIVITIES)

AVERAGE DAILY NET DEBT (EXCLUDING LEASE QBLIGATICNS)

GROWTH IN NCRMALISED DHLUTED EPS

How we measure success
— Levels of new work won

Link to KPIs

Link to UN SDGs
tnan AN
DA-RHE

e

TO MAINTAIN AND GROW A RESILIENT BUSINESS WITH LONG-TERM PARTNERSHIPS, A STRONG
BALANCE SHEET AND CASH POSITION, ALONG WITH A COMMITTED, ENGAGED WORKFORCE

How we measure success
Staff retention level.

__ Benchmarking versus other organisations.

__ Margin improvements.

__ Ahappler, healthier and more engaged
workforce based on Best Companies
survey results and mental health and
wellbeing working group policies.

Link to KPIs

0000¢C

Link to UN SDGs
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Key performance indicators

Non-financial

€ CUSTOMER SATISFACTION

for customers to recommend us, we must deliver excellent
onrepairsin 2022 and
antly inspect around 10% of works ord nd
enants to provide feedback so we can deliver further

€©) CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS

Ncidents s ting from poor service result in a complaint per
thousand jobs. We are comimitted to dealing with alf complaints
on an indi DAsis.

€ EMPLOVEE TURNOVER

Our employees are fundamental to meeting our strategic priorities.
The Ditactors hav, 1 the challenge at this time of retaining
skilled labour and h ed to balance the pressures being
feft by the Grou J
Retaining a workforce that is motivated and feefs valuedis critice
We recognise the impertan N attracting and retaining skiied staff,
and at a time when competition for skilled labour s high it has nevel
been mote important. The staff churn figure is calculated as the total
during the year as a propartion of the
:adomunt.

Business development

' €) NEW CONTRACT SUCCESS

Contract success is measurad by the total revenues secured as a

. propartion of the total value of tenders submitied. The average
contract length is sround six years. in arcler to achieve our organic
growih forecasts, it is important that we secure around one in three,
by value. Whilst the Group met its new-bid conversion target, the
total value of contracts tenderad in 2022 was lower than anticipated,
The Directors expect bid activity 1o be higher jn 2023, underpinned
By the new Nerth Lanarkshire tender which is valued at £1.4bn over
12 years. However, given the outcome of this single large tender is
pinary, 1ne target for 2023 excludes this bid.

© oroer BOOK

Qur orcder book provides us good visibility of those revenues sgoured
for future periods. it is heipfu) that we have long-term contracts that
allow us 1o plan with confidence, in the knowledge that we have
significant revenues aready contracted. it is aiso positive for aif

cur stakehaldears, providing stability to our supply chain. funders
and, most importanthy, for reciviting and motivating oW watkinere

a5 aetaled above, the Group is at an advanced stage of re-bidding
the North Lanarkshire tender which is vatued at £1.8bn over 12 years.
The ardar book target tor 2023 assumes that the Graup is successtul
in securing this new cantract opportunity.
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RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

88%

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

1 » 8 per 1000

RESULTS FRCM THE YEAR

24%

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

34%
N

2021 38%

2020 S2%
I - Al

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

£2.9bn

2021 £2.4bn :‘ ‘.\

2020 £2.6bn

2022 TARGET
86%
@ Outperformance

2023 TARGET

88%

2022 TARGET
21%
@ Underperformance

2023 TARGET

1.5

2022 TARGET
22%
@ Underperfarmance

2023 TARGET

23%

2022 TARGET

33%
(\i\‘ Outperformance

i

2023 TARGET

33%

2022 TARGET

£21bn

I \' Qutperformance

2023 TARGET

£4.0bn
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Financial performance

e REVENWE GROWTH (CONTINUING ACTIVITIES)

Our KPLtarget relates to total revenue although it is important to also
iclentify the spiit between organic growth and growth that has been
delivered through acguisitions, We believe that organic growth gives
& bettet indication of business parfarmance, being an aggregation
of success in new contract bidding and centract retention, The Board
ariginaily anticipated a reduction in revenues in 2022 which did

Aot occur, as activity within the Group's AASC remained at

elevated levels,

@) ADIUSTED OPERATING MARGIN
(CONTINUING ACTIVITIES)

Operating margin is the KPl used to measure and understand

the profitability of cur activities. The operating profit measure is

taken Defore excaplional €< and the amortisation of acquisition

intangibles. The measure is stated on a pre-IFRS 16 basis, being
re that is utilised within the busin and understood by

our investors and bankers. The Directors were pleased to deliver

a solid improvement in aperating margins in 2022, an increase

© AVERAGE DAILY NET DEBT
(EXCLUDING LEASE OBLIGATIONS)

Good working capital management remains a cornarstone of the
business. Mears has always fostered a strong ‘cash culture’, wherelby
the Group's front line operations understand that invoicing and cash
cellection are intrinsically linked, and that a waorks order is not
complete until cash is callected in full. This culture has underpinnecl
strong cash performance over many years, The Group has deliverad
strong cash generation with EBITDA to operating cash conversion of
mora than 100%. Whilstitis pleasing 10 report & strong cash position
within the pericd end kalance sheet, of much greater significance is
the daily cash peiformance over the 365-clay period. The Board is
delighted to report such strong performanca.,

BGROWTH IN NORMALISED DILUTED EPS

Nornmalised earnings are stated before exceptional costs and exclude
the amottisation of soquisition intangibles together with an
adjustment to reflect a full tax charge. The Group has delivered
strang earnings growth, underpinned by an increase in both
revenrues and aparating margins. Whilst the Board expects this
strong performance to increase into 2023, the increase in the
corporation tax rate. combined with an increase in the numbar of
shares following the maturity of the Save As Yeu £arn (SAYE) scheme,
means that EPS will result in some downward pressure in 2023,

Health and safety

10 ACCIDENT FREQUENCY RATE

The health, safety and welibeing of our employees is our

primary consideration in the way we do business, Health, safety
and enviranmentai risks are fully embedded in the governance
structures of the Group. Providing cur employees with a safe
working environment remains paramount. Qur accident frequency
rate 15 calculated as the number of repartable incidents

{by both employees, service users and third parties) divided

by the number of hours worked, multiplied by 100,000, Whilst the
result for 2022 showed an increase in accident freguency, we
consider this performance to still be strang.
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RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

[e)
+9%
2022

2021

2020

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

+3.8%

2022
2021

2020

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

£43m net cash

2022 FELxiy]

2021 £0m

2020

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

24.5p

2022
2021

2020

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR

0.25

2022

2021 048 ‘
2020 015 ‘

! g%

2022 TARGET
Ls)
-5%
@ Qutperformance

2023 TARGET

-5%

2022 TARGET

+3.8%
@ On track

2023 TARGET

+3.9%

2022 TARGET
L3
£nil
@ Qutperfarmance

2023 TARGET

£50m
net cash

2022 TARGET

19.5p
@ Onitperformance

2023 TARGET

23.2p

2022 TARGET

0.22

R
\~‘!, : Underperformance

2023 TARGET

0.24
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Stakehoider engagement

Listening to our stakeholders

Strategic Report Stakeholder engagement is central to our strategy. We are focused on delivering positive cutcomes for all our stakeholders.

Stakeholder

Clients

How we engage

Regular contract
specific meetings
Bringing clients
together to solve
sector wide issues
Voice of Customer
pragramme to get
regular perception
audit of our service

Business model

Customer service
leadership

. Long-term partnerships

that deliver value
for money
ESG commitment

Key issues

mproving nationat
housing stock
ESG agenda

- NetZero

Growth of sector
regulation

. Government-led

housing solutions
such as homelessness,
parole, asylum

Outcomes

. Seen as the leading

specialist housing
provider to Central and
Local Government

. Partner of choice for

longer-term large
integrated contracts
Thought leaders

on legislative
dovelopment

Good governance and
financial sustainability

Residents and
customers

. Vaice of Client

feedback pregramme

. Customer

Scrutiny Board
Local events

.. High levels of customer

focus and engagement

. Co-production of

sarvice improvement
programmes

- Added focus on social

value to benefit 1ocal
communities

Rising expectations
of customer service

. Increased powers

of Ombudsman
and Regulator

. Widespread

understanding of
poor housing stock
and its effects

- tHhgh levels of customer

satisfaction

- Good contract retention

Employee Forum
Employee Director
See page 66 (roles
and responsibilities,
employee director’s
listed)

Appointing a Deputy
Employee Director
focusing an supporting
disabled and
neurodivergent staff

- We have appointed

a trade representative
to specifically focus
on issues raised Dy
front line staff

Best Companies
feedback survey

. Extensive internal

communication
programme
Workforce
development and
succession planning

. Focus on making Mears

a great place to waork
Extensive Investment in
people, e.g accredited
training provider and
national apprenticeship
programme

Local recruitment

to support lacal
communities

- Cost of living

- Colleague engagement

now seen as key across
all sectors

. Developing new skills

e.q to addrass carbon
reduction reguirements

High levels of
workfarce satisfaction
Aility to successfully
resource work

_.. Increasing diversity

Communities

Independent ESG Boardg
Local social value plans
far each comrmunity
where we work
Partnership working
with clients and other
stakehoiders

Social value embedded
into every coniract
Social value embedded
into warkforce appraisal
mecharisms at all
levels from Board
downwards
Independent scrutiny
of performance

Cost of living crisis
‘Leveliing up’ agenda

_- Securing and

retaining contracts

~ Improving workforce

satisfaction
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Section 172 statement

Our duty

Statement by the directors in performance
of their statutory duties in accordance with
Selion 172{1) of the Companies Act 2006.

The Board of Directors of Mears Group PLC
consider, both individually a11d wyelher, thot
they have acted in the way they consider,

n goad faith, would be most iikely to
promote the success of the Company for
the benefit of its members as a whola

n the decisicns taken during the year
ended 31 December 2022,

The Board recognises a wide range of
stakeholder interests and seeks 1o create

a culture whereby decisions are made with
consideration to the wider impact upon the
organisation as well as financial performance
and strategic objectives. The Company's
Directors recognise their legal duties under
Section 1721} of the Companies Act 2006,

to actin the way that is most likely to pramaote
the success of the Company for the benefit
of its members as a8 whole whilst alse having
regard for the interests of employees, the
success of their relationships with suppliers
and customers, and the impact of our
operations on the community and the
environment, whilst maintaining a reputaticn
for high standards of business conduct.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022

Nan-Executive Directors and
senior management receive training

on Directors’ duties to ensure
awareness of thg Board's responsibilities

Stakeholder engagement
activities recorded, and detail
included in Board papers

V‘r ¥

Board information

Social Value report reviewed
and approved by Board

!

Customer Scrutiny Board,
independently chaired and working
alongside PLC Board

t

Mears Foundation, a charitabie
trust with an independent
chair, provides regular
updates to the PLC Board

The Group’s culture ensures that
there is proper consideration of the
potential impacts of decisions

Board strategic decision

$

Significant focus given
to workforce engagement
and customer service
during Board discussion

t

5.172 factors considered in the
Board's discussions on strategy
and in setting the five-year plan

Board decision

Engagement and dialogue Follow-up actions
with stakeholders with Board oversight
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Section 172 statement continued

Section 172 index

Section 172 factor

The likely consegquences of any
decision in the long term

The interests of the Group's employees

The impact of our operations on the
comrunity and the environment

28

Annual Report disclosures

— Company purpose and vision page 2
— Ourvalue creatton model page 20
Perfarmance review page

- Parformance review page 24 and 25

. Listening to our stakeholders page 26
Diversity and inctusion page 34
Social mobility page 33

— Responsible payment practices page 36

— Modern slavery page 35

—_ Sustainability pages 41to 43

— Naon-financial informatian sta

—— Task Force on Climate-related Finan
pages 3810 41

— ESG pages 30ta 37

— Anti-bribery corruption page 61

— Whistieblowing page 61

— Modem slavery page 61

__ Risk management pages 44 to 51
Imernal contro

__ Listening to our stakeholders page 26

—. Shareholder engagement page 6%
Annuat General Meeting page 70
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Section 172 in action

PRCMOTING THE SUCCESS

OF THE COMPANY

The Board recognises a wide range of
stakeholder interests and seeks to create

a culture whereby decisions are made with
cansideration to the wider impdcl upon the
crganisation as well as financlal pertarmance
and strategic objectives. The Company’s
Directors recognise their legal duties under
Section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006 to
act in the way that is most likely to promote
the success of lhie Company for the benefit
of its members as a whole whilst also having
regard for the interests of employees, the
success of therr relationships with suppliers
and customers, the impact of our operations
on the community and the environment,
whilst maintaining a reputation for high
standards of business conduct.

Stakehclder engagement is central to

our strategy. Our key stakeholder groups
are detailed on page 69. The Board

s mindful that it is not always possible

to provide a positive outcaome for all
stakeholders and the Beoard sometimes
has to make decisions based on competing
priorities of stakeholders.

Stakehoider groups
Community
Customers
Debt funders

Employees
Government
Investors
Service uskrs

Examples of decisions taken by the Board and how stakeholder views and inputs, as well as
other €172 considerations, have been ¢onsidered in its decision making are set out below:

Key decision

Acquisition of IRT Surveys
The Group completed

the acquisition of IRT
Suiveys Limited (IRT).

The Board considered
how the acquisition was
aligned to delivering the
Group's strategic plan,
how it would broaden the
services that the Group
provides toits clients and
contribute to tong-term
shareholder value,

After due consideration
of the matters set out

in Section 172 of the
Act, related risks and
opperiunities and

the impact on wider
stakeholders, the Board
approved the acquisition
of IRT. The acquisitions
is performing in line
with expectations.

Board considerations

Stakeholder
group

__ Acquiring IRT is an important part of c2

the Group's retrofit solution and will
enable Mears to conduct stock analysis
medelling for carbon reduction work

The acquisition will provide Mears with E
new skills and capabilities in this area,
bringing new expertise in-house

IRT is well known and respected in c2
the sector, with over 30 Registered

Providers. IRT will continue to service

existing clients and has an active sales
pipeline, which has been enhanced

further upon joining the Group

This dealis completely aligned with C1

our strategic plan, utilising innovation
and technology to drive positive change
in the sphere of carbon reduction

This augments the Group's climate
change response with our ambition

to be carbon neutral by 2030

The Board considered how the 1
acquisition would be received by
shareh¢lders and would impact on

the long-term financial performance

Climate change

Climate change is at

the centre of many
Board considerations
and its decision making
throughout the year.
Sustainability related
discussions take place sl
all Board mgettiys dnd
the sustainability matters
are discussed at every
Board meeting.

The Board scrutinised
the Company’s plans

to deliver.its Net Zern
commitmants within

the reguired time frame,

After due consideration
of the matters set out
in Sertinn 172 of the
Act, related risks and
opportunities and

the impact on wider
stakeholders, the
Board supported the
carbon plan which
will now bercome a
dynamic document.
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Our customers have told us that they c2
expect us to protect and improve the
environment and that our response to

climate change is important to them,

Public sector procurement requires

bidders to have clear zero carbon plans

The Board considers updates in respect c1
of environmental performance and the
Company’s activity to achieve its Net

Zero Transition Plan commitments at

every Board meeting. The Board also
considered a dedicated Net Zero

Transition Plan update during the year

Our people are passionate about making E
@ positive impact on the communities and
the envircnment where we live and work,
including delivery of our Net Zero

Transition Plan commitments. Thisis
supported by the new Remuneration

Policy that ensures sustainability-based
performance measuras are builtinto

the Group’s remuneration policies

Investors demand that our external I
commitments stand up to scrutiny

when benchmarked against our

peers and that our appreach 1o

achieving Net Zero 1s credible
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STRATEGIC REPORT

ESG

Change for good

Achieving Net Zero is a key commitment
within our ESG Strategic Approach which
prioritises where we can have the greatest
impact and supports a culture that fully
integrates sustainability and purpose beyond
profit. Our ambition is to become the most
socially responsible business working in the
public sector by 2025. We will achieve this
through three key ESG strands:

Healthy Planet — achieving Net Zero across
Scope 1and 2 emissions by 2030, and Scope
3 emissions by 2045, raising envirenmental
standards and being a lead partner to
support the decarbonisation of our nation’s
social housing stock

Improving Lives — helping vuinerable people
in the communities we serve, engaging our
supply chain and treating everyone fairly

and equally

Good Governance — cresting value through
great partnerships, sustainable procurement
and innovation

By everyone working together
and delivering our ESG
ambitions, we will maintain
strong business credentials and
demonstrate our commitment
to always deoing the right thing.

30

Priorities for the year ahead

QUR MATER{ALITY REVIEW

Through an online survey, we consulted our internal stakeholders to identify the matters
that are important to them ang asked them to rank a number of specific ESG and
sustainability topics on a relative hasis. We also assessed these fopics an the
incremental imoact that they can have on our business,

We acknowledge that:

while all items shown are important, some have greater urgency, in terms

of focus, to our business than others
— wewiltuse the results to help inform our approach and development plans
. “he key materiality topics used were sourced from relevant ESG framewarks

and sector insights

- as anticipated, we know that as our Journey continues priofities wilt change,
2022 has seen a focus an cost of living for our own colleagues and customers

High interest

Humae righis

Stakeholder interest {importance)

Interest

Low priority

KEY
Environmant
Social
Governance

Data security’
& privacy

Business impact: Priority to Mears Group PLC

Fairness &
inclusion

|
Health & safety ]

RisKks, ethics
& corparate
governance

Raising socisl
value

Altracting &

Health & wellbei o
at wel cmg[ retatning talent
|

Sustatnable

Partnerships
procurement

Investment
& funding

High priority
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Healthy Planet

Improving Lives

IN 2022

Developed

our detailed plan to reduce our business
carbon which will enable us to reach Net
Zero across Scope 1and 2 emissions by
2030, and Scope 3 emissions by 2045.

Lead partner

We have become a lead partner to
support the decarbonisation of our
nation’s social housing stock and are
expecting further opportunities in
Wave 2 of the SHDF

Acquired

IRT, which enables Mears to develop
intelligent retrofit plans for our clients
swiftly, which means we can reduce
the energy bills of vulnerable clients
much more quickly.

IN 2021

. 96,63% waste diversion from landfill
_ Zero polution incidents
- Zero environmental
legislation breaches
_. Three Social Housing
Decarbonisation projects secured
with our cfient

IN 2022

19.63%

The mean gender pay gap has
decreased from 21.08% in 2021
te 19.63% in 2022,

57%

of departments now have access
to 8 Mental Health First Aider.

Enhanced

We have reviewed and enhanced
support services available through
cur Employee Assistance Programme.

Improved

We were pleased to enhance our
benefits package to include improved
maternity and paternity pay, increasead
salaries for aur care warkers and
apprentices and increased pay

and holiday provisian.

IN 2021

_. 92% of colleagues shared Equality,
Diversity, and Inclusion (EDI) data

— 100% of managers trained in EDI

— Gender pay gap of 22%

— Employee turnover of 21.5%
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Good Governance
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IN 2022

Certified

We have maintained an information
security managemert system (ISMS)
that is certified to 1ISO 27001.

Evolved

Qur governance structure has evolved
to include ESG scrutiny through our
expert-led Customer Scrutiny Board
and internal governance structures.

Actioned

Our Information and Security Board has
ensured that all information Security
incidents were investigated, and areas
of improvement identified and actioned.

IN 2021

— Strong balance sheet, with gooa
cash conversion and low debt

— Long-term, low risk contract
portfolio for essential services

— Zero human rights breaches

— Owver1,000 residents are part of
our online engagement netwark

— Award winning Customer
Scrutiny Board

_ Newly refermed ESG Advisory Board
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STRATEGIC REPORT

ESG strands

Our aim is to become a carbon neutral organisation, whilst helping
clients create safe and sustainable places that will have long-lasting

benefits for their communities.

Our goals

— Achieve Net Zeto carbon emissions
on Scope 1and 2 by 2030 across
our operations

. Achieve Net Zero carbon emissions
on Scope 3 by 2045 across our
supply chain

Our plan

__ We have created a et Zero Transition Plan using

science-based targets

Continue disclosing our emissions, and publicly report

on progress against our targets.

Transition to electric vehicle fleet by 2030

Continue to work with and support supply chain to achieve
Net Zero carbon

Create an internal plan for reducing carbon across our offices
and buildings, creating awareness and understanding with

all colleagues

By 2025 we will aim to be a sector-leading
provider of carbon recuction solutions
In the social housing sector

_ Achjeve and maintain ali relevant accreditations to demonstrate

competency and compliance

_ Help cur clients deliver and measure their carbon emissions

and retrofit solutions
Embed a resldent-first apptoach ta the decarbonisation of homes
(Data » Define > Design > Deliver > Declare)

. Use asset data to help access the imited financial resources

currently available AND ieverage funding as it becomes available
Transition our woikforce as a whole to ensure understanding
and capability

Achieve waste diversion from landfill
of minimum 98% on all waste by 2029
. Achieve a Zero Waste Index score

of 1.5°C by 2030, fram 2021 baseline
of 2.53°C

'

Increase colleague awareness and introduce measures to reduce
waste across all sites.

Reduce carbon through the protection of natural resources by
reviewing our wasle processes

. Avoid waste by improving the reuse of 'waste materials’

Partner with charities 1o reuse and recycle furniture and white
goods, Increasing the percentage recycied yearly

Manitor and adopt new technologies as they become avatlable
Work in partnership with our National Waste partner to embed
improvements to achieve Zero Waste index score

— Continually evolve our approach to
maintain zera polluticn incidents and
zero environmental legislation breaches

Maintain I1ISO 14001 (Environmental Management
System) certification

_ Work with clients and communities to clear poliutants from the

envirgnments we work in, e.g., litter, plastics, etc

Continue activity to raise environmental awareness within

our warkforce

Maintain robust policies and procedures to ensure envircnmental
compliance and adherence with legsiation

Maoniter and adopt new technologies as they become availabie

Work with clients and local communities ta improve green and
open spaces

_ Ifnecessary, investin carbon offsetting to balance residual

emissions by 2030

32
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Improving Lives

Link to SDGs:

10 3
-

=

-

From a solid baseline, our aim is to create an environment that is ‘fair for
all’, which enables customers, colleagues and communities to thrive by
improved; social impact, health, safety and wellbeing, employee value

proposition, and fairness and inclusion.

Topic

Our goals

Qur plan

Raising
social value

Continually evolve cur approach to ensure
that by 2025:

we will be regarded as a social value
leader across the public sector,
continually evolving our approach

- all contracts will be delivering a yearly

social value plan, with year on year
growth in colleague participation,
impact and £ value

Mears Foundation will have grown
grant giving to over £200k per annum

Develop social return on investment (SROI) reporting to focus more
an qualitative outcomes and parsonal impact

. Build on engagement with supply chain

Year on year increase in use of volunteering hours

. Lobbying Government for @ more transparent and consistent

measure of social value

Improving —

health &
Safety

Continually evolve our approach

to maintain our high standards for
creating a safe working environmeant
for everyone

.. Accident frequency rate of below 0.25
. Win the RoSPA Industry Sector Award

by 2030, which recognises best health
and safety performance in sector

Maintain all 15O accreditations

Retain RoSPA Gold Award

Maintain a team of professionally qualified Safety, Health,
and Environment {SHE) managers to support the business.
Maintain robust policies and procedures to ensure health
and safety compliance

Conduct regular audits and inspections across the business
ta manitor compliance

Attracting
& retaining
talent

Continually evolve & cohesive strategy
for attracting and retaining the best talent,
enabling our colleagues to thrive.

By 2025 we will aim to achieve:

Employer of Choice recognition

. All colleagues, grade 6 and above,

have & clear successor identified
Year on year reduction (excluding
exceptions) in the number of
vacancies beng advertised
Employee turnover of 18%

. 90% of all apprentices secure work

at Mears or another organisation,
an completion of their apprenticeship

Develop a competitive Employee Value Proposition, including
standard and flexible benefits
Deliver an enhanced approach 10 talent management

- Promote internally and externally the Mears Brand and Employee

Value Proposition

Year on year improvement, in percentage terms, in the correlation
between the workforce and local communities served

Strengthen the Voice of the Colleague forum, chaired by Employee
Director, to enable even bigger employee voice

Maintain approach to ensuring all employees are paid the real
Living Wage or above

Maintain governance to ensure no inappropriate zero

hours contracts

Promote Mears’ flexible working offer linked to wellbeing to support
attraction and retention

Allemployees, grade 6 and above, have a clear

successor identified

Excluding exceptions, year on year reduction in the number

of vacancies being advertised {(vacancy levels)
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STRATEGIC REPORT

ESG strands continued

Improving Lives

Topic Cur goals

N

Our plan

Continually evolve a Board-driven
strategy trat ensures fairness and
inclusion for gll colleagues.

Promeoting
fairness

& inclusion
By 2030 we will aim 10 achieve:

— 35% of leadership positions
{grade 5 or above) filled by women

— 12% Group representation of Black,
Asian and other ethnicities

- Gender pay gap of 19%

_. Year on year improvement in Vaice
of the Colleague survey results
for farness and inclusion practice
and awateness

— Maximising current recruitment processes (o ensure they
are bias free and encourage jab opportunities for all
Publish first ethnicity gap report, with 98% of colleagues sharing
£Dl data
Achieve leading Gold standard fairness and inclusion accreditation
- Insight-led approach to ensuring our workfarce reflects our
local communities
—. Review employee life cycle processes to embed fairness and
inclusion principles throughout
Eradicate under-representation and pay disparity in all job roles
- Alt colleagues across the business 1o receive faimess and
inclusicn training
Achieve Disability Confident employer status
— EDI consaolidaticn’ training for managers — periodic
{every three years}
Contractual requirtement far suppliers 1o provide evidence of how
they are addressing EDI

Continually evolve a Board-driven
weltbeing strategy, the importance
of which is regularly communicatod
ta workforce, that ensures the health
and wellbe'ng of our calleagues.

Boosting
health &
Wellbeing

.. Mental Health First Aider i 100% of contracts and departments
.. Tailored and enhanced Employee Assistance Programme
. Access for all employee to voluntary health services

and programmes

. Enbance support for vulnerable colleagues

_ Enhance flexible benefits package and contractual terms
to support access to oppaortanitias

.- Maintain focus on employee engagement and help tackle the
challenges of welibeing and mental health

. We will conduct outreach and recruitment

Fairness &
inclusion

As part of our 2025 Strategy, we promised
we would develop an approach (o fairmness
and inclusion which would conlribute to
creating a8 workforce where no one feels
left behind.

This means we needad ta losk at all aspects
related to working at Mears, whather this

is how we attract, recruil, onboard, train,
develop, retain, and offboard our people.

Cur aim is to improve fairness and inclusion
across the organisation. By having the right
strateQgy, we call ensure that we are an
attractive place to come and work, to stay
and progress, and that we continue to he
an employer where anyone can thrive,
regardless of their background.

A full breakdown of what we have dane
can be seen in the stiategy

;‘é SOME OF THE ACTIONS WE WILL
BE TAKING IN THE STRATEGY:

~ Wa will use apprenticeships to introduce
mare diversity at entry levels — to nurture
and build cur fitiire talent pipeline

at job fairs and other events hosied

by various organisations suppartive of
diverse communities, including disability
advocacy groups

. We will implement a formal mentoring

pragramme, including reverse mentaring,
focusing on our areas of under-
representation to understand the
chailenges and nurture talent

We will promote and continually

develop Mears' flexible working offer

— an announcement about this will be
COMINg soon

We will support the creation of employee
network groups including LGBTOM,
Disability, Black Asian and other ethnicities

. We will ensure that effective story telling

is utilised more to share persenal
expericnces and to demwunstrate
example of success through falness
and inclusion Jnitiatives

We will develop an internal leadership
programme to give personal and
professional growth to employees

We will expand our pay gap reporting
trinCiude ethnicity and we will miaditdle
pay disparity in all job roles

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022



Link to SDGs:

Good Governance

Through robust governance and identifying risks and opportunities,
the Mears Executive Board works to the highest level of transparency
and good governance. Our aim is to take this approach throughout our
business to ensure that ethical behaviovur, transparency, and openness
form the heart of our culture at every level.

LlHOd3d DIS3LVULS

Iy)
Topic Our goals Our plan %
F\’iSkS, ethics, - To be regarded as a responsible and By 2025: %
trusted organisation, demonstrated =
& govermance through strong ethics, transparency, . Ensure year on year compliance with antl-corruption governance ”
and good risk management. — Continue zero tolerance to anti-competitive behaviour S
— Year on year compliance and good practice to financial ﬁ
reporting and tax obligations 2
- - Review and align our targets to TCFD and UN SDGs o
_ Promote Executive Board and senior management responsibilities g
for governance and risk approach m
_ Continue independent audit and risk assessment annually with
transparent action and reporting
- Provide a confidential whistleblowing channel to encourage
colleagues to speak out
__ Optinto open carbon reportng (CDP}
__ Continue disciplined approach to bidding and capital allocation >
to maintain strong balance sheet g
— Develep and implemeant a Climate Change Plan by end of 2024 g
Protecting Maintain our approach to ensure we have _ Continue to conduct business and deliver service in a way =
no human rights breaches orissues. that respects and considers human rights @
human ... All suppliers fully compliant with Group policy by 2024 ;
Rig hts —. Uphold our standards and compliance on modern slavery, ;‘,
human trafficking and child/forced labour E
. Regularly monitor labour and payroll z
__ Deliver a package of initiatives that raise awareness a
with employees
Gain greater understanding of the supply chain practices
and procedures of our key suppliers
Information Continually evolve a robust strategy to ... Embed a cansistent process to identify and assess privacy risks —
. ensure we deliver the highest standard, 100% compliance across all business areas
Secu”ty & have no security breaches and are fully __ Alllnformation security incidents are investigated and areas
governance General Data Protection Regulation of improvement are identified and actioned
{GDPR) compliant, — Deliver a package of initiatives that ensure awareness and

understanding across the business
- Maintain an ISMS that is certified to 1SO 27001
__ Obtain and maintain industry certifications
__ ldentify and manage cyber risks
. Deliver secure information systems 1o the Group

NOHIYHHOQHAN] HIATOHIEVHE
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STRATEGIC REPORT

ESG strands continued

Good Governance

Tapic Our goals

Qur plan

Define our strategy to sustainable
procurement during 2023 and theraafter
deliver and evolve our approach to
maintain our high standards

Sustainable
procurement

_ All suppliers signed up to our Supplier Commitments
Measure and monitar annually
. Ali core suppliers have successful environmental audit
results by 2025
All timber products sourced from certified farests by 2030
_ 90% of all sourced products are from sustainable sources by
20235 Maintain responsible approach to Prompt Payment Code

.. Caontinue to work with externally accredited organisations on

attributing value to sustainable procurement
QOur Top 10 suppliers engaged in collaborative ESG plan

Partnerships |EEEEEE
Be regarded as ‘partners for purpose’
building strong and lasting relationships
with clients, investors, and funders,
holding ourselves to account
through scrutiny
Be regarded as service leaders, for
all areas of our business, across the
public sector

Provide secure investment and funding
Continue with Your Voice and Customer Scrutiny Board —
ingependent framewoerk for customer engagement

_. Continue with ESG Advisory Board — independent advisers

that constructively challenge
Consider ESG factors across alt assets in which we invest by 2025

— Partner with governments, businesses, academia, and

commumnities (o ensure best practice and mobilise action for
sustainable developmert

- Positively influence policy and current practice Local and Central
Government through our Thought Leader programme — continue
to lead the way

Maintain or improve, year on year, contract tenure lengths

Mears Scottish Responsible

Business Charter

Mears wanis 10 be the best possible partner — improving the £5G and economic
wellbeing of the ares in which

for the Scottish Government, local Counclls,

people who live or work 1n any of our Mears operates

branches, and communities we operate —- paying small businesses on time

in. Following wide consultation, we have _ making it simple, straightforward and
aasy for local SMEs, social enterprises,
and supported businesses to access
supply chain apportunities

across Scotland. — making firm and achievable commitments
10 support Scotland’s target of Net Zero
emissions by 2045

developed our responsible business
recommeandations based on the feegback
fram our partnets and stakeholders

The Charter is a values-led partnership

between Government and business — having a social respensibility 1o pass
based on boosting productivity and an skills to local communities
competitiveness through fairness, __ being transparent in cur financial and

equality, and sustainable employment.

QUR CHARTER COMMITMENTS INCLUDE:
_ paying the Scottish Living Wage,
and include fair work principies
in our operations
. having resident and tenant representation
as part of our scrutiny arrangements and
service design

36

business reporting

_ woarking harder to address EDI and
submitting to an independent audit of all
policies and procedures (o anable fair
access for all Having a balanced Board

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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Priorities for the year ahead

_ Beginwork cn our long-term plan to transition to Net
Zerg, including work on plans to transition our fleet

— Continue to enhance our expertise through investment
in the Net Zero team

— We aim to increase our social value by supporting a
wider scope for the Mears Foundation grant giving and
enabling our colleagues to give back to their communities

? 1
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. Begin to create a Net Zero culture in all policies and practice
_ Continue to enhance our ESG Board and test the resilience
of our new Net Zero governance structure

QUR AWARDS
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& tpas
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures

We are committed to the recommendations

of the Task Force or Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFDY), providing our stakeholders
with transparent information on climate related
risks and opportunities relevant to cur business.
In line with our strategic and operational focus
on £5G we have been aligring our processes
with the recommendations of the TCFD and will
continue to develop our policies, processes,
and disclosures in line with the TCFD
recommmendations. We have considered our
‘comply or explain’ gbligations under the UK's
Financial Conduct Authority Listing Rules and
have detailed in the table below the TCFD
recommeanded disclgsures with which we fuily
of partially comply.

Board
Ultimate responsibility for both risk management and ESG matters,
including those risks and opportunities relating to climate change

Aucﬁt and Complaance Comimittees

ness o’f‘the}igk man‘@
J; ﬂncﬁ&rt%?t:sg; of?;é

rlaia?y
% Revdews the p%kzcipai ks
respo?zglbiilty & seen a§§an em

g Ess-e_:'omm_mee

We are fully compliant with nine out of the
eleven recommendations for the year ended
21 December 2022,

— Responsible for —— The Executive Directors are responsible for the
enswring the Group's delivery of the Group's ESG programme,

ESG strategy is including ‘Our Pathway to Net Zero’
GOVERNANCE appropriate and that _ Senior management team members are individually
DiSC!OS\Jre 1: Descri'be plans are in place and responsible for reviewing, confirming, and mitigating
s . closely monitored risks in their own areas, including those relating
the Board’s OVE[’S(ght — Advises the Audit and to climate
Risk Committee on -— The Executive Directors consider climate related

of climate-related risks
and opportunities.

ESG related risks issues when considering business opportunities
and opportunities, given the impact climate targets will have on
includling climate building fabric

related issues — Many climate risks sit well-beyond the business

planning time horizon

The Board is focused on ensuring that Mears
lives by its values. The Board is accountable
for the long-term success of the Group, selting
a framework of effective controis which enables
risks, including chimate retated risks and
opportunities, to be assessed and managed.
Responsibility for ESG is embedded into our
corporate governance and owned by the
Board, receiving inputs from the Audit and
Compliance Committees.

— Principal representative group responsibie for ensuring the
actions for the Net Zero strategy are delivared in practice

—. Representatives from this group are respansible for
delivering specific actions supporting the Group's phased
approach to achieving Net Zero

— Undertakes annual GHG measurement, tegistative
reporting, and utilities procurement

— Updates the ESG Committee on a quarterly basis
on progress against targets

The Audit and Compliance Committees — The primary communication channel for colleagues, clients,

and partners ia co-create solutions and enthuse

all to support delivery of Net Zero

The Group's carbon plan, ‘Our Pathway
tc Net Zero’, was campleted during 2022
but "ow becomes a living document as
our thinking develops further.

review the prinaipal risks twice a year, of
which climate change and environmental
responsibility is seen as an emerging risk.

The Company comphes with Disclosure 1.

Dnsclosure 2: Descrlbe
management’s role in
assessing and managing
climate-reiated risks

and opportunities.

Qur executive management leads and
provides strategic direction to the Group
and carries ultimate responsibil ty for
management of the Group's actvities,
ESG. snd financial performance.

Qur Net Zerg Steering Group ensure that

climate related risks and opportunities
are appropriately assessed and manageda,

38

Wider management functions throughout the
organisation also have climate related roles
and responsibilities. For example, our health
and safety funciion supports the delivery of
our environmental strategy, with particular
focus on wasie management and recycling.
We will continue to embed climate related
roles and respansibilities throughout our
functions and operations during 2023.

The Board recogmses that there are
significant opportunities in the structurally
growing field of carbon reduction, which

will be complermentary and additive to

the sarvices already provided by Megrs
Acquiring the innavative IRT platform

fas detailec on page 146 to 147) is a~
imporiant part of the Group's retrofit solution

and will enable Mears to conduct stocx
analysis modeliing for carbon reduction
work, enabling opportunities to be
progressed quickly, and helping identify ana
access grant funding support availeble The
acquisition has provided Mears with new
skills and cacabilities in this area, bringing
new expertise in-house, supporting
pre-sales activity and helping 1o unlock

the Group's ability to deliver carbon

retrofit work, wheer has been identified

as a signilicant market.

The Company complies with Disclosure 2.
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STRATEGY

Disclosure 3: Describe
the climate-related

risks and opportunities
the organisation has
identified over the short,
medium, and long term.

Climate risks are assessed as part of our
ntegrated risk management framework

as detailed on pages 44 to 51. Whilst climate
related rsks die nut considered principal
risks given the hkelihood of occurrence

and severity of impact, the Board recognises
climate change and enviranmental
respansibility as an emerging risk and
recognises that the Croup is well placed to
benefit from new work opportunities that this
brings, given the Group's strategic focus on
housing, and the wellbeing of service users
within the home, The Board recognises the
importance that the Group identifies and
manages the risks associated with changes
in environmental legislation relating to
housing, transportation, and corporate
reparting requirements. The Board also
recagnises a risk that the Group does not
maximise the opportunities presented

by energy efficiency in the affordable
housing sector,

These climate related risks and
ooportunities are categorised over the
following timescales: short term (within

12 months, to reflect the potential for
immediate impact), medium term {within

10 years) and long term {10+ years), The
Group's strategy outlines the opportunities
Identified in helping our customers meet
their Net Zerc carbon targets,

Climate related scenarios were not used 1o
inform the organisations strategy. In 2023,
the Group will be using various scenarios to
provide assurance that ali climate change
uncertainties have been accounted for, to
minimise disruption to the business moving
forward. Where new risks and opportunities
are dentfied from these scenarios, these
will be captured and reported an in the

RISKS

Controls and mitigation

Time
horizon

Extreme weather events —- Enhanced health and safety standards Medium to
and processes long term

Impacts feit universally — Mears, .— Planned preventative maintenance
customers, and subcontracting schedules aligned to seasonal changes w
partners affected. Damage to —— Awareness campaigns with seasonal alerts ;
assets and increased travel risks — Planned preventative maintenance s
as a minimum schedules aligned to seasonal changes ;

— Business continuity plans m place at Group o
Hotter summer periods may impact and locat fevei, with particular emphasis an e
on colleagues, particularly those the energy and IT supply risk, where bad '
engaged in front line operations weather causes widespread downtimes ﬂ
The UK skills shortage could —— A Workforce Strategy Group consisting Short term %

HpdLl vpgun our pians for
upskilling workforce in low carbon
technologies and regutation

nf senier employees is in operation, 1o
address key matters associated with the
remit of data analysis action planning and
impiementation monitoring

Mears Learning is an internal training
department used to implement Learning
and Development strategy

There is an Executive backed culture of

retaining and developing the Group's talent g
Investor confidence on climate — Governance framework in place, inciuding Medium term @
change management. A faiiure ESG Board and Net Zero Steering Group o
by the Group to perform well in __ Third party carbon verification g
respect of ESG and associated ;;
climate related regulatory &
targets will have significant &
financial implications and S
impact Mears' reputation E
Increases in pricing of GHG _. Net Zero 2030 planin place Medium term §
emissions. Rising costs — Ongoing operational focus in mitigating §
to operating budget key risk areas r
Changes in custcmer behaviours — Purchase of IRT in 2022 has enabled Mears Medium to
due to climate change resulting to better support clients with their own plans, long term
in lost opportunities. Potential e.g. the submission of 13 Sacial Housing
reductions in revenue and profit Decarbonisation bids in the {ast 12 months
if Mears cannot adapt to changing __ Mears has established long-term contracts
client requirements in ptace that facilitate close working -
with customers P
-— Central business develgpment team driving i
aretrofit programme to reduce carbon in =
our clients’ stock. New revenues aiready ?
secured In this space =
Unsuccessful investment in new —. Close relationships built with key suppliers Medium to 3
technojogies. New technologies to review new technologies as they emerge.  long term f:
which are later identified as Abitity to rapidly switch products as needed bl
unsuitable or do not deliver — Process in place 1o consider small bolt-on %
against sustainability ebjectives acquisitions, tike the IRT acquisition in 2022 é
couid lead to reputational cdamage :
Changes in external perception __ Pathwaytc Net Zero plan in place Transitienal,

of Mears, negatively impacting
public opinion and behaviours

Governance framework embedded
Use of external expertise
ESG plan communication

medium term

next Annual Repori. Inakility to meet third party ... Central communication team complemented ;
expectations may resuitin by external PR specialists to ensure we B

reputational damage and impact message effectively g

revenues and profitability T

o

OPPORTUNITIES E
Time i

Active steps hotrizon 3

Through installation of energy efficient — Mears s already working on three contracts from the SHDF, and we expect to be successful Immediate E

heating systems, we can help customers in mare via the second wave sl

to lower energy bills §

-

Evolving our business 1c new — The business has already begun the transition to Net Zero externally through engagement Shortto 6

s

technologies, green skills, and

with Government funding models and helping our clients by sharing aur in-house expertise

additional revenue .- The acquisition of IRT has expanded our capability in the carbon space
_ Our accredited training Is already producing operatives with new green skills for the future

medium term

Use of lower emission sources of energy  _ Through assessing our energy cutput via the transition to Net Zero we can ensure our

and development/expansion of low
emission goods and services

estates and fleet will ba more efficient in the future, which will ultimately enhance the
business’s sustainability

Short to
medium term

Expansion of future markets —

Reskilling our workforce in new technologies, enhanced capabilities via IRT and internal

expertise mean we can heip our clients with their transition to Net Zero

The Company complies with Disclosure 3.
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TCFD continued

Disclosure 4: Describe the
impact of climate-related
risks and opportunities

on the Company’s
businesses, strategy,

and financial planning.

‘Qur Pathway to Net Zero' detatls our
sustainability sirateqgy. However, our
approach to climate risk is integrated across
our business and Incarporated within our
five-year strategic plan, which clearly stated
the Board's aspiration to become leaders in
carbon reduction within sacal hausing and
within our organisation. The five-year
strategic plan means that we are already able
to financially pian for an electric vehicle fleet,
tp mitigate the effecis of cimate change

an our business and o enhance our client
offer to enable us lo benefit from the
opportunities of Net Zero.

The benefits of Net Zero are clear {0 Mears.
The retrofitting of social housing will become
a major growth area for Mears, and this
growth ambition is included within the
five-year strategic plan. Our expertise in this
aroa makes us an integral part af the grean
economy. Wo nave already secured our first
three energy efficiency projects as detailed
witnin the Chief Executive Officer’s review.

The nature of the business model provides
partial protection from negative financial
risk where existing contractual mechanisms
are in place. This will continue to change
in the medium term as customears develop
and embed maore stringent procurement
evaluation criteria and commercial
contractual clauses in line with the
developing climate agends. To monitor
this, tne Group participates in relevant
industry bady working groups and
technical advisory panels.

A further bepnefit will be to show investors
with an emphasis on ESG and the green
economy that Mears is an attractive
investment, and our experuse will present
a competitive advantage when bidgding
far contracts.

Mears recognises the impact that cimate
change may have on its strategy, operations,
and financial planning and is 1aking action

to address the implicatians of cllmate related
risks on service delivery, physical assets,
supply chain, corporate reputation, and

the reguiatory environment

The Company complies with Disclosure 4

40

Disclosure 5: Daescribe
the resilience of the
Company’s strategy,
taking into consideration
different climate-related
scenarios, including a
2°C or lower scenario.

As detalled within *Our Pathway to Net Zero'
on pages 42 t0 43, we have underteken initial
trajectory modelling of our Scope 1 and 2
emissions to 2030 to develop benchmark
scenarios to inform transition planning and
help monitor our prograss towards our

Net Zero target.

The trajeciories are also aligned with the
goal of the Paris Agreement to imit global
warming te below 1.5°C by 2100. This will

e used as a benchmark to compare our
progress towards our Net Zero target.
Alignment with this trajectory is seen as

part of best practice when developing Net
Zero targets. The trajeciory analysis will
change as the strategy evolves, actions are
implemented, and new actions are identified
and where there is a material change to
factors applied in the methodology — this
wilt ensure that we have a model that reflects
our Pathway to Net Zero that evolves over
time and fs a practical ‘live’ tooi to support
us to monitor progress aganst delivering
Qur goals.

The Group has not modeiled a 2 degree C
or lower scenario as that time horizon falls
well beyond any Group planning period.
On this basts, the Group does not comply
with Disclosure &,

RISK MANAGEMENT

Disclosure 6: Describe the
organisation’s processes
for identifying and assessing
climate-related risks.

Disclosure 7: Describe
how processes for managing
climate-related risks.

Disclosure 8: Describe
how processes for
identifying, assessing, and
managing climate-related
risks are integrated into
the organisation’s overall
risk management.

As detailed in the Risk Management section
on page 44, Mears has a structured risk
management framework operated at a
business unit, function, and Group 'evel.
The senior management team, supporied
by the Net Zero Steering Group, reviews
and identifies the key risks; climate related
risks are identified and considered as part
of that process. Climate related risks are
not considered inisolation, and the process
is integrated into the Group's overall risk
management process.

The Board has carried gut a robust
assessment of the principal risks, including
climate related rigks, facing the Group,
including those that threaten the business
maodel, strateqy, and future performance.
Risks are pricritised based on the likelinood
of occurrence and the severity of the impact
on the Group. This severity car be measured
using various criteria such as financial,
customer service, growth, reguiatory
compliance, and 1epulational criteria.
Therefore, Mears measutes more than
simply the financial impact of the risk.

These scores are used to escalate risks

and to drive the mitigation plans,

Climate change represents both risk and
opportunity for the Group. There is a risk
that Mears does not identify and manage
the risks associaied with charges in
environmental legislation relating to housing,
transportation, and corporate reporting
requirements, There is also a risk that the
Group does not maximise the opportunities
presenied by eneigy efficiency in the
affordable housing sector.

The Company complies with Disclosures
6, 7andB.

METR!CS AMD TARGETS
Disclosure 9: Disclose
the metrics used by the
organisation to assess
climate-related risks
and opportunities in line
with s strategy and risk
management process.

The Board recognises the importance of
Coatnuing to manitor our climate related
targets, and further key performance
measures will be considered In due course

The Group's carbon emissions dala
icrepgried on page 4.

The Group has set other chimate related
metrics and targets in our wider ESG plan,
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nolably the Group monitors waste diverted
fram landfill, as detailed on page 32, and

is warking in partnership with our National
Waste partner to embed improvemeants

to achieve an improved Zero Waste

index score.

The Company complies with Disclosure 9.

Disclosure 10: Disclose
Scope 1, Scope 2

and, if appropriate,
Scope 3, greernhouse
gas (GHG) emissions,
and related risks.

Mears Group's GHG emissions were
calculated for the 2021 calendar year and
Included Scope 1and 2 GHG emissions and
selected Scope 3 emissions. Emissions for
this period were 42,111 tonnes CQOse in tatal
across Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions, of which
16,107 tannes COse related to Scope 1

and 2 emissions,

Mears currently report on selected Scope 3
emissions sources. During 2023 Mears will
complete a Scope 3 sc¢reening assessment
to better understand the lype and accuracy
of data that 15 available to support reporting.
The assessment will consider all Scope 3
categories (as outlined by the GHG Protocol)
including upstream and downstream
transportation and waste which are currently
not inciuded within our footprint. This will

support evolution of this strategy in future
to achieve Net Zero across Scope 3
emissions by 2045.

We will update our carbon footprint across
Scope 1, 2 and 3 if any material change

is identified as part of this strategy
development and delivery to ensure full
transparency. This will ensure we can
maximise our oppertunities in reducing

our carborn footprint and amplify our chance
of success in achieving Net Zero carbon
across Scope 1and 2 by 2030 and across
Scope 3 by 2045,

This first phase of ‘Our Pathway 10 MNel Zero’
will facus on reducing our Scope 1and 2
emissions and the 2021 {ootprint will be
our baseline year to be used to inform
target setting and act as benchmark to
monitor progress against, The approach to
decarbonising our emissions seurces will
differ based on the level of direct control
and ownership of each GHG emissions
source. As such, Mears will focus initial
decarbonisation efforts on GHG emissions
arising from activities within Mears'

direct control.

During 2023 Mears will camplete a Scope 3
screening assessment to better understand
the type and accuracy of data thatis
available to support reporting. The
assessment will consider all Scope 3
categories (as outhned by the GHG Protocol)
including upstream and downstream
transporiation, waste, and purchased goods
and services via our supply chain. This will
inform cur understanding of Scope 3

emissions and our organisation boundary
and support evolution of this strategy in
future to achieve Nel 7erc across Scope 3
emissions by 2045,

The Company does not fully comply with
Disclosure 10, as Scope 3 emissions are only
partially coliected.

Disclosure 11: Describe
the targets used by
the organisation to
manage climate-related
risks and opportunities
and performance
against targets.

‘Our Journey to Net Zero® will take a
theme-based approach. By identifying
different activity streams across the
business, our Net Zero vision is broken down
into manageable action areas which can be
carried out across all our operations,
anabling collaboration and accountability.
The summary of ‘Qur Pathway 1o Net Zero'

Is detalled on pages 42 to 43 and identifies
the five key themes that Meais has identified
as the green thread of cur Pathway to

Net Zero and includes a description of

each theme and what success looks like

by 2030 to achieve 90% reduction GHG
emissions by 2030,

The Company complies with Disclosure 1.

GHG emissions

The Group's carbon emissions data
for the year is provided below

The data set outin these tables represents
emissions and energy use for which Mears
Group PLC is responsible and is incorporated
by reference in the Directors’ Report. To
calcutate our Group emissions, we have
used the main reguirements of the GHG
Protocal Corporate Standard.

These figures have been generated from
independently provided reports of carbon
emissions or energy usage from a variety of
sources and, where necessary, energy usage
has been converted into carbon emissions
using the UK Government GHG Conversion
Factors for Company Reporting.

This year, we have also calculated our
Scope 2 emissions using the market-based
methodology to recognise the purchasing
of low carbon energy.

Qur reporting follows the Greenhouse

Gas Protocol Carporate Accounting and
Reporting Standard, applying the ‘Financial
Contrel” approach (organisational boundary),

Our policy is to restate carbon and energy
figures In consideration of changes in
methodologies, improvements in the

Scope Units 2022 2021
Scope 1 - UK Tonnes COe 14,187 15,373
Scape 2 — UK location-based Tonnes COze 893 734
Scope 2 — UK market-based Tonnes COze 843 150
Scope Units 2022 2021
Intensity tonnes CO-e/Tm revenue 1571 18.34
Energy consumption MWh 64,675 68,883

accuracy, or discovery of errors in previous
years’ data. Emissions data has been
restated this year in respect of a change in
methodolagy along with some minor
improvements in accuracy.

Mears Group has historically used a financial
contro! method of calculating our carbon
footprint. During the development of our
carbon strategy, it was determined that an
operational approach would be more
appropriate given the nature of Mears
Group’s business operations and ability of
Mears Group to directly control or influence
carbon reduction activities. This enables
Mears Group to have more opportunities
over time at a local level to impact and
reduce our carbon footprint to meet our Net
Zero Carbon aspirations. The primary impact
of this change is to re-allocate emissions
arising from energy used in buildings outside

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022

of our control but procured by the Group to
Scope 3 {from Scope 1and 2).

Qur gross carbon emissians have been
classified in the following way:

Scope 1 - Direct emissions from: vehicle
use fowned and leased), heating fuels
used in buildings.

Scope 2 - Indirect emissions from: electricity
used in our buildings,. We report location-
based emissions (taking into account the

UX grid average).

Scope 3 — Indirect emissions from energy
use in buildings outside of our control,
business travel by air and taxi; hotel stays;
water supply; and waste recycling and
disposal.

Qut of Scope — Indirect emissions from:
biofuel usage from all divisions in line
with Defra reporting guidclines.
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Our Pathway to Net Zero

OUR COMMITMENT

Mears is one of the UK's leading and most
trusted providers of specialist services

1o social housing, and Local and Central
Government. Our ambition is {o become the
most socially responsible business in the
public sector by 2025 and our Pathway to
Net Zero supports this aspiration.

‘Our Pathway to Net Zero' supports the UK
Government's aim to achieve Net Zero by
2050 and sets out the step change we will
implement to achieve our vision to become:

. Net Zero across Scope 1and 2
GHG emissions by 2030 (Phase 1}
- _ Net Zero across Scope 3 GHG emissions
by 2045 (Phase 2)

Our first phase will focus on of our
commitment to achieve Net Zero across
Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions {‘'emissions’?}
by 2030, We have taken this phased
approach as Scope 1and 2 emissions are
in gur direct control and are heiter
understood, which in turn enables us

to tackle them more effectively.

This approach also enables us to prepare the

greundwork of activity to inferm Phase 2 to
achieve Net Zero across Scope 3 emissions
by 2045. During 2023 Mears wlil camplete
a Scope 3 screening assessment to better
understand the type and accuracy of data

The assessment will consider all Scope 2
categories (as outlined by the GHG Protocol)
including upstream and downstieam
transportation, waste, and puichased goods
and services via our supply chain, This will
nform our understanding of Scope 3
emissions and our organisation boundary
and suppon evotution of this strategy in
fulure to achieve Net Zero across Scope 3
emissions by 2045,

What does success look like? By 2030
Mears will have achieved the following:

. Scope 1and 2 emissions are eliminated
or reduced as much as possible with
a target of 30% reduction by 2030:
Residual emissions will be offset through
accredited schemes priorftising those
that benefit the communities in which

i

charging wnfrastructure at our offices and
colleagues’ hames. Sustainable travel
and transport policies and behaviours
are embedded across the organisation
and within out supply chain.

. Sustainable procurement & supply

chain: Mears vses 100% renewable
energy and has worked in partnership
with our supply chein pariners to reduce
their carbon emissions across ali services
that are delivered for Mears Group clients,
custorners, and communities.

Climate conscious service delivery:

All Mears service areas have adaptea
and cantributed to reducing our
organisational carbon footprint and

can demonstrate positive sustainability
autcomes for clients, customers,
comimunities, and the climate.

we serve.

Creating a Net Zero culture: An
embedded Net Zero culture that is a
‘green thread' in all policies and practice
and demonstrated by our colleagues
through our service delivery.

Efficient buildings & estate planning:

A highly energy efficient corporate
cffice estate characterised by low
energy consumotion and renawable
energy generation as standard
wheraver possible,

Green travel & transport: Transitioned a
micumum of 95% of our carparate fleet of

Qur Pathway to Net Zero will take a theme-
hased approach. By identifying different
activity streams across the business, our
Net Zero vision s broken down into
manageable action areas which can be
carried cut by departments and service
greas across all of our operatfons, enabling
interdepartmental collaboration and
accountability The table below summarises
the five key themes Mears Group has
identified as the green thread of our Pathway
to Net Zerg and includes a description of
each theme and what success looks like by
2030 ta achieve 90% reduction GHG

that is available to support reporting. vehicles to electric and implemented emssions by 2030

2 N

Carbon Contact
reduction centre

A
Responsive
repair

Refurbishment

+%)

Void
managetnent

Tenamt welfare
and support

Temporary
ceanmudation

Property
management

1. Aligned with Scottish Government
[ 2 GHG emisdions are referred to a8
thioughiout this sirategy.
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Key theme Context Expected outcome by 2030

Creating a Net Embedding a Net Zero culture across Mears Group An embedded Net Zero culture that is a 'green thread™ in all
n} Zerc culture with our colleagues, partners, residents, and suppliers  policies and practice and demaonstrated by our colleagues and
& through enstring a ‘green thread' is at the heart of all partners through our service delivery
activity undertaken
Efficient buildings Reducing and removing emissicns from our existing Ahighly energy efficient corporate office estate characterised
@ & estate planning awned and leased offices property portfolic through by low enargy consumption and renewable energy generation ‘_".
improving our approach to strategic estate planning as slondard wherever possihle :
and efficient use of our buildings ;I.
Green travel Reducing and removing emissions arising from cur Transitioned a minimum of 95% of our corporate fleet of vehicles o
& transport leased/owned fleet and supporting our staff to utilise 1o electric and implemented charging infrastructure at our offices 0
@ sustainabie travel options and colleagues’ homes. Sustainable travel and transport policies :
and behaviours are embedded across the organisation and within b}
our supply chain g
Sustainable Increasing our renewable energy provision and Mears uzaes 100% renewable energy and has worked in .
procurement waorking with our supply chain partners to identify partnership with our supply chain partners to support them
& supply chain® emissions hotspots to inform supplier engagement, to reduce thelr emlssions across all services that are delivered
infiuence, and suppart to reduce emissions across for Mears Group clients, customers, and communities
the services we dehver
Climate conscious Defivering our services in a way that reduces All Mears services areas have adapted and contributed
@ service delivery the emissions across our operations whilst still to reducing our arganisational carbon footprint and can
delivening a quality service and an excellent demonstrate positive sustainability cutcomes for clients, g
customer experience customers, communities, and the climate Pl
=
3 Our Pathway to Net Zero wilt be closely monitared and reviewed and updated annually. Additional decarbonisation actions will be added as they are identified %
and expected outcomes refrned to incorporale Scope 3 emissions in 2023724, -
4 The majority of Sustainable procurement & supply chain activity will fall under Scope 3 which will be informed by the screening assessment undertaken in 2023 in support ;
of our aspiration to achieve Net Zerc across Scope 3 emissions by 2045, &
TRAJEITOUY AMALYEIS - SCOREY Projected outcome: Emissions reduced from _. this is the most ambitious scenario o
AMID 2 RMISSIONST Business as Usual (Scenario 1) by 15.9% which has been modelled and is the :
We have undertaken initial trajectory {2,749 1C0O.e) leaving residual emissions of Mears aspiration. E
modeling of our Scope 1and 2 emissions 14,552 tCOze). Key characteristics include: »
to 2030 to develop benchmark scenarios Whilst we have set headiine target ﬁ
to inform transition planning and help __ reductions achieved through efficiency milestones for reduction in Scope 1and 2 ™
monitor our progress towards our Net Zero savings from driver training {fleet} and GHG emissions based on Scenario 3, we
target. Each scenario factors in the future deployment efficiency; have internally set interim milestones from
decarbonisation of the National Grid as well - teductions achieved in the use of energy 202510 2030,
as our projections for future business growth. in our corporate offices; and
_ further reductions achieved through passive Total emissions reduction from Business
The following scenarios have been modelled decarbonisation of the National Grid. as Usual of 15,580 tannes CO,e leave =z
to present the emissions reduction trajectory residual emissions that will be offset and/ §
for Scope 1and 2 emissions and estimated SCEMNARIO 3: COMBINED BEHAVIOUR or sequestered, estimated to be circa 1,721 (A'_i
potential Scope 1and 2 residual emissions CHANGE, DEPLOYMENT EFFICIENCY, tonnes COze in 2030. T
(those which cannat be practically reduced) EY TRANSITICN, AND GAS AND -
which need to be offset to reach Net Zero TECHNOLOGICAL REDUCTIONS Mears has been aspirational in our ambition, v
by 2030. IBEST C i and we recognise that achievement of our =
This scenano factors in emissiens reductions goal 1s dependent on a range of factors that g
SCENARIO 1. BUSINESS AS USUAL made from the transition of our vehicle fleet are outside of Mears’ direct control, including w
WORST CASE: to electric alternatives (target 95% transition available electric vehicle (EV) charging %
This scenario assumes our vehicle fleet will with an aspiration to achieve 100% transiticn) infrastructure for fleet EV transition and @

use fossil fuels and no aclive measares
are taken to increase energy efficiency
or behaviour change to reduce emissions.

Projected outcome: Increase in emissions
from 2021 basehne emissions (16,107 1CO;e)
of 6.7% leaving residual emissions of 17,301
tCOse by 2030). Key characteristics include:

__ no active decarbonisation
Interventions implemented;

— reductions achieved through passive
decarbonisation of the National Grid
only; and

— wehicle fleet continues 1o use petrol/
diesel 1o 2030.

SCENARIO 2: BEHAVIOUR CHANGE
AMDDEPLOYMIMNT BRIICIENCGY

This scenario assumes that all reductions
are made through efficiency savings from
reduced deployment of existing fossil fuel
fleet, driver awareness training (fleet}, and
the more efficient use of energy in our
corporate offices,

and reducing gas consumplion in aur offices
by 75% compared with 2021. The scenario
also factors in reductions from behavioura!
change and deployment efficiency.

Projected outcome: Emissions reduced from
Business as Usual (Scenario 1) by 90% 15,580
tCO,e) leaving estimated residual emissions
of 1,7211CO,e): Key charactenstics include:

__ reductions achieved through the
progressive electrification of our vehicle
fleet, Scenario targets 100% of car fleet to
be transitioned by 2025 and 95% of van
fleet to be transitioned by 2028-2030;

_.. additional deployment efficiency savings
have also been modelled when new vehicles
are introduced into the fleet (through
increased driver training requirementsy;

. reductions achieved through
decarbonisation of the National Grid,
behavicural change, and technological
changes in our offices (75% reduction in
gas consumption as we switch to renewable
sources/heat pump technologies), and

EY vehicles suitable for service delivery.
Our strategy will evolve to ensure that our
aspirations remain realistic and achievable.

The trajectories are also aligned with the goal
of the Paris Agreement Lo limit global warming
to below 1.5°C by 2100. According to the
Science Based Targets initiative {SBTi)
campanies that are aligned with this trajectory
have been reparting a 6.4% reduction in
GHG emissions per annum — which nas been
modelled in this trajectory. This will be used
as a benchmark to compare gur progress
towards our Net Zero target. Alignment with
this trajectory I1s seen as part of hest practice
when developing Net Zero targets. The
trajectory analysis will change as the strategy
evolves, actions are implemented, and new
acticns are identified and where thereis a
material change to factors apglied in the
methodology — this will ensure that have a
model that reflects our Pathway to Net Zero
that evolves over time and Is a practical

‘live’ tool to support us monitor progress
against delivering our goals.

5 The Trajectory Analysis is a 100! to support Net Zero strategy planning and, while based on informed estimates, moedelling, and assumptions, it is subject to change as
the strategy implementation progresses and our knowledge increases. All results to be treated as advisory. This Trajectory Analysis will be updated in 2023 and ongaing
where matenal change 1s identified and to encompass Scope 3 emissions following materiality assessment and mapping exercise in 2023724,
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Risk management

Mears’ strategic objectives can only be achieved by taking ar
appropriate level of risk in accardance with our risk apputile.
Effective management of risks and apportunitics iz essential
to the delivery of the Group’s strateqgic objectives, whilst
protecting our empioyees and other key stakeholders.

RISK MANAGFMENT FRAMEWORK

GOVERNANCE

Board

_ . Sets the tone on risk management culture
__ Maintalns sound and effective risk management
and internal control systems
. Defines risk appetite

(@)

Audit and Risk Committee (Non-Executive)

- Reviews the effectiveness of the nsk management process
_ Approves risk management policies and guidelines

Internal audit

_ Defines and monitors the nisk management process and
mitigation t10ols and actions

.- Plans and executes assurance activities to ensure that
there are policies and procedures in place to support
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal cantrot system

®

Compliance Committee (Executive}

— Develops and oversees implamentation of risk management
strategies and makes recommendations o the Audit and Risk
Cammittee and senior management

— Supports the Audit and Risk Committee in monitaring
sustainabiiity risks

@

Business unit and central functions

—. Risk awareness embedded in day-to-day oparations
— Riskidentification and assessment performed across
business operations on an everyday basis

44

. Is responsible for principal risk identification

and ongoing monitoring of the Company's risk
exposure 1o ensure ihat raterial matters are
managed in allgnmeant with strategic objectives

3RD LINE OF DEFENCE

Frepares reguiar risk and internai controt reports for
approval by the Audit ang Risk Commitee and maintains
ihe Risk Assurance Map

. Performs risk analysis on growth projects, detalling the

specific conditions gnd risks faced by a new project

2ND LINE OF DEFENCH

Supports the Aud't and Risk Commuttee in evaluating the
Group's risk profile and internal conirols implemented
by management

The Chair of the Compliance Commitiee presents to

the Board twice a year, to prov-de a detailed updaie

on the activities of the Committee

18T LINE OF DEFENCE

implementation of risk mitigaiion programmes
and operational manitoring cf internal cantiels
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Risk governance and oversight

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board has overall responsibility for
determining the nature and extent of risk

it1s willing to accept within the agreed
strategy and ensuring that risks are managed
effectively across the Group. Risk is a regular
agenda item at Board meetings and is closely
aligned to strategy review. The Board also
reviews reports on the effectiveness of the
systems and processes of risk management
and internal control,

THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
The Audit and Risk Committee monitors
the Group's key risks identified by the
risk assessment processes and reports
its findings Lo the Board. It also has
delegated responsihility for reviewing

in detail the effectiveness of the Group’s
system of internal control policies and
procedures for the identificatian,
assessment and reporting of risk.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

Qur internal audi plan is devised by
understanding the strategy, objectives, and
risk profile of the Group and considering the
other forms of management and independent
assurance before agreeing what internal
audit work is required. This enables us to
ensure that our internal audit resources
target the key areas and it also enables

us to be efficient by not duplicating other
assurance activities.

The Group has engaged KPMG as an
outsourced provider of internal audit
services. KPMG assists the internal Group
risk function to set the internal audit plan.
This is a dynamic programme seton &
three-year time horizon and ensures
certain risks and themes are prioritised
and appropriate resources and skills
applied to those areas.

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE
The Audit and Risk Committee has a very

active sub-committeg, beiny the Compliance
Committee. This reflects the significant focus

that the Group gives to dealing with health,
safety, and environmental risks. The extent
lo which the full integration of health, safety,
and environmental risks is now embedded
in the governance structures of the Group
is highlighted by the members of the
Compliance Committee, who inciude the
Group's Chief Executive Officer, Health

and Safety Director, and internal Health

and Safety legal adviser.

BUSINESS UNIT AND FUNCTIONAL

H16% OWHNERS

Mears has a structured risk management
framework operated at a business unit,
function and Group level. The senior
management team reviews and identifies
the key risks which may impact upon the
achievement of the Group's strategic goals
and will consider how these risks are
developing with changes in the operaticns,
markets, and the regulatory envircnment.

The nature of the risk is reviewed, including
the possible triggering events and the
aggregated impacts, before setting
appropriate mitigation strategies directed
at the causes and consequences of each
risk. The risx is assessed in relation ta the
likelihood of occurrence and the potential
impact of the risk upon the business, and
assessed against a matrix scoring system
which is then used to escalate risks within
the Group as appropriate. The senior
management team has responsibility

for managing the Group's key risks.

The Group has a functional risk register
ana there is a good understanding of the
risks that could impact the Group, and

their severity. The Group has a positive risk
culture, with a clear tone at the top being
set by the senior management team. The
contrel environment is underpinned by a
detailed Scheme of Delegated Authority
that defines processes and procedures for
the approval process in respect of decision
making. This ensures that decisions within

the arganisation are made by the appropriate

level of management.
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THREE LINES OF DEFENCE
- ASSURANCE PROVIDERS

Mears cperates a “three lines
of defence’ assurance model.

Our first line of defence, our operstional
management, have a responsibility to
manage day-te-day risk in their own
areas guided by Group policies,
procedures, and contral frameworks.

Qur second line of defence includes
our central support functions, which
develop and maintain the risk
management framework and engage
with management to identify, agree,
and update risk information on a regular
basis to review the effactiveneass

of the mitigating actions and controls.

Our outsourced provider of internat

audit services pravides our third line

of defence, providing independent
assurance on irarnal controls and risk
management processes. Further external
assurance is provided by our statutory
auditor, in respect of the financiaf
statements, and other external
specialists as regquirad.
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Risk management continued

Risk management process

RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

The responsibility for risk identification,
analysis, evaluatian, and mitigation

rests with the senior management team.
This team is alsc responsible for reporting
and monitoring Key risks in accordance
with established processes under

the Group operational policies.

Identified risks are documented in risk
registers showing: the risks that have

been identified; characteristics of the risks;
consequences cf the risks; the basis for
determining the mitigation strategy; and

what reviews and monitering are necessary.

The person(s) accountable for assessing
and monitoring each risk is nated.

We cantinue to drive impravements 1o aur
fisk management process. We also review
our business model, core markets, and
busingss processes to ensure that we have
properly identified all risks. As part of this

Setting our internal
audit priorities

Step 1
Strategic priorities
Priorities: short/medinm/
long term

Step &
Resource and skifls
tdentify and deploy team

Step b
Audit plan and approach
Develop aninternal
audit plan

review, climate related risks are considered
in both the Group and operational risk
registers, but their severity is not considered
to be significant. We continually review our
mitigating actions to ensure that they are
sufficient to minimise our residual risk. Key
financial and non-financial risks identified

by the business from the risk assessment
processes are callated and reviewed by the
Audit and Risk Committee and are regularly
reviewed to monitor the status and
progression of mitigation plans; the key risks
are reported to the Board on a regular basis.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The Board has carried out a robust
assessment of the principal risks facing

tha Group, including those that threaten

the business modet, strateqy, futute
performance, salvency, and liquidity. Risks
have been identified as ‘principal’ based on
the fikelitood of occurrence and the severily
of the impact on the Group.

Dtep 2

Step 4

Processes

The Group's principal risks are identified on
the pages that follow, together with how we
mitigate those risks. Each pringipal risk is
considered in the context of haw it relates

1o the achievement af the Group's strategic
objectives. The risk discussion includes
assessment of gross risk and netrisk. Gross
risk reflects the exposure and risk landscape
before considering the mitigations in place,
with net risk being the residual risk after
mitigations. The movement in gross risk from
the prior year for each principal risk has been
assessed and is presented on the pages that
follow. Mitigations in place supporting the
management of the risk to a net risk position
are also described for each principai risk.

Analysis of risk
Tup down/bottsm up
risk prefiting

Step 3
Identifying pricrities

Other assurance
Consider other assurance
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Principal risk heat map: year end

The Group’s risk register rates risks on a matrix scoring system based on their {ikelihood
and impact, i.c. potential severity This severity can be measured using life and limb,
financial, customer service, growth, regulatory compliance, and reputational criteria.
Therefore, Mears measures more than simply the financial impact of the risk. These
scores are used to escalate risks and to drive the mitigaticn plans.
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EMERGING RISKS

In addition to known risks, we identify and analyse emerging risks and the need

for mitigation as past of our existing risk management processes. Emerging risks are
events that present uncertainty. They may potentially impact us in the longer term but
there is currently insufficient information to understand and assess the likely scale or
impac!, or for the scnior management team to set out an appropriate risk response.

In suriy =8, amerging risks arq slperseded by others, or cease to be relevant,

as the environment in which we operate changes and evolv

The Board has considered the following areas and their risk to the Company:
Covid-1S:
Mental Health
and Weilbeing

churn, and a reduction in workforce engagement.

No.

Risk

Mental Health and Wellbeing has declined during the Covid-19 pandemic. Any failure to successfully
recover from the impacts of Covid-19 on employee wellbeing can increase the risk of staff absence,

Falure to successfulty deliver the Asylum
Accommodation and Support Contract {AASCY
Initial accommodation

Faiture o successfully deliver the AASL Lispersdl
accommodation

Uncertainty fror potitical changes and market
disruptions, in the short and long term, resulting in
changes to regulation and Government policies ptacing
pressLre on business revenue and overhead costs
Major breach of information or data security,
including ransomware attacks

Failure to manage the impact of a health and safety
incident, ncluding Cuvid-19 related, 1cads
reputational damage and/or high financial penaltes
Failure n governance, control, processes, systems, and
structure, including managing the rew tod contract
and in particular the impact on Mousing Officers
Falture to recover operations 1n a disaster or cnsis
{business continuity)

Ensuring tnat the busimness has the night peosle with
the rnight skills and e‘fectively manages rnisks such
as succossion planming and inflationa-y pressures,
the latter particularly in the context of shortages
and a highly competitive market for skilled tabour
Senious damage to, or lose of, brand integnty,
Including due to paor management of publicity

and external communicatians

Serious failure to manage nousing subcontractors,
Rizk of perceved and actual ciserniminalion iead ng
to reputational damage and financial penaltics

Severe Gross risk
High Net risk
Medium
Low

Read more

in the Corporate Governance section
Read rmore

in the Report of the Audit and
Compliance Committees

ESG ESG presents risks and opportunities for the Group. There is a risk that Mears does not identify
and manage the nsks associated with changes in environmental legislation relating to housing,
transportation, and corporate reporting requirements. There is also a risk that the Group does not

maximise opportunities presented by ESG related changes in its business environmenti.

Legislative changes

and Iincreased scrutiny from regulators.

Read more
in the Corporate Governance section and in the
Report of the Audit and Compliance Committees
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Changes to building and fire safety legislation that result in higher cost to comply with requiremeants
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Principal risks

and uncertainties

KEY

Strategic priorities

To be recognised as the most
trusted large private provider
working with the pulyic sector

@

To have the highest ievels
of customer service in the
affordable housing sector
where we operate

P
5
()

To embrace innovation that
dilves positive change such as
digital and carban reduction

@

To maintain and grow a resilient
business with long-term
partnershins, a strong balance
sheet and cash position,

along with a committed,
engaged workforce

Risk level

. Severe
® rign
. Medium
@ Low

Change in year
@ Increase in risk exposure
@ Reduction in risk exposure

@ No change in risk exposure

48

1 & 2 Damage 1o
Reputation

Failure to successfully detiver the AASC.

Given the nature of the contract, the

failure to manage the reputationai

impact of an incident or operational or
commeicial isslues remains a key risk.

Risk level and change in year

Damage to Financial
Viability

3

Political and market disruptions,
for example towards outscurcing.

Risk level and change in year

LIS

Strategic outcotne

LAS)

Strategic cutcome

OIAC)

KPIs associated with risic

— Works orders completed on time
% {manthiy)

.. Right first time % {monthly)

__ Customer satisfaction {manthly)

— Complaints (manthly)

Mitigations

©® W

KPIs associated with risk

- % of surveyed clients and
politicians who regard Mears
as highly responsible tannuai)

— % ot overall media coverage that
is positive (monthly)

2

itigations

— Business as Usual risk register is
maintained for AASC which is
reported to Home Office on
a monthly hasis and acts as
a basis for questioning Mears

— WMobiiisation, ransition and, delivery
planning led by senior management
team and close attention from
Group Executive

— Weekly Teams call including Chief
Executive Officer and Chiaf Financial
Officer to ensure all senior team
members are aligned

- Various projects around IT system
set-up, GDPR, HR and training

. There is reqular Board level monitoring
of the political climate

— Regular one-ta-one meetings between
CEQ and Members of Patliament to
improve mutual understanding

. The business is diversified 1o become
aregistered provider of sacial housing

_— Close working relationships are
rdpvelnper with Lacal Covernment
arganisations
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4 Damage to Reputation

Major breach of information or data
security resulting in negative publicity
leading to loss of confidence in the
sector or financial penalties.

Risk level and change in year

5 Damage to Reputation

Failure to manage the impact of a health
and safety incident leads to reputational
damage and high financial penalties.

Risk level and change in year

6 Damage to Reputation
and Financial Viability

Failure in governance, control,
processes, systems, and structure
in the Registered Pravider of Social
Housing key risk.

Risk level and change in year

L XS

Strategic outcome

L XS

Strategic outcome

L A

Strategic outcome

© @

KPis associated with risk

@@ @

KPls associated with risk

©®©@®W

KPls associated with risk

_. Number of privacy complaints
- Response time to dats
subject reguests

Mitigations

— Accident frequency rates
— Customer complaints
_ Excellent service rating

Mitigations

- Properties with valid gas, electrical,
and Legionelia test certificate
(100% target)

-— Properties with up-to-date asbestos
survey and fire risk assessment
(100% target)

__ Tenant satisfaction (monthly}

- Customer complaints

Mitigations

— Information Security Team in place,
Meetings are attended by Information
Security Group and information asset
owners an a manthly basis. The asset
owners are held responsibie for their
respective departments’ actions

— Penetration testing is undertaken
by an external specialist company

__ Third party review and support for
training in terms of GDPR requirements

— Onsome of the Group’s most sensitive
contracts, the client conducts audits
that review physical access, security
of hard copies of files and IT
system security

— Cumpiiance with 1ISO 27001

__ The Group's health and safety function
pravides a second Yine of defence
and carries out regular branch audits

— Monthly branch inspection of
performance against KPIs with
business improvement recerds
issued to managers and actien
completions being tracked

... Accidents are reported within
24 hours. Investigations are performed
for every case and recommendations
are provided where applicable

- Sofoty, Health, Environment,
and Quality Repart submitted to
Compttance Committee covering key
areas {(safety, health, environmental,
waste, Yualily, compliance, and trond
analysis on accident statistics}
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_ Registered Providers have own
Board structure which includes
five Non-Executive Directors
and an Independent Chair.
Sub-Commitiee (Assurance and
Cperations) meetings are held
which focus on key contract details

.— The Registered Providers have been
subject to audit by the Regulator of
Socia! Housing

_. Regular Committee meetings are
held on key areas: performance
updates, customer service
performance, compliance (gas,
fire, electrical, and asbestos risk
assessments, and complaints update)
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Principal risks

and uncertainties

continued

Risk management process 7 Damage to Reputation

KEY

Strategic priorities

To be recognised as the most
trusted large private provider
working with the public sector

@

To have the highest levels
of customer service in the
affordable housing sector
where we operate

o
o
(e

To embrace innovation that
drives positive change such as
digial and carbon reduction

00

To maintain and grow a resitient
business with long-term
partnerships, a strong balance
sheet and cash position,

along with a committed.
engaged workforce

Risk Level

Change in year
@ Increase in risk exposure
@ Reduction in risk exposure

@ No change in risk exposure

50

Failure to recover operationsin a
disaster or crisis (business continuity).

Risk fevel and Change in year |

e |

Strategic outcome |
|
|
I

Oew

KPIs associated with risk

- The amount of time since each plan
was updated ‘

Mitigations

- A crisis management policy is in place
— A business continuity plan is in place !
for each branch

— Staff turnover (monthly)

8 Ability to Resource

Reduction in the Group's ability
to attract and retain talent.

Risk level and Change in year

e

Strategic outcome

&

KPls assnriatad with riglt

— Social value per employee (annual)

— Sell-delivary J {iiontiy)

. % Of apprentices completing their
course and abtaining wark (annual)

-.. Great Place to Work score (annual}

— % oftho grade 51 workforce wliv are
women (annual)

Mitigations

— Information Security team in place.
Meetings are attended by Information
Security Group ({SG) and infarmation
asset owners on a monthly basis. The
asset owners are held responsible for
their respective departments’ actions

— Penetration testing s undertaken
by an external specialist company

__ Third party review and support for
training in terms of GDPR reguirements

— On some of the Graup's most sensitive
contracts, the client conducts audits
that review physical access, security
of hard copies of files and 1T
system security

— Comptliance with SO 27001

Mears Group PLC Annua! Report and Accounts 2022



9 Damage to Reputation

Serious damage to or loss of brand
integrity due to poor management of
publicity and external communications.

Risk leve| and Change in year

1 Damage to
Reputation

Serious failure to manage housing
sub-contractors.

Risk level and Change in year

130438 DID3LvHlS

/l Damage to Reputation
and Financial Viability
Risk of perceived and actual

discrimination feading to reputational
damage and financial penalties.

Risk ievel and Change in year

L JE)

Strategic outcome

LX)

Strategic cutcome

L 1S

Strategic outcome

@@

@ W

KPIy assutiated with risk KPls assaciated with risk KPls associated with risk o
z
— % of surveyed clients and __ Self-delivery % (monthly) _. % of apprentices completing their %
politicians who regard Mears —. Works orders completed on time % course and obtaining work (annuatl) >
as highly responsible {snnual) {monthly) i — % ofthe grade 5+ workforce who -
—. % of overall media coverage — Right first time % (monthly) are women (annuall “
that is pesitive (monthly) __ Customer satisfaction (monthly) ! =
— Custemer satisfaction (monthly} — Complairts {monthly} | g
_ Cemplaints {menthiy) \ ;
\ @

\

Mitigations Mitigations ‘ Mitigations

|
__ Engagement of external public — A critical control paint (CCP) has 1 — Social Value Board with external %
relations advisory been developed which partly focuses \ Board members %
— All staff are required to follow on Branch cempliance with the . — Workforce Strategy Group, consisting El
the social media policy Group’s sub-contractor processes I of senior employees, addresses key "g
— There is a dedicated Group —_ Prior to sub-contractor engagement,; | matters associated with the remit of 2
Head of Communications figorous interview process covering data analysis, action planning and o
— Whistieblowing policy and procedures health and safety and insurance ‘ imptementation monitering g
in place {for some potentiat adverse — Mears Contract Management I — Investment in single HR database =
publicity events) {(MCM} holds key sub-contracter | (Workday) which allows for g
— Staff are given clear directions as information and documentation ' improved analysis. o
to how to deal with a press enquiry — Payment controls I . Gender pay gap is considered E
_ Postinspection checks and as part of the people plan -
monthly performance reviews — Remuneration Committee provides g

of accident statistics)
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‘ governance at executive level
‘ ~ Tradeswomen intc maintenance and
‘ social mobility initiatives in operation
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Financial review

This section provides further key information in respect of the financial
performance and financial position of the Group to the extent not already
covered in detail within the Chief Executive Officer’s review.

ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES
LT Rs

The Strategic Report includes both
statutory and adjusted performance
measures, the latter of which considered
useful to stakeholders in projecting a basis
for measuring the underlying performance
of the business and exclude items which
could distort the understanding of
performance in the year and between
pericds, and when comparing the financial
autputs to those of our peers. The APMs
have been set considering the requirements
and views of the Group’s investors and

debt funders among other stakeholders,
The APMs and KPIs are aligned to the
Group’s strategy and form the basis of the
performance measures for remuneration

These APMs should not be considered as
a substitute for or superiar to Intermationat
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
measures, and the Baoard has endeavoured
to report both statutory and alternative
measures with equal prominence
throughout the Strateg'c Report and
financial statements

The aPMs used by the Group are detailed
below with an explanation as to why
management considers the APM to be
useful in helping users to have a better
understanding as to the Group's underlying
performance. A reconciliation 1s also
provided to map each non-1FRS

measure 1o its IFRS equivalert.

The Group defines normalised results as
profit before the amortisation of acquisition
intangibles and cther items that are
infrequent or one-off in nature and that
management considers not to be part of
underlying trading. The normalised results
are further adjusted to reflect a full
corporation tax charge of 19%, which will
increase to 23.5% in 2023, The Directors
believe this a1ds consistency when
comparing to historical results and provides
less incentive for the Group to panticipate
in schemes where the primary intention

is to reduce the tax charge.

A recanciliation between the statutary profit
measures and the normalised result for both
2022 and 2021 is detailed below. In addition,
the Group also provides an APM which
reports resuits before the impact of lease
accounting under iIFRS 16, Management

has provided this alternative measure at

the request of several shareholders and
market analysts to allow those stakeholders
to properly assess the results of the Group
over time. In particular, the Directors use
the pre-lFRS 16 measura to generate the
Group's headline cperating margin; whilst
this generates a lower operating margin,

it reflects how the underlying contracts
have heen tendered and is also more
aligned to cash generation,

For the purposes of assessing the Group’s
compliance with its banking covenants,
e Group utilises the 'EBITDA pro-IFRS 16
and before non-underlying items” which

is defined within the Group's hanx

facility agreement.

2022 202t
Continuing activitiesl Naote £'000 £'000
Profit/{loss) before tax Satutory 34,944 16,333
Amortisation of acquired intangitiles Note 413 245 7654
No-underlying items Sce below - 1627
Profit/loss before non-underlying items, amortisation of acquired ir and tax (adj d PBT) APM 35,189 25,614
Removal of IFRS 16 profit impact See beow 2.2 2876
Finance costs (non-t1FRS 16) MNote S 1.268) 1148
Operating profit pre {FRS 16 before non-underlying items and amortisation of acquired intangibles APM 36,122 29,638
Amortisation of software intangib es Note 4/13 2.055 2123
Degreciatien and loss an disoosal (non-1FRS 16)* Note 14 8,023 5,884
EBITDA pre IFRS 16 and before non-underlying items APM 46,200 37644
IFRS 16 profit impact See below {2,207 (2.876)
Finance costs {IFRS 16} Note 5 7610 6921
Deoreciation and loss on disposa (IFRS 16)* Note 15 43,259 43,386
EBITDA post IFRS 16 before non-underlying items and amortisation of acquired intangibles APM 94,868 85,075
Armaortsat'on of software intangib'es Note 13 {2,055} (2,123)
Deoreciation and loss on disposa {IFRS 16 Note 15 43.259) (43,386}
Deprecial on and lass o1 disposa’ [non-1FRS 16)* Note 14 8,023) 15,884)
Operating profit post IFRS 16 and before nan-underlying items APM 41,531 33,683

1 Operatung piofit/{loss) and EBITDA measures include share of prafizs of associates.

2 Incluaes profi: on disposal of £228,000 (2021 £27.000)
3 Includes loss on disposal of £2,000¢2021: £272,000)
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The profit impact in respect of IFRS 16 is detalled below:

2022 2021

£°000 £000
Charge to income statement on a post-IFRS 16 basis (50,869) (850,307
Charge to income statement on a pre-1FRS 16 basis (48,668) {47,437
Profit Impact from the adoption of IFRS 16 {2,201) {2,876)

MO UNDERLYING FFFRE

Non-underlying items are items which are considered outside normal aperations. They are material to the results of the Group through either
their size or nature. These items have been disclosed separately in the adjusted result above to provide a better understanding as o the
underlying performance of the Group. The Directors do not believe there are any items during 2022 which could be considered outside
normal operations.

2022 2021
£'000 £'000
Repayment or waiver of furicugh entitlement - 1627

In the pricr year, the Directors elected to voluntarily repayment and waiver of amounts paid and due under the Coronavirus Job Retention
Scheme {furlough’). The Directors considered this voluntary repayment to be a non-trading item and, by its nature, unique and non-recurring.
The size of this item is considered material and the Directors believe it would distort the readers’ understanding of the financial results of

the Group.

AMORTISATION OF ACQUISITIOM INTANGIBLES

2022 2021
£'000 jelele]
Amortisation charge 245 7654

A charge for amortisation of acquisition intangibles arose in the year of £0.2m (2021: £7.7m). The charge within the comparative period
predominantly related to the MPS acquisition in 2018, resulting in intangible assets being identified associated with the order book and
customer relationships. This MPS intangible was fully amortised during 2021. The Directors have consistently explained their rationale for
adjusting for this charge within the Group’s allernative profit measure. Whilst the 2022 profit before tax (PBT) on an IFRS basis has increased
by 114%, the adjusted measure has increased by 37%, and the Directors believe the lower figure is more reflective of the Group's performance.

The Directors estimate that, in the absence of further acquisitions, the amortisation charge moving forwards will be circa £0.2m per annum.
On this basis, and in the absence of new significant acquisitions, the Directors anticipate that this APM adjustment will not be applied

from 2023,

EARMINGS PER BHARE (EPB!

Areconciliation between the statutory measure for profit for the year attributable to shareholders before and after adjustments for both basic

and diluted EPS is:

Diluted {continuing)

Diluted (discontinued)

Diluted (continuing
and discontinued)

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

P <] P 2] P P

Earnings per share 2451 1n.5¢ 044 099 2494 12.49
Effect of amortisation of acquisition intangibles 022 677 - - 022 6877
Effect of full tax charge adjustment 0.22) (1.21 [0.05} (0.32) (0.26) (1.53)
Effect of non-underlying items - 117 - - - 117
Normalised earnings per share 2451 18.23 0.39 0.67 2490 18.90

Continuing Discontinued Continuing and discontinued

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

£'000 £'000 £°000 000 £'000 £000

Profit attributable to shareholders 27813 12,997 494 1122 28,307 1419
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles 245 7654 - - 245 7,654
Full tax adjustment (245) 11.365) {55} (361) (300} (1.726)
Exceotional costs - 1318 - - - 1,318
Mormalised earnings 27,813 20,604 439 761 28,252 21,365
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Financial review continued

NS ARV DEL T
The Group excludes the financial impact of IFRS 16 from its adjusted net debt measure. This adjusted net debt measure has been introduced
1o align the net borrowing definition to the Group's banking covenants, which are required to be stated before the impact of IFRS16,

The Group ulilises leases as part of its day-to-day business providing over 10,000 residential properties o vulnerable service users and key
workers. The Group does not recognise these lease obligations as traditional debt instruments given a significant proportion of these leases
have break provisions which allow the Group to cance! the associated lease obligation with minimal associated cost. A reconciliation between
the reported net cash/debt) and the adjusted measure is detailed below:

2022 2021

Note £'000 €000

Cash and cash eguivalents ‘ 98138 54.632
miwanmal assets) T 1963 —_T
Eo\w‘mg cred tfaciity — o -
Adjusted net cash/{debt) AFPM 100,101 54,632
Lease liabnities {currenth Nota 20 (44,376) {41,600}
Lease labiltes (nan-currenty Mote 20 {181,045} ‘VH?S,ZSO)
Total Statutory (125,320) (162,258)

DISCOMNTINUED ACTIVITIES

2022 2021

£'000 £000

Expenditure (261 (160)
Increase in fair value of contingent consideation 803 1100
Profit for the year befare tax on d'scontinued operations 542 940
Tax on discontinued operations ) 2
Profit for the year after tax on discontinued operations 494 1122

As detalled within the 2020 Annual Report, the Group completed disposals of both the Domiciliary Care and Planning Solutions businesses.
The consideratior payable to the Company in respect of the Planning Solutions ousiness, ‘Terraquest', was structured with g mix of cash
and contingent consideration, tagether witn loan notes and a minority shareholding which gives the Graup somea continued participation

at atow level.

The final contingent consideration in raspect of Terraguest was settled during 2022 at £7.33m versus the fair value carried i the prior year
of £6.50m. This additional profit has been recognised within discontinued activities. A small amount of expenditure was incurred in respect
of these historical businesses, which is recognised in discontinued operations.

TAXATION

Mears does not engage in artificial tax planning arrangements but takes advantage of avaitable tax reliefs. The tax position in any transacuon
is aligned with the commercial reality and any tax planning is consistent with the spirit as well as the letter of tax law. Mears has a low appetite
for risk and, when making decisions regarding tax, reputatignal and commercial as well as financial nsks are considered. Given the Group’s
activities are largely involved in servicing public sector clients, the risk of reputational damage flowing from a tax compliance failure is higher
than n other sectors. This leads the Group to take a risk averse approach if there s an element of uncertainty regarding a particular treatment.

The Group normalises’ its headline EPS measura to ceflect a full tax charge. Insq daing, the Board has removed from s primary performance
measure any potentially positive impact that could be achieved through reducing the Group's corporation tax charge

TAXES PAID
Further detad in respect of the taxes paid during 2022 are detalled below,

Taxes borne Tax collected Torai

£m £m &m

Coporaton tax 57 - 57
VAT and insurasce premium tax 06 16.2 0.8
Construct'on ndustty tax - 73 73
Income taxes 038 234 242
Nat cnai nsu-ance 12.5 168 293
Total 19.5 1572.7 177.2
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BALANCE SHEET

Overall, the Group reported an increase in net assets from £200.0m to £213.8m driven by retained profits generated in the year, net of
a reduction in the pension surpius, The key balance sheet categories are reported below together with a brief foatnote to provide
further explanation:

1HOd3d DIDILVHEILS

2022 2021 2022 2021
Non-current assets Note £m £€m Current liabiiities Note £m £m
Goodwill 1 1219 18.9 T-ade payables 7 171.0y 184
Intanyible dssels 2 75 AA Current lease habilties 4 (44.4) 141.6)
Property, plant and equipment 3 20.2 207 Provisions 10 {8.8) {4.5)
Right of use assets 4 213.4 2049 {224.2) {2309)
Investments and loan notes 5 5.3 4.2 Non-current liabilities
Pension assets 5 26.8 50.6 Pension liabilities 6 (31 (17.0)
3961 406.,0 Deferred tax liability il (4.9) 67 g
B
Current assets Non-cucrent iease liabiities 4 {181.0) {175.3) b
o
Inventories 7 6.9 229 Other non-current liabiiities 12 C7) - §
Trade receivables 7 128.3 1483 Non-current provisions 13 31 38 F-“
. ]
Corporat’on tax asset 8 05 22 (192.8) {202.8) o
<
Bank, cash and deposits 9 1001 54.6 Total liabilities (4172.0 {432.9) m
X
2358 228.0 §
Tetal assets &30.8 §33.9 Total net assets 2138 201.0 ﬁ
m
1 This is goodwill generated from previous acquisitions; the carrying value 1s tested at least annually for impairment.
2 This includes software development costs of £5.0m (2021: £4.0m) which primarily relates to in-house developments to our key operational IT platforms. This was
Increased by the acquisition of IRT which saw a new balance of £1.1m acquired and consolidated; this is being written off over the estimatec useful econemic hife, which
15 typically b years inrespect of the Mears 1T system development but 10 years in respect of the IRT asset. This balance also includes acguisition intangibles of £2.4n
{2021: £2.6m}) relating to custamer relationships identufied and valued on acquisitions and being amartised over the estmated useful economic life of 20 years,
3 Property, plant, and equipment 1s stated at historical cost of £47 4m {2021 £57.3m) less accumulated depreciation of £27.2m (2021: £38.6m), gwving a net carrying value
af £20.2m (2021, £20.7m). Mears histencally has a track record of delivering organic growth in the core Housing activities with a low reguirement for capital expenditure -
When the Group secures a new contract, the Group will typically open an office in that |ocality delivenng services 1o this single chient; whilst Mears will typically lease the ;‘;
site office, mprovements are often required to ensure that the property 15 set up 10 detiver the required services, and IT infrastructure and eguipment s also reguired, >
and all this spend is typicaily capitahsed. 2l
4 Leasing properiies for rental to tenants 1s an important part of the Mears’ Housing offenng. As a result, Mears currently holds leases for over 10,000 residential property ;
leases and this number I1s Increasing over time, The way inwhich the Group manages and balances the cperational and finrancial risks associated with its contractual ~
obligations and leasing commitments is important. The Group saeks to strike a balance between iLs operational requirements and the negative financial mpact of IFRS 18 :”
A significant number of leases provide Mears a one-way break option which typically provides the ability 1o exit the lease, having gren 30 days’ notice, This prowvides the =
Group ultimate flexib ity if volumes reduce. Where the Group does not rave the right to break, leases arc typically matered to the underlying contract length which gives ;
comfort that an obligation will not remain once the reguirement for that asset has passed. The Group has a high number of short-term Icases which, as a pract cal 2
expod entwithin IFRS 16, arc not required to be reflected on the talance shect, but can resultin a greater operational risk if suitable properties are in short supply s
In addition to the residential property leases, the Group holds over 3,500 other leases relating to vehicles and offices. ﬁ
5 This predominantly relates to an investment over which the Group has significant influence but which 1t does not cantrol. This is categonsed as an associate. |tis W

presumed that the Group has sigrificant influence wheare it has between 20% and 50% of the voting rights in the investee unless Indicated otherwise, the carrying value
reflects the cost of each investment together with the Group's share of the profit generated by that entity since acquisition.

| oan notes ara linkad to the disposal of Terraguest in 2020, The Group received £3 16m in loan notes aceruing an interest rate of 10% per annum, payable on redamption
This carrying velue, inclusive of accrued interest, has increased Lo £4.1m.

6 The Group participates in two principal Group defined benefit pension schemes together with a further 15 individual defined benefil schemes where the Group has
received Admitted Body status in a Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) These are covered In greater detail below.

7 Working capital balances include trade receivables, trade payables. and inventories: further explanation is provided within the working capital management secuon
that follows

8 AllGroup profits are chargeable to corporation tax at the headling rate of 19%, which increases to 25% in April 2023. The Group is required to make quarterly payments,
meaning any creditor outstanding at the period end 15 relatvely low, and in the case of the last two period ends, the Group has been due a corporation tax refund.

9 The Group has reported a cash balance at the year end of £98.1m Whilst the spot number at the balance sheet date drives a key metric, of mare importance is the
Group's treasury performance over 385 days This Is covered in greater detail helow. In addition to the reported cash number, the Group held treasury deposits of £2.0m.
However, given the deposits maturity was greater than three months, it is not included within the cash figures, but instead classed as a financial asset.

10 A provision is a liabilty of uncertain timing o amount. Provisions can be distinguished from other liabilities such as trade payables and accruals because there s
uncertainty about the tming or amount of the future expenditure required in settlement. The provision of £8.8m within current habilities relates to a number of legal claims
where the Direciors have made an assessment as to the kely loss. Additional detait Is provided within note 22 to the financial staterments. The provision of £3.1m within
non-current liabilities relates to insurance losses which the Group chooses 1o self-insure.

1M Adeferred tax liability of £4 9m {2021: £6.7m) is recognised on temporary differences between the treatment of iterns for lax and accounting purposes. Tax losses
generated in previgus years which sre expected to be utihsed agamnst future prefits are recognised as a deferred tax asset and a subsequent charge anses as those
losses are utilisec Deferred tax is also recognised on short-term temporary uming differences, pnmarily relating to provisions These differences are expected to reverse
inthe fellowing year and anse because tax relief s only available when the costs areincurred. Capital allowances represent tax relief on the acq.isiion of property, plant
a1d equipment and a<e spread over several years atrates set by legislat on These differ from depreciation, which 15 an estimate of the use of an item of property, plarm,
and equipment over its useful life Deferred tax 1s recognised on the difference between the remalning value of such an asset for tax purposes and its carrying value
in the accounts

12 Cther payatles include provisions relating to the Group's Insurance risks and a small number of contract related provisions which anse when the unavoidable costs
of meeting contractual obligatiens exceed the remuneration expected to be receved.
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Financial review continued

PENSIONS
The Group’s defined benefit pension arrangement can be categorised three ways:

... Two principal Group pension schemes, where the Group 15 fully at nisk over the long term.

. Five indemnified defined benefit schemes where the Group has received Admitted Body status lin an LGPS, but where the Group holds a
back-to-back indemnity under the associated customer contract which removes the Group's exposure to changes in pension contributions
and any future deficit risk.

... 10 other defined benefit schemes, the majority of which are LGFS, but where there is no indemnity in place. However, the risk attached
to tnese schemes matches the time horzan of the underlying contract; whilst not temaoving tisk, it reduces the perad over which deficit
can arise, and thetefore tne Gicup 1s fully at risk over the madium term.

The two principal Group schemes enjoy a strong financial position and have done consistently over the last 10 years, Both schemes are
relatively mature, and most assets held are matched to the underlying obligations. It was pleasing to reach a position where both Group
schemes have reached a position where they can be considered largely self-sufficient. The Directors are really pleased with the performance
of the scheme managers and truslees who have managed this pension risk so well over many years to reach the position reported today.

The Directors are comfortable with the position of the indemnified and other schemes. There is only a single scheme reporting a deficit,
and in that instance the Group benefits from an indemnity. The Group enjoys a significant surplus on many of other schemes, but these are
not recagnised as assets as there is uncertanty around the ability to recaver a surplus.

The pension disclosure is split on the face of the balance sheet between non-current assets and non-current liabilities. In addition, the pension
guarantee assets are reparted separalely from their associated llabilities, which complies with accounting standards but s less easy for the
reader to understand how the individual components fit tagether,

2022 2022 2022 2022 20 2021 2021 201

Group Indemnified Other Total Group  Indemmified Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000
Total scheme assets 128,022 63,848 52,596 261,712 196,912 214,330 81749 433483
Total obligations {104,351) {50,995) (36,748} (202,763) 1159,261) (198,887) 76,423}  (435,089)
Funded status 23,672 12,8563 15,848 58,949 37651 15,443 5.326 58,394
Surpluses not recognised as assets - (15,989) {15,848) {38,413) - (28,418) {9,320) (37738)
Pension surplus/liability 23,672 {3.136) - 20,5326 37,651 (12,975) (3,994 20,656
Guarantee asset - 3,136 - 3,136 - 12,975 — 12,975
Net position 23,672 - - 23,672 37651 - (3,994} 33,63
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CASH FLOW AND WGORKING CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group has delivered excellent operating cash llows aver recent years with strong underlying EBITDA to operating cash conversion.
Mears has always fostered a strerg ‘cash culture’, whereby the Group's front ine apcrations understand that inveicing and cash collection are
intrinsically linked, and that a works arder is not complete until the monies are banked. This culture has underpinned strong cash performance
cver many years. The reported cash conversion has been enhanced further as the working capital absorbed within the Group's Development
activities has seen working capita! reduced 1o below £2m (2021: £12m). However, without this enhancement, the Group would still have
delivered EBITDA 10 operating cash of more than 110%.

140434 D1231VHLS

2022 202t
£'000 £Q00
Profit before tax 34,944 16,333
Net finance costs 6,341 8,069
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles 245 7654
Depreciation and amortisation 53,562 51,392 o
EBITDA 95,002 83,448 2
]
Other adjustments 376 (1,213) o
—_— = k=]
Change in inventories 15,991 12,944 "
m
Change in operating receivables 13,855 (2,244} o
[a]
Change in operating payables and provistons (9,760} (32,573) g
Operating cash flow 115,554 60,362 Z
=
EBITDA to operating cash conversion 122% 72% g
m
The Group reported an adjusted net cash position at the year end of £100.1m (2021: £54.6m). Whilst it is pleasing to report a strong cash
position within the year end balance sheet, of much greater significance is the performance over the 365-day period. Positively, the strong
year end performance is also mirrored in the average daily adjusted net cash for the year at £42.9m (2021: £0.4m).
2022 2021
£'000 £'000 -1
Average daily adjusted net cash 42,880 400 §
z
Adjusted net cash at 31 December 100,101 54,632 2]
>
el
-
-1
-
m
=
m
z
-
w0
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Financial review continued

The average month end trade recefvable and trade payable balance reflects strong working capital management during the period. The
significant reduction is largely due to the unwind of working capital from Development activities, which released around £10m during the
petiod. The cote Housing activities have histarically absorbed a relatively low leve! of warking capital when compared with the size of the
business and the profit generated. The business has benefitted from payments received on account; however, even if excluding this temparary
benelit, the adjusted measure wouid reflect strong performance.

2022 2021
£°000 £'000
Receivables i53.7 1815
Payables {159.7} (165.1)
Net working capital {6.0) 15.5

BANKING AMD FINANCIAL COVEMANTS

The Group has & simple approach to its debt funding arrangements, holding a single revolving credit facility (RCF) which provides a total

cemmitment of £70m but allows the Group to draw down monies as required, mirroring an overdraft facility. The Board is grateful for the

tremendous suppert that has been provided to the Group by its banking partners, A number of those relationships extend over decades.

The financial covenants included within the RCF, which are 1ested twice-yearly on 30 June and 31 December, are detailed below. Given the
Group traded on a net cash basis throughout 2022, and enjoyed an associated finance credit, there is significant headroom. Neverthaless,
the Directors have completed a Viabiiity Review and stress lested the Group's resilience given several downside scenarios

Covenant Formulae Covenant ratio
Leverage Consolidated net borrowing divided by Adjusted consclidated EBITDA 3.00x
Interest cover Adjusted consolidated EBITDA" divided by Consolidated net finance charges® 3.50x

Adjusied EBITDA on aroling 12-mon:h basis, pre IFRS 18, and stated before nen-underlying iterns and share-based payments.
Met finance charges comprise alf commission, fees, and other finance chaiges payable in Tespect of financial indebtedness This excludes incomuicosts 1etabing io
Group pensian arrangements,

A margin ratchet ranging fraom 1.75~2.75% is applied to drawdowns under the RCF, determined by the Group's leverage ratio at each quarter
end. This margin 1s payable in addition to the Sterling Overnight index Average (SONIA) being the Bank of England risk-free rate for Sterling

markets. Given the strong liquidity and cash performance, the Board’s expectation would be for the margin payable during 2023 to be at the
bottom end of the range.

ANDREW SMITH
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
28 April 2023
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Financial viability review

In accordance with C.2.2 of The UK Corporate
Governance Code 2014, the Directors are
required to assess the viability of the Group
over the medium to longer term. A period
of five years has heen chosen as it reflects
the average contract length {excluding
extensions) of the Group’s centract estate.
Whilst the Group holds contracts which
exlend beynnd this time honizen, A period
of greater than five years was caonsidered
too long, given the inherent uncertainties
of forecasting to distant time horizons

In making this statement, the Board has
considered its principal risks. The principal
risks are set out on pages 47 to bl and are
those which are considered to thresten the
Group's future performance, solvency, and
liquidiity. Risks are identified as ‘principal’
based on the likelihood of occurrence and
the severity of the impact on the Group.
This assessment includes the availability
and effectiveness of mitigating actions that
could realistically be taken to reduce the
impact or occurrence of the underlying risks,
In considering the likely effectiveness of
such actians, the Board also takas comfort
from the work of the Audit and Risk
Commitiee for mennoring and reviewing the
integrity and effectiveness of the Group’s
averall systems for risk management as
detailed on pages 44 (o 46,

These base case projections for viability
purposes have been made using
prudent assumptions:

— Forecast bullt up on a contract-by-
contract basis for the next twelve months
and extended for the following four years.
The forecast for 2023 is based upon
revenues generated from existing
customer relationships, and a business
that is generating contract margins that
are in hine with recernt run rates.

— The forecast assumes No new work is
secured. The base case assumes that
contracts are re-secured on re-tender,
but reflects some revenue reduction
from existing clients, when itis
currently anticipated that there may
be no further opoortunity upon expiry
of the current contract,

__ The model also reflects the normalisation
of the AASC, with revenues reducing to
a level closer to the original expectation.

__ The Board recagnises that it is not immune
to labour shortages, supply chain challenges,
and inflationary pressures, and has included
a contingency amounting to circa 1% on
Group costs (excluding direct labour}
within its base financial forecasts to reflect
this uncertainty.

_ The model assumes na significant
changes in working capital performance.

__ The model assumes small-scale property
purchases to augment the delivery of
the AASC.

. Future divigends continue in ling with
current policy.

_ No changes to Group structure.

The resulting inancial model assesses the ability of the Group to remain within financial
covenants and hquidity headroom of existing committed facilities. The financial highlights
in respect of the base case are not detailed within this report as they are considered

commercially sensitive.

A range of scenarios that encompass the principal risks were applied to the base case and
are set oulin the tables below. These downside cases were prepared by management to
illustrate the impact of adverse changes in key variables used within the base case forecast
and projecliuns Those downside rases were intended to illustrate a reasconable worst-case
scenario which could affect sclvency or liquidity in ‘'severe but plausible’ scenarios.

The analysis also considered a reverse stress test scenario to understand the reduction

required to cause a breach of interest cover covenant.

The Directors have considered three scenarios and the following sensitivities have been

applied to each dewnside case:

Scenario Assumption
1 Failure to re-secure any material
Significant contracts on re-bid resulting in

£213m of annual revenue lost
over review period

deterioration in
Group's bidding
success on

contract re-bids

Associated principal risk

_ Risk 1: Contract failure

Risk 3: Political and
market disruptions
Risk 8: Ability to resource
Risk 9: Damage to brand

. Risk 10: Failure to manage

subcontractors
Risk 13; Discrimination

2 Deficit between sales rate increases
compared with cost base resulting in
8 1.5% reduction in operating margin.
Given the low margin nature of the
business, a small increase in the cost
base which is not recovered

In charge rate increases can

cause significant margin dilution,

Inflation/
employee/supply
chain disruption

Risk 3: Political and
market disruptions

Risk 8: Ability to resource
Risk 10: Failure to manage
subcontractors

3 Cyber breach impacting upon lead

Cyber operating systems causing an
additional 10 days’ revenue tied
up ir warking capital

Risk 4: Breach in data security

. Risk 7: Business continuity

SCENARIC 1

This downside scenaric assumes a negative outcome in respect of cantract renewals. Given
the average contract length of circa five years, several key contracts will come up far renewal
over the viabilily revicw periad. The (roup has a good track record of securing work on
re-bid. However, for the purposes of this viability review, management has assumed a
significant deterioration in the Group’s performance in this area, possibly following a
significant event which has impacted negatively on the Graup's reputation in the sector,

The Group has modelled a downside scenario where it falls to re-secure any material
contracts that come up for re-bid during the period 2023 to 2026. The impact upon

revenue of this assumptian is detailed below:

Contract Annual value £m Expiry date
Contract A £53m 2024*
Contract B £15m 2024
Contract C £22m 2024
Contract D £54m 2024*
Contract E £20m 2025
Contract F £10m 2025
Contract G £23m 2025
Contract H £16m 2025
Total annual value in 2026 £2123m

M The 2024 contract expiries are all modelled as losses for entire financial year, albeit the contracts end

W« March 2024,

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Financial viability review continued

2024
1031

2026
44.6

2023 2027

177.4

Key financial output, scenario ! 2025

Leverage headroom £m 49.8 43.0

SCENARIO 2: INFLATION

This downside scenario assumes a negative outcome in balancing customer price increases
with the Group’s cost base. The Group historically has a good track record of controlling costs
in & low margin environment; however, for the purposes of this viability review, the Directors
have modelled a downside scenario where the Group experiences a 1.5% reduction in
operating margin for the entire review period, The impact upon revenue of this assumption

Is detailed below:

Key financial output, scenario 2 2023 2024 2028 2026 2027

Leverage headroom £m 128.5 147 99.3 101.6 105.4

SCENARIO 3: CYBER BREACH

This scenario assumes a cyber breach which impacts negatively in respect of the Group's
operationai systems. In the case of this modelied scenario, the Directors have assumed

that this results in a significant deterioration in the cash collection measurements, being an
increase in the time period between the complation of works and the receipt of cash from the
Group's clients, {This scenario assumes a permanent deterioration in respect of the contract
asset coliection period, ingreasing by 10 days. Whilst to model a scenario where the Group
experiences a permanent detenioration in working capiial 1s considered particularly
pessimistic, such a scenario is helpful to the Ditectors to further stress test the

viabulity review when taking a combination of downside scenarios.

2025
131.0

2022 2024

1459

2326
1377

Key financial autput, scenana 3 2027

Leverage headroom 1566 1463

SCENARIO & A COMBINATION OF BOTH STENARIOS 1 AND 2

The Directors alse modelled the impact from the occurrence aof both downside scenarios 1 and
2 occurring concurrently, which is felt to be a plauvsible combination given operational failures
could lead to both margin dilution and attrition.

2023
1285

Key financial cutput, Scenario 4 2024 2028 2026 2027

Leverage headrocom £m 620 14.2 5.3 0.5

No mitigating actions were ncluded within either scenario, which was considered
conservative but not entirely realistic. Mitigating actions available te management include
areduction in discretionary capital expenditure, changes to dividend policy, and more
robust working capital management around covenant test dates. In addition, upsides that
are gvailable {o the base case include genearating an improved margin at a local contract
level over and above the current run rate and securing new contract awards.

In addition to the four scenarnios, the Board tested the sensitivity of the business to increasing
the severity of the assumptions detailed in each case, to measure the trigger points at which
the viability of the Group, in the absence of further mitigations, could be impacted.

. Scenarto 1assumes that all revenue s lost on re-bid and in isolation this would not impact
on the viability of the business. Were the Group 10 see existing contracts terminated before
their ime, this could impact upon covenants and funding levels, and could inevitably
impact upan viability

— Scenario 2 assumes a deterioration in gperating margin, The Directors recognise that if
cperating margins were to reduce by a further 3%, in addition to the modelled scenario,
tren this would impact upo~ the solvency and liquidity, and ultimately the viability,
of the Group
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Scenario 3 shows a change in net cash/
{debt) by circa £8m for a change of five
days in the contract asset collection
period. Given the significant headroom
within the existing banking facilities, it is
not considered plausible that the
collectton penod could deteriorate 1o
such an extent as to result in exceading
the available banking facilities,

The viability review also considered the
increasing risk that fines can be levied
upan companies far nan-campliance in
areas such as health and safety and data
pratection. The fines applied are
discretionary based on the nature, gravity,
and cuipability of the company bui fines are
applied based upon a percentage of Group
revenue. In a low margin busingss such

as Mears, any single fine could have 8
significant and proportionate impact upon
retained profits. Whilst such an event could
be damaging, it would not be expacted to
ultimately impact on the long-term viability
of the Group. Both health and safety, and T
and data feature high on the Group's

risk register and we cominually review

our mitigating actions to ensure that

we minimise our residual risk.

Tre Group’s existing deht facilities run to
December 2026. The future viability review
extends beyond this date and therefore
assumes that there will be enough appetite
from our existing or new funders to provide
the required fevel of funding on similar terms.

The Directors recognise that there is
naturally uncertainty within any forecast and
this uncertainty increases as the projections
cover a five-year penod. The conclusion
attached 1o the viability review was that
there was a reasonabie expectation that
the Group will continue in operation and
would be able to continue to meet liabilities
as they fall due over the five-year period of
business planning.

This Strategic Report was approved
by the Beard on 28 Ap'll 2023

D MILES
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
david. miles@mearsgroup.co.uk
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Non-financial Statement

Reporting requirement

Stakeholders
(customers,
suppliers, etc)

Policies and standards which govern our approach

Responsible Business Charter

Data protection

Responses to Social Housing White Paper,
Procurement Green Paper and the Decert
Homes Review

. Scottish Business Pledge

IS0 14001 {colfahnratinn in rontract management)
Manitoring right first time, customer complaints,
customer satisfaction

Additional information and risk management

Board activities ~ page 68

s. 172 Statement — page 27

Awards and accreditations — page 4-5
Market drivers — page 18-19

Business model — page 20

Customer satisfaction — page 24
Stakeho!der engagement — page 69

Environmental matters

ESG approach

‘Our Path to Net Zero’ document
FTSE4Good membership

1SO 14001 (Environmental
Management System) certification

ESG reporting website
www.mearsgroup.co.uk/esg/esg

ESG appreoach — page 30

TCFD statement — page 38

Carbon emissions statement — page 41

‘Our Path 10 Net Zero’ — page 42
Environment and waste recycling — page 32

Employees

Whistleblowing;

Family Friendly policy

Safeguarding

Equality, diversity, and inclusion

Approach to Labour Standards compliance
Launch of a sacially responsible business plan
to attract and retain staff and go further on
our diversity and inclusion plans

2025 Strategy

. Health and safety

Red Thread approach
RoSPA Crder of Distinction

Our people — page 12

Gender Pay Gap Reporl — page 31
Governance Report — page 62
Remuneration Report — page 80
Awards and accreditations — page 4-5
Health and safety — page 25

Human rights

Modern slavery and human trafficking;
Preventing engagement of child labour
Whistieblowing policy
Family Friendly policy

Modern Slavery Act — page 35
Corporate Governance — page 62

Anti-bribery
and corruption

Anti-bribery and corruption

Independent research into ethical precurement
sponsored by Mears

Responsible Business Charter

Governance — page 62
Report of the Audit and Risk Committee —
page 74

Social matters

ESG approach

ESG Board

‘Qur Path to Net Zero' document
Social Value UK Certificate Level 2
FTSEAGood Index

Mears Scrutiny Board

Social Mobility Index

ESG approach — page 30

‘Cur Path to Net Zere” document — page 42
Awards and accreditations — page 4-5
Covernance — page B2

Stakeholder engagement — page 69

Description of principal

risks and impact of
business activity

Risk management — page 44
Principal risks — page 47
Business model — page 20

Description of
business model

Business model -~ page 20

Non-financial KPlIs
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page 74

Strategic Report — page 1
Corporate Governance — page 62
Report of the Audit and Risk Committee —
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Our corporate governance compliance statement

This section of the Annual
Report sets out how the Introduction to corporate governance
Company is governed. It
provides biographical and =~ — ¢hermen’s ntroduction
service details about the
Board of Directors and

discusses the composition |[RElEleNEE [ lolzlekI(e Kla it
of the Board, how that

Page 63

—- Board of Directers Page 64

has been deVElOped, - Roles and responsibilities Page 66
and the Beoard evaluation _. Corporate governance framework Page 67
. . _ Key Board activities in 2022 Page 68

process entered into in . Stakeholder engagement Page 69

2022, It discusses how
the Board assures itself as
to Company performance Composition, succession and evalyation
and sets out the key areas

R . _ Board compasition, development and evaluation Page 71
which were subject to .. Report of the Nominations Committee Page 72
significant Board review
and discussion in 2022.
Finally, it sets out how Audit, risk and internal controls
the Board communijcated
with shareholders and
key stakeholders.

_— Repart ofthe Audit and Compliance Committees Page 74

Remuneration

Report of the Remuneration Committea Page BO
.. Report of the Directors Page 98
— Statement of Directors” responsibilities Page 100
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Chairman’s introduction

Mears’ strong corporate culture is key to
the Company’s long-term sustainable success
and, accordingly, the promotion of this culture

is an important element of the debates that
take place at each Board meeting.

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased

tc intraduce the corporate governance
report for 2022, The oversll purpose of this
report s to brief stakeholders on how the
Board undertakes its responsibilities for
the leadership of the Company and for

the promotian of its long-term sustainable
success. During 2022, the Board considers
that it was compliant with the principles

of good governance set out in the UK
Corporale Governance Code 2018

{the 'Code’).

MANAGEMENT AND BOARD SUCCESS{ON
A major preoccupation for the Board in 2022
was the selection of Lucas Critchley as the
Group's prospective new CEC and the
senicr management reorganisation which
will accompany bath this change and the
retirement of Alan Long as an Executive
Director. Alan left the Board at the end of
2022 and Lucas joined as an Executive
Directar on 1 January 2023, It 1s intended
that Lucas will become CEQ during the
course of this year and David Miles will

ther retire fram the Board.

As set aut in my letter at the front of this
Annual Report, | have decided not to seek
re-election to the Board at the AGM

in 2023. Accordingly, one task for the
Board in 2022 was to select my successor.
After deliberation in the Nominations
Committee, without my participation, it was
decided to appeint our Senior Independent
Director, Chris Loughlin, to the role. More
detail can be found in the Report of the
Naminations Committee.

During 2022, the Board also considered
the role of the Employee Director as one
mechanism for ensuring that the "employee
vaice' is heard at the Beard table. We
concluded that it would be appropriate
to continue with such a position. Claire
Gibbard's term in that role came to an
and in December 2022 and the Board
appointed Hama Nar to succeed her.
More detalls can be found in the Report
of the Nominations Committee

PEOPLE AND CULTURE

Mears’ strong corporate culture is key

to the Company's long-term sustainable
success and, accardingly, the promotion

of this culture is an impartant element of
the debates that take place at each Board
meeting. We consider that the wellbeing of
our workforce and our customers is critical
to the gcreation of long-term commercial
value for stakeholders and shareholders.

At each Board meeting, there is a discussion
of key workforce issues, illuminated by staff

survey data, workforce diversity analysis,
staff training and development information,
and the report of the Employee Director,

During 2022, the Employee Director created

a new body, the Employee Forum, whose
purpose is to bring together colleagues
from all areas of the business to discuss

common issues and make recommendations

for change to management and Board.
The first meeting of the Forum looked

at the effectiveness of the recruitment of
apprentices and the Company’s induction
programme. [t also reviewed the results
of the Bost Companies Survey

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022

In a similar vein, each Board meeting
examines data on customer complaints

and commendations. In addition, the Board
reviews the annual report of the Mears
Cuslomer Scrutiny Beard, holding a
discussion will the charman ol lal body,
Terrie Alafat. The Board also reviews the
social value activities of the Company's
employees at each meeting and once a

year considers the report of the Company’s
ESG Beard. That body consists of three
independent members with expertise in the
effective development of diversity and social
value and is chaired by an Fxecutive Director.

In all of these ways, the Board seeks to
contribute to the Company’s objective of
becoming the most socially responsible
business in the UK housing sector by 2025.

STRAYEGY

During the first quarter of 2022, the Board
re-examined the Group's five-year plan, first
created in 2021, We concluded that Mears
should remain a specialist provider of
housing services, largely to the public sector.
We will continue to strengthen our leadership
pasition, grow where profitable opportunities
exist, and develop our offer to improve the
environmental footprint of the UK's public
housing stock. We will use small-scale M&A
as a tool to develop our capabilities where
that is the most effective mecharmism to

do s0. We are developing our plans to

limit the environmental impact which our
operations have on the planetand on our
local communities. We will be recognised

as a leading socially responsible company
and one of the UK's Best Large Companics
to Wark For,

SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

The Company, primarily through the
management leam but alsg at Chairman
level, maintains a close dialogue with its
major shareholders. Each Board meeting
receives a report on investor relations issues,
with a discussion on changes and trends,
and there is a discussion about anything of
importance that has emerged. ILis important
that all Board members understand the
main reasons wiy major sharehalders are
supporters of the Group and what thelr key
Issues are 50 as o ensure that the voice of
the owners is also brought into boardroom
discussions and decision making,

AGM

I lock forward to meeting in person any
shareholders who wish to come ta the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

K MURPHY

CHAIRMAN
28 April 2023
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CQORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Board of Directors

KIERAN MURPHY

Chairman

Age
54

Tenure
4 years

Skills and experience
Kieran s avery
experienced No-
Executive Director

and Chairman. He spent
much of s executive
career working m finance.
At Kiginwort Benson, ne
built a mar<et-lezading
coraorate finance agvisory
business in the building
and construci'on sector
and became a membe-

of the bank’s Invesiment
Bank Management
Committee, More recently,
at Gleacher Shack'ock,
Kieran extended his
adwvisory work Inta the
Dbusivess serv Cas seclo”

Principal external
appeointments
Alaxs S A,
University of London

Departing 2023
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DAVID S MILES
Chief Executive Officer

Age
57

Tenure
26 years {16 years
on the Board)

David jo'ned Mears in
May 1996 and, prnor to
hrs appointment to the
Beard n January 2007,
was Managing Director of
the Mears Social Housing
diwvisign Before joining
Mears, David hed a senior
POSLon With the MITIE
Grodp. His background 's
n glectrical engineenng

Principal external
appointments
Nare

Retiring 2023

Skills and experience

|

i ANDREW

CMSMITH
Chief Firancial Officer

Age
50

Tenure
23 years 16 years
an the Board)

Skilis and experience
Andrew Joined Mears

N 1999 and, prigr to

his appointment to the
Board, was Chief Finang'a!
Officer covering the
Group's sJbsidiaries.
Andrew qualified as a
Charterad Accountant
m 1994 and worked in
professionar practice
anei iejainng Mears.

Principal external
appeintments
None

LUCAS CRITCHLEY
Chief Operating Officer

Age
40

Tenure

19 years (Joined \he Boaid
on 1 January 2023)

Skills and experience
LJcas graduated with a BA
N Busmess and Commerce,
Jjoining the Company as

a business apprentice in
2004. He has woked his
way up through ousiness
development and
operational roles within
the Group 1o join the
Executive Board 'n

2023 He nas hands-on
experience of ranning
contracts throughout s
tme at Mears, necoming
Operations Director in 2017
and Greup Chief Qperating
Officer in 2021 Now in s
19th year with Mears, Lucas
Tas been an~osunced as
the successor as Chief
Executive 1o David Mi'es
who will retire in 2023

Principal external
appointments
None

ANGELA
LOCKWOOD

Non-Executive Director

Age
&0

Tenure
1year

Skills and experience
Angea nas extensive
experignce gained from
a caregrin housing
spanning 30 years.
Starting he- career at
Sunderland Counch,
Angela then worked
for Home Heousing and
subsequently joined
Endeavour Housing
Association, firstly as
Housing Direcio- and
then Managing Director
She o'ned North Star
in 2009, holding the
pasition of CEQ.
Angela noids an MBA
and 15 a Fellow of the
Cnartered institute

of Housing.

Principal external
appointments

CEO of Noth Star Hous'ng,
Joseph Rowntee Housng
Trust, National Housing
Federation Boad, NE
Adwvisory Boad of BITC
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HEMA NAR
Employee Director

CHRISTOPHER
LOUGHLIN
Non-Executive Director,
Senior Independent
Director, Remuneration
Committee Chair

DAME JULIA
UNWIN

Independent
Non-Executive Director

JIM CLARKE
Independent
Non-Executive
Director and Audit and
Risk Committee Chair

BEN WESTRAN

Company Secretary

Age Age Age Age Age

46 70 66 63 46

Tenure Tenure Tenure Tenure Tenure

Appoeinted on 1 January 3years 7 years I years 19 years (8 years as

2023

Skilis and experience
Hema read Law at
university and has over 20
years' b’'d management
experience, predominantly
in the social housing
sector. She nas warked for
Mears since 2020 s aB'd
Manager in the centrai
business deve'opment
function as well as
presnously from 20142018
and before that worked for
a Housing Association,

Principal external
appointments
None

Skills and experience
Chris is a very experenced
CEO. His last executive
role, prior to his retirement
in 2020, was Chief
Executive Officer of
Pennon Group plc, the
listed company which
owned South West Water
and the waste business
Viridor. He was previously
CEO of South West Water
and pefore that held

roles at Lloyds Register,
British Nurlear Fuels Pl
and Magnox

Principal external
appointments
Portsmouth Wate~, Magnon,
Augean, Reall

Skills and experience
Julia is former Chief
Executive of the Joseph
Rownt-ee Foundation
and the Joseph Rowntree
Heousing Trust. She has
significant experience

in the housing and care
sectors, having been a
member of the Housing
Corporation Board for

10 years and Chair of

the Refugee Counci

She was appointed
Came Commander of

the Qrder of the British
Empire in January 2020
far service to civil society.

Principal external
appointments
Yorksnire Water,

York St John Un'versity,
Smart Data Foundry
(University of Edinburgh)
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Skills and experience
Jimis a very experienced
company Chief Financial
Officer. He qualified as &
Chartered Accountant in

his career in senior finance
roles in consumer-facing
‘ndustries, having been
Chief Financial Qfficer

at Dawvid Lloyd Lelsure,

JD Wetherspoon

and Countrywide.

Principal external
appointments
None

1984 He has spent much of

Company Secreta-y)
Skills and experience
Benis a Cnartered
Accountant and, prior to his
apoointment as Company
Secretary, was Group
Financial Controller and
Director of a number of
the Group's subsidiaries.
Ben jeined the Group

in 2004, having
previously worked in
professional practice.

Principal external
appointments
None
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Roles and responsibilities

Role Respongibilities inciude:

CHAIRMAN — Promoting a culture of challenge, debate, openness, support, and mutual respact
Kieran Murphy — L‘eadershlp of the Board, setting its agenda and ensuring effective informaticn flow and
time management
- Ensuring that Directors contribute effectively and allocate sufficient time to the Company
Ensuring that the Board iistens to the views of shareholders, the workforce, customers,
and other stakeholders
— Ensuring that the Board both monitors end demonstiates culture, values, and behaviours
of the Group
— Ensuring that the Board determines the nature and extent of risk and rewerd in strategy
execution Ensuring effective Board evaluation

SENIOR INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR — Leading the annual performance evaluation of the Chajrman
Chris Loughlin — Providing a sounding board for the Chairman
... Available 1o shareholders as a channel for them to raise Board level issues

INDEPENDENT —- Promoting the highest standards of integrity, probity, and corporate governance
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS thraughout the Groug
Jim Clarke . . Constructively challenging decisions proposed by the Executive Directors
. . — Ensuring stakeholder views are debated and considered
Chris I—OUgh“n ~— Assisting in developing proposals on strategy
Dame Julia Upwin ... Contributing 1o the performance evaluation of the Chairman

—— Briefing the Board on decisi d dkeyi from each Committee Chair
Angela Lockwoad riefing the Board on decisions made and kay issues from ea mittee Chai

EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR — Promating the highest standards of integrity and probity
Hema Nar — Assisting in developing propasals on strategy

B — Assisting the Board to receive full, open, and honestinsight and views from its workforce
(formerly Clare Gibbard) on how strategic initiatives are being implemented

— Helping to provide the wider warkforce with a better understanding of how the Board operates

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER — Managing the day-to-day running of the business in line with the strategy and objectives
David Miles set by the Board
_ Ensuring the Board is supplied with sufficient and apprapriate information on a timely hasis
— Leading the business within the scope set by the Board
—- Developing strategy and setting objectives to meet the Group strategy approved by ihe Beard
— Managing the Group's operations to ensure they meet the risk appetite set by the Board

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER _ Supparting the Chief Executive Officer in developing strategy and meeting objectives
Andrew Smith ~.. Bringing a commercial and financial perspective to the Board
. Leading the finance function and establishing strong control processes
_ Managing the treasury activities in accordance with the credit risk appetite set by the Board
— Supperting the Chief Executive QOfficer with investor relations
_ Leading the development of talent within the finance function

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR — Supporting the Chief Executive Officer in developing strategy and meeting objectives

Lucas Critchley — Supportimg the Chief Executive Officer In managing external communications and
investor relations
{formerly Alan Long) — Setting the Group social value policies and procedures

— Leading the operational leadership and development function of the Group

6 6 Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022



Corporate governance framework

BOARD ATTENDANCE

During the course of the year, there were
11 scheduled and 4 unscheduled Board
meetings with full attendance, There were
atso 8 Audi and Risk Committee meetings,
& Remuneration Committee meetings and
4 Nominations Committee meetings,

and attendance is detailed in the
respective reports.

INDEPENDENCE AND

CONMPLICTS OF INTEREST

The Board reviews the independence of

its Norn-Executive Direclors as part of the
annual evaluation process. The Nominations
Committee also considers this as part of its
ongoing review of the Board compaositian.
The Board considered all Non-Executive
Directors 1o be independent.

The Board operates a policy to identify and
manage situations declared by Directors in
which they or their connected persons have,
or may have, an actual or potential conflict
of interest with the Company. No Director
conflict situation currently exists or existed
at any time during the year.

INDEMNIFICATIONS OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with our Articles of
Assaciation and to the extent permitted by
the laws of England and Wales, Directors are
granted an indemnity from the Company

in respect cf llabilities incurred as a -esult

af their position in office. However, our
indemnity does not cover Directors or
officers in the event of being proven of
acting dishonestly or fraudulenthy.

BOARD AND COMMITTEE GOWVERNANCE
The Board is the principal decision making
body of the Company. Certain matters, for
example relating to strategy, inancial
structure, communications, and policy
approvals, are matters reserved for the
Board to decide. Authority far other specific
matters s formally delegated by the Board
to three Board Committees — Audit and Risk,
Remuneration, and Nominations — and (o
executive management.

During the course of 2021, following an
independent appraisal of the effectiveness
of the Board, an exercise was undertaken
to review and update the documents which
set out the role of the Board, the Charrman,
and the CEQ/executive management and
to roview the matters reserved for Beard
approval. The full text of these documents
can be found on the Group website.

A summary of the roles of each element
of our corporate governance regime is
set out opposite

THE BOARD

The key pw pose of the Board is colloctively
to lead the Company and to promote its
long-term sustainable success, s generating
value for shareholders and other
stakehalders, and contributing 1o wider
society. The principal responsibility of the
Chairman is to lead the Board and to ensure
it offoctive operatinn

The Board's key functions are:

a) leadership: establishing Company purpose
and values, strategy, financial structure,
adequacy of human and financial
resources, and workforce policies;
oversight: of corporate practice

and behaviour, financial controls,
implementation of workforce policies,
risk and management performance,

and succession,

¢) relationships: understanding views

of sharehalders, other stakeholders,

and the waorkforce, and the means to
influence those views; and

decision making: to take effective
decisions on those matters reserved

to it, ensuring 1t has the appropriate

mix of skills and exparience and the
information, time, and resources to do so.

=

&

The matters reserved for decision by the
Board arel

a) strategy and management: approval
of the strategic plan and annual budget,
any changes in the scope of activities,
and review of performance against plans;

b) financial structure, capital allocation,
dividend policy, and listing;

<) approval of financial and cther major
communications and resolutions for
general meetings,

d) approval of major contracts:

@) changes to the composition of the Board
and its committees and appointment of
the external auditor;

f} remuneration and other corporate
pelicies; and

g) risk appetite and review of strategic risk.

The Board's activities in 2022 are set cut
on page 68. The composition of the Board
and the evaluation process undertaken
during the year is set out on page 71.

The Chairman's review of 2022 is set out
on pages 6 to 7 of this Annual Report.

THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
The key purpose of the Audit and Risk
Committee is to assist the Board in its
function of oversight of risk, financial
cantrols and reporting. The Committee:

a) oversees the development of the
Company’s strategic risk register and
makes an assessment of the effectiveness
of the Company's risk management;
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b} assesses the Company's hinancial
systems of control, sccounting policies,
and key judgements, and compliance
with regulatory requirements;

c) oversees the work of both the internal
and external auditors; and

d} reviews the Company’s pelicies on fraud,
bribery, whistleblowing, etc.

Areport ot the Audit and Risk Commitiee’s
activities in 2022 is set out on pages 74 10 78,

THE REMUMNERATION COMMITTEE
The Commitiee’s key function is 1o
determine the Remuneration Policy for
execulive management and oversee the
appropriateness and effectiveness of
Group-wide remuneration policies. It:

a} determines the remuneration of
Executive Directors and the Chairman:

b) reviews and decides on awards under
all share Incentive schemes,

c} reviews the application of pay and pension
policies across the Company; and

d} reviews Group-wide human
resources strategy.

The repart of the business of the Remuneration
Committee in 2022 is set out on pages 80 to 97.

THE NOMINATIONS COMMITYEE

The Committee reviews the composition,
structure, and size of the Board and oversees
the process of recruitment to the Board.

It also reviews executive management
succession plans. A report on its activities

in 2022 is set out on pages 72 and 73,

THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND EXECUTIVE
MANAGEMENT GENERALLY

The CEQ has responsibility for the day-to-
day operations of the Group and authority for
all decisions which are not reserved to the
Board or its Committees. The key role of the
CEO is to:

a) ensure that the resources of the Company
are effectively directed to the execution
of the agreed strategy, that key
performance metrics are in place, and
that progress against those metrics is
measured and reported to the Board;

b} lead, inspire, and support Company
employees, through developing a high
performing management team and
effective Company-wide communication;

¢} lead the Company's relationships with

sharehoelders, customers, suppliers,
other stakehaolders, and the wider
community; and

ensure that adequate processes are

in place to manage risk.

d

The CEO's reportis set out on pages 101013
of this Annual Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Key activities of the Board

ACTIWVITIES OF THE BOARD 1N 2022

The Board met a total of 13 times in 2022,
of which 11 were planned meetings and 2
were shorter &d hoc discussions convened
during the year o discuss particuiar
topics. All meetings were attended

by all the Directors.

In 2022, the Beard operated a mixed
ecosystem, holding some meetings in perscn
and some virtually. The success of this
methodology was debated during the year.
Members agreed that, while it was
practicable to make effective decisions and
exercise effective oversight in the virtual
format, the quality of overall Board discussion
was typically better when we metin person,
a conclusion reinforced by the cenclusions of
the Board evaluation process. Members also
concluded that & total of 13 meelings per
year was more than was necessary for the
effective operation of the Board. Accordingly,
for 2023, It has been decided to hold a total
of eight planned meetings, of which six

Strategy and performance

Re-evaluation of the
Group's flve-yesr strategy

Finance and risk

Review of the strategic
risk register, following
recommendaticns from

would be in person. The remaining two
meetings, which will focus primarily

on the interim and preliminary results
announcements raspectively, will be
held virtually,

The Board agenda is set by the Chairman
with support from the Company Secietary
Early in 2022, a plan was produced and
approved by the Board which set out the

proposed discussion areas for each meeting.

Inevitabty, the plan evolved and changed
during the year.

At every planned Board meeting, each of
the Executive Directors and the Employee
Director provides a report and a verbal
summary in relation to the activities for

which they have responsibility. In addition,
the Board receives verbal updates from the
chairs of each of the three Board cemmittees
on activity which has occurred since the iast
Board meeting.

Peaople

Deep dive reviews of
health and safety and
ather complianse lssues

Finally, the Board receives a verpal

report an any site visits undertaken by

the Chairman or other Non-Fxecutive
Directors since the last Board meeting.

In this way, the Board is assured that at cach
meeting it is provided with an up-to-date
understanding of strategic and sector
related developrments, operational 1Issues
and successes, major contract performance,
customer feedback, health and safety
performance, financial matters, investor
relations, workforce issues, successes and
awards, progress on new business wins,
public relations, and communications,

The table below sets out the other
substantive matters with which the
Board dealt during 2022:

Statutory and governance

Approval of the Company’s
Annual Report, AGM
documents and 1esululions,

Deep dives into the
operations of the
housing business, the
homelessness business,

and the care and facilities

management operations

Review of the IT functicn
and key related issues

Review of the report
ot the Mears Customer
Scrutiny Board

Review of the potentiai
for business growth from
the ‘green’ agenda

Review of other new
business, M&A, and
financing apportunities
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internal sudit and the
Audit and Risk Committee

Raview and approval of
ihe Company’s insurance
programme, reflecting
Lroup risk appetite

Review of a valuation of

the Group prepared by the
Company's advisers and of
stock market perspectives

Review of the Company’s
capital allocation policy

Approval of the annual
budget for 2023

and performance

Review of workforce survey
data and trends

Review of the ESG strateqy
and determination of
key targets

Review of pay and the
Gender Pay Gap report,
following discussion at
Remuneration Committee

Deep dive on key workforce
policies and issues, including
in relation to disabiiity in

the workforce

Review of issues arising from
proposed CEQ succession

Approval of the appeintment
of a new Executive Director
and Employee Director with
effect from 1 January 2023

preliminary and interim
financial statements, and
ad hoc trading statements

Approval of certain

Oronp pnlicios, induding

n relation to going concern
and viabiiity assessment,
tax, and modern slavery

Approval of the dividend
pelicy, and of proposed
dividend payments

Review of the results of the
Board evaluation exercise

Review of the Company’s
plans to reduce its
environmental footprint
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Stakeholder engagement

BOARD ENGAGEMENT

WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

Within the Strategic Report, we detail how
we engage with our key stakeholders, and
explain how each stakeholder group impacts
upon our business model and our ability

to deliver against our strategic priorities.

[he Board recoygnises that cngagement

with key stakeholder groups strengthens

CLIENTS

our relationships and is an ongoing part

of the operational management of the
Group. This includes employea surveys,
assessments of customer satisfaction, and
cngoing conversations with regulators

ano non-governmental organisations. The
Board receives regular updates from senior
management on insights and feedback from
stakehalders, which allows the Buard to
understand and consider the perspectives
of key stakeholders in decision making.

TENANTS AND

CUSTOMERS

The table below sets out the different
stakeholders with whom we engage
and how the Board monitors these
important relationships.

COMMUNMNITIES

How the Board is kept informed

— Executive team has daily
contact with key clients

— Regular discussion of key
issues at each Board meeting

— Access to external press and
naws flow

COLLEAGUES

How the Board is kept informed

— Meonthly customer performance
statistics, including satisfaction,
complaints, and compliments

— Executive Director attendance
at tenant panel meetings

— Customer Scrutiny Board

SUPPLIERS

How the Board is kept informed
— Monthly social value measures
__ Social Value Annual Report

SHAREHOLDERS AND
DEBT FUNDERS

How the Board is kept informed

— Close monitoring of staff surveys
_ Monthly People KPIs

- Employee Director

How the Board is kept informed
— Engagement with supply chain

Mears Group PLC Annual Repart and Accounts 2022

How the Board is kept informed

. Investor roadshows and
investor briefings

— Shareholder feedback
gathered bi-annually

— Analyst research notes

— Regular dialogue with

shareholders and funding banks

— Engagement with supply chain
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Stakeholder engagement continued

2022 INVESTOR

RELATIONS PROGRAMME:

INVESTOR MEETINGS

Investor meetngs are predominantly
atiended by the Group CEO, CFO, and Head
of Investor Relations, although other Senior
Execulives may attend. There i1s an active
programme of communication with existing
and potential shareholders, with 'City Days’
scheduled on a monthly basis (outside

of closed pericds), which provides any
shareholder an opportunity for a meeting
with management. There is increased
dialogue following the publication of fina!
and interim results, which is facilitated
through a series of formal presentations,
and management allocates a full week at
those times to ensure all shareholders can
be accommodated. The Chalrman is also
available for discussions with shareholdeis
as and when they so wish and a number of
such discussions took place during the year.

The Chair regularly engages with major
shareholders to canvass their views on
governance and performance against
strategy. Committee Chairs will engage
with shareholders where a particular
mattar relztes to their area of raspons:bility

ANMNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Sharenolder participation at each AGM 15
usually encouraged. Full detads of the 2023
AGM wall be set cut in the Naotice of Meeting.
in normal clreumstances, all shareholders
are invited {o atiend the Company's AGM,
at which point they have the opportunity

to meet the Board ard raise questions.
Shareholders who are unable to attend are
invited to email guestions in advance to
company.secretary@mearsgroup co.uk

ANNUAL REPORT AND OTHER
COMMUNICATIONS

The Board maimains regular comact through
the provision of the Annual Report, regular
interim Reports, and regular trading updates.
This information can be found on the Group's
website (www.mearsgroup.co.uk).

CORPORATE WEBSITE

The Group website has a dedicated investor
seciion which provides an overview of
Mears, whilst also providing access to
historical Annual Reports and shareholder
presentations. The Group reqularly receives
and responds to questions raised by small
private shareholders through the investor
enauiry portal within the Group’s website,

The Group alse has regular thalogue with
s banking partners, During the year the
Group extended its £70m revolving

credit debt facility to December 2026.
The Directors value the close relationship
with Barclays, HSBC and Citi Bank,

Hoiding at Holdming at
Sharehoiders holding over tMarch 2023 % March 2022
2% ofissued shaie capital 1C “ 1T
Fideity Management & Research 10.0% 9.89%
LOYS AG 9.2% /SE
Premier Miton investors 8.0% B.2%
Shareholder Value Management 7.0% 10.3%
Heronbridge Investment Management 5.9% 6.5%
Artemis Investment Management 5.8% 10.2%
Milkwood Capital 4.5% 1.0%
Dimensional Fund Advisors 4.4% 4.3%
Huntngton Management 41% 4.3%
Liontrust Asset Management 4.0% 78%
Columbia Threadneedie investments 3.5% 5.3%
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JANUARY
_.. Shareholder calls available
an reqguest

FEBRUARY
— Non-holder investor roadshow
-~ Chalrmar’s roadshow with

top shareholders

MARCH

— Preliminary results for FY2021
released foliowed by full
investor roadshow

APRIL
— Close period

MAY
— AGM and trading update followed
by calls with major shareholdears

JUNE
_. Investor Suppert
Services Conference

JULY
_. Close period

AUGUST

—. Interim results for H1 FY2022
released followed by full
investor (cadshow

SEPTEMBER
— Ad hoc non-holder investor meetings

OCTOBER
— Ad hoc non-neider investor meetings

NOVEMBER

— Appointment of Numis Securities and
Panmure Gordon as Joint Brokers

_. Trading update foliowed by calls with
major shareholders

DECEMBER

- Trading update

. Ad hoc non-holder investor meetings

_.. Remuperation Policy consultations
with major sharehclders
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Board composition, development and evaluation

1. COMPOSITION ANDO DEVELOPMENT

It is critica! to the success of the Board that
it has the optimal mix of skills, knowledge,
experience, and diversity to produce an
informed debate and a high quality of
decision making. Directars offar themselves
for re-election gnnually. The Board cansiders
that each of the Non-Executive Diectors
applies their time and experience so as

to make an effective cantribution to the
deliberations of the Board.

aj independence

In accordance with the Code, the Chairman
was independent at the time of his
appointment in January 2019. The other
four Non-Executive Directors {Angela
Lackwaad, Julla Unwin, Chris Loughlin,
and Jim Clarke} are all considered to he
independent for the purposes of the Code.
The three Executive Directors and the
Employee Direcior (by virtue of her
employment in an executive role

within the Groupj are not cansiderad

1o be independent.

The Company considers that it has been
in compliance with the Code reguiremenis
as to independence throughaut 2022.

bk} Tenure

Ali Directors are subject to annuaf re-eiection
by shareholders at the AGM. The length

of service of each Director as at the end

of 2022 is set out in their biographies

on pages 64 and 6h.

¢) Skills and experience

The Nominations Committee regularly
assesses the skills and experrence mix

of the Non-Executive Directors, The

Board requires a range of views, skills, angd
experience in order to ensure that it can
effectively challenge management's ideas
and delfvery but also contribute positively
to Company strategy and corporate
development more generally. The balance
of those skills and capabifities is kept under
raview 1o ensure that the Board can supply
effective leadership and that, in particular,
It has both extensive commercial private
sectar experience and a good understanding
af the dynamics and processes which drive
the behaviour of its client base.

This assessment underpinned the decision
making behind the recruitment of a rew
Non-Executive Directer on 1 January 2022,

dj Diversity

As at the end of 2022, the Board had nine
Directors, thiee of whom were female, Of
the Non-Exerutive Directors {including the
Chairman), three were male and two feinale.
Thare were na Directors from an ethnic
minarity background in 2022 but this will
change in 2023 with the appointmeni of
Hema Nar as the new Employee Director.

Mears will continue to work lo secure a
balanced Board (o broaden the range

of perspectives and expertise around the
table, and ultimately benefit the services
and clients we sesk ta support, We will
follow the principles set cut in the FTSE
Waomen Leaders Review, witich aims to
increase ocpportunities for wormen at the
top of Britair's largest companies.

e) Induction

In view of the intended gppointment of a
new Employee Director and a new Executive
Director, the Chairman and the Company
Secretary reviewed the Company’s induction
programme. This now provides for a
comprehensive series of meetings with each
of the Directors and senior managers in the
Group, access to the Board and Committee
papers prepared and discussed over the
fast 12 months, a programme of visits to
some of the Group's key operating locations,
and access ta tailared external training

and education programmes.

f] Commitment

The Directors, Executive and Non-Executive,
are required to devote as much time as is
reasonably required to discharge their duties
effectively and the Board is satisfied that

the Directors do s¢. Attendance at Board
and Committee meetings, which are each
comprised of all of the Non-Executive
Directors, continued at very high levels.
Directers wishing to take up additional
externa! appeintments require the
permission of the Board, acting though

the Chairman,
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g} Processes

All Lirettuns have access 1o the Company
Secretary, who is responsible for ensuring
compliance with law and regulation and thai
Oirectars are kept abreast of changes in
relevant corporate legislation. Directors,
collectively or individually, have access
though the Company Secretary to
appronriate exiernal professional advice
should that be needed.

The Board cperstes a policy o identify and
manage situations declared by any Director
in which they or their connected parties
have, or may have, an actual or potential
conflict of interest with the business of the
Company. No such situation currently exists
or existed in 2022,

In accordance with the Articles of
Association, and to the extent permitted by
law, Directors are granted an indemnity from
the Company in respect of labilities incurred
as a resuit of their position in office, The
indemnity does not cover Directors or
officers in the event of thelr behaving
fraudufently or dishonestly.

2. EVALUATION

During 2022, an updated evaluation of

the effectiveness of the Board and its
committaes was undertaken. A description
of this process and the outcomes is set out
in the Report of the Noeminations Committee.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Nominations Committee

This report briefly
describes the key
issues debated by the
Commitiee in 2022,

Meeting attendance

K Murphy 77
C Loughlin 717
J Unwin 77
J Ciarke 77
Atockwood iz

72

INTRODUCTION

In terms of Board membership, 2022

was a period of stabtlity with no changes
throughout the year, The work of the
Committes focused on Executive and
Chatrman succession planning, an update
on Board effecliveness and, towards the
and of the year, the selachkon of the new
Employes Director.

EXECUTIVE SUCCESSION

The major task for the Committee in earty
2022 was to decide on the successor to
David Miles as Group CEQ. Durning the early
part of the year, a number of conversations
were hield with David and with the internal
candidate, Lucas Critchiey. A thorough
exercise was undertaken, supported by 2
professional recruitment firm, to assess the
internal candidate’s capabilities to assume
the role and his likely developmenmial needs.
tn parailet, and supported by the same
external acviser, an exercise was undertaken
to understand the field of potential external
candidates for the rote, On the basis of this
work, the Committee concluded that it would
be appropriate to nominate Lucas as the
intended successor o David. Accordingly,
the Company announced in May 2022 that
David intended to work towards his planned
retirement from the Board and that he would
be succeeded in due course by Lucas.

K MURPHY

NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE CHAIRMAN

[n the latter half of 2022, the Commuttee
discussed in detail with David and Lucas
the potential arganisational consequences
of this change and of the planned retirement
of Atan Long at the end of the yoar and the
impact which these changes might have

on the future roles of members of the senior
managament team. On the basis of these
discussions, the Company announced in
December 2022 that Lucas would become
4 Directar of the Campany with effect from

t January 2023 and would assume the

role of CEC during the course of this year.
Alan Long's retirement from the Board

was formatly announced at the same time

CHAIRMAN SUCCESSION

Inauturmn 2022, 1indicated to Board
colleagues that, having essentially
completed the strategic reorganisation

of the Group, and with the CEQ succession
also settied, | proposed to stand down from
the Board with effect from the AGM in 2023.
The Commitiee met, without my paricipation,
to consider the consequences of this
decision and to select my successor. Chris
Laughlin, the Seniar Independent Ditector,
indicated his willingness 1o serve in the role,
The Committee concluded that, given Chris’s
extensive Executive and Naon-Executive
experience, his ynderstanding of the
business, culture, and ethos of Mears, and
the desirability for a period of continuity
white Lucas assumed the role of Giocup
CEO, it would be appropriate to ask Chris

tc assume the leadership of the Board with
effect ffom the AGM. This was announced

in December 2022,

The major task for the
Committee in early 2022

was 1o decide on the successor
to David Miles as Group CEO.
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B8OARD EFFECTIVENESS EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR Directors. As a result of this process, ﬁ
As foreshadowed in last year's report, the Claire Gibbard's term as Employee Director Hema Nar was appointod, with effect ;3
Board undertook a brief evaluation of the came to a conclusion at the end of 2022, from 1 January 2023, as the Company’s new o
changes which had been putin place over During the course of the year, consideration Employee Director. Hema has been a Mears &
the course of the period since the external waas given to the effectiveness of this method  employee since 2020 and is a Bid Manager o
evaluation by independent Audit in 2021, for ensuring that the ‘employee voice’ was in the Business Development function. :
This evaluation was also facilitated by represented at Board level. It was concluded ]
Independent Audit and the oard is that tha Company should appoint a new NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS g
grateful for their contribution. Ermployee Director 10 succeed Clarre. The terma and conditions of each of the -4
A selection process was run o identify Non-Executive Directors are available tor
candidates from within the Company and inspection at the AGM and can be made
three individuals were interviewad by the available tc shareholders by request to
Chairman and one of the Non-Executive the Company Secretary.
This exercise concluded that:
23
/’\ o
Bl
S
A 2
by
the Company had m
continued to develop 3
positively and the executive »
. <
team ran day-to-day operations z
well, a CEO succession process z
had been put in place, and there b4
had been good debates both on
the conseguences of that
succession and on
strategic questions;
X
B z
z
there were regular g
effective discussions amaong ~
D the Nan-Executive Directars, -

there was clarity on the
roles and responsibilities
of the CEO and Chair.

including with the new Non-

Executive Director, and there
was a developing programme
of visits for Non-Executives
to parts of the operations
of the Group;

C

the Board plan for 2023
provided for the majority
of meetings to be held
face to face; and

NOIIYHROAINT H3O1g

There remained scope for further
improvement in dialogue, in Non-Executive
Director engagement, and in providing
adeguate support for the secretarial
function to facilitate that engagement.

/3
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Audit and Compliance Committees

This report briefly
describes the key
issues debated by the
Committees in 2022.

Meeting atterdance

J Clarke 6/6
Cliou ghlin T e
JUnwin o 6/6
A Lcckwo:;ﬁ-—ﬁﬁ B/6

This report sets out how the Committee has
fulfitled its respansibilities during the year
and in retation 1o financial reporting matters,
the significant issues that were considered,
and how they were addressed.

Ernst & Young LLP (EY}is in its third year

as external suditor, having been appeinted
in 2020, The Senior Statutory Auditor (SSA),
Paul Mapleston, indicated his intention to
retire from EY and a replacement was found.
Due to an unanticipated absence, the new
SS5A was not available to complate the audit
process and Nigel Meredith stepped in to
perform this role. However we have seen
good continutly across the audit team,

74

meaning we have retained much of the
fearning and knowledge accumulated in the
previous two years. The Committee is keen
to see the change in SSA provide further
fresh challenge and drve to deliver

an efficient process.

The Committee has reviewead the significant
financial reporting maners and judgements
identified by the management team and EY
through the audit process, and the approach
o addressing these is detaled on pages 76
and 77 of this report.

The 2022 financial year was a penod of
stability and strengthening; the areas within
the financial statements requiring significant
estimates and judgement are not new 1o the
management team or any of the Committee
members, These are covered in greater
detail below, butitis reassuring for the
Committee thatthe risk and uncertainties
associated with these key areas have
reduced aver recent periods.

The Group's Compliance Committee, which
was sat up in 2012 as a sub-commuttea (1 the
Audit and Risk Commities, has played a
pivotal role in recognising and mitigating the
most significant risk areas. The Group’s ethos
of ensuring the health, safety, and weltbeing of
our peopie and those we serve is the central
theme within their terms of reference. During
2022, the Committee worked closely with all
necessary stakeholders, both intemal and
external, to ensure the Group's operational

teams are compliant and able to meet the
challenges of the new Building Safety Act
2022. The increasing activily seen within thie
Group's AASC and MoJ contracts have been,
and will remain, a significant area of focus for
the Commitiee, where dealing with two
extrernaly vulnerable service user groups
brings significant aperational challenges.

The ever-increasing importance of data
security is a key strategic consideration for
the Group and in this regard, the Compliance
Committee’s role has been widened to
ancompass greater scrutiny of this essential
area. The Commiitee’s scrutiny of the
Group's data security function is proceeding
well. The information Security Team has
intiated 8 naw security strategy designed
to enhance contrais, drive improved
compliance, and secure high level, external
accrenitation of the governance process,

In relation to risk management and internal
controls, the Boaard and Audit and Risk
Commitiee are mindful of the impornance of
continuing to improve both control and output
in this area. The co-sourcing between the
mternat Mears team and KPMG has delivered
an improved quality output and better value,
allowing KPMG ta bring in specialists on an ad
hoc basis rather than adding full-time
employment for what are mainly "task and
finish’ projects. The averall lead for our
internal audit work continues to sit with KPMG,
although, during the year, we have seen a
planned change in personnel. This was

The ever-increasing importance
of data security is a key

2 CLARKE
AUDIT AND RISK

COMMITTEE CHAIRMAN

strategic consideration for the
Group, and the Compliance
Committee’s role has been
widened to encompass greater
scrutiny of this essential area.
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KPMG’s third year under this co-sourced
arrangement during which it has overseen an
initial three-year plan. The work carried out
during 2022, and the Commillee's prionties
for 2023, are detailed within this report.

The Committee is mindful of the continued
reform tc the UK's audit and corporate
goverldiive lramework and recognises that
revisions to the Code, which are expected
to come into force in 2024, wall raquire the
Group to maintain a stronger basis for
evidencing the effectiveness of internal
control around the year end reporting
process The Committee has held discussions
with the Company’s management and KPMG
to ensure that the Group will be ready to
comply with the additional requiremeants,
and this is a key feature in the Group's 2023
internal audit plan.

Qur regular programme of meetings and
discussions, supported by our interactions
with the Company's management and
external and internal auditors, and the
quelity of the reports and information
provided to us, enable the Committee
members to effectively discharge their
duties and responsibilities,

HMOW THE AUDIT AND RISK
COMMITTUE GPEQATES
The Committee provides independent review
and monitoring of the sk management and
cantrol procedures within the Group. Each
Committee member is independent and has
broad commercial experience. Jim Clarke is

a Chartered Accountant and has significant
recent and relevant financial experience,
most recently at Countrywide as Group CFO.
Chris Loughlin has held several CEO and
COO0O roles within large, guoted entities and
brings broader, more operationally focused
commercial expertise. Julia Unwin has held
senior roles within the housing and care

Internal audit

_ Reviewed and moenitored progress against the — Reviewed the basis of preparation of the financial statements as a going concern

2022 internal audit plan

- Reviewed the guality and effectiveness of the . Reviewed and discussed reports from the CFO on the financial statements
and censiderad the significant accounting judgements or where there is

ocutsourced arrangement

__ Reviewed the internal audit plan for 2023

Risk management
_ Received reports from the Chair of the
Compliance Committee

— Reviewed and approved the Group's risk register
_ Reviewed and validated the effectiveness of the

Group’s system of internal controls

— Moenitored fraud reporting and incidents
of whistleblowing

— Oversight and monitoring of the Croup’s
compliance with the Bribery Act 2010

Main activities of the Committee during the year

sectors which bring industry specific
experlise, whilst also currently engaged by
the Financial Reperting Council. The final
Committee member, Angela Lockwood, has
held senior reles within the housing sector
which bring industry specific expertise.

During the year, the Commitiee held six
meetings. These meetings were also attended
by the Greup Chief Executive Officer,

the Chief Financial Cfficer, and the Group
Charrman. The internal and external auditors
were invited tc all meetings. The Company
Secretary acts as secretary to the Committee.

The Audit and Risk Committee Chairman
meets with the external auditor and lead
internal auditar regularly throughout the year.

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

In addition, the Audit and Risk Committee
has a very active sub-committee, being the
Compliance Committee, This reflects the
significant focus that the Group gives to
dealing with health, safety, and
environmental risks. The Compliance
Committee is a8 sub-committee of the Audit
and Risk Committee and is chaired by Jason
Burt, the Group Director of Health, Safety,
and Compliance, a former specialist health
and safety lawyer. He has an extensive

and detailed working knowledge

of the issues which can adversely

imzact the efficiency of health, safety

and compliance governance systems, and
cause and drive regulatary prosecutions
and employers’ and pubilic liability claims.

Financial performance

and the long-term viability review

estimation uncertainty

__ Considered reports from the external auditor in respect of the suitability of the
accounting policies and the integrity of the financial re porting

— Reviewed the 2022 Annual Report and Accounts and provided a recommendation
to the Board that, as a whole, they complied with the 2018 Cade principle to be
fair, balanced, and understandable, and provide the information necessary for
sharehotders 1o assess the Company’s position, performance, business moded,

and strateqy

External auditor

The extent to which the full integration of
health, safety, and environmental risks is
now embedded in the governance structures
of the Group is highlighted by the members
of the Compliance Commitiee, who include
the Group’s Chief Executive Officer, Health
and Safety Direclor and internal Health

and Safety legal adviser. Others are

called upon to attend as required.

The Committee’s terms of reference are
available on the Company's website and
on regueast from the Company Secratary.

The Committee reviewed and discussed
reports from the CFO an the financial
statements and considered the key areas
of the financial statements that required
significant accounting judgements or where
there is estimation uncertainty. These are
explained in greater detail within the notes
to the consolidated financial statements.
The Audit and Risk Commitiee received
detailed reports from the CFO and the
external auditor on these areas and other
matters which they believed should be
drawn to the attention of the Committee.

The Committee discussed the range of
possible treatments both with management
and with the external auditor, confirming
that the judgements made by management
were rcbust and supportabie. Far all the
significant issues detailed below, it was
concluded that the treatment adapted

was the most appropriate.

__ Agreed the audit fee for the year ended 31 December 2022
— Reviewed the proposed audit pian for the 2022 statutory audit
— Reviewed recommendations arising from the 2021 statutory audit

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Audit and Compliance Committees continued

Significant
issue

Revenue
recognition

Revenue is recognised in accordance with [FRS 15 ‘Revenue from
Contracts with Customers”. IFRS 15 provides a single, principles-based,
five-step model to be applied to all sales contracts, it is based on the
transfer of control of gocds and services 1o customers. The accounting
policy within note 2 to the consolidated financial statements sets out
the principal types of contracts and how the revanue is recognised

in accordance with IFRS 15.

Determining future contract profitability reguires estimates of future
revenues, costs to complete, stage of completion of certain contracts
and the recovery of work in progress, mobilisation costs, and contract
assets, Each contract is treated on its merits and subject to a regular
review of the revenue and coslis to complete that contract. The Group
utilises the appropriale expertise in determining these estimates and
has well-established internal controls to assess and review the
expected outcome.

Valuation of
provisions

Provisions are recognised in accordance with JAS 37 ‘Provisions,
Contingent Ligbilities and Contingent Assels’ which requires a provision
to be recognised when an entity has a present cbligation resulting fram
a past event and it is probable that an cutflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. The amount
reguired to be recognised as a provision 1s the best estimate of the
expanditure reguired to settle the prasent obligation at the end of the
reporting period. |AS 37 also prescribes the disclosures required in the
notes to financlal statements to enabie users to understand the nature,
timing, and amount of the provision.

The events and circumstances requiring a provision will typically

wary on e case-by-case hasis and a flexible appreach by the Commities
is needed to understand the unique circumstances. In respect of the
2022 year end, the maest matenal and significant provisions reiate to a
contract termination which was proved to be unlawful on adjudication,
and an uninsured remedial works claim in respect of a capital works
order delivered in 2012.

The Audit and Risk Commitiee addressed this
area of judgement In the following ways

The Committee reviewed the key
judgements report prepared by
management, which provided a

detailed explanation in respect of

the valuation of unbilled works and

the recognition of revenues.

The Committee took comfort from the
contract management system which is
central in generating the valuation of
works (both billed and unbilled) and

the integrated process that follows to
ensure an accurate cut-off so that revenue
is appropriately matched to cost.

EY carried out substantive testing of

the amounts recoverable on conliacls,
odopting & blend uf risk-based and random
sampling approaches to testing, and
provided detailed feedback to the
Committee in this area.

The Committee reviewed the key
judgements repart prepared by the

CFO, which provided a detailed
explanation and commerclal assessment
in respect of each material provision.

The Committee was also provided access
to the internal legal team to ensure that
the Committee was receiving a balanced
view as to the strengths, weaknesses,
and likely prospects.

EY provided additional challenge,

having reviewed the supporting
documentation and expert opinions 0 detail,
and provided detailed feedback to the
Committee In this area.

Lease
accounting

[FRS 16 was adopted in 2019 and initially proved a difficult standard

to implement and one which has required significant changes to

the systerns and day-to-day processes. Under IFRS16, a lessee will
recognise its right to use a leased asset afong with a lease liability
representing its obligation to make lease payments. However. marny

of the Greup's operating leases do not meet the definition of IFRS 16,
which means this area contains significant judgement and is considered
an area of risk.

Leasing properties for rental te tenants is a core business activity for
Mears. As a result, Mears currently holds around 10,000 residential
property leases and a further 3,500 office property and vehicle leases.
A lease shouid be accounted for under IFRS 16 only if Maars has the
right to direct its use which, through its decision making rights, can
affect the economic benefit derived from that asset. Around one half
of the Group's residential {eases meet the enteria for recognition on
the balance sheet. Those that do not meet the criteria are typically

due 1o them being short term In nature, often driven by the existence
of a two-way break clause (a practical expedient offered under IFRS 16
allows those leases with a term of less than 12 months to be expensed).

To reduce the financial reporting risk, the Group has endeavoured to
standardise the form of leases,; however, operational demands dictate
that many ieases have wording to address the specific operational
need and 1o manage the associated operstional and firancial risks.

The Committee challenged management in
respect of the processes and controls that
were in place throughout the year to ensure
the compieteness of the right of use asset
and lease obligatians. The Committes
recognised this to be a high risk area

given the complexities of IFRS 16.

The Committee has reviewed the
assumptions and key judgements

provided by management in respect

of lease identHication.

The Committee recognises that lease
accounting is very significant to Mears

and is a key area for stakehalders to fully
understand. The Committee encouraged
management 1o provide additional
disclosure to assist readers of the financia!
statements.

The completeness of the lease obligation
is identifled as a key audit area and EY

has provided further detail as to how this
matter was addressed during its audit work
on page 106.

/6
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Significant

issue

Determination
of the amount
of the Group’s
retirement
benefit
obligations

At 31 December 2022, the Group reported a net retirement benefit
surplus of £3.1m, being the difference between the fair value of the
scheme assets less the present value of the benefits expected to

be paid to members of the schemes. This assessment requires an
assumption to be made in respect of mortality rates and future infiation
rates whitht will 1gsullin wn incraese in futuro benefits recejved hy
members. This also requires an appropriate discount rate to calculate

The Audit and Risk Committee addressed this
area of judgement in the following ways

the present value of these future obligations for the future payments.
Where the Group has a contractual right to recover the costs of making
good any deficit pension scheme, the fair value of that asset has been

recognised and disclosed.

— The Committee reviewed the key

assumptions proposed by management,
notably assumptions in respect of discount
rate, RP1, CP{, and future salary increases,
which are detailed in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Given the technical nature ot this ared, tie
Committee placed reliance upon the work
of Aan, which is engaged to support
management in setting assumptions and
consolidating informaticn prepared by the
respective scheme actuaries in respect of
each of the defined benefit pension schemes.
The accounting for defined benefit pension
schemes is also identified as a key audit
area and EY provides further detail as to
how this matter was addressed during its
audit work on page 107,

Goodwill
impairment

At 31 December 2022, the Group reported goodwill with a carrying
value of £121.9m. Each branch within the group is a cash-generating unit

(CGU), however goodwill contributes to cash inflows for multiple CGUs
and is therefore allocated to groups of CGUs for the purpose of

impairment testing. Under IAS 36, goodwili cannot be allocated to

groups of CGUs larger than individual aperating segments and
therefore goodwilt has been assigned to groups of CGUs in respect of
Maintenance, Management and the continuing Care activities (referred
t¢ as 'Housing with Care'). Determining whether goodwilt is impaired
requires an estimate of the value in use of each of the groups of CGUs
to which goodwill has been allocated. The value-in-use calculation
involves an ostimato of the fitiire cash flows of the group of CGUs using
the current one-year hiidget, extrapelated for five years to December
2027, requiring a medium-term growth assumption and a general
terminal growth rate, and an assessment of an appiopiiale discount rate
10 calculele present values. The Committer tnok comfort from the Tact
that there was significant headroom when jeviewing any impairmant

inthe prior year.

The key assumptions, and a discussicn

of how they are established, as well as the
sensitivity analysis are described in note 12
to the consolidated financial statements.
The Committee placed some comfort upon
the work of BDO LLP, which was engaged to
support management in setting the discount
rate, and which also provided support to
management to identify the acquisition
intangibles following the acquisition of IRT
Survey Limited, as detailed in note 28 to

the consolidated financial statements.

COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES
The primary focus of the Compliance
Cularmittee during 2022 was directed
towards the following areas:

.- Monitoring and review of the Group’s
palicies in relation to health, safely, and
environmental (HSE) matters.

Review of HSE risks and risk assessments
on the Group risk register and mitigation
sctions and controls related thereto,
including subcontractor centrols and
related procurement.

_ Providing an operational focal point and
report for KPMG, the Group’s Independent
internal auditor.

— Considering any other significant HSE
matters, including emerging risks and
unforeseen risks as they arose.

. Providing greater scrutiny on data security
and enhancing the level of infermation
available to the main Board.

The necessity to keep cur people and
customers safe remained one of the primary
concerns of the Compliance Committee
throughout 2022. The ever-changing
envircnment meant there were challenges

across our entire range of operations, most
notably in asylum support and care services.

The Group's ethos of ensuring the health,
safety, and wellbeing of our people and
those we serve is always at the heart of
everything we do. Pleasingly, the Group
received its 20th consecutive ROSPA Gold
Award and in so doing was also awarded
RoSPA's coveted Order of Distinction.

Following the recent implementation of
the Building Safety Act 2022, the Group

is working closely with all necessary
stakeholders, both internal and external, to
ensure the Group's operational teams are
compliant and able to meet the challenges
this legislation poses. Building safety will
likely remain a rapidly developing area of
regulation for years to come and the Beard
will ensure that the Group always remains
vigilant and agile.

The AASC was also a key area of focus as

its operational challenges were impacted by
the unprecedented increase in the number
of asylum seekers entering the country,
necessitating further rellance on hotel-based
accommodation. The Compliance Committee

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022

provided support and guidance to the
relevant teams, linked to the procurement,
maintenance, and day-to-day running, and
implemenled enhanced governance
protocols to ensure compliance with the
Group's internal procedures and wider
regutatory obligations.

The Compliance Committee also worked
closely with the team mobilising the Ministry
of Justice CAS 3 contract, to ensure robust
governance policies and procedures were
embedded into the contract delivery. In this
regard, the Group's knowledge, expertise,
and experience derived from managing the
AASC was exceptionally beneficial and
was a key elementin the very successful
deployment of services during the latter
part of the year,

The Compliance Commitiee's scrutiny of the
Group's data security function commenced
as planned and is proceeding well. The
tnformation Security Team has initiated a
new security strategy designed to enhance
controls, drive improved compliance, and
secure high level, external accreditation

of the governance process.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Audit and Compliance Committees continued

INTERNAL CONTROL

AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board Is responsible for estabiishing
the Group's overall risk appetite and ensuring
that the Group has in place an adeguate
system of internal controls. However, in
accordance with the requirements of the
Financial Reparting Counail’s Guidance
on Risk Management, Internal Control and
Related Financial and Business Reporting,
the responsibility of monitoring and
reviewing the integrity and effectiveness
of the Group's overall systems of internal
controls and risk management has been
delegated to the Committee,

The Committee also provides the Board with
the assurance that the risk management and
interna! control systems, including strategic,
financial, cperaticnal, and compliance
controls, are sufficiently robust to mitigate
the principal and emerging risks that may
impact the Company.

The system of internal controls is designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk

of fallure to achieve business objectives
and can only provide reasonable, but not
absolule, assurance against material
misstatement or iess. It includas ali controls
including financial, eperational, and
compliance controls and risk management
procedures. These include health and safety,
people, legal compliance, quality assurance,
insurance, security, and reputational,

secial, ethical, and environmental risks,

Principal risk description

The Group's principal risk report captures
and assesses the principal risks facing

the Group. This forms part of the Group's
framework for determining risk and risk
appetite. This document is updated regularly
and is considerad at both Committee and
Board level throughout the year. Further
details are included within the Strategic
Report on pages 42 to 51.

The internal audit function carries out work
across the Group, providing independent
assurance, advice, and insight to help the
organisation accomplish its objectives by
bringing a systematic, disciplined approach
to evaluating and improving the
effectiveness of risk management, contral,
and governance processes. In January 2023,
the Audit and Risk Committee agreed the
FY¥23 audit plan to be undertaken by the
internal audit team. The sudit plan coverage
is based onrisk, strategic priorities, and
consideration of the strangth of the control
environmeant. The internal audit function
prepares audit reports and recommendations
following each audit, and appropriate
measures are ther taken to ensure that all
recommendations are implemented.
Significant issues, if any, are raised a1 once.

The Board has reviewed these procedures
and considers them appropriate given the
nature of the Group's operations. The
Committee 1s pleased with the agditional
support provided by KPMG.

Residual
risk rating

Inherem
risi rating

1& 2. Failure to successfully deliver the AASC
3. Uncertainty from poiitical changes and market disruptions
4. Major breach of information or data security

5. Failure to manage the impact of a health and safety incident,
including Covid-19 related, leads to reputational damage and/or

high financial penalties

6. Failure in governance, contiol, processes, systems, and structure,
inciuding managing the new MoJ contract and in particular the

impact an Housing Officers

7. Failure to recover operations on a disaster or Crisis

{business continuity)

8. Ensuring that the business has the rnght pecple with the right
skills, particularly in the context of the shortages ang a high

competitive market for skilled labour

9. Serious damage to or loss of brand integrity mncluding to poor
management of the publicity and external commupications

10. Serious fallure to manage the housing subcontractors

11, Risk of perceived and actuai discrimination leading
1o reputational damage and financial penaities

. Severe

Risk assessment key

/8

I High

Medium

FY20

The Board has adopied a Scheme of
Delegated Authority authority, with defined
financial and other authorisation limits and
setling proceduras for approving capital and
investment expenditure. The Board also
approves detailed annual budgets. It
subsequently reviews performance against
targets set forth in these plans and budgets.

Throughout the year, the Group's principal
risks have been regularly reviewed by
management to provide assurance on

the rabustness, intagrity, and effectiveness
of the systems in place, including those
that could threaten its business rodel,
operations, future performance, sclvency,
and liguidity.

The Board alsoc seeks to ensure that a sound
system af internal cantrols, based on the
Group's policies, standards, and procedures,
is in place in all materiai associate and joint
arrangement entities, Our systems of internal
controls and risk management are designed
to identify, mitigate, and manage rather than
eliminate business risk and can only ever
provide (easongble, and not absolute,
assurance against material financial
misstatement or fraud.

The system of internal controls encompasses
the culture, behaviours, arganisation design,
policies, standards, procedures, and systems
that, taken together, facilitate its effective
and efficient operation. These internal
controls are based on the ‘three lines of
defence’ principles as detailed on pages 44
and 45 of the Strategic Report.

Internal audit plan
Fy21 FY22

|
|

FY23

1
|
1
l
!
t

. Principal risk addressed in internal audit plan in year
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The Company’s risk-based internal audit
programme for 2022 was considered and
approved by the Committee in December
2021, This programme was developed further
during the year to consider the Company’s
principal risks and to identify where they
primarily occur in the business; through
discusslions witti e Cunarittce and seninr
management; by recognising changes within
the Group and the external environment; and
with consideration to prior audit coverage. In
approving the 2023 audit programme, the
Committee considerad the coverage of the
principal risks by the proposed audits, and

it was agreed that primary focus should be
on the following areas:

RISK MANAGEMENT
Refresh of principal risks, mitigating
actions, and assurance review

_ Fraud Risk register facilitation

CORE CONTROLS

_ Core controls spot checks

_ Scheme of Delegated Authority

.. Preparation and planning required to
enhance the Group's internal control
regime with the anticipated adoption
in 2024 of the UK’'s audit and corporate
governance framework and revisians
to the Code

SPECIFIC RISK AREAS

Management of key contracts, notably
AASC and Mol

_ Legal and compliance framewark

_ Operational focus areas, including branch
spot visits together with business
continuity and subcontractor
management

Cyber risks, IT systems, controls,

and security

There has been good sponsorship of internal
audit from the senior management team, and
it is pleasing to observe the positive tone at
the top in terms of apenness to discussion

of issues, agreement of action plans, and

a commitment to doing the right thing.

From the core cantrols work completed to
date, no high priority gaps were identified;
however, in a few areas there is a need to
ensure that processes are being fellowed
and for contrel activity to be formally
documented and evidenced. This is alsoc
important within the wider regulatory context
where there are emerging requirements for
public interest entities to have a doecumented
control framework and in due course an
articulated Audit and Assurance Pelicy.

There is a culture across the Group of
active monitoring by Executive and senior
management. Cur focus this year was

on management’s oversight of branches.
Internal audits were carried out on two key
contracts and a further three branch audits
were completed, and the themes identified
during those audits will be develeoped further,

The 2023 programme was conslderad and
approved by the Committee in January 2023
and performance agamst L plan will be
reported in next year's Annual Report.

The Company has in place internal controt
and risk management systems in relation to
the Company’s financial reparting process
and the Group’s process for the preparation
cf the consolidated financiai statements that
are preduced by the Group finance function,
which is responsible for the review and
compilation of reports and financial results
from each of the operating subsidiaries in
accordance with the Group reporting
procedures. The consolidated financial
statements are supported by detailed
working papers. The Audit and Risk
Committee 1s responsible for overseeing
and monitoring these processes, which

are designed to ensure that the Company
complies with relevant regulatory

reporting and filing requirements,

As at the end of the period covered by
this report, the Audit and Risk Committee,
with the participation of the Chief Executive
Officer and the Chief Financial Officer,
evaluated the effectiveness of the design
and operation of disclosure controls and
procedures designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed in
financial reports is recorded, processed,
summarised, and reported within specified
time periods.

We have conducted an annual review of the
effectiveness of our risk management and
internal control systems in accordance with
the Code. Part of this review involves regular
review of aur financial, operational, and
compliance contrals, following which we
report back to the Board on our work and
findings as described above. This allowed us
1o provide positive assurance to the Board to
assist it in making the statements that our risk
management and internal contral systems
are effective, as reguired by the Code.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The external auditor engagement was
re-tendered in 2020, at which point EY was
appoeinted, replacing Grant Thornton UK LLP,
which had been appointad since 1996.

Following the conclusion of the 2021 audit,
the Senior Statutory Auditor (S54), Paul
Mapleston, indicated his intention to retire
from EY and a reptacement was found. Due
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1c an unanticipated absence, the new SSA
was not available to complete the audit
process and Nige! Meredith stepped in to
perform this role. Positively, we have seen
good continuity across the audit team,
meaning we have retained much of the
learning and knowledge accumulated in the
previous two years. The SSA is required to
rntate after a maximum of five years, meaning
that Nigel may continue in this rele uidl e
year ending December 2026 being his last
possible financial year.

The Committee expects that the next tender
date will be no later than 2030 in accordance
with the current regulation that requires a
tender every 10 years.

Annually, the Commitlee reviews the external
auditor’s audit plan and reviews and
assesses information provided by it
confirming its independence and objectivity
within the context of applicable regulatory
requirements and professional standards.

The Committee also reviews the auditor’s
effectiveness, which involves assessment
of the auditor by the Commitiee and key
Executives; and confirmation that the auditor
meets mmimum standards of gualification,
independence, expertise, effectiveness,
and communication. These assessments
are carricd out prior to the Committee
recommending to the Board that the
external auditor be proposed for
reappointment at the Company’s AGM.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR INDEPENGENCE
AND MON-AUDIT SERVICES

The Campany has adopted a strict policy

of prohibiting the exterral auditor from
carrying out non-audit services, {o safeguard
audit objectivity and independence. The
Committee 1s responsible for approval of

all non-audit services provided by EY:
however, this is in exceptional circumstances
only. in such an exceptional event, the Audit
and Risk Committee would approve such
work anly where the Company would be
disadvantaged by engaging an alternative
provider, for instance where EY possesses a
detailed knowledge of the structure of the
business or an understanding of the markets
within which the Group operates. No
non-audit services were provided by EY
during 2022.

J CLARKE

AUDIT AND COMPLIANCE
COMMITTEE CHAIRMAN
Jim.clarke@mearsgroup.co.uk
28 April 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Remuneration Committee

This report sets out
the key matters which
were addressed by the
Committee in 2022.

Meeting attendance

C Loughiin 3/3
J Urmwin 373
J Clarke 3/3

K Murphy 3/3
A Lockwood an

Dear shareholders

I am pleased to present the Directors’
Remuneration Report for the year ended
31 December 2022.

This reportis made up of thiee parts:

— This Annual Statement, where | set
out details of the key decisions of
the Remuneration Committee and
the business context withun which
tney were taken,

80

— Acopy of the proposed Director's
Remuneration Policy (the ‘Policy’), which
ts subject 1o a binding shareholder vote at
the 2023 Annua) General Meeting and, if
approved, will apply for three years and
replace the previous Policy which was
approved by shareholders in June 2020.

.— The Annual Repart on Remuneraton,
which sets out details of (i} remuneration
earned by Directors and the iink between
Company performance and pay in the
year ended 31 December 2022 and
(i) how we Intend to implement the
Directors’ Remuneration Policy in 2023.

As well as the binding vote on the Folicy,
there will be the usual advisory sharehoider
vote on the Annual Siatement and the Annual
Report on Remuneration at the 2023 AGM.

BUSINESSE CONTEXT

2022 was a very strong year for the

Group. The strong operational and financia!
performance is further evidence that the
strategic actions of recent years and our
resilient operating platform are delivering
positive results, The strengthiening trading
performance is underpinned by the strategic
actions of recent years and our market
leadership which positions the Group well
for sustainable growth over the medium term,

This is reflected in our financial results,

with revenue increasing by 9% to £353.6m.
Adjusted profit before tax {(PBT} increased to
£35.2m and we ended the year with a net
cash balance of £98.1m having reported
EBITDA to operating cash conversion of over
100%. Excellent working capital
management, along with strategic disposals,
transformed the Group's finencial position
and created the current position of balance
sheet strength which Mears is determined

to retain into the future. The Board has
proposed a final dividend of 7.25p per share,
bringing the total dividend for the vear to
10.500 per share.

For the third successive year we secured our
place in the top 25 of the UK's Bast Large
Coampanies ta Work For in the UK, with our
2022 score higner than the previous two
years. This has been further endorsed by
Mears belng named by the Chartered
Institute of Housing, an organisation in which
alimost all our cliems have members, as the
Employer of the Year in 2022, Qur staif and
therefore our employee proposition is very
impartant to us and during the year, following
feedback from employees, we implemented
the following initiatives:

Improved no'iday and sick pay for front
line operatives

-~ Building the workforce of tormorrow,
through investing in apprentices,
supporting the Kickstart programme,
and creating new entry level roles
to drive social mebility.

The Committee is satisfied
that pay outcomes reflect the
performance of the business

C LOUGHLIN

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE CHAIRMAN

during the year

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022




_ Introducing flexible benefits and
cnabling a better balarce between
home and office working.

.. Continuing our investment in staff,
through bespoke training such as our
Emerge development programme,
for staff looking to progress 1o senior
management positions.

__ We remain one ot the very few lisled
companies with an Employee Director
on the mam Board.

_ Externally appointed Social and Diversity
Impact Board and accredited by the
Housing Diversity Network, including
growing the number of women in
management positions and reducing
the gender pay gap.

_. Providing comprehensive mental health
and wellbeing support, especially given
the difficuit situations many of our staff
face on a day-to-day basis.

INCENTIVE OUTCOMES FOR 2022
Annual bonus

As set out in the business context section
above, the Group delivered a very strong
operalional and financial performance
during the year.

The 2022 annual bonus was based 40%

on Group adjusted profit before tax, 30%

on average daily net debt/cash, and 30%

on strategic abjectives relating to customers,
employees, and the generation of social
value, These targets were set early in the
vear and were not adjusted at any point
thereafter. The achievements against the
targets were as follows:

Profit hefore tax (40%)

_— The Group delivered adjusted proht
before tax ot £35.2m, which was abave
the maximum target of £29.3m. We
benefitted from strong revenue growth
(up 9% over the prior year largely which

included increased volumes within the
AASC)dnd delivered a modest increasze
in operating margins. This reflects the
positive steps taken by the Group cver
the previous twao years, actions which
have at times resulted in a reduction

in revenues but improved profitability.
As aresult, this element of the bonus
will pay out in full.

Average daily net debt/cash {30%)
__ The daily average net cash position over

the course of the year was £42.9m which
was significantly ahead of the maximum
target of £17.5m. The outperformance was
largely down to excellent working capital
management. The position was further
improved by the working capital abscrbed
within the Group’s Development activities
failing to below £2m (2021: £12my;
however, without this enhancement, the
Group would still have delivered above
target. Therefore, this part of the bonus
was also fully met.

Employee engagement. customer
satisfaction, and social value generated (3G}
— Our employee engagement criterion was

measured by reference to the
independent scoring awarded by the
UK’'s Best | arge Companies to Work For.
This was achieved, at scoring which
implied further improvement versus
previous years.
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— The customer satisfaction criterion based
on NPS and our score of 87.6% was
between the threshold and maximum
targets. Further detail is given in the
strategy and KP| cutcomes on
pages 22 to 25.

.- The econemic and social value generated
for the communities in which we serve
s measured as social value created per
Mears employee. For 2022, we generated
value of £16,300 per employee, which
was above the maximum stretch target
af £3,000 which itself recuired 7.5%
growth on the prior year.

L8043 DIDILVELS

Overall, the strong performance over the
year resulted in a formulaic bonus outcome
of 96.2% of the maximum. In line with our
Palicy, 67% of the bonus will be paid in
cash, with the balance deferred in shares
far a period of three years.

The Remuneration Committee believes this
outcome is appropriate and fully reflects the
strong financial and operating performance
af the Group during the year.

FONUYNYIAOD 4LVHOdHOD

LTIP outcome

There were no long-term incentive plan (LTIP)
awards capable of vesting for performance
ending at 31 December 2022 or shortly after.
The first awards granted during the year
under the LTIP adopted as part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Policy approved
atthe 2020 AGM were made in June 2021
and these will vest subject to performance

in June 2024,

S IVIDONY N
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

FOLICY REVIEW

During 2022, the Remuneration Committee
undertook a thorough review of the
Directors’ Remuneration Policy in advance
of the Policy renewal at the 2023 AGM.

The Committee concluded that the overall
structure of remuneration worked effectively
and that no increases to the bonus or LTIP
grant levels were necessary. Therefore there
have been mimimal changes to the Policy
with the exception of aligning executive
pension arrangements to the workforce rate
and inclusion of market standard in-
employment and post-employment
shareholding guidelines. Mears operates
many different pension plans and the
workforce rate of 6% has beep based on
the Committea’s assessment of the current
weighted average workforce contribution

in percemage of salarylerms. We hope
sharehalders will be supportive of our

new Policy.

BOARD CHANGES

After 17 years at Mears, Alan Long stepped
off the Board on 31 December 2022, Alan
remains an employee of the Group and still
plays an importam role in supporning the
Executive team. Having worked the full 2022
financial year, he will recedve an annual
bonus for 2022 performance as set out
above. Alan holds unvested deferred bonus
which will be retained and may continue

to vest at their normal vesting dates. Alan’s
unvested LTIP awards will be retained and
may cantinue to vest at thelr narmal vesting
dates, with vesting subject to performance
and a pro rata reduction to reflect hus period
of employment. To the extent that awards
vest, dividend equivalents will be payahle
and a further two-year holding period will
apply. Alan will not receive an LTIP award

in 2023.

David Miles Indicated during 2022 that
after 26 years at Mears he wishad tc
transition towards retirement from the

role of CEQ. David remains as CEQ and a
further announcement of David’s retirement
from this role will be set outin due course.

On the same date, we announced that Lucas
Critchiley had been selected 1o work alongside
Davtd and assume the role of CEQ at a future
date. Lucas subseguently joined the Mears
Board on 1 January 2023 and will move to
become CED upon David's retirement as
CEOQ. Lucas’s base salary upon joining the
Board has been set at £221,000 and it is
expected that his salary wili be increased
when he takes on the CEO role during 2023,
Details of his CEO salary will be determined
at the time he takes on the role and will be

reported in next year's Remuneration Report.

Kierart Murphy has notified the Board that
he does not intend to stand for re-election
at the 2023 AGM. Following his departure,
Iwas appointed by the Board to fill the ~ale of
Chairman. A new Chair of the Remuneration
Committee will be appointed shortly and

| wish them well in theair role.
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PEARES Wellri oy REVIEW

At a time when unemployment is low and
where competition for respurces labour is
high, it has never been mare important for
Mears to continue its commitment to being
a great place to work for our staff. Mears

is committed Lo fine tuning our employee
brand propesition, emphasising more clearly
the benefits of working for Mears, We will
continue our pregressive approach of
enhancing packages to enhance retention,

Given the significant cost of living pressures
being encountered by our staff, we were very
focused on directing much of the increase

to the lowest paid. We broughl forward our
annual pay review from 1 April to 1 January
2023 and this resulted in a £2,000 incregse
1o basic pay for all cur employees jexcept
where certain employees’ pay is linked to
national or local agreements). For our front
line care workers the Group applied an
interim increase in Cotoper 20272 and from

1 Aprit 2023 the headline pay rate within the
Supported Living business will increase from
£1.00 to £12.00 per hour and within the Extra
Care husiness from £8.90 to ©11.00 pet hour.
We have also improved holidays, sick pay,
and other family friendly oenefits across

the Growp.

APPLYING THE POLICY IN 2023

Base salaries

The Committee has agreed that the
Executive team will not receive an
inflationary increase from 1 April 2023
given the focus on increasing nay for

the lowest paid in the Group, As detailed
within last year's Remuneration Report,

the Committee carried out a review of base
salary positianing, recogualsing the propased
Board changes and the rebalancing of
waorkloads and responsibulities acrass the
senior management team, Andrew Smith's
salary was increased to £300,000 in light
of the additional responsibilities taken

on as the Board plans for the David Miles
stepping down during 2023. This includes
management responsibility for IT and
Systems; Legal; Health, Safety and
Compliance tegether with Commercial.

Annual bonus 2023

As part of the Policy review work,

the Committee considered the most
appropriste measures and weightings
for the 2023 annual bonus plan.

The Committee has decided that PBT
should continue ta apaly to 40% of the
bonus and that a rew measure, cperating
profit margin, should have a 10% weighting.
As the Grour IS now in a healthy cesh
positive position, average daily net debt/cash
will ne replaced by a cash conversion metric
which will account for 20% of the total bonus
This ensures a focus remains on effective
working capital management and continues
our focus on cash generation. The remaining
30% will continue to be based ¢n customer
satisfaction (10%), employee engagement

measured by UK's Best Large Companies 1o
Work For score {10%), and the generation of
social value {10%}. In addition, the Committee
will consider whether any adjustment is
required to the bonus outcome in the event
of a health and safety issue during the year.
The specific targets for each of these
measures have also been set to reflect the
achigvements in 2022 and forecasts for
2023. The actual targets for 2023 and
perfarmance outcomes will be reporied
retrospectively in next year's report.

LTIP 2023

The third set of awards under the LTIP
scheme adopted as part of the Remuneration
Policy approved attne 2620 AGM will be
maae n 2023 at a level of 100% of salary to
each of the Executive Directors. The 2023
LTIP wili consist of two measures, being EPS
growth relating to 1argets for FY2025 and
total shareholder return (TSR) measured
refative to the F15t SmaliCap (excluding
investment rusts, financiat services, and
natural resource companies). The Commities
will cansider return on capital employed
{ROCE) performance i assessing the
outcome for the EPS component and the
Committee has the ability to reduce the
vesting outcome If performance is
inconsistent with the performance of the
business or individual during the three-year
performance neriod,

Pensian

With effect from 1 January 2023, pension
cantributions for the current Executive
Directors were reduced from 15% of salary to
6% of salary, being the Cammitter’s estimate
of the weighted average pension contribution
across the Group. The contribution level for
any new Executive Director hires (including
Lucas Critchley} will ke aligned with the
waorkforce rate immediately on joining.

CONCLUSION

The strengthening trading performance is
evidence that the strategic actions of recent
years and Mears' resilient operating platform
and market leadership are delivering results
and position the Group well for sustainable
growth over the medium term

| believe the Committee has considered
carefully the pay cutcomes for the year to
ensure there is an appropriate link between
reward, financial and strategic delivery, and
stakehelders' interests. | hope you find the
report informative and will be supportive of
the two pay resolutions which will be tabled
atthe 2023 AGM.

If you have any questions on this report or
any remuneration matters more generaily,
please get in touch with me direct, or via
the Comoany Secretary, Ben Westran,

CTLOUGHLIN '
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE CHAIRMAN
28 April 2023
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Directors’ Remuneration Policy

This part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report sets out the Directors’ Remuneration
Policy {the 'Policy’} which, subject to
shareholder approval at the 2023 AGM, shall
take binding effect from the date of that
meeting and shall be in place for the next
three-year period unless a new Policy is
prescnted to shareholders before then.
Subjoctw appruval by sharehaldars, all
payments to Direclors during the Policy
period will be censistent with the approved
Policy. This Policy takes into account the
provisions of the 2018 UK Carporate
Gavernance Code (the ‘Code’) and other
good practice guidelines from institutionat
shareholders and shareholder bodies.

In developing our Policy, we have been
careful to take full account of the provisions
of the Code and it will continue to be a key
touchstone for the Committee. In summary,
with regard o how we have scught to comply
with the six factors outlined in Provision 40

of the Code, we helieve the following are
worthy of particular note:

_. Clarity - the Policy is well understood
by our Directors and has been clearly
articulated to shareholders and proxy
voting agencies

- Simplicity - the remuneration structure

is simple and transparent and we have
purposefully avoided any complex
structures which have the potential

lo deliver unintended outcomes.

-~ Risk — our Policy and approach to

target setting seek to discourage any
inappropriate rnisk-taking. A balanced
scoracard of financial and non-financial
objectives applies to the annual bonus
scheme and the targets are appropriately
stretching, to mitigate the risk of
inappropriate actions being taken.

Malus and clawback provisions apply.

— Predictability — Executives’ incentive

arrangements are subject to individual
participation caps. An indication of the
range of values in packages is provided

in the tlustration of policy scenario charts.

Deferred bonus and LTIP awards provide
alignment with the share price and their
values will depend on share price at the
time of vesting.

. - Proportionality — there is a clear link

between individual awards, delivery of
strategy, and our long-term performance.

. Alignment to culture — pay and policies
cascade dewn the crganisation and are
fully aligned to Mears’ cullure,

Summary of the key changes from the
previous policy

The key differences between the Policy
approved by shareholders in 2020 and the
proposed 2023 Policy are as follows:

.. Achange ta the In-employment
shareholding gutdeline with all current
and future Executive Directors expected
to build up a mimimum shareholding 1o the
value of 200% of salary.

__ Intreduction of a post-cessation
shareholding guideline requiring
Executives 1o hold the lower of shares
held and 200% of salary for a period of
two years after ceasing to be a Director.
In the proposed Pelicy, Non-Executives
are encouraged to buitd a sharehoclding
nthe business over time,

A change to the normal base salary
review implementation date from 1 April to
1 January (to align with all employees).

. A change to the pension policy to align all
Executive Directors {current and future
recruits) with the waorkforce percentage
contribution rate in place at the time. The
previous policy was to provide a 15% of
salary contribution for current Executive
Directors and a workforce aligned
contribution for new Executive Directors.

LYGd28 BI1D32YHES
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base salanes annual'y witn any change
typically effective from 1 January.

population but may decide
to award a lower increase
for Executive Directors or
indecd exceed this to
recognise, for exampe, an

REMUNERATION POLICY TABLE o
The following table summarises the main elements of the Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy for 2023 onwards, along with the key g
features of each element and their purpose and linkage to our strategy. The Policy for the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors is set z
out on page 88, a
=
Objective and link to strategy  Operation Maximum opportunity Perfarmance measures and assessment ;
]
Base salary Sa-aries will e eligible for increases during Tne Committee is guided Not apnlicable. o
The purpose of the hase the three-year period that the Remuneration by the general increase ;,‘
salary 1s to: Palicy operates. The Committec reviews for the broader employee ES
m
2
-
i

_ helprecryt and retain
indwirdiials of the necessary
calibre to execute the
business st-ategy;

- refiect the individual's
experence, role and
contribution within the

The Committee will retain the discretion
to increase anindividual's salary where
there is a 'gnificant difference between increase n the scale, scope,
current levels and a market competitive rate,  Of responsibiity of the role
when determining base salaries and whether  and/or to take into account

Groug; and to ncrease levels the Committee will take the  relevant market movements.
_.. ensure fair reward for following into consideration:
‘deing the job’

— the performance of the ind'vidual
Executive Drector,

__ the individua' Executive Director's
experience and responsibilities;

.— the impact on fixed costs of any Increase;

_ pay and conditions throughout
the Group; and

_ the economic environment.

NOIIYWHOS N B30T0H3INTHSE

When setting the sa'ary levels for the
Executive Directors, In addition to

the factors summarnsed abave, salary levels
paid by companies of a similar size and
compexity to Mea-s are taken into account

33
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

Objective and link to strategy

Operation

Maximum opportunity

Performance measures and assessment

Pension

To provige a framewari to
save for retirement that 1s

appropriately competitive

Annual bonus

To reward and incentiv se the
achievement of annual targets
nked to the delivery of the
Company’s strategic prorities
fo- the year.

Benefits

To provide benef'ts that are
valued by the recipient gnd are
ApRToRr atery compet tve

34

The Company may contrioute directly inta an
orcupational pension seheme {an Bxecat ve
Oiraclor’s personal penson) or pay a salary
suppiement in liau of pensian. If aporopriate.
& salary sacrifice arrangement can apply.
Only the base salary is pensicnable

Bonus measures and targets are reviewed
annualy, and any payout 1s determined by
the Committec after the end of tne Timancat
year, based on perfarmance against targets
set far the penod

Up to 67% of any bonus that becomes
payable 's paid I cash with the remainder
deferred into shares for three years
Deferred bonus share awards typically
vest subject to continued employment only

Individuals may oe anle to receive

a divicend equivatert payment on
deferred bonus shares at the time of
wvesting equal to the value of dividends
which would have accrued dunng the
vesting penod. Tho dividend eguivalent
payment may assame the remnvestment
aof dividends on a cumulative hasis

In the event that there was (i} a matenal
misstatemant of the Company’s results;

{i) a miscalculation or an assessment af any
performance conditans that was based

on incarrect iInformation; {1 misconduct

on behalf of anindividual; iv) the occurrence
of an insalvaency or administration event;
{virepdtational damage: or (v scrious health
and safety events, malus and/er clawbac«
pravisions may apasly for three years from
tne date of payment of any bonus or the
grant of any defer-ed bgnus share award

From 1 January 2023,
Executive Directors'
contribution rates will

o aligned with the
workforce contribution rate
The current estimate of the
workforce rate 15 6% of base
salary looking at current
contribdt'on rates across
the busingss The average
workforce rate may thange

over the life of the po'icy

Maximum bonus potential
is capped at 100% of satary
far Executive Direlors.

Tne Executive Directors may rece ve benefits
including a Company-provided car of an
allowance in ley, ife assurance, and private
madical msurance. Other addiional benefits
may be provided where aporopiate

Benefits n kind are not pensionab.e

Benefitvaiues vary year

ot year depending on
sremiums and the max:mum
potential value is the cost of
tnese Srovisions

Not applicabie

Bonus persformance measures are set annually
and will be predeminantly based on challenging
financ¢ al targets set m iine with the Group's
strategic priorties and tallored to eacn
indivdual rale as appronnate, for exampele,
targets relating to adjusted earings.

Far a minoiity of the bonus, strategic. ESG,

ar operatignal olyjectives may aperate

The Committee has the discretion to vary the
performance measurcs used from year to year
depending on the stratedic priorities at the
start af ecach year. Detalls of the performance
measures for the relevant financia' year

will be provided in the Anaual Repart on
Remuneration and actual targets wil

be disclosed retrospectively

For financia' targets, and where oracticacle in
respect of operational or strategic targets,
ponus starts to accree once the threshoid target
1$ met (up to 20% payable) rising on a graduated
scale to 100% for stretch performance

The Committee may adjist oonus guicdmes,
based on the application of the banus farmula
set at the start of the relevant year if it
considers the quantum to e incensisient with
the performance of tne Company, business, or
individual during the year. For the avo'dance
of doubt this can be to zero and bonuses

may not exceed the maximum levels cetailed
above. Any Jse of such discret'on would ce
detaled i the Annual Repart on Remuneratyan

Not app ican'e
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Objective and link to strategy  Operation Maximum opportunity Performance measures and assessment
Long-term incentive plan  The LTIP provides for awards of free shares In any financial ycar, The Committee may set such performance
Its purpose is to incentivise {i ¢ cither conditianal shares or mil or nominal - performance shares with conditions as It considers appropriate reflecting
and rewaid the delivery cost options) normally on an annual basis aface value of up to 100% the medium-term pricrities of the Group. The
of strategic priorities anc which are ehgible ta vest after three of salary {or 150% of salary choice of measures and their weightings will
sustained performance years subject to continued service on an exceptional basis, be determined prior to each grant.
over the longer term. and tne achievement of challenging such as in recruitment
performance congitions, cases) may be granted Up to 25% of awards will vest for threshold
To proveds greater allgament to an Executive Directer, performance with full vesting taking place
with shareholders’ 'nterests. Vested awards gre subject to a two-year for enuialling or exceeding, the maximum
post-vesting heiding period In exceptional The actual grant level performance targets No awards vest for
circumstances such as due to regulatory ar will {ake into account the performance below tareshold. A graduated
legal reasons, vested awards may alsc oe share price performance vesting scale operates between threshold
settled in cash af the Group. and maximum performarnce levels,

Dividend equivalent payments may be
made on vested (TIP awards and may
assume the reinvestment of dividends,
on a cumulative hasis

In the event that tnere was (1) a material
misstatement of the Company's results;
{n) a miscalculation or an assessment of
any performance conditions based on
incorrect informataon; (i misconduct on
behalf of an individual; (iv) the occurrence
of an insolvency or agministration event;
) reputationsl damage; or fvi) serious
health and safely events, malus and/or
clawback provisions may apply for three
years f-om an award becoming e'igibie
to vest.

The Commiltee may adjust LTIP vesting
outcomes, based on the res.lt of testing

the perfermance conditen, if it cansiders

the quantum to be inconsistent with the
performance of the Company, business, or
individual during the three-year performance
period. For the avoidance of doubt this can be
ta zero Any use of such discretion would be
detailed in the Annual Report on Remune-ation.

All-employee share plans
Encourages employees to own
snares in orderto increase

alignment over the longer te'm

Al employces are elgible to participate in
the Company's Share incentive Plan (SIP)
and Sharesave plan (Save As Yau Earn).
Under the terms of the Sharesave plan, all
employees can apply for three or fve-year
options to acquire tne Company's shares
paced at s discount of up to 20%.

Under tne terms of the SIP, the Company
can choose Lo offer free shares, partnership
shares, match'ng shares {up to two for one
on any partnership shares purchased),
and/or dividend shares,

In addition, the Company aoperates a
discretionary unaporoved share plan

and a Company Share Option Plan (CSOP)
No awards to Execut’'ve Directors are
proposed under these plans.

Under the SIP, Sharesave Not applicable,
plan and CSOP, the

maximum amount is equal

to the HMRC limits set

fram time to time,
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

SHAREHOLBDING GUIDELINES

The sharehelding guideline secures a
long-term locked-in alignment between
the Dxecutive Birectors and shareholders,
ensuring that they build up and maintain a
minimum level of shareholding threughout
their employment with the Company. The
in-employment shareholding guideline for
Executive Directors is 200% of base salary.

The shareholding requirement will operate
in the foliowing manner:

— Shares unconditionally owned by the
Executive Direcior will count towards
the requirement,

. Unvesied deferred bonus shiares or
vested LTIP shares which are subject
to 8 holding pericd may count towards
the guideline on a net of tax basis.

. All vested deferred bonus and LTIP
awards must be retained unti! the
quideline has been achieved, unless
the Committee believes that there are
exceptional circumstances.

Executive Directors are normally required

to hald shares at a level equal to the lower
of therr sharehalding at cessation and 200%
of salary for two years after ceasing to be

a Director. For this purpose, an Executive
Director’s shareholding shah exciude shares
purchased with own funds and any shares
acquired from share plan awards made
befare the approval of this Palicy (2023).

REASONS FOR SELECTING

3 VIR AN O 1 e 3 IREY

The annual bonus measures are selected to
provide direct alignment with the short-term
operational targets of the Company. Care

is taken 10 ensure that the short-term
performance measuras are always
supportive of the long-term objectives.

The LTIP peiformance measyres will be
selected to ensure that the Executives are
encouraged in, and appropriately rewarded
for, delivering against the Company’s key
long-term strategic goals so as to ensure a
clear and transparent alignment of interests
between Executives and shareholders and
the generation of long-term sustainable
returns. The performance metrics that are
used for annual bonus and long-term
incentive plans are a sub-set of the

Group's KPls.
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The Committee wishes to ensure thal
the annual bonus performance measures
selected provide a holistic assessment
of overali corporate performance and tie
into the non-financial abjectives that

the Company embraces throughout

the organisation.

Adjusted Group profit before tax is a

key metric forthe Group and ensures
management is focused on delivering
sustained profits. Alongside this, cash flow
cantinues to be impartant as management
focuses on achieving the optimal capital
structure and managing working capital

The strategic measures will be primarily
focused on customers and employees,

as two of our mast important stakeholder
groups. The Group firmly believes that
customer and employee satisfaction are
drivers of long-term performance and
productivity. They both contribute to the
retention of existing contracts as well as
helping to win new contracts with new and
innovative operating models, The creation
of social value supports our aim of investing
in local communities which has been
fundamenta! to Mears far over 25 years.
Other BESG related measures may feature
as the Greup develops and evolves its
sustatnability agenda.

Targets are calibrated to reflect the
Committee’s assessment of good to
exceptional performance and take into
account internal budgets and the current
economic environment.

DIFFERENCES IN REMUNERATION
SOLDY TR AL D MBLOY TR

The Company sets terms and conditions

far employees which reflect the different
legislative and labour market conditions

that operaie in each of our jurisdictions

We will always meet ar exceed national
minimum standards for terms and conditions
of emplayment in each of our business areas.
Pay arrangements in our businesses also
reflect local performance with personal
increases based on achievement, individually
assessed. Mears believes in the value of
continuous improvement, both for the
individual and for the Company.

la general, all employees receive base salaty,
benefits, and pension, and are eligible to
participate in the Company’s all-employee
share plans. Bonus plans are set for

senior managemeant, aligning tne senior
management team to deliver value

for the Group.

COMMITTEE DISCRETIONS

The Committeg wilt operate the condusion

to the existing equity incentive plan, anc the
new annual bonus and LTIP according to their
relevant plan rules. The Committee retains
discretion, consistent with market practice,

in a number of regards to the operation and
administration of these plans. These include,
but are not limited to, the foltowing:

__ The individuals participating in the plans.

- The timing of grant of an award.

. The size of an award and/or payment

__ The determination of vesting.
Discretion required when dealing with
a change of control (e.g. the timing of
testing performance targets), M&A,
or restructurirg of the Group.

.- Determnation of the treatment of good
and bad leavers based on the rules
of the plan and the appropriate
treatment chosean.

~. Adjustments required in cerlain ‘corporate
action’ circumstances (2.q. rights 1ssues,
corporate restructuring events, and
special dividends}.

. The annual review of the choice of
performance measuies and weightings
for the annual bonus and LTiR,

The ability to adjust incentive outcomes,
based on the results of testing the
performance conditions, if the Committee
considers the quantum to be inconsisient
with the performance of the Company,
business, or individual.

The Committee also retains the ability to
adjust the targets, and/or set different
measures and alter weightings for the annual
bonus plan and to adjust targets for the LTIP
if events occur {e.g. material divestment of a
Group business) which cause it to determine
that the conditions are no longer appropriate
and the amendment is required so that the
conditions achieve thelr original purpose
and are not materially less difficult to satisfy.

These discretions, which in certain
circumstances can be operated in both

an upward and a downward manner, are
consistent with market practice and are
deemed necessary for the proper and farr
operation of the schemes in order to achieve
their ariginal purpose. it is the Committea’s
policy, however, that there should be ne
element of reward for poor performance
and any upward discretion will only be
applied in exceptional circumstances.
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ILLUSTRATIONS OF APPLICATION OF REMUNERATIGN POLICY
The Conipany's Remnuneration Malicy results in a significant proportion of remuneratinn recelvad by Executive Directors being dependent

on Company performance. The composition and total value of the Executive Directors’ remuneration packages for minimum, on-target and
maximum performance scenarios, along with & maximum performance scenario with a share price growth assumption included, are set out

in the graph below,

CEO
David Miles salary 2023 {£’000)

Minirmurm
438
Target
438 202 20
Maximum
438 404 404

Maximum with share price growth

L s s L
Q 300 600 900
M Fixed

M annual bonus

B Long-term incentive

#% Share price growth

ASSUMPTIONS:

_ Minimum performance includes only
fixed pay thase salary from 1 April 2023,
the value of 2022 benefits as per the
single figure of remuneration table or
based on an estimate, and a 6% salary
pension contribution).

— On-target performance includes fixed
pay and assumes an annual bonus payout
of 50% of maximum gnd 25% vesting of
a 100% of salary grant of LTIP awards.

_ Maximum performance includes fixed
pay and assumes full bonus and 100%
LTIF vesting.

_ Maximum performance with share
price growth as per maximum but
with 50% share price growth assumed
on LTIP awards.

APPROACH TO RECRUITMENT
REMUMNERATION

Whern setting the remuneration package

for a new Executive Directar, the Committee
will apply the same principles and implement
the policy as set out in the Remuneration
Policy table.

Base salary will he set at a level appropriate
to the role and the experience of the
Executive Director being appointed. In
certain cases, this may inciude setting a
salary below the market rate but with an
agreament on future increases up to the
market rate, in line with increased
experience and/or responsibilities,

subject to good performance, where

itis considered appropriate.

Pension provision, in percentage of salary
terms, will be aligned to the general
workforce level prevailing at the time

of appointment.

CFQ
Andrew Smith salary 2023 (£'000}

Minimum
328
Target
328 150 7
Maximum
328 300 300

Maximum with share price g

rowth

Executive Director
Lucas Critchley salary 2023 (£'000)

Minimum
244

Target
244 11 B

Maximum

244 221 221
Maximum with share price growth

[ L L L 1

0 200 400 600 BOO
W Fixed
B Annual honus

Il Long-term incentive
3 Share price growth

1,000 1,200

The maximum level of variable remuneration
which may be granted {excluding buyout
awards as referred to below) is an annual
bonus of 100% of salary and an LTIP award
of 100% of salary or 150% of salary in
exceptional circumstances such as
recruitment (as per the limits in the

Policy table).

In retation to external appointments, the
Committee may offer compenssation that

it considers appropriate to take account

of awards and benefits that will or may be
forfeited on resignation from a previous
position. Such compensation would reflect
the performance requirements, tming, and
such other specific matters as the Committee
considers relevant. This may take the form
of cash and/or share awards. The policy 15
that the maximum payment under any such
arrangements (which may be in addition

to the normal variable remimeration) should
be no more than the Committee considers
is required to provide reascnable
compensation to the incoming

Executive Director.

If the Executive Cirector will be required 1o
relocate in order to take up the position, it
isthe Company’s palicy to allow reasonable
relocation, travel, and subsistence payments.
Any such payments will be at the discretion
of the Committee.

In the case of an existing employee who

is promoted to the position of Executive
Director, the Policy set out above would
apply from the date of promotion but there
would be no retrospective application of the
Palicy in relation to existing incentive awards
or remuneration arrangements.

Accordingly, prevailing elements of the
remuneration package for an existing
employee would be honoured and form
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8l Fixed

MW Annual bonus

M Long-term incentive
# Share price growth

part of the angoing remuneration of the
employee. These would be disclosed to
shareholders in the following year’s Annual
Report cn Remuneration.

Non-Executive Director appointments

will be through letters of appointment.
Non-Executive Directors’ base fees,
inciuding these of the Chairman, will be

set at a competitive market level, reflecting
experience, responsibility, and time
commitment, Additional fees are payable for
the chairmanship of one of the major Board
committees and for undertaking the role

of Senior Independent Director.

SERVICE CONTRACTS AND

EAVMERT FOR LOSS OF OFfcE
Executive Directors' service contracts are
terminable by the Company and by the
Director by giving no maore than

12 months™ natice.

If an Executive Director’'s employment is

to be terminated, the Committee’s policy

in respect of the contract of employment,

in the absence of a breach of the service
agreement by the Executive Director, Is to
agree a termination payment based on the
value of base salary and benefits that would
have accrued to the Executive Director
during the contractual notice period. The
policy is that, as is considered appropriate
at tne time, the departing Executive Directar
may wark, or be placed on garden leave, for
all or part of their notice period, or receive a
payment in lieu of notice in accordance with
the service agreement,

The Committee will also seek to apply the
principle of mitigation where possible so
as 1o reduce any termination payment to
a leaving Executive Director, having had
regard to the circumstances,
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

In adgdition, the Committee may also

make payments in relaticn to any statutory
entitlements, to settle any claim against the
Company (e.g. in relation o breach of
statutory employment rights or wrongful
dismissal) or make a modest provision In
respect of legal costs or outplacement fees.

With regard to annual bonus for a departing
Executive Director, if employment ends by
reason of redundancy, retirement with the
agreement of the Company, ill health,
disability, or death, or any other reason

as determined by the Commitiee {l.&. the
indiviclual is a 'good leaver’), the Executive
Cirector may be considered for a pro-rated
banus payment. If the termination s for any
other reason, any entitfement to bonus would
normally lapse. Under any circumstance, it is
the Committee’s policy to ensure that any
bonus payment reflects the departing
Executive Director's performance and
behaviour towards the Company.

Any bonus payment will normally be delayed
unut the performance conditions have been
determined for the relevant period and be
subject Lo a pro-rata reduction for the portion
of the relevant bonus year that the individual
was employed.

With regard to deferred share bonus awards,
these will normally lapse on cessation of
employment other than where an Executive
Director 1s a ‘good leaver’ (as detailed
above), with awards then usually vesting

on the normal vesting date.

In relation to awards granted under the
Company’s LTIP, in certain prescribed
circumstances, such as death, injury or
disability, redundancy, transfer or sale of
the employing company, retirement with
the Company's agreement, or other
circumstances at the discretion of the
Committee {reflecting the circumstances
that prevail at the time), ‘good leaver”
status may be applied

If treated as a good leaver, awards wili

be eligible to vest subject to performance
conditions, which will be measured over

ihe original performance period unless the
Committee elected to test performance to
the date of cessation of employment}, and
be subject to a oro-rata reduction (unless
the Committee considered it inappropriate to
do so) 1o reflect the propartion of the vesting
pericd actually served. Awards will typically
vest an their normal vesting date and the
post-vesting holding period will normally
continue to apply untll the second
anniversary of vesting {for both unvested
and vested awards at the time of cessation).

IS0 TR S EREY

The Beard as a whole is responsible for
setting the remuneration of the Non-
Executive Directors, other than the Chair,
whose remuneration 15 determined by the
Committee and recommended to the Beard.

The table below sets out the key elements of the Palicy for the Charr and Non-Executive Directors.

Performance measures
and assessment

Objective and link to strategy

Operation

Maximum opportunity

To provide compensation
that attracts individusals

witn appropriate knowledge
and experience.

Fee levels are reviewed periodically taking
inta account independent advice and the time
commitment required of Non-Executive Directors.

The fees paid to the Chair and the fees of the other
Non-Executive Directors aim to be competitive with
other listed companies which the Committee (in the
case of the Chairman) and the Board [in respect of
the Non-Executive Directors) consider to be of
equivalent sfze and complexity.

Non-Executive Directors receive a base fee and
additional responsibility fees such as, for exampie,
for undertaking the rola of Senior Independeant
Director or for membership and/or chairmanship
of certain Committees.

In exceptional circumstances, if there Is a temporary
yet material increase in lthe time commitment for
Non-Executive Directors, the Board may pay extra
fees on a pro-rata basis ta recognise the add:itional
workload involved.

The Chair receives a single fee and does not
receive any additional fees for membership
ard/or chairmanship of Committees.

Neon-Executives ([excluding employee directors)
are encouraged to builld a meaningful shareholding
in Mears Group.

Any increase in Non-
Executive Direclor base fees
or additional responsibility
fees may be above the level
awarded to other employees,
given that they may only be
reviewed periodically and
may need to reflect any
changes to time commitments
or responsibilities.

The Company will pay
reasonabie expenses incurred
by Non-Executive Directors.

Non-Executive
Director fees are not
performance related,

Non-Executive
Directors do not
recejve any variable
remuneration element,
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REMUREEALION FRAMEWORK ~ A7 8 GLANTY
The following seclion sets out our remuneration framework, a summary of how our Policy was applied in 2022 in the context of our
business performance, and from page 95 details of how the Committee intends to implement the Policy in 2023,

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT OF REMUNERATION

The Committee believes it is important that, for Executive Directors and senior management, a significant proportion of the remuneration
package should be performance related, and the performance conditions applying 1o incentive arrangements should support the delivery
uf the Company's strategy. The following table sets out how the annual bonus scheme and LTIP reflect the Group's strategic priorities:
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How we have measured progress against these objectives
-
__ Exceptional health and safety perfermance, with the Group being — Continue to unwind the Group’s Housing Development activities Z
awarded its 19th consecutive RoSPA Gold Award and retaining its with a positive impact to net debt ?2?’
place on ROSPA's Order of Merit __ Top 25 UK's Best Large Caompanies to Work For “
__ Improvement in Group operating profit marging 3
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* How are our strategic objectives linked to our incentive plan

Annual bonus (capped at 100% of salary; 67% paid in cash, 33% deferred shares)

. Emplo

Adjusted profit Cash conversion Customer mployee Sacial value
and profit margin (20%) satisfaction engagement (10%)
{50%) {10%) (10%) h

{TIP {capped at 100% of salary with three-year performance targets)

Fotat shareholder
return
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

e RONEON TABCUTIVE ARRDINTMEN S
Executive Directors have an obligation

to inform the Board, specifically the
Remuneratton Commirttee, of any
Non-Executive positions held or being
contemplated and of the associated
remuneration package. The Remuneration
Committee will consider the ments of any
such external appeintment on a case-by-
case basis and will carefully consider the
work and time commitment involved and
the potenttal benefit to the Group. Whether
the remuneration for any such external
appointmentis retained by the Executive
or passed over o the Group will also be
considered on a case-by-case basis.

CONSIDERATION OF EMPLOYMENT
CONDITIONS ELSEWHERE IN THE
TeROHLT N DEVEIOEING ST 0Ty

In setting the Remuneration Policy for
Executive Directors, the Remuneration
Committee takes into account Group

and business uniz performance, including
both financial performance and safety
improvements in the year. The Remuneration
Committee alsc monitors pay trends and
workfarce conditions across the Group and

takes this into account when formulating the
policy for Executive Directors. The salary
increase for the general workforce is a key
reference peint used by the Cammittee to
inform its decisions on salary increases for
Senior Executives.

The Committee has not expressly sought the
views of employees and na remuneration
comparison measurements were used when
drawing up the Directors’ Remuneration
Policy. Through the Board, however, the
Committee {s updated as to employee

views on remuneration generally.

CONSIDERATION OF

5 UL DER VIFWE

The Committee is committed to an ongoing
diglogue with shareholders and seeks
shareholder views when any significant
changes are being made to remuneration
arrangements, We remain sensitive to

the views of sharehclders and consult
shareholders regarding any material
changas to the Policy or to how it is being
implemented. The 2023 Policy is largely
the same as ‘he previous one, far which

a comprehansive shareholaer consultation
exercise was undertaken.

§f
[EES

The Company will continue to moniter
sharehalder comments and retain an
open dialogue as necessary.

ANNUAL REPORT
ON REMUNERATION

This section of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report contains details of how the
Company's Directors’ Remuneration Policy
was implemented during the financial year
ended 31 December 2022 and how the new
Pclicy. which is subject to shareholder
approval at the 2023 AGM, will be
implemented for the 2023 financial year.

SINGLE TOTAL FIGURE OF

HEMUNEDAT N ALIEITEDS

Executive Directors

The remuneration of Executive Directors
showing the breakdown between elements
and comparative figures is set out below.
Figures provided have been calculated in
accordance with the regulations.

Fixed pay

Executive Director Taxable and benefits Annual Long-term Variabie pay Total
(£'000) Year Satary’ benefits’ Pension’ sub-total bonus®  incentives? sub-tota! remuneration

2022 404 10 61 475 388 - 388 863
D J Miles

2021 400 25 60 485 353 - 353 838

2022 269 n 40 320 258 - 258 578
AC M Smith

202 267 n 40 318 235 - 235 553

2022 22 10 33 264 212 - 212 476
AlLlong

2020 218 n 33 262 193 - 193 455

LW =

Benefits ncluded a Company-prowided car or an allowance in heu, life assurance, and private megical insurance.

Executive Directors received a cash allowance in heu of pension. The pension contribution has been reducec 1o 6% of salary from 1 January 2023

Full detsils of the annual bonus outcomes are sel outin the section below. No discretion was used in determining the benus outcome

There were no long-term incentives granted with performance periods ending on 31 December 2022 or shortly after. The vesiing cutcome of the 2021 LTIP awarcs

will be reported in next year s directers’ remuneration report
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Q22 ANNUAL BOMUS N C

AR LBUIDTTED

The performance measuras and targets for the annual bonus for the year ended 31 December 2022 are detailed betow.

The anrual bonus measures chosen for 2022 were dependegnt upon the achievement of a number of objectives detailed below; 70% cf the
annual bonus was linked to financial measures with the remaining 30% based on strategic cbjectives relating to customer satisfaction,
employee engagement, and monetary sccial value generated. The actual performance achieved in respect of the annual bonus for 2022
is also summarised below against each target.

Actual

Weighting Threshold Maximum performance Bonus outcome
Measure {% of salary) (20% payable) (10U% payable) fur 2022 (% ot maximum)
Adjusted Group PBT' 40% £267m £22Im £35.2m 100%
Average daily net debt/cash”’ 30% £7.5m £17.5m £42.9m 100%

net debt net cash

Customer satisfaction® 10% 85% 90% 87.6% 61.6%
Employee engagement; UK's Best Large
Comparies score {January 2022)* 10% 671 676 7094 100%
Creation of social value® 10% £2,794 £3,000 £16,900 100%
Total 96.2%

i

2

3

4
5

Adjusted Group PBT s sta'ed befare the amortisation of acquisiton intangiales and non-underlying items. Itis assessed an all activities comprising a PB1 on continuing
acuvities of £34 9m adjusted lor amortisation of acquisition ntangibles of £0.2m.

Average dally net debt/cash s denved from 365-day average bank statement balance, The outcome for the year was a positive cash average daily cash position

of £42 9m

Custemer satisfaction 15 based an percentage of customers that rate Mears’ service at 7 out of 10 or above, with methodolegy signed off by the independent

Customer Scrutiny Board,

The employee engagement measure 1S set against the overall score awarded to the Group by the UK's Best Large Comparies to Work For awards,

Social value is indepencently assessed utiising a social value measurement tool and is expressed as an amount generated per employee

Adjusted Group PBT for the year of £35.2m was ahead of the maximum target set by the Committee and benefitted from higher Group
revenues and operating margin. This reflects the positive steps taken by the Group over the previous two years, actions which have at
times resulted in a reduction in revenJes but impraved profitabitity. Average daily cash over the period was £42.9m which was also above
the maximum target set. This cash performance was largely due to strong working capital management during the period with the year-end
cash balance at £38.1m. Tne position was further improved by the working capital absorbed within the Group's Development activities
failing to below £2m {2021 £12m), however, without this enhancement, the Group would still have delivered above target.

The non-financial measures were based on customer satisfaction, employee engagement, and creation of social value, The customer
satisfaction score of 87.6% was between threshold and maximum, employee engagement was 709.4, and the Group delivered £16,800
of social value per employee which was above the maximum target of £3,000. Oversll, perfarmance against the non-financial measures
resulted in a payout of 26.2% out of 30%.

The annual bonus outcome resulted in an overall bonus of 96.2% of maximum. The aggregate bonus entitlement across the three Executive
Directors was £858,000 and is included within the single total figure of remuneration. Two thirds of this entitlement is paid 1n cash and
ane third of the bonus will be deferred in shares tor a period of three years.

The Commitiee believes this high outcome is a fair reflection of the strategic actions of recent years and Mears' resilient operating platform
and market leadership. No discretion was used in determining the bonus outcome,

LV VESTING (AUDITED]
There were no LTIP awards granted in 2020 and therefore no LTIP awards are capable of vesung in 2023 based on performance to
31 December 2022,
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

3 EHELUTIVE DIRFUTORY SINGLE AiIBUKE
The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors showing the breakdown between elements and comparative figures is shown below, Figures
provided have been calculated in accordance with the regulations.

Salary/ Taxable Fixed pay Tetal
Chalrman and Ron-Executive Director {£'000) Year fees® benefits sub-total remuneration
K Murphy 2022 161 - 161 161
K Murpny 202 160 - 180 160
JUnwin B ) 2022 66 - 66 &6
JUmwin B - - 2021 63 - [sX) 63
J Clarke 2022 75 - 76 TFG
J Clarke ] T ' 2020 53 - 68 g
C Loughilin 2022 76 - 76 76
C Loughiin 202 70 - 70 g
;l\ Lockwood' 2022 65 - 66 66
A Lockwood' 2021 - - - -
G Davies’ 2022 - - - -
G Davies? 2021. 38 - 38 38
R Irwin? 2022 - - - T
m 2021 43 - a3 43
C Gibbarg? . 2022 56 2 58 58
C Gibbard? 20 56 - 56 56_

1 A lockwooc joinea the Boare in January 2022,
2 G DBavies and Rirwin stiepped down from the Boarc in June 2023
2 C Gibbard siepped down from the Board on 31 December 2022, Her remunerauen for 2022 incluced a £2,300 car benefit

Variations between the figures above and the approved fee rates relate to the part-year impact for changes in the Committee membership.

SHARE AWARDS MADE DURING THE YEAR
The following LTiP awards were granted on 11 April 2022:

Face value Number Threshold vesting Maximum vesting End of
Director as % of salary Face value’ of shares (% of face value) {% of face value) perfarmance period
D J Miies 100% £404,044 199,692 25% 100% 31 December 2024
A CM Smith 100% £269,932 133,409 25% 100% 31 December 2024
Along 100% £221144 109,296 25% 100% 31 December 2024

1 The face valuz of the awards 1s based an a share price of 202.3p, heing the throe-day average share price diractly pnof 1o the grant of the aware

The awards have been granted in the form of nominal cost options and will normally become exercisable on 11 April 2025, Awards may become
exercisable subject to the achievement of relative TSR (50%} and EPS (50%) performance conditions.

Description Weighting Calculation Targets

Total sharehotder return 50% Relative TSR versus the constituents of the FTSE SmallCap Threshold: Median (25% vests)
{excluding investment trusts, financial services, and natural Maximum: Upper Quartile
resources companies) measured over a three-year {100% vests)
performance period.

Earnings 50% Adjusted EPS target relating to the 2024 financial year. None  Threshoid: 21p (25% vests)

per share of this part of the award will vestif 2023 EPS is less than 21p; Maximum: 24p (100% vests)

25% shall vest for EPS of 21p, increasing to full vesting for 24p
or higher. The Committee will consider ROCE performance
cver the performance period and may reduce the EPS vesting
outcome if the Committee is not satisfied that the level of EPS
vesting 1s justified on account of the Group’s ROCE over the
performance period.
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In addition, the Committee retains discretion to reduce the everall LTIP vesting level if it considers that the underlying business performance
of the Compary dues nul justify vesting {taking into concideration a range of factors, incliiding. for example, ROCE performance). If the
Committee is not satisfied that the formulaic vesting outcome is aligned with underlying Group performance, then it may reduce

{potentially to zero) the vesting cutcome.

Awards granted to Executive Directors are additionally subject to a two-year holding period following the vesting date.

The following deferred bonus share awards were granted during the year in respect of bonus earned for performance relating to the
2021 financial year:

Ld0uay 3iDIalvdls

Number of deferred

Director Date of grant shares granted’ Vesting date
D J Miles M April 2022 57,762 N April 202%
A C M Smith N April 2022 38,513 11 April 2025
Along 11 April 2022 31,51 1 April 2025 I3}
<
e
1 The face value of the awards is based on a share price of 202.3p, being the three-day average share price directly prior to the grant of the award., g
T
Awards were granted in the form of nominal cost options and will vest subject to continued employment. E
m
EYATEMINT OF NMREZCTORS SHAREHOLDRMG AND SHARE INTERERSTE (AUDITED? g
Directors’ share interests as at 31 December 2022 are set out below: ﬁ
a
Number of Options Options subject Unvested Total Z
beneficially vested but to performance deferred bonus interests held ;
Director owned shares not exercised conditions awards at year end Shareholding guideline met? [4]
m
D J Miles 338,769 - 413,568 90,007 840,344 199% of salary; guideline not met
A C M Smith 270,000 - 276,012 50,012 606,024 214% of salary; guideline not met
Along 92,957 - 225971 49,101 368,029 113% of salary; guideline not met

There were no changes to the holdings set cut above from the period 31 December 2022 to the date this report has been signed off.

No Non-Executive Director holds an interest in shares.

The current Executive Directors each have a shareholding requirement of 400% of salary under the Policy approved by shareholders in 2020,
Under the proposed Policy which 1s being put forward for shareholder approval at the 2023 AGM, the sharenoclding guideline for all Executive

Cirecters (current and new) will be 200% of salary.

As at 31 December 2022, based on beneficially owned shares and deferred bonus awards (on a net of tax basis), D J Miles, A CM Smith
and A Long had sharehaldings equal to 198%, 214%, and 113% respectively of their base salaries {hased on a share price of £2.08).

SIMIWILYLS TVIDHN YR

SHAREHOLDER DILUTION

In accordance with the Investment Association’s guidelines, the Company can issue a maximum of 10% of its issued share capital in a rolling
10-year period to employees under all its share plans. In addition, of this 10% the Company can issue 5% to satisfy awards under discretionary
or Executive plans. The Company operates all its share plans within these guidelines.

FRRFORMANCE GRAPH AND (481 % [UMNALIUHTED,

The graph below shows the Group's performance, measured by TSR, compared with the constituents of the FTSE All-Share Index and the
FTSE All-Share Support Services Index over the past 10 years. The Cempany Is a constituent of both indices and these peer groups are
considered to provide relevant comparisons.,

Total shareholder return
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Mears -.--— FTSE A'l-Share Suppo-t Services Index — FTSE All-Share Index Source, Thomson Reuters
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

The table below shows the Chief Executive Officer's remuneration package over the past 10 years, logether with incentive payout/vesting
as compared to the maximum cpporiunity.

Single figure of total remuneration Bonus payout Long-term incentive vesting
Year Name {£'000) {as % maximush opportunity) {as % maximum opportunity)
2022 D J Miles ] 863 S6% -
2021 X D J Miles - 838 88% -
2020 D JMiles - 600 47% -
2019 D J Miles 469 - -
2018 D J Miles 455 . o
2017 D J Miles 443 - _ =
2016 D J Miles 7 436 - -
2015 DJ Miles_—_— . 436 - 20%
2014 D iMiles a2 - 38
2013 D J Miles 825 s 100%
O e TR e ety PO T AT D e T T AT L TR T WA T e T P TRET o TR e TYVEL

The table below compares the percentage change in the remuneration of the Directors with that of the wider employee population far the last
three years.

Remuneration
Salary/fee? Benefits Annual bonus

2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2029 2020
O J Miles 0.4% ) 2.0% 20% (BO%) (4%} — 10% 187% -
WSmith 0.6% 2.0% 2.0% — 22% - 10% ﬁé__— e
Along 0.7% 2.0% 2.0% — (27%) — 10% 187% —
K Murphy ) 1.0% - — - - - - - -
J Unwin 2.5% - ] - - - - - - —
C toughiin 21% _ - . _ _ T _ -
J Clarke 21% — - — — - — _ —
A Lockwood - - = - - — ’ - - _
G Davies? - - - - - - - — _
R lrwin? 7 - - - Z - _ _ R _
C Gibbard? 3.8% 2.0% 2.0% — - — — ~ _
All employees’ salaries 3.7% 20% 2.0% - - - - — -
1 A Lockwood joined the Boarc in January 2022
2 G Davies and R Irwin stepped down from the Board in june 2021 and A Long and C Gibbard stepped off the Board on 31 Decamber 2022
3 Percentage change in Non-Executive Director fees Is adjusted to oxclude the voluntary election in 2020 1o :ake a 20% reduction in fees between Apnl and

Qctober 2020 1g refloct the ¢hallenges faced by the business from tne Covid-12 pandemic The percentage change reflects any change In entitlement as compared
with the actual remuneration receiveg

4 The 2022 satary/fee increase matches the general woikiorce moicase of 4% but cappec al £1,600 for any individual
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The table below sets out the ratio between the total pay of the CEQ and the wotal pay of the employees at the 25th, 30th {median), and 75th
percentiles of the workforce

Year Method 25th percentile Median 75th percentile
2022 E 3821 201 19.2:
2021 B 2971 2781 2211
2020 B 231 21 19:1

The 25th, 50th {median), and 75th percentile ranked individuals have been identified using the gender pay gap survey data for 2022, 1a.

zs allowed for under rmethod B of the UK resorting reguirements. This was deemea t¢ be the rmost reasanable and practical approach to
dentify ng the relevant indhvduals fo- the purposes of this disclosure. The day by reference to which the 25th, 50th (median}, and 75th
cercentile emaloyees were determined was 6 Apri 2022, The CEQ pay figure 15 the tozal reruneration figure as set out in *he single figure
able on page 80 and equivzlert figures (on a full-time equivalent casis) Fave been calculated for the relevant 25th, 50th imedian), and 75th
percentile emcloyees. The Remuneration Commitiee is comfortatle that the resulting calzulations are represertat ve of pay levels at the

respective quartiles.
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The total pay and benefits figures used to calculate the ratios for each of the 25th percentile, 50th (median), and 75th percentile employees “

are £22.617, £12,833, and £44,840 respectively. The salary element for each of these figures are £18,314, £39,708, and £40,396 respectively. ;

i
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The tabie below sets out the relative importance of spend on pay in the financial yesr and previcus financial year compared with other )

disbursements from profit. T

2022 2021 % a

Significant distributions £'000 £'000 change g

Total spend on employee pay 190,840 191,281 - =
Profit distributed by way of dividend” 11,651 8,865 31.4%
Cperating profit before non-underlying items (continuing activities) 41,531 33.686 23.3%

= Profitdistributed by way of dividend includes propesec final dividend of 7 25p per share in 2022 and 5 50p per share in 2021

DETAILS OF SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF APPGINTMENT a

Date of contract/letter Notice period by Company g

Director of appoiniment or Director k-]

0o

Executive o

2

0 J Miles June 2008 Twelve months m

[1)

ACMSmith June 2008 Twelve months 2

H Nar January 2023 One month i

z

L Critchley January 2023 Twelve months ;

Chairman/Nen-Executive g
K Murphy January 2019 Six months
G Davies October 2015 Six months
J Unwin January 2016 Six months

J Clarke July 2012 Six months -

C Loughlin September 2019 Six months z

A Lockwaod January 2022 Six months z

b=

-

LE
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There were no payments for loss of office or to past Directors durning the year.

14

After 17 vears of service, Alan Long stepped off the Beard on 31 December 2022. Alan remains an employee of the Group and still plays

an important role in suppaorting the Executive team. Having worked the full 2022 financial vear, he will receive an annual bonus for 2022
performance. Alan holds unvested deferred bonus which will be retained and may continue to vest at their normal vestung dates. Afan's
unvested LTIP awards will be retained and may continue to vest at their normal vesting dates, with vesting subject to performance and a pro
rata reduction to retlect his period of employmient. To the extent that awards vest, dividend equivalents will he payable and a further two-year
holding period will apply. Alan will not receive an LTIP award in 2023,

SAIMAWNEL

STATEMENT OF IMPLEMENTATION OF REMUNERATION POLICY IN THE 2023 FINANCIAL YEAR
Executive Directors

Base salary

The salary entitlements far the forthcoming year are set out below:

2023 2022 %
Executive Director £'000 £'000 change
B J Miles 404,044 404,044 —
A C M Smith 300,000 269,932 1%
L Critchley 221,000 - —

HOLYWHHOAR! 63610 HZEVHE

The Commitiee has agreed that the Executive team will not receive an inflationary increase from 1 April 2023 given the focus on increasing
pay for the lowest paid in the Group. As detailed within |ast year's Remuneration Report, the Committee carned out a review of base salary
positioning, recognising the proposed Board changes and the rebalancing of workloads and responsibilities across the senior management
team. Andrew Smith’s salary was increased to £300,000 in light of the additional responsibllities taken on as the Board plans for David Miles
stepping down during 2023. Lucas Critchley's base salary has been set at £221,000 to reflect his appointment as a new Executive Director.
It ‘s expected that his szlary will be increased when he takes on the role of CEQ during 2023 and his salary as CEOQ will be reported in next
year's repaort.

This includes management respansibility for IT and Systems; Legal; Health, Safety and Compliance together with Commercial.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022 9 5



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

Pension
Details of pension contributions for the year commencing 1 January 2023 are set out below:

Executive Director Pension
D J Miles 6%
A CM Smith 6%
L Critchley 6%

Executive Directors’ pension contribution rates have been reduced from 15% to 6% of base salary from 1 January 2023, There are a number
of pension schemes in operation at Mears and a 6% of salary pension ¢ontribution is tne current estimate of the average warkforce pension
contribution rate. As a new Director appeinted to the Board, Lucas Critchley's pension contribution has been set at 6% of base salary.

Annual bonus 2023
The maximum bonus potential will be 100% of salary and will be dependent upon the following performance measures:

.. Profit before tax (40%}
Operating profit margin {10%)
Cash conversion (20%)
. Strategic objectives (30%) relating to customer satisfaction (10%), employee engagement (10%), and monetary social value generated (10%)

The above metrics include operating profit margin for the first time with a weighting of 10%. Margin improvement is a key management goal
for 2023. Reflecting the Group’s progress in moving from a net debt to a net cash position over the last two years and to ensure we maintain
a strong ‘cash culture’, the cash measure has been set as underying EBITDA to operating cash conversion. This helps the Group's front line
operations understand that invoicing and cash collection are intrinsically linked and that a works order is not compieted until the monies
are banked.

The strategic objectives, which wil! be built around the Group's strategy for customer success and supported by our independently chaired
Customer Scrutiny Board, reflect the Group's commitment to serving our clients and customers; to further developing our sociat value offer
to add value in the communitios we serve; and 1o securing high levels of positive employee engagement through net promoter scores and
validation by external accreditation,

In addition, health and safety will apply as a discretionary underpin and, before any bonus becomes payable, the Commitiee witt consider
health and safety performance over the year and will have the power to reduce the borus outcome if standards are below expectations,

Any bonus payable will be delivered in a mix of cash (67%) and deferred share awards (33%) which will vest after three years from grant.
LTIP for 2023

Itis intended that awards will be made at 100% of salary to each of the Executive Directars, The measures will remain EPS and TSR and targets
will be as follows:

Description Weighting Calculation Targets
Total shareholder return - 50% Relative TSR target against the constituents of the FTSE Threshold: Median (25% vests)
SmallCap (excluding investment trusts, financial services, Maximum: Upper Quartile
and natursl resources companies) measured over a 1100% vests)
three-year performance period.
Earnings per share 50% Adjusted EPS target relating to the 2025 financial year, Threshold: 25p (25% vests)
ie the third year of ithe three-yea performance period Maximurm; 28p (100% vests)

The Committee will consider ROCE performance over
the performance period and may reduce the EPS vasting
outceme f the Committees 1s not sansfied that the jevel of
EPS vesting 15 Justified on account of the Group's ROCE
over the performance perod.

The Remuneration Committee believes the use of TSR and EPS provides an appropriate balance between focusing on share price recovery
and delivering financial returns.

Vesting will be on a pro-rata basis between the threshold and maxmum vesting figures. In addition, the Committee retains discretion to
reduce the overall LTIP vesting level if it cons ders that the undertying business perfarmance of the Company daes nct justify vest ng {taking
into consideration a range of factors, including, for example, ROCE performance). If the Committee is not satisfied that the formulaic vesting
outcome ts aligned with underlyting Group performance then it may reduce (potentially to zero) the vesting outcome.

Any shares which vest from this award will be subject to a two-year post-vesting holding period
Maon-Executive Directors

The following lable sets out the fee rates for the Non-Executive Directors which effective from 1 April of each year. and for the following
12 months):
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2023 2022 %
£'000 £000 change
Chairman fee £161,500 £161,600 -
Ease fee o £51,600 £51,600 -
Committee Chairman fee £15.000 £15,000 -
Committee membership fee £5,000 £5,000 -

C Loughlin will become Chair of the Board when K Murphy steps off the Board at the 2023 AGM. C Loughlin’s fee has been set at the same
as his predecessor’s fee,

The NED fees will remain unchanged for 2023 in line with the Group's focus on enhancing the earnings of lower-paid employees.

ROLE OF THE COMMITTEE AND ACTIVITIES

The Committee determines the total individual remuneration packages of each Executive Director of the Group and certain other senior
employees (and any exit terms) and recommends to the Board the framework and broad policies of the Group in relation to Senior Executive
remuneration. The Commitiee determines the targets for all of the Group's performance related remuneration and exercises the Board’s powers
in relation to all of the Group’s share and incentive plans. The terms of reference of the Committee are available on the Campany's website.

There is a formal and transparent procedure for developing pelicy on Executive remuneration and for determining the remuneration
of individual Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for:

— determining and agreaing with the Board the broad Remuneration Policy for:
__ the Chairman, the Executive Directors, and senior management; and
__ the Executive Directors’ remuneration and other benefits and terms of employment, including performance related bonuses and share
options; and
_— approving the service agreements of each Executive Director, including termination arrangements.

No Director is invelved in determining his/her own remuneration.
During the year the Committee addressed the following main topics:

_ Undertook a review of Directors’ remuneration which culminated in the preparation of a revised Remuneration Policy which will be put to
shareholders for approval at the 2023 AGM.

. Reviewed the pension contributions of the Executive Directars to align the contributions to the workforce level by 1 January 2023,

— Reviewed guidance from investor bodies and institutional sharehoiders.

__ Assessed whether our remuneration framework is appropriately aligned with our culture and values, and motivates our leaders 1o achieve
the Group’s strategic objectives.

_ Reviewed and approved the remuneration packages for gur joining and departing Executive Directors.

... Finalised the annual bonus payments for the 2021 financial year to the Executive Directors.

__ Determined the measures, weightings, and laigets for the 2022 annual bonus plan and for the 2022 grant of lang-term incentive awards
under the LTIP.

COMPQSITION OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The members of the Committee during the year were Chns Loughlin (Chair), Julia Unwin, Jim Clarke, and Kieran Murphy.

SUPPORT TO THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

By invitation of the Committee, meetings are also attended by the Company Secretary (who acts as secretary to the Committeg} and the HR
Director, who are consulted on matters discussed by the Cammittee, unless those matters relate to their own remuneratien. The Committee

is autherised to take such internal and external advice as it considers appropriate In connection with carrying cut its duties, including the
appointment of its own external remuneration advisers. During the year, the Committee was assisted in its work by FIT Remuneration
Consultants LLP. FIT was appointed in 2019 following a tender process and has provided advice in 2022 in relation to general remuneration
matters and the review of the Remunearation Policy. Fees paid to FIT in relation to advice to the Committee in 2022 were £20,612 (excluding
VAT). FIT did not provide any other services to the Company. FIT is a member of the Remuneration Consultants Group and, as such, voluntarily
operates under the Code of Conduct in relation to executive remuneration consulting in the UK. The Committee is satisfied that the advice

it received from FIT 15 objective and independent.

STATEMENT OF VOTING AT GENERAL MEETING
The table below shows the voting ocutcome in respect of the remuneration related resolutions at the 2022 AGM.

Votes
Item Votes for % Votes against % withheld
To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report 84,282,602 92.3% 6,989,739 17% 10,034

The Committee was pleased with the high level of support provided by shareholders at the 2022 AGM.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the Directors

The Directors present
their report together
with the consolidated
financial statements
for the year ended

31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are
the provision of a range of outscurced
services to the public and private sectors,
The principal activity of the Company is
to act as a holding compary.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is required to set cut a fair
review of the business of the Group during
the reporting period. The information that
fulfils this requirement can be found in the
Strategic Report, Chief Executive Officer's
review and Financial review The results
of the Grouo can be found within the
Consolidated Income Statement. information
reguired to be disclosed in respect of
amissions and future developments is
included within the Strategic Report.

DIVIDEND

An interim dividend in respect of 2022 of
3.25p per share was pald to shareholders
in October 2022, 1he Directors iecommend
a final dividend of 7.25p per share for
paymentin June 2023, This has not been
included within the consolidated finrancial
statements as no obligation existed at

31 December 2022,

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Detalls of the Group’s corporate governance
are set out on pages 62 to 100.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

We focus on a range of key indicators to
assess our performance. Our performance
indicators are both financial and nen-financial
and ensure that the Group targets its
resources around its customers, employees,
operations, and finance. Collectively they
form an integral part of the way that we
manage the business to delver our strategic
goals. Our primary performance indicators
are detailed on pages 24 and 25

DIRECTORS

The present membership of the Board
is set cut with the bicgraphical detal
on pages 64 and 65,

In line with current practice, all of the
Direclors will retire and, being ehgible, offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM in
June 2023 Any person appeinted by the
Directors must retire at the next AGM but will
be elgible for re-election at that meeting

93

The beneficial interests of the Directars in
the shares of the Company at 31 December
2022 are detailed within the Remuneration
Report on page 93.

The process governing the appointment and
replacement of Direclors is detailed within
the Report of the Nominations Committee.

AMENDMENT TO ARTICLES

OF AR SOHIEATY N

The Company's Articles of Association can
be amended only by a special resolution of
the members, requiring a majority of not less
than 75% of such members voting in person
or by proxy.

SHARE CAPITAL AUTHORISATIONS
The 2022 AGM held in May 2022 authorised:

_. the Directors 1o allot shares within defined
limits. The Companies Act 2006 requires
directors to seek this authority and,
following changes to Financial Services
Authority (FSA) rules and Institutional
guidelines, the authority was limited to
one third of the issued share capital, a
total of £369,845 plus an additional one
third of issued share capital of £369,606
that can anly be used for a rights issue
or similar fundraising;

— the Directors 1o issue shares for cash on a
non-pre-emptive pasis. This authorily was
limited to 5% of the issued share capital
of £55.476 and is required to facilitate
technical matters such as dealing with
fractional entitlements or possibly
a small placing;

— 1ne convening of general meelings
{other than an AGM) on 14 days’ notice
Section 307A of the Companies Act 2006
provides that listed companies must hold
general meetings (other than annual
general meetings) on 21 days' notice
untess the members of that company
pass a special resolution agreeingtoa
shorter notice period which cannot be
any {ess than 14 clear days. ltis therefore
necessary for the Company to pass this
resolution allowing the Company to
continue to hold general meetings
fother than annual general meetings)
cn not less than 14 clear days’ nosice, and

_ authority to purchase up to 10% of
“heissued ordinary share capital of
the Company. The resolution specified
a maximum number of skares of
11,095,377, and also placed a minimum
and maximum price at which they may
oe bought, basad upoen macket pricing
at the t'me of the transaction.

Further details of these authorisations are
available in the notes to the 2022 Notice of
AGM. Shareholders are also referred to the
2023 Notice of AGM, which contains similar
provisions in respect of the Company's
equity share capital.

AGM

The 2023 AGM will be held in June 2023.

A formal Notice of Meeting and Form of
Proxy will be issued in advance. The ordinary
business to be conducted will include the
reappointment of all Directors.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Risk is an accepted part of doing business
The Group’s financial risk management is
based on sound economic objectives and
good corporate practice. THe Board has
overall responsibility for risk management
and internal ¢controls within the context of
achieving the Group's objectives, Qur
process for identifying and managing risks
is set out In more detall within the carporate
governance statement. The key risks and
mitigating factors are set out on pages 46
to 51. Details of financial risk management
and exposure Lo price risk, credit risk, and
liquidity risk are given in note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Group is party to significant contracts,
The Directors do not consider that any cne
of those contracts is essential in its awn right
to the continuation of the Group’s activities.
As detailed within the Strategic Report on
pages 59 and 60, the Directors completed
along-term assessment of the Group's
financial viability and the loss of a number
of key contracts was modeiled as one
possible downside scenario, but the

Group remained viable In suzh an event.

PAYMENT POLICY

The Company acts purely as a hoiding
company and as such is non-trading.
Accordingly, no payment policy has been
defined. However, the policy for Group
trading companies Is to set the terms of
payment with suppliers when entering
into a transaction and 10 ensure suppliers
are gware of these terms, Group trade
creditors during the year amounted to 34
days (2021 33 days) of average supplies
for the year.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group is financed through both equity
share capital and debt. Details of changes

to the Company’s share capital are given

i1 note 26 to the consolidated ‘inancial
statements, The Company has a single class
of shares — ordinary 1p shares — with no right
1o any fixed income and with each share
carrying the right to one vote at the general
meetings of the Company. Under the
Company’s Articles of Association, halders
of ordinary shares are entitled to pa-ticipate
in any dividends pro-rata to thew helding,
The Beoard may propose and pay intenm
dividends and recommend a final dividend
1of approval by the shareholders at the AGM,
A final dvidend may be declared by the
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shareholders In a general meeting by
ordinary resulution but such dividend
cannot exceed the amount recommended
by the Baard.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS

As at 31 March 2023 the Company has been
nolified of, or 1s aware of, the shareholders
helding 2% or more of the 1ssued share
capital of the Company. These shareholders
are detailed on page 70.

DISABLED EMPLOYEES

Applications for employment by disabled
persons are always fully considered, bearing
in mind the aptitudes of the applicant
concerned. In the event of members of staff
becoming disabled, every effort is made 1o
cisure that their employment with the Group
continues and that appropriate training is
arranged. It is the poticy of the Group that
the training, career development, and
promotion of disabled persons should,

as far as possible, be identical to that

of other employees.

GHG EMISSIONS

The Group’s carbon emissions data for the
year is provided within the Task Force

on Clirate-related Financial Disclosures
on pages 38to 41

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

AR COMNBULTATION

The Group has received recognition under
the 'investors in People’ award. The Group
continues to involve its staff in the future
development of the business. Information is
provided to employees through a daily news
email, a quarterly newsletter posted out to
all staff, the Group website, and the intranet
to ensure that employees are kept well
informed of the performance and
objectives of the Group.

CREST

CREST is the computerised system for

the settlement of share dealings on the
Lendon Stock Exchange. CREST reduces
the amount of documentation reguired
and also makes the trading of shares faster
and more secure. CREST enables shares
tc be held in an electronic form instead of
the traditional share certificates. CREST is
voluntary and shareholders can keep their
share certificates if they wish. This may be
preferable for shareholders wha do not
trade in shares on a frequent basis

GOING CONCERN

The Directors do not consider going cnncern
to be a critical accounting judgement.

in reaching this determinaticn, the

Directors have taken account of:

exceltent trading defivered during 2022,

_ astrongly positive dally net cash position
throughout 2022,

__ astrong crder book, which provides
excellent visibility of future sales; and

.- the Group’s budget for 2023 forecasting
continued strong financial performance.

Notwithstanding the UK econemic backdrop,
the Board approved a budget for 2023 which
reflects margin and profit growth compared
to the prior year. The Group is well
positioned, nnderpinned by the non
discretionary nature of the Group's activities
and public sector client group. The Board
recognises that it is not immune to labour
shortages, supply chain challenges, and
inflationary pressures, and has included a
contingency amounting to circa 1% on Greup
costs (excluding direct labour) within its base
finrancial forecasts to reflect this uncertainty.
The Board has communicated its capital
allocation policy to stakeholders, and a

key pillar of this policy is to maintain a net
cash position on a daity basis. It is from

this position of strength that the Board
campletes this going concern assessment.

In making its going concern assessment,

the Directors are requited to consider as to
whether there is a reascnable expectation
that the Group and Company have adequate
resources to continue in operational
existence for at least 12 months following the
signing of these financial statements. The
Board has adopted a gaing concern period
for this purpose up to 30 June 2024, This
assessment considers whether the Group
will be able to maintain adequate liguidity
headroom above the level of its borrowing
facilities and to operate within the financial
covenants applicable to those facilities
which will be measured on 30 June 2023,

31 December 2023 and 30 June 2024. On

31 December 2022, the Group held £70m

of committed borrewing facilities, maturing
in December 2026. The principal borrowing
faciities are subject to covenants as detailed
within the Financial review section of the
Strategic Reporl. The Strategic Report alss
details the principal risks and uncertainties
and how the Group manages its risks.
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The Group reported a net cash position

of £98,)m on 31 December 2022, but the
Directors believe that the average daily net
cash, which averaged £42.9m during 2022,
provides stakeholders a better indication
of the underlying pesition and is a better
indicater of the Group's liquidity. The Group
has modelled its cash flow cutlook for the
period to 30 June 2024 and the forecasts
indicate signiticant iguidily headroon will e
maintgined above the Group’s borrowing
facilities and that financial covenants will be
met throughout the period, inclLding the
covenant tests on 30 June 2023,

31 December 2023 and 20 June 2024

In making its assessment of going concern,
the Board has confirmed that there have
been no post balance sheet changes which
have a matental impact on the husiness

or affect quidity.

The Group has carried out stress tests
againsi the base case o determine the
performance levels that would result in

a hreach of cavenants or a reduction of
headroom against its borrowing facilities

to &£nil. The Directors carried out reverse
stress testing, increasing the severity of the
assumptions to measure the trigger points
at which the going concern of the Group
could be impacted. After making these
assessments, the Birectors consider any
scenario or combination of scenarios

which could cause the business to be no
longer a going concern to be implausible.
The Directors have a reasonable expectation
that the Company and its subsidiaries

have adequate resources to continue

in aperationat existence until 30 June 2024,
Accordingly, they continue to adopt the
gcing concern basis in prepanng the Annual
Report and Accounts.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young LLP offers itself for
reappointment as auditor in accordance with
Section 489 of the Companies Act 2006,

By order of the Board
B WESTRAN
COMPANY SECRETARY

benwestran@mearsgroup.co.uk
28 Aprit 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Direclors are required to prepare the
financial statements for the Company and the
Group at the end of each financial year in
accordance with all applicable iaws and
regulations, Under company law the
Directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
and profit or lass of the Group and the
Company for that period. In preparing

these financial statements, the Directors

are required to:

select suitable accounting policies

and apply them consistently,;
_ make judgements and accounting
estimates that are reasonable;
state whether the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared in
accordance with UK-adopted iniernaticnal
accoeunting standards (IFRS) and in
conformity with the Companies Act 2006;
state for the Company financial
statements whether United Kingdom
Accounting Standards and applicable law,
Including Financtal Repaorting Standard 101
‘Reduced Disclosure Framework' {(FRS
101, have been followed, and
prepare the financial statements on
tre going concern bas's unless it is
inapproprigte t0 presume that the
Company and the Group will continue
in business,

The Directors are responsible for ensuring
that the Group keeps proper accounting
records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy the financial position of the Group
and the Company to enable them to ensure
that the financial statements comply with
the Companies Act 2006 ana, as regards
the consclidated financial statements, IFRS.
The Directors are also responsible for the
system of internal controls, for safeguarding
the assets of the Group and the Company,
and laking reasonable steps to prevent

and cetect fraud and cother irregularities.

100

Under applicable law and regulations, the
Directors are also responsible for preparing
a Strategic Report, Directors’ Report,
Directors’ Remuneration Report and
corporate governance statement that
camply with that law and those regulations

The Directors confirm that;

so far as each Director is aware there
1s ne relevant audit information of which
the Company's auditor is unaware; and
. the Directors have taken all the steps that
they ought to have taken as Directors
in order to make themselves aware
of any relevant audit information and
to establish that the auditor is aware
of that information.

The Directors are responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the corporate
and financial information included on the
Company’'s website. Legislation in the United
Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financiai statements may
differ from legislation in ather junsdictions.

The Board confirms that to the best
of its knowledge:

_ the financial statements, prepared in
accordance with the applicable set of
acceunting standards, give a true and fair
view of the assets, liabilities, financiai
position, and profit or loss of the Group
and the undertakings included in the
consolidation taken as a whole; and

__ the Annual Report includes a fair review
of the development and performance
o“the business and the position of the
Group and the undertakings included
in the consolidation taken as a whale,
together with 8 description of the principal
risks and unceriainties that they face,

The Directars are responsible for preparing
the Annual Report in accordance with
appiicable law and regulations. The Board
considers the Annual Report and Accounts,
taken as a whote, is fair, balanced, ang
understandable and that it provides the
information necessary for shareholders

to assess the G oup's performance,
business maodel, and strategy

On behalf of the Board

ACMSEMITH

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
andrew.smith@mearsgroup.co.uk
28 April 2023

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC

OPINION
In our opinion:

__ Mears Group plc's group financial statements and parent company financial statements (the “financial statements’) give a true and fair view
of the state of the Group’s and of the parent company's affairs as at 31 December 2022 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended;

__ the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards;

__ the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice; and
the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements of Mears Group plc (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the "Group’) for the year ended
31 December 2022 which comprise:

Group Parent company

Consclidated statement of profit or loss for the year then ended Balance sheet as at 31 December 2022

Consclidated statement of comprehensive income far the year then ended Statement of changes in equity for the year then ended
Consclidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2022 Related notes 110 16 to the financial statements including

a summary of significant accounting policies

Consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended

Cansolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended

Related notes 1 to 32 to the financial statements, Including a summary of significant
accounting poelicies

The financial reparting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements I1s applicable law and UK adopted
international accounting standards. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial
statements is applicable Jlaw and United Kingdom Accounting Slandards, including FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework” (United Kingdom

Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing {UK) (ISAs (UK}) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditer’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion

INDEPENDENCE

We are independent of the Group and parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to cur audit of the
financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided to the Group or the parent company and we remain
independent of the Group and the parent company in conducting the audit.

CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO GOING CONCERN

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of
the financial statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the Directors’ assessment of the Group and parent company’s ability to continue to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting included:

__ testing the clerical accuracy of the model used (o prepare the Group's going concern assessment

_. assessing the reasonableness of the cashflow forecast by analysing management’s historical forecasting accuracy, We evaluated the key
assumptions underpinning the Group’s forecasts by proposing alternatives and challenging management’s position.

_. considering whether the Group's forecasts in the going concern assessment were consisient with other forecasts used by the Group in its
accounting estimates, including goodwill impairment.

_ challenging, based on our own independent analysis, whether the severe downside cases prepared by management could lead eitherto a
loss of liquidity or a covenant breach and whether these scenarios were plausible. Our assessment Included censideration of the impact
and likeiihood of management’s scenarios as follows, including a combination of them:

. a cyber breach scenario which results in additional irrecoverable costs to the business
_ aninability to secure new work and a lack of success on contract rebids
__ aninability to recover additional inflationary costs

— considering the mitigating actions that management could undertake in a severe but plausible downside scenario and challenging their
feasibility.

__ Considering, independently, a “reverse stress-test” scenario that would lead to either a loss of liquidity or a covenant breach. Qur reverse

stress-test scenario utlised management’s scenarios and additionally assumed increased costs due to inflation that could not be passed on

to customers.

We also confirmed the cash position at 31 December 2022 by agreeing to confirmations received directly from the bank, as well as

availability of debt facilities and considered their underlying terms, including covenanis, by examination of executed documentation,
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

Our key observations arising from the procedures are that at 31 December 2022 the Group has £98m cash and undrawn facilities amounting
to £70m which cxpire in December 2026. Management have prepared a base case forecast, a range of severe-downside cases and &
reverse stress test. Management have concluded that the conditions that would need to exist ta result in a loss of liquidity or covenant
hreach are remote.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identiiied any matenal uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or
collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group and parent company’s ability 1o continue as a going concern for & period to 30 June 2024,

In relation to the Group and parent company’s reporting on how they have applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing
material to add or draw attention to in relation to the Directors’ statement in the financial statements about whether the Directors considered it
appropriate to adopt the going concern pasis of accounting.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.
However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern.

OVERVIEW OF OUR AUDIT APPROACH

Audit scope — We performed an audit of the complete financial information of 3 components and audit procedures on specific
balances for a further 10 components.
__ The components where we performed full or specific audit procedures accounted for 99% of Profit before tax,
100% of Revenue and 100% of Total assets.

Key audit matters _. Management override via topside adjustments posted to accruals and provisions through the P12 financiai
statement close process and censolidation process
— Appropriateness of lease accounting under IFRS 16
__ Valuation of the Group and parent’s defined benefit pension obligation and valuation of hard 1o value
scheme assets
_ Appropriateness of revenue recognition including contract accounting, contract assets, and contract accruals

Materiality . Qverall Group materiality of £1.7m which represents 5% of profit before tax from continuing operations.

OUR APPLICATION OF MATERIALITY
We apply the concept of materiality in planning and performing the audit, in evaluating the effect of identified misstatements on the audit and
in forming our audit opinion.

Materiality

The magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected 1o Influence the economic
decisions of the users of the financial statements. Materiality provides a basis for determining the nature and extent of our audit procedures,
We determined materiality for the Group to be £1.7 million {(202% £1.1 million), which is 5% (2021 5%} of profit before tax from continuing
operations (2021 normalised profit before tax fram continuing cperations}, We believe that profit before tax provides the most relevant
performance measure to the stakeholders of the group. Materiality in 2021 was based on our judgement of normalised earnings of the group
from continuing operations due 1o the partial impact of Covid-19

We determined materiality for the parent company to be £1.7 mitlion (2021; £1.1 million), which is capped to Group materiality being 0.9% of total
assets (2021 1% of net assets) being a reflection of what we considered to be important to the users of the financial statements.

During the course of our audit, we reassessed initial materiality and adjusted our final materiality to reflect the final profit before tax for 2022

Performance materiality
The application of maternality at the individual account or balance level. Itis set at an amount to reduce 1o an appropriately low level the
probahility that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds materiality.

On the basis of our risk assessments, together with our assessment of the Group's overall control envirenment, our jJudgement was that
performance materiality was 0% (2021: 50%) of our planning materiality, namely £850,000 (2021 £550,000). We have set performance
materiality at this percentage due to audit differences identified in the prior year.

Audnt work at component locatians for the purpose of abtaining audit coverage over significant financial statement accounts is undertaken
based on a percentage of total performance materiglity. The performance materiality set for each component is based on the relative scale
and risk of the compcnent to the group as @ whole, and our assessment of the risk of missiatement at that component. In the current year,

the range of nerformance materiality allocated to components was £85,000 to £637,500 (2021 £53.000 to £412,500).

Reporting thresheld
An amount below which identified misstatements are considered as being clearly trivial,

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them all uncorrected audit differences in excess of £85,000 (2021 £55,000}, which
is set at 5% of planning materiality, as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

1 02 Mears Group PLC Annuai Report and Accounts 2022



We evaluatle any uncorrected misstalements against both the quantitative measures of materialily discussed above, and in light of other
relevant gualitative considerations in forming aur opinion.

AN OVERVIEW OF THE SCOPE OF THE PARENT COMPANY AND GROUP AUDITS

Tailoring the scope

Our assessment of audit risk, our evaluation of materislity and our allocation of performance materiality determine our audit scope for

each company wilhin the Group. Taken together, this enables us to form an opinion on the consolidated financial statements, We take into
account size, risk profile, the organisation af the Group and effectiveness of group-wide controls, changes in the business environment, the
potential impact of climate change and other factors such as recent Internal audit results when assessing the level of work to be performed
at each component.

In assessing the risk of material misstatement 1o the Group financial statements, and to ensure we had adeguate guantitative coverage of
significant accounts in the financial statements, of the 18 reporting componeants of the Group, we selected 12 components covering entities
within the UK and 1 component based in Channel Islands, which represent the principal business units within the Group.

Of the 13 cemponents selected, we performed an audit of the complete financial information of 3 components (“full scope components”) which
were selected based on their size or risk characteristics. For the remaining 10 components ("specific scope compaonents™), we performed audit
procedures on specific accounts within that component that we considered had the potential for the greatest impact on the significant
accounts in the financial statements either because of the size of these accounts or their risk profile.

The reporting components where we performed audit procedures accounted for 99% (2021: 100%,) of the Group’s Profit before tax, 100%
(2021:100%) of the Group's Revenue and 100% (2021: 100%) of the Group’s Total assets. For the current year, the full scope components
contributed 78% (2021 79%) of the Group's Profit before tax, B2% (2021 79%,) of the Group’s Revenue and 82% (2021: 82%)} of the Group's Total
assets. The specific scope components contributed 21% (2021 21%) of the Group's Profit before tax, 18% (2021: 20%) of the Group's Revenue
and 18% (2021: 18%} of the Group's Total assets. The audit scope of these compaonents may not have included testing of all significant accounts
of the component, butl will have contributed to the coverage of significant accounts tested for the Group.,

Of the remaining 5 components that together represent 1% of the Group’s Profit before tax, none are individually greater than 1% of the Group’s
profit before tax. For these components, we perfarmed other procedures, including analytical review, testing of consolidation journals and
intercompany eliminations to respond to any potential risks of material misstatement to the Group financial statements.

The charts below illustrate the coverage obtained from the work performed by our audit teams.

Profit befare tax Revenue Total assets

® 78% Full scope ® 82% Full scope ® B2% Fuil scope

components components companents
& A Tabeams eore O TRt Seope & mpbnems <oPe
& Hrocadures B e adStes B Crechdires
Changes from the prior year
The total coverage from full and specific scope components was at similar levels to the prior year,
2022 201
Full scope 3 3
Specific scope 10 8
Remaining components 5 4
Total components 18 15

The increase in components compared to the prior year reflects 3 newly incorporated / acquired components in 2022, 1 added to specific
scope and 2 to remaining components. Further, 1 specific scope component in 2021 has moved to remaining components in 2022 and 2
remaining components in 2021 has moved to specific scope in 2022,

Involvement with component teams
All audit work performed for the purposes of the audit was undertaken by the Group audit team.

Climate change

Stakeholders are increasingly interested in how climate change will impact Mears Group plc. The Group has delermined that the most
significant future impacts from climate change on its operations will be from the desire to achieve net zero status by 2050. This is explained on
pages 38-41in the Task Force for Climate related Financia! Disclosures and an page 47 in the principal risks and uncertainties. They have also
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

explained their chmate commitménts on pages 42 to 43. All of these disclosures form part of the “Other information,” rather than the audited
financial statements. Our procedures on these unaudited disclosures consisted solely of considering whether they are materialiy inconsistent
with the financial statements, or cur knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appear to be materially misstated, in line with
ouwr responsibifines on “Other information™.

In planning and performing our audit we assessed the potential impacts of climate change on the group's business and any conseguential
material impact on its financial statements.

The Group has explained in Note 1 how they have reflected the impact of climate change in their financial statements Significant jJudgements
and estimates relating to chmate ¢change are included in note 1.

Our audit effortin considering the impact of climate change on the financiaf statements was focused on evaluating management's assessmeant
of the impact of cimate risk, physicai and transition, their climate commitments the effects of material climate risks and the significant
Jjudgements and estimates disclosed in note land whether these have been approprigtely reflected. As part of this evaluation, we performed
our own risk assessment to determine the risks of matenal misstatement in the financial staternents from climate change which needed to be
considered in our audit.

We also challenged the Directors’ considerations of climate change risks in their assessment of going concern and viahility and associated
disclosures. Where considerations of climate change were relevant to our assessment of going concern, these are described above.

Based on our work we have not identified the impact of climate change on the financia! statements to be a key audit matter or to impact a key
audit matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professivnal judgment, were of most significance in o andit of the financial statements of the
current periad and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These
matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the
efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in our
opinien thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.,

Risk

Qur response to the risk

Key observations
communicated to the
Audit Committes

Management override via topside
adjustments posted to accruals and
provisions through the P12 financial
statements close process and
consolidation process

Refer to the Audit Committee Report
fpage 76); Accounting policies

in Note 1of the Consolidated
Financial Statements (page 117)

There is a level of complexity within
the business which necessitates high
volumes of journal entries at the year
end, and top-side adjustments in
preparing the consolidated financial
statements. This increases the risk that
management will post an erroneous
journal that will materially affect the
financial statements.

There are also a number of provisions
and accruals at year end that are based
on management estimation.

We performed audit procedures over this risk area centrally, covering both
full and specific scope components,

We walked through the financial statement close and consolidation
processes to assess the design and implementation of key controis.

We independently verified the results and balances of the consolidated
entities by agreeing the results and balances included in the consoldation
directly to the trial balances for all full and specific scope components.

We obtained an understanding of all material year-end financial statement
close and consolidation journal entries posted, and specifically tested a
sample of the journals to supporting evidence.

We have further tested journal entries throughout the audit process using
our data analytics general iedger analyser tools to identify and investigate
unusual items having considered criteria that we believed indicated a
higher likelihood of material misstatement.

We identified 3 journal source types that in our judgement may be more
susceptible to management override. We assessed that size was an
important factor in relation to the risk of management override and tested
all journals in these source types over £85,000 affecting accruals and
provisions in the month of December 2022, as we assessed that there was
greater risk of management override close te the year-end date.

We also {ested the same Jjournal source types to the same threshold in
January 2023 to understand if there were any unusual amendments which
should have been reflected in the 2022 financial statements.

We understood the nature and appropriateness of material round sum
amounts in accruals and provisions at the year-end. We alsc ensured we
understood the reason for significant movements in provisions and accruals
from the prior year and challenged management where there had been no
movement. Our work included corroborating the year-end accruals and
provisions to supporting information, looking back at prior years {0 assess
management’s ability to estimate, and challenging the most significant
assumptions.

As described in note 22 to of the consolidated financial statements, during
the year & claim for losses was raised by a former customer of the Group
("Claimant”) after a ruling was made by an adjudicator in favour of the
Claimantin respect of a claim for breach of contract. The Directors of the
Group dispute 8 number of estimates and assumptions underlying the value
of the claim and subsequent to the year end, the matter has been taken to
adjudication by the Claimant with a claim value of £2.3m. A response was
filed by the Group in its defence and the timeline for a decision is expected
on 2 May 2023,

The Directors have considered a range of possible outcaomes and have
provided a sum of £5.7m, which they believe represents the best estimate
of the likely cutceme.

We have obtained a reconciliation between the customer’s claim amounting
to £9.3m and the carrying value of the provisions of £5.7m. We have
invelved our forensics specialists to support the audit team in challenging
the reconciling items, reviewing the cantract and the customer's expert
report, We have challenged management's assessment and calculated our
estimated range for the provision. We have then assessed the adequacy of
disclosures made in respect of this matter.

All audit work 10 relation to this key audit matter was undertaken by the
Group engagement team.

We conclude that based
on the audit procedures
performed, the
year-end journal entries
and top-side
cansolidation
adjustments relating to
judgemental provisions
(including the provision
for losses raised by the
Claimant) and accruals
are apprapriate,

Our procedures did not
identify any instances of
management averride.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

Risk

Qur sesponse to the risk

Key observations
communicated to the
Audit Committee

Appropriateness of lease accounting
under IFRS 16: Right of use {"ROU™}
assets in Group £213.4m (2021
£204.9m), parent company 2022
£21.8m (2021 £21.4m};

Lease liabilities in Group £225.4m
(2021 £216.9m), parent company
2022 £22.0m (2021 £21.7m).

Refer to the Audit Committee Report
foage 76); Accounting polficies (page
131, and Note 15 and Note 20 of the
Consolidated Financiol Statements
fpages 131 and 138 respectively)

The accounting of IFRS 16 is complex
and requires a number of estimates
and judgements. The most significant
astimate is the discount rate
(Incremental Borrowing Rate, '1BR') to
apply to each lease. Key judgements
are made when assessing whether
leasing arrangements fall within the
scope of IFRS 168, and in determining
the approptiate lease term at the
incention of the lease where leased
assets are subjectto extension or
termination optians. Further, the Group
has a high valume of leases, some of
which are camplex in nature, and the
Group uses a combination of manual
bespoke excel modeiling templates,
and an off the shelf software package
to derive the ROU asset and lease
liability values.

Due to the significant financial
statement impact of IFRS 16, the high
level of estimation and judgement
required in determining the appropriate
accounting treatment, and the manual
modelling of the impact on some lease
categories, we identified IFRS 16 as &
significant risk

106

We performed audit procedures over this risk area which covered 100% of
e risk amount.

Qur procedures included:

Assessing management’s process:
We gained an understanding through a walkthrough of the process and
controls management have in place over the completengss of IFRS 16,

Key estimate:

We have assessed the appropriateness of the IBR by reviewing
management's methodelogy. With the suppart of our Corporate Treasury
specialists, we reperformed the calculations and challenged their vahdity by
comparing to observable market rates.

Key judgments:

We challenged the key judgements and assumptions used by management
in relation to, assessing whether leasing arrangements fall within the scope
of IFRS 16, and in determining the appropriate lease term at the inception of
the lease where leased assets are subject Lo extension or termination
options. We made inguiries of management, and selected a sample of
leases, inspecting the arrangement terms and reaching an independent
opinion on the IFRS 16 accounting treatment.

Tests of detail:

We assessed the completeness of the population of leases by selecling 8
sample of lease payments made during the year, and post year end through
ta 31 January 2023, from the appropriate income statement general ladger
codes which included all lease payrments made during the year. We
cbtained and inspected a copy of the underlying supparting evidence and
independently assessed whether management's lease identification basis
is aligned with IFRS 16, by either tracing the asset through to the correct
RCU model, or ensuring it was not included within any ROU models, if IFRS
16 recognition criteria were not met. We selected a sample of vendor
payments to obtain an understanding of the nature of transactions by
analysing the vendaor accounts, and where necessary abtaining underlying
supporting evidence to identify transactions which might indicate
completeness issues,

For a sample of leases, we assessed the measurement/valuation of the
underlying lease data by checking the key inputs used in the models to the
original contract or other supporting data, and recalculating the ROU asset
and corresponding lease liability.

We interrogated the integrity and mechanical accuracy of the bespoke
excel modelling templates used to derive the IFRS 16 journals for vehicles,
residential property used directly in the business, and some of the
residential property sub-leased to customers. We did this through the
application of our EY Al Spreadsheet anslyser which highlights, amangst
other things, complex sheets, hardcoded items, Inconsistencies in the
logical design, unexpected formula changes, and by searching the madels
for potential duplicate assets

The integrity and mechanical accuracy of the software package used to
derive the IFRS 16 journais for office and residential fixed leases was
validated by independently caiculating the cash fiows for a sample of
leases and comparing the output to the output from the software package.

We considered the adequacy of IFR316 disclosures, including sensitivity of
the lease labilities to the key assumplions.

All audit work in relation to this key audit matter was undartaken by the
group engagement team with assisiance from our valuation specialists.

Based on our audit
procedures performed
we conclude the

keoy estmates

and judgments
underpining the
IFRS 16 ROU assets
and lease liabilities
are appropriate, and
the disclosures within
notes 15 and 20 are
in accordarnce with
the requirements

of IFRS 16, Leases.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022



Risk

Our response to the risk

Key observations
communicated to the
Audit Committee

Valuation of the group and parent
company's defined benefit

iy pension obligation:
Group: net surplus £20.5m,
{2021: £20.2m); Parent
company: net surplus £0.3m,
{2021: £1.8m), and

Valuation of hard te
value scheme assets:
Group: £203.8m,
{2021: £419.3m), parent
company: £12.4m,
{2021: £19.7m)

—

Refer to the Audit Committee Report
{page 77); Accounting policies (page
148); and Note 29 of the Consofidated
Financial Statements (poge 148).

The Group opergles a number of
defined benefit pension schemes
(‘Group schemes’) and is an admitled
body of other defined benefit local
government pension schemes ((LGPS).

Subjective valuation using complex
actuarial assumptions:

A gross defined benefit pension
liability of £202.8m was held at

31 December 2022 (2021: £434.9m) in
respect of all defined henefit pension
schemes. Small changes in the
assumptions and estimates used to
value the group's and parent
company’'s pension obligation (before
deducting scheme assets) would have
a significant effect on the carrying
value of those pension obligations.

The effect of these matters is that,

as part of cur risk assessment, we
determined that the group’s and parent
company’s pension obligation have a
high degree of estimation uncertainty,
with a potential range of reasonable
outcomes greater than our materiality
for the financial statements as a whole.
The financial statements (note 29}
disclose the estimation uncertainty
identified by the group and

parent company.

Valuation of defined benefit
pension assets:

The fair value of the defined pension
scheme assets in aggregate as at

31 December 2022 was £261.7/m
12021: £492.9m). Judgement is applied
in valuing the more complex leve! 2
and level 3 group schemes’ assets,

while the LGPS assets are estimated by

rolling forward the pubhshed asset
position from the previous year using
market index returns over the period.

We performed audit procedures over this risk area centrally, which covered
100% of the risk amount.

Our procedures included:

Assessing management’s process:

We have undersloud management’s process and methodology for
calculating the pension lighility for each scheme, including discussions with
management's external actuaries, walkthrough of the processes,
understanding the key inputs and the design and implementation of key
controls. We performed a fully substantive audit approach rather than
testing the operating effectiveness of key controls.

Assessing management’s experts:

We have assessed the independence, objectivity and competence of the
group’s external actuaries. This included understanding the scope of
services being provided and considering the appropriateness of the
qualifications of the external actuary.

Benchmarking assumptions:

With the support of our pension actuarial specialists, we assessed and
challenged the appropriateness of the assumptions adopted by the
Directors by comparing them to the expectations of our pension actuarial
specialists which they had derived from brcader market data.

Assessing source data:

We tested a sample of the membership data used by the actuaries to the
group’s records. We directly confirmed the existence and valuation of
pension scheme assets with asset managers and custodians for the group
Schemes and analysed the movements on assets for LGPS. With the
support of our valuation and actuarial specialists we independently
challenged the valuation of hard to value scheme assets by performing
detailed testing on a sample of level 2 and level 3 group scheme's assets
and the LGPS assets. We identified market indices that most accurately
reflect the expected performance of the fund {based on the underlying
investment/assel portfolio of the fund) for 2022, Using the suitable/relevant
market index, we set an expectation of the performance of the fund in order
to determine the expected value of the fund as at 31 December 2022, We
then compared the expected value of the fund as at 31 December 2022 to
the value per the investment manages at year end to determine whether
this met cur expectations,

We considered the adequacy of IAS 19 disclosures, including sensitivity
of the obligation to the key assumptions.

All sudit work in relation to this key audit matter was undertaken by
the group engagement team with assistance from our actuarial and
valuation specialists.
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The two group
Schemes and the LGPS
all have different
scheme liability
durations. However,
the financial
assumptions have
been set consistently
across the group
schemes and LGPS
based on a weighted
average duration

of all schemes. All
assumptions used in the
assessment of scheme
liabilities fell within an
acceptable range.

Our testing of the
Group schame hard

to value assets did not
identify any material
misstatements which
required adjustment to
the financial statements.

We are satisfied with
the adeguacy of

disclosure within the
financial statements.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

Risk

QOur response to the risk

Key observations
communicated to the
Audit Committee

Appropriateness of revenue
recognition including contract
accounting, contract assets and
contract accruals:

Group revenue: £959.6m,
{2021: £878.4m)

Refer to the Audit Committee Report
foage 761 Accounting policies (page
118); and Note 2 of the Consotidated
Financiat Statemerits (page 18)

Mears has 4 different patterns of
revenue each with its own revenue
accounting pelicy. Determining the
amount of revenue to be recognised
requires management 1o make
significant judgements and estimates
in the application of IFRS 15, including
the stage of completion of certain
contracts and the recoverability of
coniract assets and completeness

of contract liabilities,

There is considered 1o be a risk of
matenal errer ang management
override in making this assessment,
which makes this a significant risk
to the audit.
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We performed audit procedures over this risk area which covered 100%
of the risk amount.

We performed walkthroughs of the revenue recognition process for all
material patterns of revenue to assess the design and impiementation
of key controls,

We used data analysis tools on 100% of revenue transactions in the year
to test the carrelation between revenue, trade debtors and cash receipts
to verify the occurrence of “evenue, We performead test of detalls on
non-cadrelating entrizs by obtaining underlying supparting evidence
and explanations far the correlation difference for a sample of revenue
transactions to ensure that revenue had been appropriately recognised.

We obtained the schedule of contract assels and liabilities, and selected

a sample of contracts using the lower range of our testing threshold to
include an element of unpredictability. We investigated the recoverability
of contract assets balances by reference to post balance sheet cash
collection, obtained the evidence from the work certfied by the customears
or group’s, internal or independent quantity surveyor.

For revenue recognised, but not certified by the customers or Group’s,

internal or independent gquantity surveyor, we inguired of the reason for
non-certification and challenged the recognition of contract assets and
related revenue.

We challenged the estimated contract cost to complete including obtaining
evidence 1o support ourindependent conclusions where relevant. For
example, we verfied the cost to complete by verifying the work orders
1Issued Lo sub-contractors and challenging the management’s estimation
of overhead costs.

We held meetings with the in-house legal counsel and reviewed the board
meeting minutes to 1dentify and assess the impact of any ongoing disputes
in relation to the recoverability of the contract asset balances, and
challenged the management on the recoverability of such contract assets
where they had been recognised.

For a sample of contracts, where the forecasted margin is negative,
we challenged managemant on the approariateness of the r anergus
contracts provision.

For a sample of customers, we obtained direct confirmations to verify their
contract trade terms with Mears.

We have obtained the schedule of contract liabilities and performed a

recalculation of income recognised during the year and deferred at the year

end. We oblained supporting evidence for a sample of fransactions and
ensured that the revenue has been recognised in accordance with IFRS 15,

We selected a sample of revenue transactions recorded before and
after year end to verify that -he revenue ~ad been recoided in the
appropriate period.

We selected a sample of credit notes issued after year-end and ebtained
documentation to verify that revenue adjustments at year end had been
recorded appropriately.

Disclosure:
We assessed the adequacy of group’s disclosures in accordance with the
requirements of IFRS 15.

All audit work in relation to this key audit matter was undertaken by the
group engagement team.

For the year to

31 December 2022,
we conclude that
based on the audit
procedures performed,
revenue transactions
have been recognised
appropriately. Our
procedures did not
identify instances

of inappropriate
management override
in the recognition

of revenue across

the group.

We are satisfied with
the adequacy of '
disclosure within the
financial statements.
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In the prior year, our auditor’s report included a key audit matter in relation 1o the intended disposal of Haydon Mechanical & Flectrical LLC. In
lhe cunent year, we have not considared this to be a key andit matter as based on the audit procedures performed in the prior year. We
concluded that whilst Mears has the right to control Haydon UAE, there are barriers preventing contrel, and as a result the entity has not been
consolidated. We also concluded that Mears’ exposure to any further liability is remote. There is no change in our conclusion in relation to this
matter based on the updated procedures perfarmed in the current year,

OTHER INFORMATION

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report set out on pages 1to 164, including the Strategic Report, set
out on pages 11n A1 Comarate Governance, set out on pages 62 1o 100, and Shareholder information, set out on pages 163 to 164, other
than the financial statements and our auditer's report thereon. The Directors are responsible for the other infuriation contained within
the annual report.

Qur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except 10 the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report,
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Qur responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial stalements, or our knowlaedge cbtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears o be materially misstated. If we identify such
material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in
the financial statcments themselves. If, baser an the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other
information, we are required 1o report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

OPINIONS CN OTHER MATTERS PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES ACT 2006
In our apinion, the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 20086.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

_ theinformation given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financtal year for which the financial statements are prepared
is consistent with the financial statements; and
— the Strategic Report and the Directers’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the parent company and its environment cbtained in the course of the audit,
we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Directars’ Repaort.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report o you if,
In Qur gRINion:

__ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company. or returns adequate for our sudit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or

__ the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns; or

— certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

__ we have not received all the information and explanations we reguire for our audit

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022 1 O 9

FONYNHIAAOD BLVHOLHOD LHGOIH DIDHLFHLES

SLNIWILYLS IVIONYNIY

NOILYWEOINT B30T 0MHIHYMHE




FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Independent auditor’s report to
the members of Mears Group PLC continued

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

We have reviewed the Directors’ Statement in refation to going concern, longer-term viability and that part of the Corporate Governance
Staternent relating to the Group and parent company’s compliance with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code specified for our
review by the Listing Rules.

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that each of the following elements of the Corporate Governance
Statement 1s materially consistent with the financial statements, or our knowledge obtained during the audit:

— Directors’ statement with regards to the appreopriateness of adopting the going concern basis of accounting and any material uncertainties
dentified set out on page 99;

— Directors’ explanation as o its assessment of the company’s prospects, the period this assessment covers and why the period
is appropriate set out on page 59 to 60,

— Director's statément on whether it has a reasonable expeciation that the Group will be able 1o continue in operation and meets its lisbilties
as they falt due over the pericd of therr assessment set out on page 99;

— Directors’ statement on fair, balanced and understandable set cut on page 75;

— Board's confirmation that it has carried out a robust assessment of the emerging and principal risks set out on page 44 to 51,

— The section of the annual report that describes the review of effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems set out
on page 75; and;

— The section describing the work of the audit committee set out on page 74 t0 79.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibillties Statement set out on page 100, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material missiatement. whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group and parent company’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
Directors either intend to liguidate the Group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are 1o obtan reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that Includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance
butis not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exisls,
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or In the aggregate, they could reasonably

be expacted to influence the economic decisions of users taken an the basis of thase financial statements
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Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including traud, are instances ol noun-conmplisnce with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, cutlined above, to detect irregularities, including fraud. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement due 1o fraud is
higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting fram error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or
intentienal misrepresentations, ar through collusion. The extent 1o which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including
fraud is detailed below.

However, the primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud rests with bhoth those charged with governance of the company

and wanagement.

— We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the Group and parent company and
determined that the most significant are those that relate to the reporting framework (IFRS, FRS101 and the Companies Act 2006, the
Financial Reporting Council (FRC) and the UK Corporate Governance Code) and the relevant tax compliance regulations in the UK.

— We understood how Mears Group pic is complying with those frameworks by reading internal policies and assessing the entity level control
environment, including the level of oversight of those charged with governance. We made enquiries of the Chair of the Audit Committee,
the Group's legal counsel and internal audit, of any known instances of non-compiiance or suspected non-compliance with laws and
regulations. We corroborated our enquiries through review of correspondence with regulatory bodies. We designed our audit procedures
to identify non-compiiance with such laws and regulations identified in the paragraph above. In light of the identified matters which required
further consideration we utillised the experience of our specialists to determine that our response was appropriate.

— We assessed the susceptibility of the Group's financial statements to material misstatement, including how fraud might occur by considering
the programs and controls that the Group and parent company has established to address risks identified by the entity, or that otherwise
prevent, deter and detect fraud. We looked at how senior management monitor those pragrams and controls, evaluating conditions in the
context of incentive and/or pressure to commit fraud, considering the opportunity to commit fraud and the potential rationalisation of the
fraudulent act.

— Based on this understanding we designed our audit procedures to identify nen-compliance with such laws and regulations. Our procedures
involved making enquiries of the Group Finance Directer, the Company Secretary, the Chair of the Audit Committee, and other members of
senior management including the Group Cirector of Health Safety & Compliance, Group HR Director. As well as attendance and enguiry at
meetings, our procedures involved a review of minutes of board meetings, internal audit reports, and other committee minutes to identify
any non-compliance with laws and reguiaticns, We planned cur audit procedures to idenlify risks of management override, tested higher
risk yjournal entries and performed audit procedures to address the potential for management bias, particularly over areas involving
significant estimation. Further detail of cur approach to address the identified risks of management override are set outin the key audit
matters section of cur report.

A further description of our respensibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's website
at https:/Awww.fre. org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report,

OTHER MATTERS WE ARE REQUIRED TO ADDRESS
— Following the recommendation from the augit committee we were appointed by the parent company on 8 September 2020 to audit the
financial statements of the Group and parent company for the year ending 31 December 2020 and subsequent financial periods.

The periad of total uninterrupted engagement including previous renewals and reappointments is 3 years, covering the years ending
31 December 2020 to 31 December 2022,

_ The audit opinion is consistent with the additional report 1o the audit commitiee.

UJSE OF OUR REPORT

This repert 1s made solely to the parent company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006,
Qur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the parent company's members those matters we are required to state to them
in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the parent company and the parent company’s members as a body, for cur audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we

have formed.

NIGEL MEREDITH (SENIOR STATUTORY AUDITOR}

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, STATUTORY AUDITOR
BIRMINGHAM

28 APRIL 2023

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022 111

FINYNHIACD FLVHOLHEGS LAOLAY DIDALVHELS

SINIWILYLS IVIONVYNIY

MOLLYWHOSNT H3GTOHIEYHE




FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated statement of profit or loss

For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021

Note £000 £'000
Continuing operations
Sales revenue 2 959,613 878,420
Cost of sales {763,927 (687,933)
Gross profit 195,686 180,487
Administrative expenses (155,259) {156,940}
Operating profit 4 40,427 23,547
Share of profits of associates 6 858 855
Finance income 5 2,033 835
Finance costs R 5 (8,374) (8,9504)
Profit for the year before tax 34,944 16,333
Tax expense o 8 (6,441) (3192)
Profit for the year from centinuing operations 28,503 13141
Discontinued aperations
Profit from discontinued operations 9 542 840
Tax (charge)/credit on discontinued operations 8 (48) 182
Profit for the year after tax from discontinued operations 494 1122
Profit for the year from continuing and discontinued operations 28,997 14,263
Attributable to:
Owners of Mears Group PLC 28,307 14,119
Nan-cantrolling interast 690 144
Profit for the year 28,997 14,263
Earnings per share - frem continuing operations
Basic " 25.07p 11.72p
Diluted 11 24.51p 1.50p
Earnings per share — from continuing and discontinued operations
Basic 1 25.51p 12.73p
Diluted 11 24.94p 12.49p

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements,
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021 4
Note £'000 £:000 -
Profit for the year 28,997 14,263 -
Other comprehensive income: 2
Which will be subsequently reclassified to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss: E
Cash flow hedges: g
=]
nains arising in the year - 1,023 =
ot
_ reclassification to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss - (85)
Decrease in deferred tax asset in respect of cash flow hedges 25 - (178)
Which will not be subsequently reclassified to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss:
Actuarial (Iloss)/gain on defined benefit pension schemes 29 (3.041) 59721
Pension guarantee asset movements in respect of actuarial gain 29 (6,754) {19.018)
increasef{decrease) in deferred tax in respect of defined henefit pension schemes 25 2,449 {8,809) “
Other comprehensive income for the year {7,346) 32,654 2
sl
Total comprehensive income for the year 21,651 46,917 g
bl
&
Attributable to: po
Owners of Mears Group PLC 20,961 46,773 o
Non-cantrolling interest 690 144 2
Totat comprehensive income for the year 21,651 46,517 g
z
3=
Total comprehensive income for the year attributahle to owners of Mears Group PLC arises from: f‘;
Continuing operations 20,467 45,651 B
Discontinued operations 494 1122
Totat comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners of Mears Group PLC 20,961 46,773
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated balance sheet
As at 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Note £'000 £:000
Assets
Non-current
Goodwili 12 121,868 18,873
intangible assets 13 7,452 6,610
Property, plant and equipment 4 20,188 20,712
Right of use assets 15 213,432 204,945
Investments 1B 1,271 N3
Loan notes and other non-current receivables 24 4,073 3,476
Papnsion and other employee benefits 29 23,672 37651
Pension guarantee assets 29 3,136 12,975
395,092 405,959
Current
Inventories 17 6,879 22,869
Trade and other receivables 18 128,324 148,305
Current tax assets 459 2154
Short-term financial assets 24 1,963 -
Cash and cash eguivalents ) 24 98138 54,632
235773 227960
Total assets 630,865 633,919
Equity
Equity attributable to the shareholders of Mears Group PLC
Called up share capital 26 1110 1109
Share premium account 82.351 82,265
Share-based payment reserve 1,801 1,313
Merger reserve 7.971 7971
Retained earnings 119,100 107,578
Total equity attributable to the shareholders of Mears Group PLC 292,333 200,236
Non-controlling interest 1,492 802
Total equity o 213,825 201,038
Liabilities
Non-current
Pension and other employee benefits pas] 3136 16,995
Deferred tax liabilities 25 4,898 6,676
Lease liabiities 20 181,045 175,290
Other non-current liabilities 21 682 -
Non-current provisions 23 3,10 3,800
192,871 202,761
Current
Trade and other payables 19 171,013 184,047
Lease lhabilities 20 44,376 41,600
Provisions - 22 8,780 4473
Current lHablilities 224469 230120
Total liabilities 417040 432,881
Total equity and liabilities 630,865 633,919

The financial statements were approved and authorised for 1ssue by the Board of Directors and were signed on its behalf on 28 April 2023

D J MILES ACMSMITH
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
Company number: 03232863

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integrai part of these financia! statements
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Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Note £'000 £'000
Operating activities
Result for the year befare tax 34,944 16,333
Adjustments 27 60,524 65,902
Change in inventories 15,991 12,944
Change in trade and other receivables 13,855 (2,244
Change in trade, other payables and provisions {9.760) {32,573)
Cash inflow from operating activities of continuing gperations before taxation 115,554 60,362
Taxes paid {4,128) (3.752)
MNet cash inflow from aperating activities of continuing operations 111,426 56,610
Net cash {outflow)/inflow from operating activities of discontinued operations 9 (494) 59
Net cash inflow from operating activities 110,932 56,669
Investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment {8,052) (7587
Additions to other intangible assels {1,364) (1182)
Proceeds from disposals of property, ptant and equipment -~ 46
Expenditure on acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 28 {2,928) -
Loans repaid by related parties — 500
Distributions from associates 18 300 1108
Amounts placed on short-term deposit in excess of three months 24 (1,963) -
Interest received 764 413
Net cash outflow from investing activities of continuing operations (13,243) (6,702)
Net cash inflow from investing activities of discontinued operations 9 7333 500
Net cash outflow from investing activities (5,910) 16,202)
Financing activities
Proceeds from share issue 87 40
Net cash movement in revolving credit facility - {40,000)
Loans pravided to other entities [non-controlled) {225) -
Repayment of loan acquired with subsidiary 28 37 -
Discharge of lease liabilities {43,169) (40,258}
Interest paid {8,425) (8,844)
Dividends paid — Mears Group shareholders 10 (9,692) (2,773)
Net cash outflow from financing activities of continuing operations {61,461) {91,835)
Net cash outflow from financing activities of discontinued operations 9 (55) (220)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (61,516) {92,055)
Cash and cash equivalents, heginning of year 54,632 96,220
Net increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 43,506 (41,588}
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 98,138 54,632
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Share-
Share based Non-

Share premium payment Hedging Merger Retained controlling Total

capital accouynt reserve reserve reserve earnings interest equity

£000 £000 £'000 £'000 £°000 £'000 £000 £'000
A1 January 2021 1109 82,225 1,312 (760) 7971 63,636 658 156,051
Net result for the year - - - - - 1419 144 14,263
Other comprehensive
income - - — 760 - 31,894 - 32,654
Total comprehensive T
income for the year — — - 760 - 46,013 144 46,917
Deferred tax on share-
based payments - - - - 228 - 228
issue of shares - 40 - - - - - 40
Share options - value of
employee services - - 575 - - - - 575
Share options - exercised
or lapsed - - (574} - - 574 - -
Dividends - - - - - (2.773) — {2.773)
At1January 2022 1109 82,265 1313 - 7971 107578 802 201,038
Net result for the year - - - - - 28,307 590 28,997
Other comprehensive
income - - — — — {7,346) — {7,3@
Total comprehensive
income for the year - - —~ - - 20,961 6590 21,651
Deferred tax on share-
based payments - — — — 142 _ 142
Issue of shares 1 88 - — - - - 87
Share options — value of
employee services - - 599 - - - - 59%
Share options — exercised
or lapsed - - my - - m - -
Dividends, - - - - - {9,692} - (2,692)
At 31 December 2022 1110 82,351 1,801 - 7971 119,100 1,492 213,825

The accempanying accounting policies and
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netes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements — Group
For the year ended 31 December 2022

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Accounting policies are detailed in their respective notes, where relevant. Pulicies that are not specific to a particular note are detailed below,

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity
with the requirements of the Companies Act 20086 and United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards. The financial statements
are prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of contingent consideration, derivative financial instruments
and share-based payments. They are presented in Sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (£'000).

The accounting policies remain unchanged from the previous year except for the modification of a number of standards with effect from
1 January 2022. The adoption of these amendments had no matenal effect on the Group's financial statements.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) requires the use of estimates and
judgements that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenue and expenses during the year. Although these estimates are based on management’'s best knowledge of the amounts, actual results
may ultimately differ from those estimales. The most significant judgements and estimates made by management in these financial statements
are set out in the accounting policies to which they relate.

Government and societal responses o climate change are still developing and are interdependent upon each other, and conseguently
financial statements cannot capture all possible future outcomes as these are not yet known. There were no material impacts of climate
change in determining asset and liability valuations and the timing of future cash flows to be incorporated into these financial statements.

Mears Group PLC is incorporated and demiciled in England and Wales (registration number 03232863). Its registered office and principal place
of business is 1390 Montpellier Court, Gloucester Business Park, Brockworth, Gloucester GL3 4AH. Mears Group PLC's shares are listed on the
Main Market of the Londoen Stock Exchange.

Basis of consolidation

The Consolidated Balance Sheet includes the assets and liabihties of the Caompany and its subsidiaries and is made up to 31 December 2022.
Entities for which the Group has the ability to exercise control over financial and operating policies are accounted for as subsidiaries. Control is
achieved where the Company has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the activities that affect the Company’s returns and
exposure or rights to variable returns from the entity. Interests acquired in entities are consolidated from the effective date of acquisition and
interests seld are consolidated up to the date of disposal.

All significant intercompany transactions and balances between Group enterprises, including unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated on consalidation; no profit is taken on sales between Group companies.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. Non-
controlling interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business combinaticn and the non-contralling
shareholders’ share of changes in equity since the date of the combination. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance,

A joint venture 1s a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have Joint control have the rights to the net assets of the arrangement,
Associates are entities over which the Group does not have control, but has significant influence. Investments in joint ventures and
assaciates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under this method, the Group's share of post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in the Censolidated Statement of Profit or Loss; the cost of the investment in a given joint venture or associate, together
with the Group's share of that entity’s post-acquisition changes to shareholders’ funds, is included in Investments within the Consolidated
Balance Sheet.

Going concern

The Directors consider that, as at the date of approving the financial statements, there is a reasonable expectation thal the Group and
Company have adequate resources to ceontinue in operational existence for the period until 30 June 2024. When making the assessment,
management considers whether the Group will be able to maintain adequate liquidity headroom above the level of its borrowing facilities and
to operate within the financial covenants applicable to those facilities, which will be measured at 30 June 2023, 31 December 2023 and

30 June 2024, At 31 December 2022, the Group had £70m of committed borrowing facilities, maturing in December 2026; however, no amount
was drawn on the facility. The principal borrowing facilities are subject to covenants, as detailed with the Financial review section of the
Strategic Report on page 58. The Principal Risks and Uncertainties section of the Strategic Report on page 48 alsc details the principal risks
and uncertainties and how the Group manages its risks. The Group has modelled its ¢cash flow outlook for the period to 30 June 2024 and the
forecasts indicate significant liquidity headroom will be maintained above the Group’s borrowing facilities and that financial covenants will be
met throughout the period, including the covenant tests at 30 june 2023, 31 December 2023 and 30 June 2024,

The Group has carried out stress tests against the base case to determine the performance fevels that would result in a breach of covenants or
a reduction of headroom against its borrowing facilities to £nil. The Directors have modelled a number of downside scenarios. Further detail is
provided in the Going Concern section of the Report of the Directors on page 99. After making these assessments, the Directors consider any
scenano or combination of scenarios that could cause the business to be no longer a going cancern to be implausible, The Directors have a
reasonable expectation that the Company and its subsidiaries have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the period to
30 June 2024. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Annual Report and Accounts
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Fair value

The Group measures certain assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis, including its interest rate swaps. contingent consideraticn
and assets in the Group's defined benefit pension schemes.

Trade and other receivables, trade and other payables and other loans are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently held at
amortised cost. Other assets are measured at fair value when they are assessed for impairment ar on classification as held for sale.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measuramant date. The Group uses valuation technigues that maximise the use of relevant observable Inputs using the following
valuation hierarchy, ordered from highest to lowest prionty:

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs, typically derived from the Group’s own infosmation with any necessary adjusiments io sliminate faciors specific
to the Group

For assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurnng basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levals in
the tierarchy by assessing the lowest level input that is significant Lo the most recent measurement

Detalls of the particular vaiuation techniques used by the Group are provided in the relevant notes for each type of asset or liability measured
at fair value,

Use of judgements and estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgements that affect the repatted amounts of assets
and habilities and disclosure of contingent assets and lizbilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of income and
expenditure during the reported period. The estimates and assoclated judgements are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgements about carrying
values of assets and liabllities that are not readily apparent from other sources.

The estimates and underlying judgements are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recogrised in the period
inwhich the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period. or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
hoth current and future periods.

in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements, key estimates and judgements have been made by management concerning provisions
necessary for certain figbiliies, estimates used in forecasts used to assess future profitability, the discount rates used and other judgements when
FECognIsing right of use assets for lease stcounting. the Uming of revenue recognition, tne recoverability of contract assets and work in progress,
actuarial estimates in respect of defined benefit pension schemes, the fair value of acquired intangibles and other similar evaluations. Actual amounts
could differ from those estimates. Further details of key estimates and judgements are provided in the appropriate notes.

New standards and interpretations not yet applied

IFRS 17 "Insurance Contracts’ is a new standard effective for accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2023, In addition, a number
of standards have been modified with effact for accounting peariods commencing on or after 1 January 2023, These include IAS 1 ‘Presentation
of Financial Statements’ and IAS 8 ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’. None of these amendments are
expected to have a matenal effect on the Group's financial statements.

2. REVENUE

Accounting policy

Revenue is recognised in accardance with IFRS 15 *Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ IFRS 15 provides a single, principles-based,
five-step modelto be applied to all sales contracts. it 1s based on the transfer of control of goods and services to customers. The detail below
sets out the principal types of contract and how the revenue is recognised in accordance with IFRS 15,

Repair and mainterance contracts
For contracts in this category, the customer raises orders on demand, for example to carry out responsive repairs. Revenue is derived from
a mixture of lump-sum perodic payments and task-based payments depending on the terms of the individual contract.

Where a lump-sum payment is in place it may cover the administrative element of the contract of may cover the majcrity of the tasks undertaken
within that contract with exclusions to this being charged in addition to the lump-sum charge. For the works coverecd by the lump-sum payment,
the performance obligation is being avaflable to deliver the goods and services in the scope of the contract, not the performance of the individual
works orders themselves. Revenue is recognised on a straight-line basis as performance obligations are being met over time

For warks orders not covered by a lump-sum payment, each works order represents a distnct performance obhigation and, as the customer
controls the asset being enhanced through the works, the performance obligation is satisfied over time, Each works crder can be broken down
into one or more distinct tasks which are either complete or not complete. The stage of completion of the works arder is assessed by looking
at which tasks are complete, The transaction price for partly completed works orders is recognised as cost plus expected margin The
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transaction price for completed works orders is the invoice value, which is typically determined by a pricing schedule referred to as a Schedule
of Rates that provides a transaction price for each partieular task.

Some contracts may include an element of variable revenue based on certain key perfarmance indicators (KPIs). These are recognised either
at 8 point in time or over time, depending on the nature of the KPl and the contractua!l agreement in which it is contained. Where there is
uncertainty in the measurement of variable consideration, at both the start of the contract and subseguently, management will consider the
facts and circumstances of the contract in determining either the most likely amount of variable consideration when the outcome is binary, or
the expected value based on a range of possible constderations. Included within this assessment will be the extent to which there is a high
probabilty that a siyuilicant reversal inveriahle cansidoration revernies will not occur once the uncertainty is subseguently resolved. This
assessment will include consideratron of the following factors: the total amount of the vanable consideralion; the propotlivn of conaideration
suscaptible to judgements of customers or third parties, for example KPIs; the length of time expected belore resclution of the uncertainty; and
the Group’s previous experience of similar contracts.

Property income
Where the Group is acting as principal, lessor operating lease revenue is recognised in revenue on a straight-line basis over the tenancy.

Where the Group is providing a management service, Mears recognises revenue as an agent {the net management fee) on a straight-iine basis.
Where significant initial costs are required to make good the housing to perform Housing Management activities, the costs directly attributable
to the initial upgrade will be recognised as costs incurred to fulfil a contract and held within current assets, to the extent that it is determined
that costs are recoverable.

Where the Group is providing an accommodation and support service, ravenue is racognised at a point in time for each night that the
accommodation is occupied.

Some contracts may include an element of vanable revenue based on certain KPIs, This is recognised on the same basis as above,

Where the Group enters Into arrangements with customers for the provision of housing. an assessment is made as to whether this income is
recognised under IFRS 15 or IFRS 16. The contract between the Group and the customer is deemed te contain a lease where the contract
conveys the right to control an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. In this instance, the rental income 13
recognised on a straight-line basis aver the life of the lease. All such sub-leased residential property leases are classified as operating leases.
Revenue in respect of sub-leased residential property is disciosed separately.

Care services

The standalone selling prices for providing care are overtly stated in the contract, and the method of application of the rate of charge is on
aunit of time basis, usually expressed as a rate per visit. Revenue will be recognised in respect of this single performance abligation, by
reference to the chargeable rate and time for completed care visits in the period.

From time to time, care contracts with customers include a fixed fee per period for performing a consistent scope of care services. For these
cantract types, the revenue recognition is consistent with lump-sum payments included in repair and maintenance contracts, as described above.

Maobilisation

Across all revenue types, where a contract includes a mobilisation element, consideration is initially given to whether the mobilisation element
cantains any discrete performance obligations, If this is the case, an element of the total contract price 15 allocated to those performance
obligations and recognised either at a point in time or over time, depending on the nature of the performance obligation. Mobilisation income
is included in the revenue category o which the contract relates.

Where amounts are received for mobilisation elements that are not performance obligations, these amounts are allocated to the performance
obligaticns in the contract to which they relate.

No revenue was recognised during 2021 or 2022 in respect of mebilisation performance obligations.

Contracting projects

For contracting projects, the contract states the scope and specification of the construction works to be carried out, for a fixed price. Mears

is continuously satisfying this single performance cbligation as cost s incurred, determinirg progress against the performance abligaticn on
either an input or an cutput basis. The customer controls the site or output as the work is being performed on it and therefore revenue is
recognised over time where there is an enforceabile right to payment for works completed to date and the work completed does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group. An assessment is made of costs incurred to date and the costs required 1o complete the project. If a
project is not deemed to be profitable, the unavoidable costs of fulfilling the cantract are provided for immediately. This category also includes
construction contracts where an end customer has not vet been identified and the revenue is recognised at the point of sale of the property,
rather than over time.

Other

From time to time, the Group receives revenue that does not fall within any of the categories above but is not individually significant encugh to
require a specific policy. In these cases, the revenue is considered separately and recognised in accordance with IFRS 15,
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Contract recoverability

Determining future contract profitability requires estimates of fuiure revenuas and cosis to complete. In making these assessments there is a
degree of inherent uncertainty. The Group utilises the appropriate expertise in determining these estimates and has well-established internal
controls 1o assess and review the expected outcome.

2. REVENWUE CONTINUED

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting peolicies

Revenue recognition

The estimation techniques used for revenue and profit recognition in respect of contracting and variable consideration contracts require
judgements to be made about the stage of completion of certain contracts and the recovery of work in progress, mobilisalion cests and
contract assets. Each contract s treated on its merits and subjeci to a regular review of the revenue and casts to complete that contract,

The Group's revenue disaggregated by pattern of revenue recognition is as follows!

2022 2020
£°000 £'000

Revenue from contracts with customers
Repairs and maintenance 451,063 481,647
Contracting 83,463 101,599
Property income 376,296 240641
Care services 19,544 19,446
Other 345 295
930,711 843,628
Lease income o - 28,902 34,792

959,613 878,420

A total of £24.3m of revenue was recognised in respect of the balance of contract liabilities at the start of the year (2021 £13.2m).

Repairs and maintenance and care service revenue is typically invoiced between one and 30 days from completion of the pertormance
obligation. Contiacting revenue is typically invoiced based on ihe stage of completion of the overall contract. Property income is typicaly
invoiced monthly in advance. Payment terms for revenue invoiced are typically 30 to 60 days from the date of invoice.

A maturity anaiysis of future minimum lessor income as at 31 December is shown in the table below:

2022 202

£'000 £'000

Less than 1 year 3,245 7535
Between 1and 2 years 1,537 2365
Between 2 and 3 years 1,531 2,060
Between 3 and 4 years 1,531 1750
Between 4 and 5 years 1,150 1,544
Over 5 years 393 812
9,387 16,066

3. SEGMENT REPORTING

Accounting policy

Segmentinformation is presented in respect of the Group's operating segments based on the format that the Group reports to its chief
operaling decision maker for th puipose of aliocating resources and assessing performance

The Group considers thal the chief operating decision maker comprises the Executive Directors of the business.
During the yvear, the Directors revisited the Group's segmental reporting, resulting 1n @ change in the disclosure with respect to reportable
segments. As there has been no change during the year in the financlal informatian reported to the chief operating decision maker, the change

has been accountad fof as a correction of the prior year, in accordance with 1AS 8, paragraph 49, and the prior vear comparative figures have
been amended accordingly.
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The Executive Directors manage the group as a single Housing business, but information provided to the Board and historically to
stakenoelders has included a splil belween Maintenance, Management and Developmant, Therefore, the Directors have concluded that
providing segmental information along the same lines would be helpful to the users of the financial statements.

2022 2021
Maintenance Management Development Total Maintenance Management Development Total
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000 £'0006
Revenue 535,336 405,776 18,501 959,613 572,377 280,422 25621 878420
Prufil/{luss) before tax
and amortisation of
acquisition intangibles 12,022 24,281 {(1,114) 35189 12,718 12,554 {1,285) 23,987
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles {245) (7.654)
Profit before tax 34,944 16,333
Tax expense {6,441) (3752}
Profit/{loss) for the year 28,503 1341

The revenues in respect of the Housing with Care element of the business are included within Maintenance as these services do not
include the provision of & property. In the Chief Executive Officer's review in the 2021 Annual Report, these figures were included in the
‘Management-led' ine.

All revenue and all non-current assets arise within the United Kingdaem, All of the revenue reparted is external 1o the Group, The Group's
largest single customer relationship is 1in respect of the Asylum Accommeodation and Support Contract (AASC) with the Home Office, included
within the Managemeant segment. At the time that this contract was won, the Group expected to report annual revenues of around £120m,
which would, under normal conditions, amount to around 15% of Group revenues. The AASC has experienced elevated volumes as a result of a
backlog linked to the challenges of the Covid-18 pandemic. As a resuit, this customer relationship accounted far over 30% of Group revenues
in 2022 and this elevated position has continued into 2023. In the longer term, this contract is expected to reduce back to a normal level. No
other customer comprises more than 10% of reported revenue.

For the purposes of the disaggregation of revenue in note 2, ali Property income and Lease income is included within the Management
segment and the Development segment contains only Contracting Revenue. All other revenue is included within the Maintenance segment.

4. OPERATING COSTS
Operating costs, relating to continuing activities, include the following:

2022 2021

£'000 £000
Share-based payments 599 575
Depreciation 51,508 49,029
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles 245 7654
Amortisation of other intangibles 2,055 2123
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2 273
Profit on disposal of right of use assets (227) (27}

A current year charge of £5.7m has been incurred in respect of &8 matter referred to adjudication ruling in favour of a former client for breach of
contract (see note 22),

Fees payable for audit and non-audn services during the year were as follows:

2022 2021
£000 £000
In respect of continuing activities:
Fees payable to the auditor for the audit of the Group's financial statements 416 150
Other fees payable to the auditor in respect of:
— auditing of accounts of subsidiary undertakings pursuant to legislation 500 600
__ additional fees in respect of the prior year audit 65 273
Total auditor's remuneration 981 1,023
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

5. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

2022 201
£'000 £'000
Interest charge on cverdrafts and loans (625} {1,408)
Interest charge on hedged items - (310)
Interest on lease obligations {7,617} (6,952}
Other interest (58) (3)
Finance costs an bank foans, overdrafts and leases (8,300) (8,673)
Interest charge on defined benefit pension obligation (74) (231)
Total finance costs (8,374) (8,904}
Interest income resulting from short-term bank deposits 870 1
Interest Income resulting from defined benefit pension asset 769 106
Income from settlement of hedge instruments - 395
Other interest income 394 333
Finance income ) 2,033 835
Net finance charge 16,341} 8.06%9)
Gains and losses on hedged items recognised in other comprehensive income
Gains/{losses) arising in the year - 1,023
Reclassification to the Consolidated Statement of Profit ar Loss - (85)
Changes in mark-to-market of interest rate swaps - 938
6. EMPLOYEES
Staff costs during the year were as follows:
2022 2021
£'000 000
Wages and salaries 165,348 166,304
Social security costs 16,795 16,425
Other pension costs 8,797 8,552
190,940 191,281
Tre average number of empioyees of the Group during the year was:
2022 2021
Site workers 2,482 2873
Carers 558 664
Office and management 1,950 1,860
4,990 5397

7. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION
Accounting policy
All share-based payment arrangements are recognised in the consolidated financlal statements in accordance with IFRS 2

The Group operates equity-setited share-based remuneration plans for its employees. All employee services received in exchange for the
grant of any share-based remuneration are measured at their fair values. These are indirectly determined by reference to the fair value
{excluding the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions) of the share options awarded. Their value is determined at the date of grant and
is not subseguently remeasured unless the conditions on which the award was granted are modified. The fair value atthe date of the grantis
calculated using the Monte Carlo option pricing model and the cost s recognised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. Adjustments
are made to reflect expecied and actual forfeitures during the vesting period. For Save As You Earn (SAYE) plans, employees are required to
contribute towards the plan. This non-vesting condition is taken into account in calculating the fair value of the option at the grant date

All share-based remuneration is ultimately recognised as an expense in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss. For equity-settied
share-based payments there is a corresponding credit to the share-based payment reserve.

Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs up to the nominal value of the shares
issued are allocated to share capital, with any excess being recorded as share premium.

As at 31 December 2022 the Group maintained three (2021 three) active share-based payment schemes for employee remunearation.

1 2 2 Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounis 2022



Details of the share options cutstanding and movement during the year are as follows:

2022 2021
Weighted Woeighted
average average
Number exercise price Number eoxercise price
'000 P ‘600 P
Outstanding at 1 January 4,827 110 5,292 131
Crantcd 442 1 544 1
Farfeited or lapsed {643) 108 1965} 177
Exercised {74) 116 (44} a2
Outstanding at 31 December 4,552 99 4,827 10

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the pericd was 199p. At 31 December 2022, 0.7m
options had vested and were still exercisable at prices between 1p and 429p. These options had a weighted average exercise price of 245p
and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 4.3 years.

The fair values of options granted were determined using the Mente Carlo option pricing model. Significant inputs into the calculation include the
market price at the date of grant, the exercise price and share price volatility. Furthermare, the calculation incorporates an estimate of the future
dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate. The share price volatility was determined from the daily log normal distributions of the Company
share price over a period commensurate with the expected life as calculated back from the date of grant. The risk-free interest rate utilsed the
zero-coupon bond yield derived from UK Government bonds as at the date of calculation for a life commensurate with the expected life.
Adjustments are made to reflect expected and actual forfeitures during the vesting periad due to failure to satisfy service conditions.

There were 0.44m options granted during the year and 0.64m options that lapsed during the year. The market price at 31 December 2022 was
208p and the range during 2022 was 182p to 224p.

All share-based employee remuneration will be settled in equity. The Group has no legal obligation to repurchase or settle the options.

The Group recognised the following expenses related to share-based payments:

2022 2021
£°000 £000

Giving rise to share-based payment reserve;
— SAYE 165 295
— CS0P - 133
— LTIP 434 147
599 575

The Group is currently running three aclive schemes, detailed below:

Share save plan (Save As You Earn)

Options are available to all employees. Options are granted for a period of three years. Options are exercisable at a price based an the quoted
market price of the Company’s shares at the time of invitation, discounted by up to 20%. Options are forfeited if the employee leaves Mears
Group before the options vest, which impacts on the number of options expected to vest. If an employee stops saving but continues in
employment, this s treated as a cancellation, which results in an acceleration of the share-based payment charge.

Company Share Qption Plan (CSOP)

The Company operates a discretionary unapproved share plan and a CSOP. Options are exercisable at a price below market value at the date
of grant and often at nominal value. The vesting period is three years. If the aptions remain unexercised after a period of 10 years from the date
of grant, the options expire. Optians are forfeited if the employee leaves Mears Group before the options vest. No awards to Executive
Directors are propesed under these plans,

Long-term incentive plan

The LTIP provides for awards of free shares (i.e. either conditional shares or nil or nominal cost aptions) normally on an annual basis which are
eligible 1o vest after three years subject to continued service and the achievement of challenging performance conditions. The first award
under this scheme was made during 2021, Opticns are granted under this scheme to key senior management subject to performance
conditions as detailed an page 92 of the Remuneration Report.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

8. TAX EXPENSE

Accounting policy

Current tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities that are unpaid at the balance sheet date.
They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws appiicable to the accounting periods to which they relate, based on the taxable
profit for the year.

Where an item of income or expense is recognised in the Consoiidated Statement of Profit or Loss, any related tax generated is recognised as
a component of tax expense in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss. Where an item is recognised directly to equity or presented within
the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, any related tax generated i1s treated similarly.

Deferred taxation is the lax expecied to be repayable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilties in
the financial statements and corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit and is accounted for using the balance sheet
liability method.

Deferred taxation liabilities are generally recognised on all taxable temporary differences in full with no discounting. Deferred taxation assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differenices can be
utilised. However, deferred tax is not provided on the initial recognition of goodwill, nor on the initial recognition of an asset or liability, unless
the related transaction is @ business combination or affects tax or accounting profit,

Deferred taxation is calculated using the tax rates and laws that are expected to apply In the period when the liability is settled or the asset

is realised, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. The carrying value of deferred taxation assels is
reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
against which taxable temporary ditferences can be utilised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to either the Consolidated Statement of Profit
or Loss, the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income or equity to the extent that it relates 1o items charged or credited. Deferred tax
relating to items charged or credited directly to equity is also credited or charged to equity.

Tax recagnised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss:

2022 2021

£'000 £'000
United Kingdom corporation tax 6,449 2,407
Adjustment in respect of previous periods {675) 1450)
Total current tax charge recognised in Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 5,774 1,957
Deferred taxation charge:
— on defined benefit pension abligations (a1) 154
— on share-based payments 27 -
— 0On capital allowances 65 806
_. on amortisation of acquisition intangibies (65) (1.372)
__ onshort-term temporary timing differences 149 {45)
- On corporate tax losses 264 1,003
— other timing differences 18 (50}
—.- statutory rate changes - 742
Adjusiment in respect of previgus penods 250 {3}
Total deferred taxation recognised in Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 667 1,235
Total tax charge recognised in Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss on continuing operations 6,441 3192
Total tax chargef(credit) recognised in Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss on discontinued operations 45 (182)
Total tax charge recognised in Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 5,489 3,010
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The charge for the year can be reconciled to the result for the year as follows:

2022 2021

£'000 £'000
Profit for the year on continuing operations before tax 34,944 16,333
Profit for the year on discontinued operations before tax 542 940
Result for the year before tax 35,486 17,273
Result for the year multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the United Kingdom for the pericd of 19.0%
(2021:19.0%) 6,742 3,282
Effect of:
_ expenses not deductible for tax purposes 362 N2
— income not subject to tax (264) —
_ taximpact of employee share schemes 129 i02
— taxlosses not previously recognised In deferred tax - (593)
__ impact of statutory rate changes - 742
— adjustment In respect of pricr periods {480) (635)
Actual tax charge 6,489 3,010

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the treatment of items for both tax and accounting purposes. Deferred tax on
the amortisation of acquisition intangibles is a temporary difference and arises because no tax reliefis due on this kind of amortisation.

Tax losses generated in previous years which are expected to be ufilised against future profits are recognised as a deferred {ax asset and
a subsequent charge arises as those lossas are utilised. No deferred tax asset is recognised in respect of losses of £25.5m (2021 £25.5m)
across several entities in the Group as it is not expected that they will be eligible to be utllised against profits in the future.

Deferred tax is also recognised on short-term temporary timing differences, primarily relating to provisions. These differences are expected to
reverse in the following year and arise because tax relief is only available when the cosls are incurred.

Capital allowances represent tax relief on the acquisition of property, plant and equipment and are spread over several years al rates set by
legislation. These differ from depreciation, which is an estimate of the use of an item of property, plant and equipment over its useful life. Deferred
tax is recognised an the difference between the remaining value of such an asset for tax purposes and its carrying value in the accounts.

The UK Budget 2021 announcements on 3 March 2021 included measures to support economic recovery as a result of the ongoing Covid-19
pandemic. These included an increase to the UK's main corporation tax rate to 25%, which 1s due to be effective from 1 April 2023, These
changes were substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and hence have been reflected in the measurement of deferred tax balances
at the periad end, to the extent those balances are expected to impact on current tax after 1 April 2023.

The following tax has been charged to other comprehensive income or equity during the year:

2022 2021
£'000 £°000
Deferred tax (credit)/charge recognised in other comprehensive income
— on defined benefit pension obligations (2,449) 3,809
_.. on cash flow hedges - 178
Total deferred tax (credit)/charge recagnised in other comprehensive income (2,449) 8,987
Deferred tax recognised directly in equity
Deferred tax credit:
— on share-based paymenis (142) [(228)
Total deferred tax recognised in equity (142) (228)
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements - Group continued

For the year ended 31 December 2022

9. DISCONTINUED ACTIVITIES

During 2020, the Group completed the disposal of its Domiclliary Care business and disposed of its Planning Solutions business,

A small amount of expenditure was incurred in respect of the Domiciliary Care business during 2022, primarily in respect of costs for a number
of leased properties that were not included in the saie and whose leases came to an end in March 2022, These transactions are recognised in

discantinuaed operations.

in addition, the consideration for the disposal of the Planning Solutions business included a contingent element that was received during 2022
The amount received of £7.3m exceeded the fair value carried at 31 December 2021 and the resuftant profit in 2022 of £0.8m has been
recognised in discontnued operations, along with a small amount of costs associated with agreeing the final value.

The results of the operations which have been inciuded in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

2022 2021

2000 000
Revenue and profits
Sales revenue - 57
Cost of sales - 53)
Administrative expenses {261) (161}
Increase in fair value of contingent consideration 803 1100
Finance costs - (3)
Profit for the year before tax on discontinued operations 542 940
Tax on discontinued operations {48) 182
Profit for the year after tax on discontinued operations 494 1122

The results of all disposed businesses prior to their disposal are presented within discontinued cash flows in the Consplidated Cash Flow Statement.

The results of the operations which have been included in the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement are as follows:

2022 2021

£°000 £000
Operating activities
Resuit for the year before tax 542 940
Net finance costs - 3
Share-based payments - -
Depreciation and amortisation - -
Net profit on disposal of investments - ~
Fair value movement (803) {1100}
Change in operating receivables - -
Change in operating payables (233) 34
Net cash outflow from operating activities before taxation (494) (123)
Taxes repald - 82
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from cperating activities {494) 52
Investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries 7,333 500
Net cash inflow from investing activities 7,333 500
Financing activities
Discharge of lease hiabilities {55) (277}
Interest paid - (3)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (55) (220)
Net Increase in cash and cash equivalents 6,784 33¢
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10. DIVIDENDS

Accounting policy

Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders are included in ‘Current financial liabilities’ when the dividends are approved in
a general meeting prior to the balance sheet date.

The following dividends were paid on ordinary shares in the year:

LHOJHY DIDRIVHLS

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Final 2021 dividend of 5.5p (2021 final 2020 dividend of Op) per share 6,092 -
Interim 2022 dividend of 3.25p (2021: interim 2021 dividend of 2.5p) per share 3,600 2,773
9,692 2773

The Directors recommend a final dividend of 7.25p per share. This has not been included within the consolidated financial statements as no
obligation existed at 31 December 2022,

&
)
11. EARNINGS PER SHARE %
Continuing Discontinued Continuing and discontinued g
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 =
p p P D P p m
Earnings per share 25.07 172 0.44 .01 25,51 1273 a
Diluted earnings per share 24.51 11.50 0.43 0.99 24,94 12.49 ‘;‘
z
For the purpose of ¢calculating earnings per share {(EPS), earnings have been calculated as folltows: ;
Ceontinuing Discontinued Continuing and discontinued 2
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
p P P P P p
Profit for the year 28,503 1314 494 1122 28,997 14,263
Attributable to non-controlling interests (690) {144) - - (690) (144)
Earnings 27,813 12,997 494 1122 28,307 14119 -n
z
The calculation of EPS is based on a weighted average of ordinary shares in issue during the year. The diluted EPS 1s based on & weighted ;
average of ordinary shares calculated in accordance with [AS 33 ‘Earnings per Share’, which assumes that all dilutive options wili be exercised. IAS b
33 defines dilutive options as those whose exercise would decrease earnings per share or increase loss per share frem continuing operations. rb'“
"]
2022 202 ;
Millions Mitlions m
Weighted average number of shares in issue; 110.96 10.93 E
— Dilutive effect of share cptions 2,52 213 _z‘
Weighted average number of shares for calculating diluted earnings per share 113.48 113.06 n

12. GOODWILL

Accounting policy

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents any excess of the cost of the acquired entity over the Group's interest in the fair
value of the entity’s identifiable assets and liabilities acquired, and is capitalised as s separate item. Goodwill is recognised as an intangible asset.

Under the business combinations exemption of IFRS 1, goodwil previously written off directly to reserves under UK Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (GAAP) is not recycled 1o the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Less on calculating a cain or loss on disposal.

Impairment

For the purpeses of assessing impairment, assets are grouped al the lowest levels far which there are separately identifiable cash flows:
CGUs. Goodwill is allocated to those CGUSs that are expected to benefit from synergies of the related business combination and represent
the lowest level within the Group at whick management monitors the related cash flows.

Goodwill or CGUs that include geadwill and those intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually.
All other incividual assets or CGUs are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverabile.

MOILYWHOEN] S3QT0H3EVHS
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

12. GOODWILL CONTINUED

Impairment continued

Animpairment loss is recognised in the Cansolidated Statement of Profit or Loss for the amount by which the asset’s or CGU's carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions less ¢osts to sell, and value

in use pased on an internal discounted cash How evaluation. Impairment losses recognised for CEUs, 10 which goodwill has been allocated,
are credited nitially to the carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pra-rata to the other assets in the CGU.

With the exception of goodwill, all assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognised may

no longer exist.

Goodwill
arising on Purchased
consolidaticn goodwill Tatal
£'000 £'000 £'000

Gross carrying amount
At1January 2021 and 1 January 2022 114,831 4042 N8,873
Acquisition of subsidiary 2,995 — 2,995
At 31 December 2022 17,826 4,042 121,868
Accumulated impairment losses
At 1 January 2021, at 1 January 2022 and at 31 December 2022 - - -
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2022 17826 4,042 121,868
At 31 December 2021 114.831 4,042 118,873

Goodwill on consobdation arises on the excess of cost of acquisition oves the fair value of the net assets acquired on purchase of @ company.

Purchased goodwill arises on the excess of cost of acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acguired on the purchase of the trade and
assets of a business by the Group.

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment on an annual basts or mora frequently if there are any indications that goodwill may
be impaired. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups of CGUs according to the level at which management monitors
that goodwill, Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment josses.

The CGU groupings to which goodwill is allocated cannot be larger than the operating segments of the business. Following the review of the
Group's segmental disclosures, the Directors reassessed the CGU groupings for goodwill, resulting in the previous Housing grouping being
split between Maintenance and Management The revised calculations showed that no impairment is required at either 31 December 2022
or 31 December 2021

The carrying value of geodwillis allocated to the following groups of CGUs:

Goodwilf
arising on Purchased
cansolidation goodwill Total

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
£'000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000
Maintenance 65,290 62,285 4,042 4042 69,332 66,337
Management 33,447 33.447 - - 33,447 33,447
Housing with Care 19,089 19.089 - - 19,089 16,089
117,826 14,831 4,042 4,042 121,868 18,873

The Group's cash inflows are largely iIndependent at the individual branich level and each branch is therefore considered a CGU. However, the
goodwill of the Group contributes to the cash inflows of multiple CGUs. Wis therefore allocated to groups of CGUs and montored for internal
management purposes primarily at the operating segment level. The goodwill of Housing with Care is separately monitored and therefore
allocated to a separate group of CGUs to which it relates.

An assetis impaired if the carrying value exceeds the CGU's recoverable amount, which is based on value in use. At 31 December 2022

impairment reviews were performed by comparng the carrying value with the value in use far the groups of CGUS to which goodwill has
been allacated
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The value in use for each group of CGUs is calculated from the Board-approved one-year budgeted cash flows and extrapolated cash flows for
the next tour years discounted dl d pust-tax discount rate of ovor a five-year perind with A rerminal value. The impairment reviews incorperated
a terminal growth assumpticn, which is conservative when compared with the UK long-term growth rate and the underlying demographics,
which wili be positive for the Group’s core markets.

The estimated growth rates are based on knowledge of the relevant sector and market and represent management's base level expectations
far future growth. Changes to revenue and direct costs are based on past experience and expectation of future changes within the markets

of the CGUs. All CGUs have the same access to the Group's treasury function and borrowing arrangements to finance their opes ations.

Management considers that reasonably possible changes in these assumptions would not cause a CU's carrying amount to exceed 1ts
recoverable amount.

The rates used were as follows:

Volume Terminat

Post-tax Pre-tax growth rate grawth

discount rate discount rate (years 1-5) rate

Maintenance 1.25% 14.43% 2.00% 170%
Management Nn.25% 13.38% 2.00% 170%
Housing with Care n.25% 14.55% 3.00% 190%

13. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Accounting policy

In accordance with IFRS 3 (Revised} ‘Business Combinations’, an intangible asset acquired in a business combination is deemed to have a cost
to the Group of its fair value at the acquisition date. The fair value of the intangible asset reflects market expectations about the probability that
the future economic benefits embodied in the asset will flow 1o the Group. Where an intangible asset might be separable, bul only together
with a related tangible or intangible asset, the group of assets is recognised as a single asset separately from goodwill where the individual
fair values cf the assets in the group are not reliably measurable. Where the individual fair values of the complementary assets are rellably
measurable, the Group recognises them as a single asset provided the individual assets have similar useful lives. Intangible assets are
amaortised aver the useful economic life of those assets.

Development costs iIncurred on software development are capitalised when all the following conditions are satisfied:

— Completion of the software module is technically feasible so that it will be available for use,

__ The Group intends to complete the development of the module and use it.

— The software will be used in generating probable future economic benefits.

— There are adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use the software.
_ The expenditure attributabte to the software during its development can be measured reliably

Development costs not meeting the criteria for capitalisation are expensed as incurred. Careful judgement by management is applied when
deciding whether the recognition requirements for development costs have been met. This is necessary as the economic success of any
development is uncertain and may be subject to future technical problems at the time of recognition. Judgements are based on the information
avallable at each balance sheel date. In addition, all internal activities related to the research and development of new software are continually
monitored by management.

The cost of aninternally generated intangible assel comprises all directly attributable costs necessary (0 create, produce and prepare the
asset to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Directly attributable costs include employee costs incurred on
software development.

Amortisation commences upon completion of the asset and 1s shown within other administrative expenses. Until the asset is available for
use on completion of the project, the asse's are subjerct to impairment testing only. Davelopment expenditure is amoartised over the period

expected to benefit.

The identifiable intangible assets and associated periods of amoertisation are as follows:

Order book — over the period of the corder book, typically three years

Client relationships — over the period expected to benefit, typically five years

Supplier relationships . over the pericd expected to benefit, typically iwo years
Development expenditure _ ovearthe useful life of the resulting software, typically five to ten years
Software — 25% p.a., reducing balance
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

13. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS CONTINUED
Accounting policy continued
The useful economic lives of intangible assets are reviewed annually and amended if appropriate.

Acquisition intangibles

Tatal
Client Order Supplier acquisition Development Total
relationships book relationships intangibles  expenditure Software intangibles

£°000 £'000 £'000 £°000 £'000 £°000 £'000
Gross carrying amount
At1 Janvary 2021 65,987 17770 2172 85,929 19,960 - 105,889
Additions - — — - 1182 - 1182
ALl January 2022 65,987 17770 2172 25,929 21142 - 127,071
Reclassification - - - - — 6,087 6,087
Additions - - - - 1,090 274 1,364
Acquired with subsidiary — - — — M7 - m7z
Disposals (61,097) (177704 (2.172) (81,039) = (85) _(81124)
At 31 December 2022 _ 4,890 - - 4,890 23,349 6,276 34,515
Amortisation
A1 January 2021 59782 14105 1739 75,626 15,058 - 90,684
Provided in the year ) 3,556 3.665 433 7654 2123 - 9,777
Atl January 2022 63,338 17770 2172 83,280 1781 - 100,461
Reclassification - - - - -~ 5426 5426
Provided in the year 245 - - 245 1849 206 2300
Eliminaled on disposal (©1,097) 177.770) (272} {81,039} - (85) 81)24)
At 31 December 2022 o 2,486 - - 2,486 19,030 5,547 27,063
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2022 2,404 — = 2,404 4,319 729 7452
At 31 December 2021 2,649 - — 2,649 3,961 — 6,610

Development expenditure is an internally developed intangible asset and retates largely to the development of the Group's Housing job
management system. During the year, the Group acguired & subsidiary, IRT Surveys Limited, which wiself had imternally developed software
for the purpose of assessing residential properties for decargonisation retrofits. Mare details of this acquisition can be found in nate 28,

Development expenditure is amortised over its useful economic life of either five or ten years, depending on the resulting software,
The weighted average remaining economic life of tne asset s 3.9 years {2021 33 years).

During the year, a reclassification was made for purchased software that had historically been recognised in ‘Fixtures, fitings and equipment
In Property, Plant and Equipment. This software is now recogmsed 1n ‘Software’ above The net book value of the software reclassified
was £0./m.

During the year, intangible assets that had been fully amortised in either the current or a prior period were reviewed and, where appropriate,
disposed of, resulting in a reduction in gross carrying amount and accumulated ameortisation.

All amortisation is included withm other administrative expenses.

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Accounting policy

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at histerical cost, net of depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that 1s directly
attributable to the acquisitian of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amaunt or recognised as & separate asset,
as sppropriate, anly when itis probable trat future economic benefits associated with the item will flow into the Group and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. Ali other repairs and maintenance are charged to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss quring the financial
period in which they are incurred.

Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated to write down the cost less estimated residual value over their
estimated useful economic lives. The rates generally apglicable are:

Freehold buildings _— 2% p.a., straight line

Leasehold improvements _— over the period of the lease, straight fine
Plant and machinery __ 20% p.a.. straight line

Equipment — 20% p.a. straight ine

Fixtures and fittings _ 50% p.a.. straight line

Motor vehicles _.. 25% p.a. reduting balance
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During the period, the Group reviewed its estimation of the usefui economic lives of plant and machinery, and equipment. As a result of this
review, the rates of depreciation generally applicable for these categonies were changed to 20% straight line from 25% reducing balance.
The current year impact of this change in estimate of £2.5\m was recognised as an expense during the year in ‘Administrative oxpenses’.

Residual values are reviewed annually and updated if appropriate. The carrying value is reviewed for impairment in the period if events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. An asset’s carrying value s written down immediately 1o its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than 1ts estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and lasses on disposals are delennmed by comparing the praceeds with the carrying amaoiint and are recognised within ‘Administrative
expenses’ In the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.

Identifying whether there are indicators of impairment in respect of property, plant and eguipment involves some judgement and a good
understanding of the drivers of value behind the asset. At each reporting period an assessment is performed in order to determing whether
there are any such indicators, which involves considering the performance at both a contract and business level, and any significant changes
to the markets in which we operate. This is not considered to be a critical judgement or an area of significant uncertainty.

Fixtures, Assets
Freehold Leasehold Plant and fittings and Motor under
property improvements machinery equipment vehicles caonstruction Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Gross carrying amount
At1January 2021 26 19170 2,049 35,647 9384 5,839 54,615
Additions 101 5,225 4 2,051 - 216 7602
Disposals - — (500} (8,343) - - (8,843}
Transfer to inventories — — — — — (6.055) (6,055)
At January 2022 1,027 24,395 1,658 29,355 984 - 57,319
Reclassification - - - 16,087} - - (6,087)
Additions 1,635 4,508 - 1,988 - - 3,131
Acquired with subsidiary — - — 10 19 - 29
Disposals — 12 {1,166} 110,386) 1488) - (12,042}
At 31 December 2022 2,662 28,901 392 14,880 515 — 47,350
Depreciation
At 1 January 2021 &8 8,888 1,551 28,042 966 1,500 4,05
Provided in the year 30 324 13 2,222 5 - 5,616
Eliminated on disposals — - (426) (8,098} - - (8.524)
Transfer to iInventories — — - — - 1,500} {1,500)
At 1January 2022 S8 12,129 1243 22166 971 - 36,607
Reclassification — — — (5,426) - - (5,426)
Provided in the year 17 3,914 227 3,856 7 - 8,021
Eliminated on disposals — 12) {1166) (10,384) (488) - (12.040)
At 31 December 2022 15 16,041 304 10,212 490 - 27162
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2022 2,547 12,860 88 4,668 25 - 20,188
At 31 December 2021 929 12,266 315 7189 13 - 20712

During the year, a reclassification was made for purchased software that had historically been recognised in Fixtures, fitings and equipment.
This software is now recognised in "Software’ in *Intangible assets” The net book value of the software reclassified was £0.7m.

15. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS

Accounting policy

Where an asset is subject to a lease, the Group recognises a right of use asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet. The right of use asset
is measured at cost, which matches the initial measurement of the lease liability and any costs expected at the end of the lease, and then
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The lease liabifity is measured at the present value of the future lease payments discounted using the Group's incremental borrowing rate.
Lease payments include fixed payments, vanable payments based on an index and payments arising frem options reasonably certain to

be exercised.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low valug assets using the praclical expedients. Instead of recognising
aright of usc asset and a {ease liability, the payments in -elation to these are recognised as an expense in profit or 1055 ¢n a straight-line basis

over the lease term.

On the statement of financial position, right of use assets and lease liabilities are presented separately.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

15, RIGHT OF USE ASSETS CONTINUED

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

The Group holds more than 15,000 leases across its portfolio of residential properties, offices and vehicles. Whilst the Group endeavours to
standardlise the form of legses, operationa! demands dictate that many leases have specific wording 10 address particular operational needs
and also to manage the associated operational and financial risks. As such, each lease requires individual assessment and the Group is
required to make key judgements which include:

— the identification of a lease;

_— assessing the right to direct the use of the underlying asset;

_ determining the lease term; and

— anassessment a5 10 the level of future lease payments, including fixed and variabie paymenis.

The most typical challenges encountered and which form the key judgements are:

— where the lease contains a one-way no-fault break in Mears’ favour, the Group measures the obligation based on tha Group's best estimate
of its future intentions;

— where the lessor has a right of substitution meaning that the lessor can swap one property for another without Mears’ approval;

— where Mears does not in practice have the right to control the use of the asset and the key decision making rights are retained by the supplier;

—. where a wider agreement for a supply of services includes a lease companent which meets the definition of a lease under IFRS 16; and

— the assessment of the fixed lease payments where the lease obligation to the landlord is based cn a pass-through arrangement in which
Mears only makes lease paymentsto the owner to the extent that the property is octupied and to the extent that rents are received from
the tenant.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Additions and remeasurements to right of use assets in respect of lease agreements are equivalent to the present value {or change in present
value) of the relevant lease obligation. Unless there is an interést rate implicit in the lease itself, the Group's Incremental Borrawing Rate (IBR) is
used to calculate the present value of future lease payments. Estimation is required in derving an appropriate IBR. The Directors believe that the
best approximation for 18R is the currently applicable margin from the grid contained within the Group's rolling credit facility {(RCF) agreement,
added to an appropriate base rate. The Group’s RCF is Iinked to SONIA, so that is considered the most appropriate base rate to use,

The sensitivity of the lease llahility to the assumptions used in these estimations is indicated m note 20.

Investment property

Included within right of use assets are ceriain properties classified as investment properties in accordance with IAS 40. These properties are
neld primarily in order to earn rentals. The Group has chosen to apply the cost model to all investment property and therefore measurement
is inine with IFRS 16 as described In the Leased assets accounting policy.

Properties that generate rentals but are primarily held for the provision of sacial benefits are not cansidered to meet the defintion
of invastment property.

Assets that are sub-leased Assets that are used directly within
to customers the business
Investment Residential Residential Motor
property property property Offices vehicles Total
£'000 £000 £°000 £°000 £'Q00 £'000
Gross carrying amount
At1January 2021 27528 12,039 75,307 11,076 37,906 263,856
Additigns® 417 5824 29648 1262 12,845 50,044
Disposals ~ (4,674) (1.487) (910) (19,761 (26,832)
At 1January 2022 27945 13189 103,466 1,428 31,040 287068
Adduions® 2023 3,438 38444 608 8,008 52,688
Disposals - {3,019} 5921 (52¢ g4en  (N.860)
At 31 December 2022 30,138 113,608 135,986 10,507 37,557 327,796
Depreciation
At 1January 20217 3,030 17151 19,612 4,568 19,454 63815
Provided n the year 1,553 8,609 21,583 1741 9,921 43,413
Ehminated on disposals — (4,140} {(795) {910} (19,264} (25,109)
ALl January 2022 4583 21620 40,406 5,399 wa BN
Provided in the year 1,615 7428 25,422 1,799 7,222 43486
Eliminated on disposals . -~ (2,901 (5,516} 1,529) (1,295) {1,241
At 31 December 2022 5,198 26147 60,312 5,669 16,038 114,364
Carrying amecunt
At 31 December 2022 23,940 87,461 75,674 4,838 21,519 213,432
At 31 December 2021 23,362 91,569 53,060 5,029 20,829 204,949

Acdtions incluges both new underlying assers and remeasurement of the right of use asse: for changes in the lease terms
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Investment property included above represents properties held by the Group primarily to earn rentals, rather than for use in the Group's other
activities. 1he amount included in lease incomes in note 2 in respect of these propertice is £2.3m (2021: £1.7m). Direct operating expenses
arising from investment property 1hat generated rental income during the period was £3.6m {2021: £3.3m). The carrying value of the right of
use asset in respect of investment property is considered to be approximately equal to its fair value.

16, INVESTMENTS

Accounting policy

Investments include these over which the Group has significant influence but which it does not control. These are categorised gs associates,
Itis prasumert that the Cronp has aignificant influence where it has hetween 20% and 50% of the voting rights in the investee uniess indicated
otherwise. The Group also holds investments in joint ventures where the Group and other parties have Joint control over their activities.

The basis by which associates and joint ventures are consolidated mn the Group financial statements is through the equity method, as outlined
in the basis of consolidation.

In addition to associales and joint ventures, the Group holds investments in entities aver which it does not exert significant influence. These
are accounted for at fair value through profit or loss,

Qther

Associates investments Total

£'000 £'000 £'000

At1January 2021 901 65 966
Share of proht 855 - 855
Distributions received ) {1,108) - {1108}
At1January 2022 648 65 713
Share of profit 858 — 858
Distributions received (300) — (300)
At 31 December 2022 1,206 65 1,271

Other investments represents the Group’s €.16% holding i Maseon Topco Limited, which is mandatorily hefd at fair value through profit or loss.
There have been no changes in the fair value of the investment during the year (2021: none).

Associates
Set out below is the investment in an associate as at 31 December 2022, which in management’s apinion is significant to the Group:

Carrying value

Nature of Praportion Country of 2022 2021
relationship held ragistration £'000 £000
Pyramid Plus South LLP Associate 30% England and Wales 1,206 648

Pyramid Plus South LLP is a repairs and maintenance service provider that is central to one of the Group's contracts. The Group's client for the
contract holds the remaining 70% interest in the entity.

During the year, the Group received distributions of £0.3m (2021: £1.1m) from Pyramid Plus Scuth LLP. Summarised financial information for
Pyramid Plus South LLP for the year is shown befow:

2022 2021

£000 £'000
Revenue and profits
Revenue 21,600 18,866
Expensas (18,738) (17,m7)
Profit far the year 2,862 2,849
Other comprehensive income - -
Total comprehensive income 2,862 2,849
Share of profit at 30% 858 8hb
Net assets
Non-current assets - -
Current assets 7795 6,498
Current liabilities (2,763) 4,291
Non-current liabilities - _
Total assets less total liabilities 4,032 2,207

Cash and cash equivalents of £2.5m (2021: £1.9m) were included in current assets above.
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Notes to the financial statements — Group continued

For the year ended 31 December 2022

16. INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

The subsidiary undertakings within the Group at 31 December 2022 are shown below:

Proportion held

Country of registration

Nature of business

3¢ Asset Management Limited
Careforce Group Limited

Helcim Group Limited

Helcim Homes Limited

IRT Energy Limited

IRT Surveys Limited

Let to Birmingham Limited
Manchester Working Limited
Mears Energy Limited

Mears Estates Limited

Mears Extra Care Limited

Mears Facility Management Limited
Mears Home Improvement Limited
Mears Homecare Limited

Mears Homes Limited

Mears Housing Management Limited
Mears Housing Management {Holdings) Limited
Mears Housing Portfelio (Holdings) Limited
Mears Housing Portfolio 4 Limited
Mears Insurance Company Limited
Mears Learning Limited

Mears Limited

Mears New Homes Limited

Mears Property Company Limited
Mears Property Company 2 Limited
Mears Scotland {Housing) Limited
Mears Scotland (Services} Limited
Mears Scotland LLP

Mears Social Housing Limited
Mears Supported Living Limited
Mears Wales Limited

MHM Property Services Limited
Morrison Facilities Services Limited
MPM Housing Limited

MPS Housing Limited

O&T Developments Limited
Omega Housing Limited

Plexus UK [First Project) Limited
Scien Group Limited

Scion Property Services Limited
Scion Technical Services Limited
Tando Homes Limited

Tando Property Services Limited

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
50%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
99.99%
S0%
100%
10C%
100%
100%
100%
66 67%
66.67%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
Scotland

Scetland

England and Wales
Engiand and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
Guernsey

England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
Scotland

Scotland

Scotland

Scotland

England and Wales
Scotland

England and Wales
England and Wales
Scotland

England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Heusing techneology provider
Housing management services
Housing services

Dormant

Grounds maintenance
Provision of care

Dormant

Housing services

Provision of care

Dormant

Housing management services
Intermediate holding company
Intermediate holding company
Dormant

lnsurance seraces

Dormant

Housing services

House building

Property acquisition

Property acquisition

Dormant

Dormant

Housing services

Darmant

Provision of care

Dormant

Maintenance services
Maintenance services
Dormant

Housing services

Housing management services
Housing registered provider
Housing registered provider
Dormant

Dormant

Maintenance services

Housing management services
Housing management services

All subsidiary undertakings prepare accounts to 31 December
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The Group includes the following three subsidiaries with non-controlling interests: Manchester Working Limited, Mears Learning Limited and g
Mears Scotland LLF. | he table below sels oul selecled financial information in respect of those subsidiaries: ;f
2022 2021 ﬁ
£'000 £'000 A
Revenue and profits r:ll;
Revenue 63,061 54,447 g
Expenses and taxation (61,764) {54,539) =
Profit for the year 1,297 (Z2)
Other comprehensive expense - ~
Total comprehensive income 1,297 (S82)
Profit/iloss) for the year allocated to non-controlling interests 690 144
Total comprehensive expense allocated to non-controlling interests - -
Net assets m
Non-current assets 93 178 g
Current assets 19,643 14,985 g
Current liabilities (13,073) (10.339) E
Non-current liabilities {1,963) 1,393) A
Total assets less total liabilities 4,699 3,431 g
Equity shareholders' funds 3,207 2,629 <
Non-controlling interests 1,492 802 g
Total equity 4,699 3,431 222
I
The fallowing UK subsidiaries will take advantage of the audit exemption set out within Section 4724 of the Companies Act 2006 for the year "
ended 31 December 2022;
Registration
number
IRT Surveys Limited SC227199 -
Let to Birmingham Limited 08757503 z
Mears Estates Limited 03720903 k
Mears Extra Care Limited 03689426 E
Mears Homecare Limited 02744787 Ld
Mears Home Improvement Limited 03716517 E
Mears Housing Management Limited 03662604 .
Mears Housing Management (Holdings} Limited 04728480 E
Mears Heousing Portfolio (Holdings) Limited 10908305 5
Mears Housing Portfolio 4 Limited 10952906 b
Mears New Homes Limited 08780839
Mears Property Company Limited 14425736
Mears Property Company 2 Limited SC750308 -
Mears Supported Living Limited SC662805 g
MHM Property Services Limited 07448134 ki
Morrison Facilities Services Limited 5C120550 g
MPM Housing Limited 035628320 P
MPS Housing Limited 11655167 o
O&T Developments Limited 05692853 b
Scion Group Limited 03905442 a
Scion Technical Services Limited 03671450 g
Tando Homes Limited 09260353 2
Tando Property Services Limited 07405761 g
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

17 INVENTORIES
Accounting policy
Inventories aie stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costrs the gctual purchase price of materiats,

Work in progress is included in inventories after deducting any foreseeable losses and payments an account not matched with revenue. Work
in progress sepresents Costs incurred on new bulld residential construction projects where the eventual sale will be of the complieted property.
Work in progress 1s stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, Cost comprises materials, direct labour and any subcontracted work
that has been incurred in bringing the inventories and work in progress to their present location and condition.

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Materials and consumables 1,329 1,650
Work in progress ) 5,550 21,219
6,879 22,869

The Group consumed inventores totaling £93 9m during the year (2021: £167.3m). No items are being carried at fair value less costs
to sell (2021 £nil)

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Accounting policy

Trade receivables represent amounts due from customers in respect of Mvoices raised, They are initially measured at their transaction price
and subsequently remeasured at amortised cost

Retention assets represent amounts held by customers for a petiod following payment of invoices, 10 cover any potential defects in the work.
Retention assets are included in trade receivables and are therefore initially measured at their transaction price

Contract assets represent revenue recognised in excess of the total of payments an account and amounts invoiced.

Critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The estimation techniques used for revenue In respect of contracting require judgements lo be made about the stage of completion of certain
contracts and the recovery of contract assets. Each contract is treated on its merits and subject to a regular review of the revenue and costs to
complete that contract. Contract assets represent revenue recognised in excess of the total of payments on account and amaunts invaiced.

However, due to the estimation uncertainty across numerous contracts each with different characteristics, it is not practical to provide a
quantitative analysis of the aggregated judgements that are appled, and management does not believe that disclosing a potential range
of outcomes on a consclidated basis would provide meanirgful information to a reader of the accounts.

2022 2021

£000 £000
Current assets
Trade receivables 21,483 28,571
Contract assets 84,797 97,680
Caontract fulfiiment costs 1,283 1,242
Prepayments &and accrued income 13,257 9,277
Contingent consideration - 6,531
Other debtors 7,514 5.004
Total trade and other receivables 128,334 148,305

Included in trade receivables is £4.3m (2021 £4.9m) in respect of retention payments due in more than one year.

Trade receivables are normally due within 30 to 60 days and do not bear any effective interest rate. All trade receivables and accrued income
are subject to credit risk exposure.

The maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to trade receivables and accrued income at the balance sheet date 15 the fair value of trade
receivables and accrued income. The Group's custemers are primarily a mix of Local and Central Government and Housing Associations where
creditrisk 1s minimal. The Group's customer base is large and unrelated and, accordingly, the Group does not have a significant concentration
of credit risk with any one counterparty.

The amounts presented in the balance sheet in relation to the Group's trade receivables and accrued income balances are presented net

oftoss allowances. The Group measires loss allowances &t an amount equal to lifelime expected credit losses using both quantitative and
qualitative information and analysis based on the Group's historical experience, and forward-looking information.
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The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

2022 2021

Gross Expected Carrying Gross Expected Carrying

amount due credit loss value amount due creditioss value

£'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £°0C0 £'000

Not past due 18,661 (986) 17,675 27,641 (1.110} 26,531
Less than three months past due 3,051 (504) 2,547 2,063 1429) 1,634
More than three months past due 1,946 (685) 1,261 5,873 {5,467) 406
Total trade receivables 23,658 {2175) 21,483 35,577 (2008} 28,571

For expected credit losses with large organisations, such as Government bodies or Housing Assaociations, expected credit losses are
calculated on an individual basis, taking account of all the relevant factors applicable to the amount outstanding. The Group has no history
of defaults with these types of customers, so expected credit losses relate to specific disputed balances.

For individual tenant customers, expected credit losses are calculated based on the Group’s historical experience of default by applying a
percentage based on the age of the customer’s balance. During 2022, the Directors took the decision to write off debts of £3.0m in respect
of historical ex-tenants where the prospect of recovery is limited. These debts had already been fully previded over a number of years,

so there was no impact on the carrying value of trade receivables as a result of this decision.

The movement in expected credit loss during the period is shown below:

2022 2021

£'000 £'000
As at 1January 7,006 8165
Changes in amounts provided 1,208 196
Amounts utilised (6,039) 11,355}
As at 31 December 2175 7.008
The movement in contract assets during the period is shown below:

2022 2021

£000 £°000
As at 1 January 97,680 88,5384
Recognised on completion of performance obligations 906,415 843628
Invoiced durng the year {919,298 (834,542)
As at 31 December 84,797 97680

included in other debtors is an amount of £2.9m (2021: £2.9m) recoverable from the Group's fronting insurers. An equal and opposite amount
is alsg included with'n other creditors,

19, TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Trade payables 55,854 69,555
Accruals 60,278 51,343
Social securily and other taxes 26,343 29,724
Contract liabilities 23,672 27843
Other creditors 4,866 5,582
171,013 184,047

Due to the short duration of trade payables, management considers the carrying amounts recognised in the Consolidaled Balance Sheet to be
a reasonable approximation of their fair value.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES CONTINUED
The movementin contract liabilities during the period is shown below:

2022 2021
£'000 £'000
As at 1 January 27,842 25,330
Revernue recognised in respect of contract liablities (24,296) (1397
Payments received in advance of performance obiigations being completed 20,125 15,710
As at 31 December ] 23,672 27,843

Contract liabilities relate to payments received from the customer on the contract, and/or amounts invoiced to the customer in advance of the
Group performing its obligations on contracts where revenue is recognised either over time or at a peintin time. These amounts are expected
to be recognised within revenue within one year of the balance sheet date.

tncluded in other creditors 1s an amount of £2.9m (2021 £2.9m) payable to the Group's fronting insurers. An equal and opposite amount is also
included within other debters reflecting the subsequent reimbursement due to the Group's insurance captive.

20, LEASE LIABILITIES
Lease habilities are separately presented on the face of the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as shown below;

2022 2021

£'000 £'G00

Current 44,376 41,600
Non-current 181,045 175,290
225,421 216,890

The Group had not committed to any leases which had not commenced at 31 December 2022. The majority of the Group’s property leases
contain variable lease payments that vary annually either by reference to an index, such as the Consumer Prices Index (CPI), or based on
market conditions each year. The potential impact of this variation depends on future events and therefore cannot be guantified, but the Group
would typically expect commensurate adjustments to income derived from these properties,

A smaller number of property leases contain termination or extension options. Management has assessed whether it is reasonably certain that
ihe longer term will apply. In some cases, a portfchio of leases with similar lease terms 15 considered together and, where a rolling notice peviod
is available to the Group, an average expected lease Iife may be applied.

The Group has elected not to recognise a lease hability for shart-term feases and leases of low value. Payments made under such leases are
expensed on a straight-line basis. Certain leases incorporate variable lease payments that are not included in the measurement of lease
liabilities in accordance with IFRS 16. The expense relating to payments not included in the measurement of the lease ltability is as follows:

2022 2021
£000 <000
Short-term |eases 46,683 46780
Low value leases 1,096 879
Variable lease payments 1,236 1,550

The portfolio of short-term leases to which the Group is committed at the end of the reporting period is not dissimilar to the portfelio to which
the above disclosure relates

Other disclosures relating to lease liabilities are provided in the table below:

2022 202

Note £ 000 £Q0g

Depreciation of right of use assets during the year 15 43,486 43,13
Additions during the year 15 52,688 50,044
Carrying value at the year end 15 213,432 204,949
Interest on lease liabilites during the year - continuing activities 5 7.617 5,852
Total cash outflow in respect of leases during the year 27 50,827 47389

The Group's lease Tahilities are subject to changes in certain key assumptions in estimating the IBRs used to calculate the liabilities. The IBRs
used during the year ranged from 2.79% to 6.90%. The impact of an increase in all IBRs applied during 2022 by 0.5% is a8 £0.4m reduction in
the lease habiity and a £0.1/m reductiop in profit before tax
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21. OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other non-current habilities of £0.7m (2047 £milj consist of deflened and contingent consideration rlne in more than one vear, as described in
note 24.

22. PROVISIONS

Critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

By definition, provisions require estimates to be made of future outcomes and the eventual outflow may differ significantly from the amount
recognised at the end of the year. The Directers have estimated provisions based on all relevant information available to them. For individually
materlal provisions fuilher mfermation has boan provdded an the maximom likely outflow, in addition to the best estimate.

A summary of the movement in provisions during the year is shown below:

Onerous

contract Property Legal
provisions provisions provisions Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
At 1 January 2022 1400 730 2,343 4,473
Provided during the year 1400 360 8,419 10,172
Utllised during the year {2,800 (255} (2,817) 15,872}
At 31 December 2022 — 835 7,945 8,780

In the year ended 31 December 202%, the Group identified a small number of maintenance contracts where the estimate of unavoidable costs
of meeting contractual obligaticns exceeded the remuneration expected to be receved. These were categoerised as onerous contracls of
£1.4m at 1 January 2022, The contracts all terminated during the course of 2022 and there 1s no remaining onerous contract provision.

Property provisions have been recognised during the year in respect of the expected costs of reinstating several office properties to their
original condition.

At 1 January 2022, legal provisions of £2 3m related to various subcaontractor and employee related legal claims which were iargely settled
during the year. One of the subcontractor claims increased during the year and is still unresclved, with a provision of £1.5m at 31 December
2022. This is expected to be utilised within one year.

During the year, the Group tock legal advice in respect of one particularly challenging cliant relationstip and, believing that the client was acting
in breach of contract, served a notice of termination. This matter was subseguently referred to adjudication and the outcome of that pracess has
ruled in favour of the former client. The consequence of this is that the former client can rely upon the adjudicator’'s decision 1o bring a claim for
damages. The Group has received an initial Indication of damages from the claimant of £9.3m; however, the claimant has refused to provide
sufficient detail to support this figure, and the Directors dispute a number of estimates and assumptions which underpin the value. The Directors
have carried out their own assessment, mindful of the limitation of the information provided. The Rirectors have considered a range of possible
outcomes and have provided a sum of £5.7m, which they believe represents the best estimate of the likely outcome.

23. NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS

Accounting policy

The Group self-insures certain fleet and liahility risks. A provision for claims incurred but not received is recognised in respect of these
potential claims. The value of this provision s estimated based on past expernence of claims,

2022 2021
£'000 £'000
Non-current provisions 3,110 3,800

Non-current provisions represent seif-insured claims incurred but for which the final cost has not been agreed. £2.0m of the provision was
utilised during the year and £1.3m of additional amounts were provided. The timing of the utilisation of the provision is uncertain as It depends
upon the timing of insurance claims against the Group. However, the majorily of the carrying value is expected to be utilised in more than one
yedr and, as such, the provision is considered to be non-current.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Accounting policy

The Group uses a limited number of financial instruments comprising cash and liquid resources, borrowings, interest rate swaps and various
items such as trade receivables and trade payables that anse directly from its operations. The main purpose of these financial instruments is
to finarice the Group's opersations. The Group seeks to finance its operations through a combination of retained earnings and borrowings and
investing surplus cash on deposit. The Group uses financial instruments to manage the interest rate risks arising from its operations and
sources of finance but has no interests in the trade of financial instruments.

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet when the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. The principal financtal assets and labilities of the Group are as follows:

Financial assets
Investments in unlisted equities that do noi corvey conirel or significant infrience over the underlying entity are recognised at faw value, They
are subsequently remeasured at fair value with any changes being recognised in the Censolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.

Contingent consideration is held by the Group in order to collect the associated cash flows but until the amount is determined, these are not
solely payments of principal and interest and therefore these assets are measured both initially and subsequently at fair value, with any
changes being recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.

Loan notes and other non-current debtors are held by the Group in order to collect the associated cash flows and not for trading. They are
therefare initially recogrised at fair value and subseguently measured at amortised caost, less any provision for impairment.

Financial assets generated from goods or services transferred to customers are presented as either trade receivables or contract assets, All of
the Group's trade receivables are short-term in nature, with payments typically due within 80 days of the works being performed. The Group's
contracts with its customers therefore contain no significant financing component.

Mears recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets subsequently measured al amortised cost using the
'simplified approach’. Individually significant balances are réeviewed separately for impairment based on the credit terms agreed with the
customer. Other balances are grouped into credit risk categories and reviewed in aggregate,

Trade receivables and cash at bank and in hand are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted

in an active marke:. Trade receivables are initislly recorded at fair value net of transaclion costs, being invoiced value [ess any provisional
estimate for impairment should this be necessary due to a loss event. Trade receivables are subsequently remeasured at invoiced value, less
an updated provision for impairment. Any change in their vaiue through impairment or reversal of impairment 1s recognised in the Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss,

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand and bank deposits available with no notice of less than three months' notice from
inception that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts are presented as current liabilities to the extent that there
is no right of offsel with cash batances, The Group considers its revolving credit facility to be an integral part of its cash management.

Following initia) recognition, financial assets are subsequently remeasured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Financial liabilities
The Group's financial abilities are trade payables, lease labilities, deferred and contingent consideration and other creditors. They are

included in the Consclidated Balance Sheet line items ‘Trade and other payables’, 'Lease habilities’ and ‘Other non-current habilities’.

Allinterest related charges are recognised as an expense in ‘Finance costs’ in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss with the exception
af those that are directly attributable to the construction of & qualifying asset, which are capitalised as part of that asset.

Bank and other borrowings are initially recogmised at fair value net of ransaction costs. Gains and losses arsing on the repurchase, settiement
ar cancellation of liabilities are recognised respectively in ‘Finance income’ and ‘Finance costs’. Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense
inthe penod i1 which they are incurred with the exception of those which are directly attributable 1o the construction of a qualifying asset,
which are capitalised as part of that asset.

Trade payables on normal terms are not interest bearing and are stated at their fair value on initial recagnition and subseguently at amortised cost
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Categories of financial instruments v
2022 2021 EY
£'000 2000 f:
Non-current assets $
Fair value (level 3) o
Investments — other investments 65 65 ﬁ
Amortised cost 2
| oan notes and other non-current debtors 4,073 3476 o
Current assets
Fair value (level 3)
Contingent consideration - 6,531
Amortised cost
Trade receivables 21,483 28,571
Other debtors 7,514 5,004 o
Short-term financial assets 1,963 - g
Cash at bank and in hand 98138 54,632 g
129,098 88,207 g
Non-current liabilities =
Fair value (level 3) g
Contingent consideration (438) - ;f,
z
Amortised cost ;
Lease liabilities (181,045) {175,290) o
Deferred consideration (244) —
{181,289) (175,290)
Current liabilities
Amortised cost
Trade payables {55,854) 169,555) -
Lease liabilities (44,376) (41,600) E
Other creditors (4,614) (5,582) g
Deferred consideration (252) — =
{105,096) M6737) o
(153,587) 1193,748) ;
m
The amount receognised as an allowance for expected credit [osses on trade receivables during 2022 was £1.2m (2021: £0.2m). ,.g,,
2
"

The IFRS 13 hierarchy level categorisation relates to the extent the fair value can be determined by reference to comparable market values.
The classitications range from level 1, whete instruments are quoted on an active market, through to level 3, where the assumptions used
to arrive at fair value do not have comparatle market data.

The fair values of investments in unlisted equity instruments are determined by reference to an assessment of the fair value of the entity
to which they relate. This is typically based on a multiple of earnings of the underlying business,

There have been no transfers between levels during the year.

Fair value information
The fair value of the Group's financial assets and liabilties approximates 1o the book value as disclosed above.

HOIIYAHEOAN HIOTOHBNIHE
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

24, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including interest rate risk and price risk); credit risk; and bguidity risk.
The main risks faced by the Group relate to the availability of funds to meet business needs and the risk of credit default by customers. The
Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
eftects an the Group’s financial periermance.

Risk management s carried out under policies and guidelines approved by the Board of Directors.

Borrowing facilities

The Group's borrowing facilities are drawn on as required tc manage its cash needs. Banking facililies are reviewed regularly and extended
and replaced in advance of their expiry.

The Group had total borrowing facilities of £73.0m with Barclays Bank PLC, HSBC Bank PLC and Citi, of which £nil was utilised at 31 December 2022,
The facilities comprise a committed four-year £60.0m revolving credit facility and unsecured overdraft facilities of £13.0m

Details of the Group's banking covenants are provided on page 58.

Interest rate tisk management

The Group finances its operations through a mixtute of retained profits and bank borrowings from majer banking institutions at floating rates

of interest based on SONIA,

The Graup's policy is 1o accept a degree of interest rate risk, provided the effects of the various potential changes in rates remain within
certain prescribed parameters,

AL 31 December 2022 the Group had minimal exposure to movemenis in interest rates as it had no drawn barrgwings,

Liguidity risk management
The Group seeks to manage llquidity risk by ensuring sufficient liquidity is available to meet foreseeable needs and to invest cash assels
safely and profitably.

Management manitors rolling forecasts of the Group's Lquidity reserve (comprising undrawn borrowing facilities and cash and cash
equivalents) on the basis of expected cash flows. This is generally carried out at a local level in the operating companies of the Group in
accordance with the practice and limits set by the Group. These limits vary by location and take into account the liguidity and nature of the
market in which the entity operates.

The quantum of committed borrowing facilities of the Group is regularly reviewed and is designed to exceed forecast peak gross debt lavels.
For short-term working capital purposes, the Group utilises bank overdrafts as required. These facilities are regularly reviewed and are

renegotiated ahead of their expiry date,

The table below shows the undiscounted maturity profile of the Group's financial abilities:

Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5years Over Syears Totail
£'000 2000 £'000 £'000 £000
2022
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 55,854 - - - 55,854
Lease liabilities 47,320 37,821 €8,502 116,218 269,861
Other creditors 4614 - - - 4,614
Deferred and contingent consideration 260 860 - - 1120
2021
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 69,555 - - - 68555
Lease liabilites 42,302 30769 63,399 123,394 260,364
Qther creditors 5582 — - — 5,582

Credit risk management
The Group's credit risk 1s primarily attributable 1o 1ts trade receivables, contract assets and work in progress.

Trade receivables are normally due within 30 to 60 days. Trade and other receivables included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet are stated
net of an expecied credit loss provision which has been esumated by management following a review of individual receivable accounts. There
is no Group-wide rate of provision and provision made for debts that are overdue 1s based on prior default experience and known factors at
the balance sheet date. Recelvables are written off against the expected credit loss provision when management considers that the debt is no
longer recoverable
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Housing custemers are typically Local and Central Government and Housing Associations. The nature of these customers means that credit
risk is mmimal. Other trade receivables contain no specific concentration of credit risk as the amounts recognised represent a large number
of receivables from various customers.

The Group continually monitors the position of major customers and incorporates this information into its credit risk controts. External credit
ratings are obtained where approgpriate.

Details of the ageing of trade receivables are shown in nate 18.

Loan notes receivable

The loan notes included within non-current assels were received as part of the disposal of the Terraquest Group. They are repayable in
December 2028 and accrue interest at 10% per annum. Their carrying value including accumulated interest at 31 December 2022 was £3.8m
(2021 3.5my}.

Short-term financial assets

Shert-term financial assets are fixed-term deposits with financial institutions with a maturity of mare than three months at inception. Similar
deposits with a maturity of three months or less at inceptions are presented within ‘Cash and cash equivalents’. All short-term financial assets
have a maturity at inception of 12 months or less and are held for the purpose of generating returns.

Deferred and contingent consideration receivable
The table below shows the movements in deferred and contingent consideration receivable:

Deferred Contingent Total
£°000 £°000 £°000
At 1. January 2021 500 5,431 5,931
Movement in fair value of contingent consideration - 1100 1300
Received during the year (500) - (500)
At 1 January 2022 - 6,531 5,531
Movement in fair value of contingent consideration - 802 302
Received during the year - (7.333) {(7,333)
At 31 December 2022 - - -
Deferred and contingent consideration payable
The table below shows the movements in deferred and contingent consideration payable:
Deferred Contingent Total
£°000 £'000 £'000
At 1 January 2021 and 1 January 2022 - - -
Fair value of deferred and contingent consideration on acquisition of IRT Surveys Limited 496 438 934
At 31 December 2022 496 438 934

Deferred consideration payable is initially measured at fair value by discounting the contractual amount due using a discount rate based
on the assessed cost of debt for the Group. It 1s subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value based on the Director’'s expectation of the amount that will be payable. The factors
determining the amount payable are detailed in note 28. This figure is then discounted at a rate in line with the weighted average cost of
capital of the Group. The vaiue of contingent consideration could vary by up to £0.4m based on the factors detailed in note 28.

Capital management
The Group's objectives when managing capital are:

— tosafeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going cencern, sc that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders;

__ to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing preducts and services commensurately with the level of risk; and

— to maintain an gptimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of

changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order 1© maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid 1o shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assels to reduce debt.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

25, DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred tax is calcuiated on temporary differences under the liability method.

Deferred tax relates to the following:

Consolidated Consclidated Statement of
Balance sheet Profit orLoss Other movements
At31 At 31
December December
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
€000 L0000 £000 £'00G £'000 LO00
Persion schemes (5,800) (8,315) 66 (1,003) 2,449 (8,808)
Share-based paymenis 704 588 (26) 79 142 228
Cash-flow hedges - - - - - (178}
Tax losses - 249 (249} (1,030} - -
Provisions - 149 (149) 73 - -
Acquisition intangibles (601) (662} 61 1,213 - -
Capital allowances 317 647 (330} (676} - -
Leases 625 663 (43) 107 -
Fair value of software development ) {143) - 3 - (1486) -
{4,898) (6,676) (667) (1,237) 2,445 (8,759)

Other movements are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in respect of pension schemes and in the
Consclidated Statement of Changes in Equity in respect of share-based payments, Deferred tax on the fair value of software development
was recognised directly in the balance sheet on the acquisition of IRT Surveys Limited, as described in note 28.

In accordance with IFRS 2 'Share-based Payment’, the Group has recognised an expense for the consumption of employege services received
as consideration for share options granted. A tax deduction will not arise untii the options are exercised. The tax deduction in future periods is
dependent on the Company's share price at the date of exercise. The estimated future tax deduction s based on the options' intrinsic value at
the halance sheet date.

The cumulative amount credited to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss is limited 1o the tax effect of the associated cumulative
share-based payment expense. The excess has been credited directly 10 equity. This is presented in the Consglidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

in addition 1o those recognised, unused tax losses totalling £25.5m (2021 £25 5m) have not been recognised as management does not
consider that it is probable that they will be recovered.

Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combinatien are capitalised at fair value al the date of the acguisilion and amortised over their
useful economic lives. The UK tax regime calculates tax using the individual financial statements of the members of the Group and not the
censolidated accounts. Hence, the tax base of acguisiten intangible assets arising on consclidation is £nii. Furthermore, ne UK tax relief is
available on the majority of acquisition intangibles within individual entities, so the tax base of these assels is also £nil. The estimated 1ax effect
of this £nil tax base I1s accounted for as a deferred tax liability which is released over the period of amertisation of the associated acquisition
imangtble asset,

26. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Classes of reserves
Share capital represents the nomina) value of shares that have been issued,

Share premium represents the difference between the nominal value of shares issued and the total consideration received.

Share-based payment reserve represents employee remuneration which is credited to the share-based payment reserve until the related
share options are exercised. Upon exercise the share-based payment reserve is transferred to retained earnings.

The merger reserve relates to the difference between the nominal value and total consideration in respect of acquisitions, where the Company
was entitled to the merger relief offered by the Companies Act 2006.
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Share capital b
2022 2021 P
£000 £000 =
Allotted, called up and fully paid S
At1January 110,926,510 (2021 110,881,897} ordinary shares of 1p each 1,109 1,109 b
Issue of 74,379 (2021: 44,613) shares on exercise of share options . 1 - §
Al 31 December 111,000,889 (2021 10,926,510) ordinary shares of 1p each 1,110 1109 3
e
During the year 74,379 (2021: 44,613} ordinary 1p shares were issued in respect of share options exercised.
27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The following non-operating cash flow adjustments have been made to the result for the year before tax:
2022 2021
£'000 2’000 o
Depreciation 51,508 49024 c
(Profit)/loss on disposal of assets (224) 245 g
Amortisation 2,299 9777 g
Share-based payments 599 575 -
|AS 19 pension movement 859 (933) g
Share of profits of associates (858) (855) 2
Finance income (2,033) {835) g
Finance cost 8,374 8,904 ;
Total 60,524 65902 o
Movements in financing liabilities during the year are as follows:
Revolving Lease
credit facility liabilities Total
£'000 £'000 £'000
At 1 January 2021 39,353 205,071 248,424 E
Inception of new leases* - 50,044 50,044 ;
Termination of leases - (1,750} (1,750) o
Interest 966 6,955 7921 B
Arrangement fees 647 - 647 a
Cash outflows including in respect of interest {40,966) (47,430} (88,396) E
At 1 January 2022 - 216,850 216,890 §
Inception of new ieases* - 52,688 52,688 E
Termination of lrases — (S47) (847} “n
Interest 424 7617 8,041
Arrangement fees 201 - 20
Cash outflows including in respect of interest (625) {50,827 (51,452}
At 31 December 2022 — 225,421 225,421

Including moaifications to existing leases resutting in a change in kease habilities.

Cash outflows in respect of lease habilities include £7.6m (2021: £6.9m) in respect of interest paid and £43.2m (2027 £40.3m) in respect of
discharge of the underlying lease liabilities. In 2021, an additional £0.2m was included in cash outflows from financing activities of discontinued
operations, In respect of lease liabilities.

MOILTWHOdN! B2070HI8YME

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022 1 4 5



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

28. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Accounting policy

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The acquisition method involves the recognition at fair value of all
identifiabie assetls and liabilities, inchuding contingent liabiiities of the subsidiary at the acquisition date, regardless of whether or not they were
recorded in the financial statemems of the subsidiary prior to acquisition. On inftial recognition, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary are
included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at their fair values, which are also used as the bases for subsequent measurement in accordance
with the Group accounting policies. Goodwill fs stated after separating out identifiable intangible assets. Goodwill represents the excess of
acquisition cost over the fair value of the Group's share of the identifiabie net assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition.

Where applicable, the consideration for an acquisition includes any assets or liabilities arising from a contingent consideration arrangement,
measured at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes in such fair values as well as any cther changes in the assets and liabilities
acquired, are adjusted against the cost of acquisftion where they result from additicnal infermation obtained up to ane year from the acguisition
date about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date, All ather subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability are recognised n accordance with IFRS 9 in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.

For transactions with non-controlling parties that do not result in a change of control, the difference between the fair value of the consideration
paid and the amount by which the non-controlling interest 1s adjusted is recognised in equity.

Any business combinations prior to 1 Jenuary 2010 were accounted for in accordance with the standards in place at the time, which differ in the
following respects: transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition formed part of the acquisition costs; contingent consideration was
recognised if, and only if, the Group had a present obiigation, the economic outflow was more likely than not and a reliable estimate was
determinable; and subseguent adjustments to the contingent consideration were recognised as part of goodwill.

Critical Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The allocation of the purchase consideration between goodwili and the fair value of the acquired intangible assets involves judgement and
estimation in respect of certain key assumptions that underpin the value of the software development intangible. In particular, the useful life
of the underlying software resulting from the development expend:iture is a key input into the valuation. If the valuation of the intangible
assets was changed, this would resulitin a complementary change in the amount of goodwill recognised.

On 12 August 2022 the Group acquired the entire 1ssued share capital of IRT Surveys Limited (IRT). IRT provides a range of data-led services
focused on addiessing fuel poverly, decarbonisation and energy efficiency. IRT has developed a proprietary technology platiorm {DREam)
that has been engineered 1o assess the energy performance of housing portfolios and provide solutions for the most efficient way to
complete retrofits,

The acquisition was undertaken in order to enhance the Group's offering in its Housing segment, particularly with respect to future
decarbonisation projects that will be increasingly important to clients in reaching their Net Zero targets.

The total consideration for the transaction was up to £4.3m made up of £3.2m cash paid on the acquisition date plus uptc £1.1m of

consideration payable over the course of two years and partly contingent on the performance of IRT in that time. The Directors have
assessed the fair value of this contingert consideration as £0.9m based cn the present value of the expected consideration io be paid.

14 6 Mears Group PLC Annual Repart and Accounts 2022



The effect of the acquisition of IRT is disclosed below:

£'000
Assets
Non-current
Intangible assets mz
Property, plant and equipment 29
Current
Trade and other receivables 213
Cash and cash equivalents” 224
Total assets 1,583
Liabilities
Current
Trade and other payables (332}
Lease liabilities {3}
Non-currenl
Lease liabilities {1
Total liabilities (346}
Net assets acquired at fair value 1,237
Deferred tax recognised in respect of fair value adjustments (146}
1.091
Goodwill 2,985
4,086
Satisfied by:
— cash 3162
— fairvalue of deferred consideration 496
— farvalue of contingent consideration 438
4,086

* Cash and cash eguivalents incluces £0.05m In respect of the exercise price of share options held by employees of IRT and exercised immediaiely priar to acquisition.
The only significant fair value adjustment 1o the carrying value of IRT assets and liabilities was for the intangible asset in respect of software
development, which was increased by £0.6m from the carrying value. The Group engaged a third party expert in order to determine the fair
value of this asset, using the excess earnings method. The fair value adjustment will be amortised over 10 years, in line with the underlying
development expenditure. Due to the relatively short period between the acquisition and the year end, the initial accounting for the acquisition
remains provisional. However, the Directors do not anticipate significant movements in the values recognised above in the remaining
measurement period.

The valuation of the software development intangible is primarily sensitive to changes in the estimated useful life of the software. This
estimated useful life was arrived at through discussions with the developers of the obsolescence rate of the software, taking inte account
historical information and expected future developments. Reducing the estimated useful life of the software by two years would resultin a
£0.3m reduction in its fair value.

The Directors consider that the value assigned to goodwill represents the benefits arising from the enhanced offering now available to the
Group's existing and future clients. This synergy would not necessarily be available to typical market participants and therefore results in a
higher propartion of goodwill arising from this acquisition.

Deferred consideration of £0 5m is payable in twa instalments, both ane year and two years after acquisition. Contingent consideration is
payable two years after acquisition with an undiscounted range of £nil to £0.6m based upon the increase in the number of properties serviced
by the DREam platform aver the course of the two years.

The fair vatue of ‘Trade and other receivables’ at acquisition was as disclosed in the table above. The gross contractual amounts receivable
were £0.3m, and £0.1m was not expecied o be collected as at the date of acquisition. There has been no change in the Group’s assessment

of the recaverability of those amounts since acguisition.

In the pericd ended 31 December 2022, tha acquisition contributed revenue of £0.2m and an operating loss of £0.1m. Costs relating to the acquisition
of £0.Im have been expensed in the year and are recognised in ‘Administrative expenses’ in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, had the acquisitions taken place on 1 January 2022, the combined Group full year revenue is estimated
at £960.0m and the combined Group profit for the year before taxation is estimaled at £34.9m.

Included within ‘Trade and other payables’ in the table above is £0.04m of bank loans which were repaid following acquisition,
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

29. PENSICNS

Accounting policy

Retirement benefit obligations

The Group aperates both defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemes as follows:

Defined contribution pensions
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions to an independent entity. The Group has no legal
obligations to pay further contributions after payment of the fixed contribution.

The contributions recognised inrespect of defined contribution plans are expensed as they fall due Lisbilities and assets may be recogrised if
underpayment or prepayment has occurred and are included in current lighilities or current assets as they are normally of a short-term nature,

The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund.

Defined benefit pensions
The Group contributes to defined benefit schemes which require contributions to be made to saparately administered funds.

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of peniston benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually
dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and salary. The legal obligations far any benefits from this kind of pensicn
plan remain with the Group, even if plan assets for funding the defined benefit pian have been set aside.

Scheme liabilities are measured using the projected unit funding method, applying the principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet
date. Assets are measured at market value. In accordance with IFRIC 14, the asset that is recognised Is restricted to the amount by which the
IAS 19 service cost 1S expedted, over the lifetime of the scheme, to exceed funding contributions payable in respect of accruing benefits,

Where the Group has a contractual obligation to make good any deficit in its share of a Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) but also has
the right to recover the costs of making good any deficit from the Group's client, the fair value of that guarantee asset has been recognised and
disclosed. Movements in the guarantee asset are taken to the Consolidated Statement, of Profit or Loss and to the Consclidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income to match the movement in pension assets and liabilities.

The Group recognises the pension liability and guarantee assets separately on the face of the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Actuarial gains and losses dre taken o the Consclidated Statament of Comprehensive Income as incurred. For this purpese, actuarial gains
and losses comprise both the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions and experience adjustments arising because of differences between
the previous actuarial assumpticns and what has actually occurred.

Other movements in the net surplus or deficit are recognised in the Consclidated Statement of Profit or Loss, including the current service
cOSt, any past service cost and the effect of curtailments ar settlements, The net interest costis alsg charged to the Consolidated Statement of
Profit or Loss. The amount charged to the Consoiidated Statemeant of Profit or Loss in respect of these plans Is included within operating costs.

When the Group ceases its participation in a defined benefil pension scheme, the difference between the carrying value of the scheme as
calculated on an 1AS 18 basis and any deficit payment or surplus receipt due are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
as a settlement.

The Group's contributions to the scheme are paid in accordance with the rules of the scheme and the recommendations of the scheme actuary.

Defined benefit assets

Scheme assets for LGPS have been estimated by rolling forward the published asset position from the pievious year using market index
raturns over the period. This is considered to provide a good estimate of the fair value of the scheme assets and the values will be updated
to actuals each time a trrennial valuation takes plaze.

Defined benefit obilities
A numbes of key estimates have been made, which are given below, and which are largely dependent on fattors outside the control of the Group:

- infiation rates;

— mortality:

- discount rate, and

— salary and pension increases.

Details of the particular estimates used are included in this note. Sensitivity analys|s for these key estimates 1s Included beiow.

Where the Group has a contractual obligation to make good any deficit in its share of an LGPS but also has the right to recover the costs af
making good any deficit from the Group's chent, the fair value of that asset has been recognised and disclosed. The night 1o recover costs is
limited to exclude situatians where the Group causes the scheme to incur service costs in excess of those which would have been incurred
were the members employed within Locel Government. Management has made judgements in respect of whether any of the deficit is as a
result of such sifuations,
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The right to recover costs is also limited to situations where the cap on employer contributions to be suffered by the Group is not set so as to
cantribute 1o reducing the deficit in the scheme. Management, in conjunction with the scheme actuaries, has made judgements in respect of
the predicted future service cost and contributions to the scheme to reflect this in the fair value of the asset recognised,

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The net pesition on defined benefit pension schemes is a key source of estimation uncertainty. Given the importance of this area and to
ensure appropriate estimates are made based on the most relevant informalion available, management has cantinuad to engage with Lhird
party advisers in assessing each of the underlying assumptions. The discount rate is derived from the return on cerporate bond yields, and
whilst this is largely abservable, any change in discountidles in the future could have a material impact on the carrying value of the cefined
benefit obligation. Similarly, inflation rates and mortality assumptions impact the defined benefit obligation as they are used to model future
salary increases and the duration of pension payments. Whilst current assumptions use projected future inflation rates and the most up to
date information availabte on expected mortality, if these estimates change, the defined benefit obligation could also change materially in
future periods.

Defined contribution schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Group personal pension scheme for the benefit of certain employees. The Group contributes
to personal pension schemes of certain Directors and senior employees. The Group operates a stakehalder pension plan available to all
cmployceos. During the year. the Group contributed £4.4m (2021: £4.0m) to these schemes.

Defined benefit schemes
The Group participated in 17 (2021: 23) principal defined benefit schemes on behalf of a number of employees which require contributions to
be made o separately administered funds.

These pension schemes are operated on behalf of Mears Group PLC, Mears Limited, Morrison Facilities Services Limited and their subsidiary
undertakings. The assets of the schemes are administered by trustees in funds independent from the assets of the Group.

The Group schemes are no longer open to new members and have no particular concentration of investments, so expose the Group oniy to
typical risks associated with defined benefit pension schemes including the risk that investments underperform compared with movements in
the scheme liabilities.

In certain cases, the Group will participate under Admitted Body status in the LGPS. The Group will contribute for a finite period untl the end of
the particular contract. The Group is required to pay regular contributions as detaifed in the scheme’s schedule of contributions. In some cases,
these contributions are capped and any excess can be recovered from the body from which the employees criginally transferred. Where the
Group has a contractual right to recover the costs of making good any deficit in the scheme from the Group’s client, the fair value of that asset
has been recogrised as a separate pension guarantee asset. Cerlain judgements around the value of this asset have been made and are
discussed in the judgements and estimates disclosure within the accounting policies.

The disclosures in respect of the two (2021 two) Group defined benefit schemes and the 15 {2021: 22) other defined benefit schemes in this
note have been aggregated. Details of movements in pension guarantee assels are presented in a separate table.

Costs and liabilites of the schemes are based on actuarial valuations. The latest full actuarial valuations for the schemes were updated to
31 December 2022 by gqualified iIndependent actuaries using the projected unit funding method.

The principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date are as follows:

2022 2021

£'000 £°000
Rate of increase of salaries 3.00% 3.00%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment — based on CPl with a cap of 5% 2.55% 2.55%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment — based on RPI with & cap of 5% 2.80% 2.90%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment — based on CPIwith a cap of 3% 2.05% 215%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment — based on RPwith 8 cap of 3% 2.20% 2.35%
Discount rate 4.75% 2.00%
Retail prices inflation 3.00% 3.00%
Consumer prices inflation 2.60% 2.60%
Life expectancy for a 65-year-old male® 21.5 years 215 years
Life expectancy for a 65-year-old female” 241 years 241 years

This assumption is set on a scheme-by-scheme basis, taking into account the demographics of the relevant members. The figures disclosed
are an average across all schemaes.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

29. PENSIONS CONTINUED
The amounts recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and major categories of plan assets are:

2022 2021
Group Qther Group Other
schemes schamas Total schemes schames Total

£'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £°000
Quoted assets
Equities - 59,914 59,914 - 139,695 139,695
Bonds 103,829 21,380 125,209 109,157 62,509 171,666
Property 4193 957 5,150 5,075 22,893 27,968
Poocled investment vehicles
Multi-ssset funds 17,417 1,068 18,485 75,002 4085 72,087
Alternative assel funds 4,783 78 4,861 9,840 226 10,066
Return seeking funds 2,035 746 2,781 2,035 333 2,368
Other assets
Equities - 14,447 14,447 - 14133 14133
Bonds - 4,004 4,004 - 3170 3170
Property - 10474 10,174 - 4,275 4,275
Dervatives 1,822 291 2113 1,979 33 2,310
Cash and other 6153 20,639 26,792 4,470 44924 49,391
Investment liabilities
Derivatives (12,209) (9) (12,218) (10,646} - (10.646)
Group’s estimated asset share 128,023 133,689 261,712 186,912 296,571 493,483
Present value of funded scheme habilities {104,354) {98,442) {202,763) {129,26% (275,828) {435,089
Funded status 23,672 35,277 58,949 37651 20,743 58,394
Scheme surpluses not recognised as assets - = (38,413) {38,413) — (37.738) (37738}
Pension asset/{liability) 23,672 {3136) 20,536 37651 116,995} 20656
Pension guarantee assets - 3436 3,136 - 12,975 12,975
The amounts recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit ar Loss are as follows:

2022 2021
Group Other Group Other
schemes schemes Tatal schemes schemes Tatal

£'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000
Current service cost 1,705 3,553 5,258 2154 4,277 5,431
Settlement and curtailment - {242) (242) - (687) 687}
Administration costs o 409 - 409 545 - 545
Total operating charge 214 3,311 5,425 2,699 3,590 6,289
Net interest (769) (464) (1,233) 69) 282 213
Effects of limitation of recognisable surplus related to
net interest - 643 643 - 152 152
Total charged to the result for the year 1,345 3,490 4,835 2,630 4,024 6,654
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Cumulative actuarial gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI)j are as follows:

2022 2021
Group Cther Group Other
schemes schemes Total schemes schomes Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Return on plan assets in excess of that recorded in
netinterest (70,326) (25,802) (96,128} 12,093 1,691 23,784
Actuarial gain arising from changes in
demagraphic assumptions 8 (34) (26} 292 1,001 1,293
Actuarial gain arising from changes in
financial assumptions 58,597 86,473 145,071 17,044 31648 48,692
Actuartal (lossi/gain arising from liability experience {2,994) {737) {3.731) 4,364 8,032 12,396
Effacts of limitation of recognisable surplus related to
OCl movements - {48,227) {48,227) - (26,444) {Z6,444)
Total gains and losses recognised in OCI (14,715) 11,674 {3,041) 33,793 25928 59,721
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows:
2022 2021
Group Other Group Other
schemes schemes Total schemes schemes Total
£°000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Present value of obligations at 1 January 159,261 275,828 435,089 181,184 320,186 501,370
Current service cost 1,705 3,553 5,258 2154 4,277 6,431
Interest on obligations 3144 4,094 7,238 2,413 3.808 6,221
Plan participants’ contributions 210 470 580 236 540 776
Benefits paid (4,358) (6,407} {10,765) (5,026} (6,348) M.374)
Contract transfer - (92,419) (92,419) — (2,212) (2,212)
Settlements - {1,004) {1,004) - (3,742 13.742)
Actuarial gain arising from changes in
demographic assumptions (8) 34 26 (292) (1.001) {1,293)
Actuarial gain arising from changes in
firarcial assumptions {58,597) {86,474) {145,071} (17.044) {31,648) (48,692)
Actuarial (loss)/gain arising from liability expenence 2,994 737 3,731 (4,364) (8,032) (12,396)
Present value of obligations at 31 December 104,351 98,412 202,763 159,261 275828 435,089
Changes in the fair value of the plan assels are as follows:
2022 2021
Group Other Group Other
schemes schemes Total schemes schemes Totat
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Fair value of plan assets at 1 January 196,912 296,571 493,483 185,436 288,491 473,927
Expected return on plan assets 3,913 4,558 8,471 2,482 3,526 6,008
Employer's contributions 2.081 1,432 3,513 2,236 3,279 5,515
Plan participants’ cantributions 210 470 680 236 540 776
Benefits paid (4.358) {6.407) (10.765) (5.026) 6,348) (N,374)
Scheme administration costs (409) - {409) (545) - {545)
Contract transfer - {136,371) (136,371) - {1,553) {1,553)
Settlements - {762) {762) - (3,055} (2,055)
Return on plan assets above that recorded in
netinterest (70,326) (25,802) (96,128} 12,093 1,691 23784
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 128,023 133,689 261,712 196,912 296,571 493,483
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Group continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

29. PENSIONS CONTINUED
Changes In the fair value of guarantee assels are as follows:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Fair value of guarantee assets at 1 January 12,975 30705
Transferred in on scheme entry 525 5,710
Transferred out on scheme exit {8,768) {6,369)
Recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
Guarantee assel movement in respect of service cost 1,053 1707
Guarantee asset movement in respect of net interest 105 240
Recognised in other comprehensive income
Guarantee asset movemant in respect of actuarial logses (6,754} (19,018}
Fair value of quarantee assets at 31 Decemher 3136 12,875

Funding arrangements are agreed for each of the Group’s defined benefit pension schemes with their respective trustees, The employer’s
contributions expected to be pald during the financial year ending 31 December 2023 amount to £3.5m.

Each of the sthemes manages risks through a variety of methods and strategies (© hmit downside in falls in equity markets, movement in
inflation and movement in interest (ates.

The Group's defined benefit obligation is sensitive to changes in certain key assumptions. The sensitivity analysis below, prepared using the
same methods and assumptions used above, shows how a reasonably possible increase or decrease in a particular assurnption, in isolation,
resulis in an increase or decrease in the present value of the defined benefit obligation as at 31 December 2022,

2022 2021
£'000 £'000
Rate of inflation — decreasefincrease by 0.1% (2.435) 2,435
Rate of iIngrease in saiaries - decrease/incease by O1% {723) 723
Discount rate ~ decrease/increase by 61% 3,013 3,013)
Life expectancy — decreasefincrease by 1 year {6,533) 5,533

30. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Group had no capital commitments at 31 December 2022 or gt 31 December 2021.

31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group has guaranteed that it will complete certain Group contracts that it has commenced. At 31 December 2022 these guarantees
amounted to £13.1m (2021: £15.7m}.

The Group had no other contingent liabilitres at 31 December 2022 or at 31 Decaember 2021,

1 5 2 Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2022



32, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
ldentity of related parties
The Group has a related party relaticnship with its pensicn schemes, its subsidiaries and its Directors.

Pension schemes
Details of cantributions 1o pension schemes are set out in note 29.

Subsidiaries

The Group has a central beaswy arrangement in which all snbsidiaries participate. Management does not consider it meaningful to set out
details of transfers made in respect of this treasury arrangement between companies, nor does it consider it meaningful to set out details of
interest or dividend payments made within the Group.

LEO«3Y DI03ivELS

Transactions with key management personnel
The Group has identified key management personnel as the Directors of Mears Group PLC.

Key management personnel held the following percentage of veting shares in Mears Group PLC: g

4

2022 2021 o

o o o

% % 2

Directors 0.5 0.6 2

m

a

Key management personnel's compensation is as follows: S

i

2022 2021 2

£'000 £'000 ™

Salaries including social security cosls 1,714 1,659 ﬁ

Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes 134 134 "
Share-based payments 434 146
2,282 1,939

Further details of Directors’ remuneration are disclosed within the Remuneration Repaort,
Dividends totalling £0.06m (2021 £0.02m) were paid to Directors during the year,

Transactions with other related parties

During the year the Group provided maintenance services to Pyramid Plus South LLF, an entity in which the Group is a 30% member,
totalling £10.2m (2021 £10.2m). Pyramid Plus South LLP also made recharges of certain staff costs to the Group totalling £0.2m {2021: £0.2m).
At 31 December 2022, £1.0m (2021 £1.0m) was due o the Group in respect of these transactions.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Parent Company balance sheet

As at 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Note £000 £'000
Non-current assets
Right of use assets 6 21,828 21417
Investments 7 139,398 139,398
Loan notes 1 3,848 3,476
Pension and other employee henefits 15 304 1,920
_ 165,378 166,211
Current assets
Debtors 8 19,525 45,933
Cash at bank and in hand 9,407 649
28,932 46,582
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year e} {50/123) (71,216)
Net current ligbilittes (21,191) (24,634
Total assets less current liabilities 144,187 141,577
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 10 (14,110} {15,492)
130,077 126,085
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 12 1110 1109
Share premium account 82,351 82,265
Share-based payment reserve 1,801 1,313
Profit and lgss account 44,815 41,398
Shareholders' funds 130,077 126,085

The Parent Company has taken advantage of Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has not inciuded its own profit and loss account
in these financial statements. The Group profit for the year ncludes a profit of £14.2m (2021: 1ass of £15.2m) which is recognisad within the

financial statements of the Company.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 28 April 2023.

D J MILES ACMSMITH
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
Company number: 03232863

The accompanying accountng policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Parent Company statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Share- ﬂ

Share based >

Share premium payment Hedging Retained Total "““'

capital account reserve reserve earnings equity o

£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000 &

At 1 January 2021 1109 82,225 1,312 {760} 54,675 138,561 g

Net result for the year - - - - 15,229} (15.229) g

Clher comprehensive incoms — - - 760 451 491 ’j
Total comprehensive income for the year - — — 760 (11,078) (10,318)
Issue of shares - 40 - — - 40
Share options — value of employee services - — 575 — - 575
Share opltions — exercised, cancelled or lapsed - - (574) — 574 —
Cividends — - — - (2.773) (2.773)

At1January 2022 1109 82,265 1313 - 41,398 126,085 P

Net result for the year - — - - 14,239 14,239 2

Other comprehensive income — — — - (1,241 (1,241 g

Total comprehensive income for the year — — - — 12,998 12,928 ﬁ

Issue of shares 1 86 — - - 87 -

Share options — value of employee services — - LG - - L9 ‘S

Share options — exercised, cancelled or lapsed - — 1y - m - g

Dividends — — — ~ (9,692} 9,692) i

At 31 December 2022 1110 82,351 1,801 - 44,815 130,077 §

o

m

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral pait of these financial statements.

SINIWIALYLS TYIONYNIL
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Company
For the year ended 31 December 2022

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Accounting policies are delailed in their respective notes, where relevant. Policies that are not specific to & particular note are detalled below

Statement of compliance
Mears Group PLC is a public limited company incerporated in England and Wales. Its registered office is 1390 Montpellier Court, Gloucester
Business Park, Brockworth, Gloucester GL3 4AH

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accardance with applicable United Kingdom accounting standards, including FRS 101 and the
Companies Act 2006. The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the modification to a fair value basis
for certain financial instruments specified in the accounting policies below. The financiai staternents are presented in Sterling.

The financial statements have been prepared an a going concern basis, Further details of the considerations made by management when
making this assessment are provided in note 1to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption in Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 from disclosing its individual profit and loss account,

The Company has taken advantage of the reduced disclosures for subsidiaries and the ultimate parent provided for in FRS 101 and has
therefore not provided a cash flow statement or certain disclosures in respect of share-based payments,

The principal accounting policies of the Company are set oul below. These policies have been applied consistently to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

Deferred taxation

Deferred 1ax is recognised on all tming differences where the transactions or events that give the Company an obligation 10 pay more tax in
the future, or a right Lo pay less tax In the future, have occurred by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets are recognised where it Is more
likely than not that they will be recoverad. Deferred tax is measured using rates of tax and laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
Critical judgements in applying the Company’s accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty are disclosed in the Group's
accounting policies.

2. RESULT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR
This result for the year 1s stated after charging auditor's remuneration of £200,000 (2021: £150,000) relating to audit services

3. PIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES
Employee benefils expensa.

z022 2021
£'000 £'000
Wages and salaries 13,234 13,283
Soclal security costs 1,763 1,510
Other pension Costs 669 512
15,666 15,305
A Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme grant of £nil (2020: £0.6m) was recognised as other income,
The average number of emplayees of the Caompany durnng the year was:
2022 2021
Management 293 287
Remuneration in respect of Duectars was as follows:
2022 2021
£'000 £'000
Emoluments 1,429 1427
Pensian cantributions 1o personal pension schemes 134 134
Gains an exercise of options - -
1,563 1,561

During the year contributions were paid o personal pension schemes for four Directors (2021 four).

No Directors exarcised share aptians dunng 2022 or 2021,
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4. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION
Accounting policy
All share-based payment arrangements that were granted after 7 November 2002 are recognised in the financial statements.

The Group operates equity-settled share-based remuneration plans for its employees. All employee services received in exchange for the
grant of any share-based remuneration are measured at their fair value. These are indirectly determined by reference to the fair value of the
share options awarded. Their value is determined at the date of grant and is not subsequently remeasured unless the conditions on which the
award was granted are modified. The fair value at the date of the grant is calculated using the Monte Carlo option pricing model and the cost
Is recognised on a straigh=-line basis over the vesting penod. Adjuslinenls e made to refloct oxpecled and artial forfeitures during the
vesting period.

Share-based remuneration in respact of employees of the Company is ultimately recognised as an expense in the profitand loss account.

For equity-settled share-based payments there is a corresponding credit to the share-based payment reserve; for cash-settled share-based
payments the Company recognises a liability at the balance sheet date. The Company operates share-based remuneration plans for employees
of subsidiaries using the Company’s equity instruments. The fair value of the compensation given in respect of these share-based compensation
plans less payments received from subsidiaries in respect of those share-based payments is recognised as a capital contribution,

Upecn exercise of share optinns_ the proceeds received, net of any directly attributable transaction costs up to the nominal value of the shares
issued, are allocated to share capital with any excess being recorded as share premium.

As at 31 December 2022 the Group maintained three share-based payment schemes for employee remuneration. The details of each scheme
are included within note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

All share-based employee remuneraticn will be settled in equity. The Group has no legal obligation to repurchase or settle the options.

5. DIVIDENDS
The following dividends were paid on ordinary shares in the year:

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Final 2021 dividend of 5.5p (2021: final 2020 dividend of Op} per share 6,092 -
Interim 2022 dividend of 3.25p (2027 interim 2021 dividend of 2.5p) per share 3,600 2773
9,692 2773

The Directors recommend a final dividend of 7.25p per share. This has not been included within the consolidated financial statements as no
obligation existed at 31 December 2022,

6. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS

Accounting policy

Where an asset 1s subject to a lease, the Company recognises a nght of use asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet. The right of use
asset is measured at cost, which matches the initial measurement of the lease liability and any cosls expected at the end of the lease, and then
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The lease liability is measured at the present value of the future lease payments discounted using the Group's incremental borrowing rate.
Lease psyments include fixed payments, variable payments based on an index and payments arising from options reasonably certain to
be exercised

The Company has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low value assets using the practical expedients. Instead of

recognising a right of use asset and a lease liability, the payments in relation to these are recognised as an expense In profit or loss
an a straigkt-line basis over the lease term.

Mears Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 20272 1 57

FONYHEIADD IAVHOLHEHOD LHG 3 DIDILIVHLS

SINFWILVIS TVIONVYNIA

NGILYWHOAN] HE30T0HIETHS




FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Company continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

6. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS CONTINUED
On the statement of financial position, nght of use assets and lease liabilities are presented separately.

Motor
Offices vehitles Total
£000 £°000 £7°000

Gross carrying amount
At1 January 2021 1109 37906 39,015
Additions” {10} 12,896 12,886
Disposals 8% 119761 (19,842}
At1January 2022 1,018 31,041 32,059
Additions* - 8.007 8,007
Disposals - 1.492) (1,492)
At 31 December 2022 1,018 37,556 38,574
Depreciaticn
At1 Jarmaary 2027 415 19454 19,869
Provided in year 197 8,921 0on8
Eliminated on disposals o - 81 {19.264) (19,345)
A1 January 2022 531 10,11 10,642
Provided in the year 177 7222 7399
Eliminated on disposals e - (1,295) 1.295)
At 31 December 2022 708 16,038 16,746
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2022 310 21,518 21,828
Al 31 December 2021 487 20,930 21,417

Acditions includes both new underlying assets and remeasurement of the right of use asset for changes in the lease werms

7. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS

Accounting policy

Investments in equity shares which are not publicly traded and where fair value cannot be measured reliably are measured at deemed cost
less impairment. Dividends an equity securities are recognised in incame when recaivable.

Investmem
in subsidiary
ungertakings

£'000

At January 2021, 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022 139,398
Details of the subsidiary undertakings of the Company are shown in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

8. DEBTORS

2022 202

£000 £000

Amounts owed by Group undertakings 18,234 38,6528

Other receivables 1,291 7405

19,525 45,933

Amounts owed by Group undertakings are repayable on demand. Expected credit losses are assessed on an individual basis, taking into
account all the relevant factors in respect of the counterparty.

9. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

2022 2021

£000 £000

Trade creditors 3,655 12.855
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 36,954 49455
Accruals 949 1,727
Corporation tax 577 346
Lease obligations 7.926 6720
Qther payables 62 13
50,123 71,216
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10. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE !N MORE THAN ONE YEAR @
2022 20241 T

£°000 £000 =

Lease obligations 14,034 15,012 g
Deferred tax 76 480 o
14410 15,492 x

i

&

11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS o

Accounting policy
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the Consclidated Balance Sheet when the Company becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. The principal financial assets and habilities of the Company are as follows:

Financial assets

Basic financial assets, including trade and other receivables, amounts due to Group companies and cash and cash equivalents, are initially
recognised at transaction price, unless the arrangement censtitutes a financing transaction, where the transaction is measured at the present
value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest.

Such assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Atthe end of each reporting period financial assets measured at amortised cost are assessed for objective evidence of impairment. If an asset
is impaired the impairment loss is the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of the estimated cash flows discounted at
the asset's original effective interest rate. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets are derecognised when {a) the contractual rights o the cash flows from the asset expire or are settled; (b) substantially all the
risks and rewards of the ownership of the asset are transferred to another party,; or (¢} despite having retained some significant risks and
rewards of ownership, control of the asset has been transferred to another party which has the practical ability to unilaterally sell the asset to
an unrelated third party without imposing additional restrictions.

FORYNUHIADD FALVHOLHOD

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand and bank deposits available with no notice or less than three months™ notice from
inception that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank cverdrafts are presented as current liabilities to the extent that there
is nao right of offset with cash balances.

Financial liabilitles

Basic financial liabilities, including trade and other payables, and amounts payable to Group companies that are classified as debt, are initially
recognised at transaction price, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt instrument 1s measured at the
present value of the future receipts discounted at 8 market rate of interest.

Bank borrowings are non-basic financial liabilities and are initially recognised at fair value, being the present value of future payments
discounted at a market rate of interest. Bank borrowings are remeasured at fair value.

Financial liabilites are derecognised when the liability is extinguished, that is when the contractual obligation is discharged or cancelled
or expires.

SINIWILVILIS IVIDNYNIL

Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amounts presented in the financial statements when there is a legally enforceable right to
set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the llability simultaneously.

w

The Company has the following financial instruments: %

i3]

2022 2023 ;:g

£'000 £'000 -

Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost: E

— Loan notes 3,848 3,476 z

— Amounts owed by Group undertakings 18,234 38,628 g

__ Other receivables 1,291 7405 )

Financial liabilities that are measured at amortised cost: i

_ Trade creditors (3.655) (12,855) g

__ Lease obligations (21,960) (21732) &
— Amounts owed to Group undertakings {36,954) 144,455}
__ Other payables (62) n3)
(39,258) (34 746)
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Company continued
For the year ended 31 December 2022

1. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
The Company would pay a margin over and above SONIA ¢n bank borrowings had it utilised its facility. The margin is based on the ratio of
Group consofidated net borrowings (o Group consolidated adjusted EBITDA and could have varied between 1.75% and 2.75% during the year.

The Company seeks to manage liquidity risk by ensuring sufficient liquidity is available 10 maat foresacable needs and to invest cash assats
safely and profitably.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group and Company’s Liquidity reserve {camprising undrawn borrowing facilities and cash and
cash equivalents) on the basis of expected cash flows. The quantum of committed borrowing facilities of the Group and Company is regularly
reviewed and 15 designed 1o exceed forecast peak gross debt levels. For short-term working capital purpeses, the Group and Company utilise
bank overdiafs as required. These facilities are regularly reviewed and are renegotisied ahead of their expiry date.

Loan notes
Loan notes are held as a result of the sale of the Company’s holding in TerraQuest Solutions Limited dunng 2020. The notes are repayable on
the earlier of the onward sale of that business orin 2028 They attract interest at 10% per annum, payable on settlement of the loan notes.

12, SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

2022 2071
£000 £'000
Allotted, called up and fully pald
At 1January 110,926,510 (2021: 110,881,897) ordinary shares of 1p each 1109 1109
Issue of 74,379 (2021 44,613} shares on exercise of share options 1 -
At 31 December 111,000,888 (2021 110,926,510} ordinary shares of 1p each 1110 1109

During the year 74,379 (2021 44,613) ordinary 1p shares were Issued in respect of share options axarcised.

Classes of reserves
Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued.

Share premium represents the difference between the nominal value of shares issued and the wotal consideration received.

Share-based payment reserve represents employee remuneration which is credited to the share-based payment reserve until the related
share aptions are exercised. Upaon exercise the share-based payment reserve is transferred to retained earmlngs

13. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Company had no capital commitments at 31 December 2022 or at 31 December 2021.

14, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Company has guaranteed that it will camplete certatn Group contracts that its subsidiaries have commenced. At 31 December 2022 thase
guarantees amounted to £13.1m (2021: £15.7m).

The Company had no other contingent ltabilities at 31 December 2022 or at 31 December 2021

15. PENSIONS

Accounting policy

Defined contribution pension schame

The pension costs charged against profits are the contributions pavable to individual policies in respact of the accounting period

Defined benefit pensions
The Company contributes to defined benefit schemes which require contributions to be made to separately administered funds.

A defined benefit plan s a pension plan that defines an armour of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually
dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and salary, The legal obligations for any benefits from this kind of pansion
plan remain with the Group, even if plan assets for funding the defined benefit plan have been set aside,

Scheme lisbilities are measured using the projected unit funding method. applying the principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet
date. Assets are measured at market value. The asset that 1s recognised is restricted to the amount by which the service cost is expected, over
the lifetime of the scheme, to exceed funding contributions payable in respect of accruing benefits,

Actuarial gains and losses are taken to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income as incuried. For this purpose, actuanal gains
and lasses comprise both the effects of changes ip actuanal assumptions and expenence adjustments ansing because of differences between
the previous actuanial assumptions and what has actually occurred

Other movements in the net surplus or deficit are recognised in the profit and loss account, including the current service cost, any past service
cost and the effect of curtailments or settlements. The interest costs less the expected return on assets are also charged to the Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss. The amount charged to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Lass in respect of these pians is included within
operating costs
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The Company’s cantributions 1o Lhe schemes are paid in accardance with the rules of the schemes and the recommendations of the actuary.

Defined contribution schemes
The Company contributes to the personal pension schemes of certain employees.

Defined benefit scheme
The Company operates a defined benefit pension scheme for the benefit of certain employees of its subsidiary companies. The assets of the
sthignies are administerod by trstees in A fund independent from the assets of the Company.

JHOAIH DIDALYRLS

Costs and liabilities of the scheme are based on actuanal valuations. The acluarial valuations were reviewed and updated to 31 December
2022 by a qualified independent actuary using the projected unit funding method.

The principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date are as follows:

2022 2021
£'000 £000 ~
Rate of increase of salaries 3.00% 3.00% g
Rate of increase tor pensions In paynent — based on RPlwith a ran of 5% 2.80% 2.90% g
Rate of increase for pensions in payment — based on RPl with a cap of 3% 2.55% 2.35% ;ﬁ
Discount rate 4.75% 2.00% o
Retail prices inflation 3.00% 3.00% g
Consumer prices inflation 2.60% 2.60% ;
Life expectancy for a 65-year-old male 20.9 years 21.0 years §
Life expectancy for a 65-year-old female 23.7 years 23.9 years 15
o
L4

The amounts recagnised in the Parent Company Balance Sheet and major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets are
as follows,

2022 2021

£'000 £'000
Quoted assets -
Bonds 6,263 3378 E
Property 872 853 z
Other assets 2
Multi-asset funds 8131 16,272 ;
Alternative asset funds 1,284 2,205 ;j
Return seeking funds 330 335 P
Derivatives 638 564 z
Cash and other 1135 1,251 ﬁ
Investment liabilities @

Derivatives {2,829) (34}

Group’s estimated asset share 15,874 24,824
Present value of funded scheme liabilities (15,570) (22,804 @*
Funded status 304 1920 I
Related deferred tax liability {76) {480) -
Pension asset 228 1,440 é
o
The ameunts recognised in the profit and l0ss account are as follows: g
2022 2027 z
£'000 €000 g
Current service cost - 8 o
Administration Costs 146 167 §
Total operating charge 146 175 g

Net interest (38) 37

Total charged to the result for the year 108 212
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the financial statements — Company continued

For the year ended 31 December 2022

15. PENSIONS CONTINUED

2022 2021

£000 £'000
Present value of obligations at 1 January 22,904 25,866
Current service cost - 8
Interest on obligations 453 345
Pian participants’ contributions - 2
Benefits paid (503) (535)
Actuarial gain arising from changes in demographic assumptions (198) (402)
Actuarial gain arising from changes in financial assumptions (7,888) (2,420)
Actuarial loss arising from liability experience - - 802 40
Present vatue of obligations at 31 December 15,570 22,904
Changes in the fair value of the plan assets are as foliows:

2022 2021

£°000 £'000
Fair value of plan assets at 1 January 24,824 23,050
Expecied return on ptan assets 491 308
Employer's contributions 146 a3
Plan participants’ contributions - 2
Benefits patd {503) {535y
Administration costs (14€) (167
Return on plan assets above that recorded in net interest (8,938) 1,935
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 15,874 24,824
The movements in the net pension hability and the amount recognised in the Parent Company Balance Sheet are as follows:

2022 2021

£'000 £'000
Deficit in schemes at 1 January 1,920 {2,816)
Current service cost - 8
Administration costs (146} {167)
Contributions 146 231
Other finance cost 38 (37)
Actuarial gain anising from changes in demographic assumptions 128 402
Actuarial gain anising from changes in financial assumptions 7,888 2420
Actuarial loss arising from Lability experience (802} {40)
Return on plan assets above that recorded in net interest {8,938) 1,935
Deficit in schemes at 31 December 304 1,920

No employer's contributions are expected to be paid during the financial year ending 31 December 2023,

16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Identity of related partles

The Group has a related party relationship with its pension schemes, its subsidiaries and its Directors.

Pension schemas
Details of contributions to pensicn schemes are set out in note 15,

Subsidiaries

The Group has a centrai treasury arrangement in which ali subsidiaries participate. Management does not consider it meaningful 1o set out
details of transfers made in respect of this treasury arrangement hetween companies, nor does it consider it meaningful lo set out details

of interes* or dividend payments made within the Group.

Transactions with key management personnel

Thne Group nas identified key management personnel as the Directors of Mears Group PLC. Detalls of transactions are disciosed in note 32

to tho cansclidated hinancial statements.
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Five-year record (unaudited)

CONSOLIDATED S1ATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUING ACTIVITIES} fi
2022 2Uzl 2020 219 2018 =
£'000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000 _’:
Revenue 959,613 878,420 805,817 881,457 771,861 2
Gross profit 195,686 180,487 156,287 206,109 184,528 5
QOperating profit before acquisition intangible amortisation and ﬁ
exceptional costs 40,672 33,683 5,628 40,229 39,093 g
Excepticonal items - 1,627 12,279 {2,018} (5,657) ﬁ
Operating profit/({loss) including share of profits of associates 41,285 24,402 {6,276) 28,089 2964
Profit/loss) for the year before tax 34,944 16,333 {15,218) 20,253 27377
Profit/{loss) before taxation before acquisition intangible amortisation
and exceptional costs 25,189 25,614 (3,414} 32,393 36,772
Earnings per share
Basic 25.07p "72p {10.66)p 15.72p 21.91p o
Diluted 24.51p 1M.50p 10.66)p 15.64p 21.78p g
Normalised 24.51p 18.23p 229p 2374p 2770p g
Dividends per share 10.50p 8.0p 0.0p 3.65p 12.40p §
pu
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET o
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 4‘2
£'000 £'000 £'000 €000 £'000 Rl
Non-current assets 395,092 405,959 408,369 403,151 304,549 g
Current assets 235,773 227960 267720 284,230 244,272 3;
Current liabilities {224,169) (230,120) (255,318) (326,329) (222,509) o
Non-current liabilities (192,871) (202,761) (264,720) (248,715) (115,632)
Total equity 213,825 201,038 156,051 18,337 210,280
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 98138 54,632 56,867 (50,986) (65,904}

SINIWILYLIS TYIDONVYNIA
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Shareholder and corporate information

REGISTERED QFFICE
1390 Montpeliier Court
Gloucester Business Park
Brockworth

Gloucester GL3 4AH

Tel: 01452 634600
www.mearsgroup.co.uk

COMPANY REGISTRATION NUMBER
03232863

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ben Westran

1390 Montpellier Court
Gloucester Business Park
Brockworth

Gloucester GL3 4AH

Tel: 01452 634600

BANKERS

Barclays Bank PLC

Wales and South West
Corporate Banking

4th Floor, Bridgewater House
Counterslip

Finzels Reach

Bristol BS16BX

Tel: 0800 285 1152

H5B8C Bank PLC

West & Wales

Corporate Banking Centre
3 Rivergate

Temple Quay

Bristal BS1 GER

Tel: 0845 583 9796

INTERNET

Citi Bank plc

25-33 Canada Square
Canary Wharf
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SOLICITORS
Travers Srnith
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London ECIA 2AL
Tel: 020 7285 3000
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Ernst & Young LLP
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Bristol BST 6BX
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REGISTRAR

Neville Registrars Limited
Neville House

Steelpark Read
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45 Gresham Street

London EC2V 7BF

Tel: 020 7260 1600
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4Q Gracechurch St,
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The Group operates a website, which can be found at www.mearsgroup.co.uk. This site 1s regularly updated to provide information about the
Group. In particuiar, all of the Group’s press reieases and announcements can be found on the site.

REGISTRAR

Any enquities concerning your sharehotding should be addressed to the Company's registrar. The registrar should be notified promptly of any

change in a shareholder’s address or other details

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Requests for further copies of the Annual Report and Accounts, or other investor relations enquiries, should be addressed to the registered office.
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